# ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2010

Registration No. 333-168409

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Amendment No. 1

# FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

7371

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) 04-2739697

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

200 Wheeler Road Burlington, Massachusetts 01803 (781) 221-6400

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Mark E. Fusco President and Chief Executive Officer Aspen Technology, Inc. 200 Wheeler Road **Burlington, Massachusetts 01803** (781) 221-6400

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Mark L. Johnson, Esq. Nicole C. Brookshire, Esq. Cooley LLP 500 Boylston Street Boston, Massachusetts 02116 (617) 937-2300

Large accelerated filer o

Copies to: Frederic G. Hammond, Esq.
Senior Vice President and General Counsel Aspen Technology, Inc. 200 Wheeler Road Burlington, Massachusetts 01803 (781) 221-6400

Stuart M. Cable, Esq. Jocelyn M. Arel, Esq. Michael J. Minahan, Esq. Goodwin Procter LLP **Exchange Place** Boston, Massachusetts 02109 (617) 570-1000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to public: As soon as practicable after this registration statement becomes effective.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 check the following box:

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

> Accelerated filer ⊠ Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

tates that this registration stateme uch date as the Commission, actir	ng pursuant to said Section 8(a),	may determine.	(c)	

# **SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED SEPTEMBER 15, 2010**

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The selling stockholders may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities, and the selling stockholders are not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

# **Preliminary Prospectus**

15,000,000 Shares



# ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

# Common Stock

The selling stockholders identified in this prospectus, which consist of funds managed by Advent International Corporation, are selling all of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus and will receive all of the proceeds from this offering. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of common stock in this offering.

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "AZPN." On September 14, 2010, the last reported sale price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market was \$10.37 per share.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 10.

	Per share	Total
Public offering price	\$	\$
Underwriting discounts and commissions	\$	\$
Proceeds to selling stockholders, before expenses	\$	\$

The underwriters have an option to purchase a maximum of 2,250,000 additional shares of common stock from the selling stockholders at the public offering price, less the underwriting discounts and commissions, to cover over-allotment of shares, if any. The underwriters can exercise this option at any time within 30 days from the date of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of comm	on stock to purchasers on , 2010.	
J.P. Morgan		Deutsche Bank Securities
William Blair & Company	Canaccord Genuity	Wells Fargo Securities
Cowen and Company		Pacific Crest Securities

, 2010

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
<u>Prospectus Summary</u>	<u></u>
Risk Factors	<u>10</u>
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Industry Data	<u>22</u>
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	<u>22</u>
Market Price of Common Stock	<u>23</u>
<u>Dividend Policy</u>	<u>23</u>
<u>Capitalization</u>	<u>24</u>
Selected Consolidated Financial Data	<u>25</u>
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>28</u>
<u>Business</u>	<u>71</u>
<u>Management</u>	<u>88</u>
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions	<u>117</u>
Principal and Selling Stockholders	<u>119</u>
Description of Capital Stock	<u>124</u>
<u>Underwriting</u>	<u>127</u>
<u>Legal Matters</u>	<u>133</u>
<u>Experts</u>	<u>133</u>
Where You Can Find More Information	<u>133</u>
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>F-1</u>

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectus we may authorize to be delivered to you. Neither we nor the selling stockholders have authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus. This prospectus is not an offer to sell, nor is it seeking an offer to buy, these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume that information appearing in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of this prospectus.

No action is being taken in any jurisdiction outside the United States to permit a public offering of our common stock or possession or distribution of this prospectus in that jurisdiction. Persons who come into possession of this prospectus in a jurisdiction outside the United States are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions as to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.

ASPENONE, ASPENTECH, the AspenTech logo, DMCPLUS, HTFS, HYSYS and INFOPLUS.21 are our registered trademarks, and ASPEN BASIC ENGINEERING, ASPEN COLLABORATIVE DEMAND MANAGER, ASPEN ECONOMIC EVALUATION, ASPEN EXCHANGER DESIGN AND RATING, ASPEN FLEET OPTIMIZER, ASPEN INVENTORY MANAGEMENT & OPERATIONS SCHEDULING, ASPEN PETROLEUM SCHEDULER, ASPEN PETROLEUM SUPPLY CHAIN PLANNER, ASPEN PIMS, ASPEN PLANNING & SCHEDULING FOR OLEFINS, ASPEN PLANT SCHEDULER, ASPEN PLUS and ASPEN SUPPLY CHAIN PLANNER are our trademarks. All other trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.

Except as otherwise indicated, or as the context may otherwise require, the words "we," "our," "us," and "our company" refer to Aspen Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Our fiscal year ends on June 30, and references to a specific fiscal year are to the twelve months ended June 30 of that year. For example, "fiscal 2010" refers to the year ended June 30, 2010.

#### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all the information you should consider before investing in our common stock. Before deciding whether to buy shares of our common stock, you should read the entire prospectus carefully, including "Risk Factors" beginning on page 10 and our consolidated financial statements and related notes beginning on page F-1.

# Aspen Technology

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical process optimization software solutions, which are designed to manage and optimize plant and process design, operational performance, and supply chain planning. Our aspenONE software and related services have been developed specifically for companies in the process industries, including the energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and engineering and construction industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements.

Our software incorporates our proprietary empirical models of manufacturing and planning processes and reflects the deep domain expertise we have amassed from focusing on solutions for the process industries for nearly 30 years. We have developed our applications to design and optimize processes across three principal business areas: engineering, manufacturing and supply chain. We are a recognized market and technology leader in providing process optimization software for each of these business areas.

We have more than 1,500 customers globally. Our customers include manufacturers in process industries such as energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels, as well as engineering and construction firms that help design process manufacturing plants. As of June 30, 2010, our installed base included 19 of the 20 largest petroleum companies, all of the 20 largest chemical companies, and 15 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical companies. Customers outside the United States accounted for a majority of our total revenue in each of fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, and no single customer represented 10% or more of our total revenue in fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.

We have established sustainable competitive advantages based on the breadth, flexibility and return on investment associated with our software offerings, as well as our market leadership position, our extensive process industry expertise and our established, diversified customer base. We consult and collaborate with customers to identify new applications, which leads to innovative, targeted solutions and fosters long-term customer relationships. This approach has helped us develop software solutions that are embedded in our customers' operations and integrated with their core business processes.

In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. Our new licensing model provides customers with increased access to our applications, and we believe this flexibility will lead to increased usage and revenue over time. Because we previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upon shipment of software, our revenue for fiscal 2010 was significantly less than in the preceding fiscal years. We expect that our revenue will increase as customers renew their licensing arrangements under our new licensing model. We do not expect to recognize levels of revenue comparable to prior fiscal years unless and until a significant majority of our existing license agreements have been renewed under our new licensing model.

Our new aspenONE licensing model has not changed the method or timing of our customer billing or cash collections. Our management uses several key financial metrics in operating and assessing our business, including the following:

- Total term contract value, or TCV, was \$1.2 billion as of June 30, 2010 and \$1.0 billion as of June 30, 2009. TCV is an estimate of the renewal value of our active portfolio of term license agreements, and it did not include software maintenance and support, or SMS, prior to fiscal 2010. We estimate that TCV grew by approximately 10% during fiscal 2010 on a comparable "license-only" basis, after removing the SMS portion of TCV as of June 30, 2010.
- Free cash flow totaled \$35.3 million in fiscal 2010, \$27.7 million in fiscal 2009 and \$61.3 million in fiscal 2008.

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure. For important information regarding the above metrics, see "—Summary Consolidated Financial Data" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics."

#### **Industry Background**

The process industries consist of companies that typically manufacture finished products by applying a controlled chemical process either to a raw material that is fed continuously through the plant or to a specific batch of raw material. The process industries include energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels as well as engineering and construction firms that design process manufacturing plants.

Process manufacturing is often complex because small changes in the feedstocks used, or to the chemical process applied, can have a significant impact on the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of manufacturing operations. Companies in the process industries have extensive technical requirements and need a combination of software, services and domain expertise to help design, operate and manage manufacturing environments. The unique characteristics associated with process manufacturing create special demands for business applications that frequently exceed the capabilities of generic or non-process manufacturing software.

In addition to the technical requirements associated with the process industries, several industry trends are driving the growing complexity of these industries:

- Globalization of markets. Growing demand and available feedstock in emerging markets are leading process companies to design, build and operate plants in China, India, Russia, Latin America and the Middle East.
- *Volatile markets*. Unpredictable commodity markets are straining the manufacturing and supply chain operations of process manufacturers, which must react quickly to frequent changes in the prices and availability of feedstock and in the pricing of finished products.
- Increased margin pressure. Increasingly competitive global markets are driving process companies to design more efficient plants while
  increasing throughput and reducing costs at existing plants.
- *Shrinking engineering workforce.* Decreasing numbers of chemical engineers in mature markets are driving process companies to adopt technology solutions that can capture knowledge and automate tasks.
- *Environmental and safety regulations.* Expanding regulatory requirements are presenting compliance challenges for process companies, which face heightened scrutiny because of the environmental, safety and other implications of their products and manufacturing processes.

# **Market Opportunity**

Technology solutions historically have played a major role in helping companies in the process industries improve their manufacturing productivity. In the 1980s process manufacturers implemented distributed control systems, or DCS, to automate the management of plant hardware. In the 1990s they adopted enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems to streamline back office functions and interact with DCS. Many process manufacturers have implemented both DCS and ERP systems but have realized that these systems are incapable of optimizing what is produced, how it is produced or where it is produced.

Process optimization software addresses the gap between DCS and ERP systems by optimizing the manufacturing process itself: how the process is run and the economics of that process. By connecting DCS and ERP systems with intelligent, dynamic applications, process optimization software allows a manufacturer to make better, faster economic decisions closer to the process. This software can optimize a manufacturing environment by, for example, incorporating process manufacturing domain knowledge, supporting real-time decision making, and providing the ability to forecast and simulate potential actions. Furthermore, these solutions can optimize the supply chain by helping a manufacturer to understand the operating conditions in each plant, which enables a manufacturer to decide where to manufacture products based on economics.

The market for engineering, manufacturing and supply chain process optimization software and services for the energy, chemicals and pharmaceuticals industries was \$2.4 billion in 2008, based on information from reports issued in 2009 by ARC Advisory Group. More specifically, based on this information, it is estimated that:

- the engineering market was \$443 million in 2008 and will grow 8% annually through 2013;
- the manufacturing market was \$1.7 billion in 2008 and will grow 12% annually through 2013; and
- the supply chain market was \$279 million in 2008 and will grow 5% annually through 2013.

# aspenONE Solutions

We provide integrated process optimization software solutions designed and developed specifically for the process industries. We also offer customer support, professional services and training services. Our aspenONE software applications are organized into two suites, which are centered on our principal business areas of engineering, manufacturing and supply chain:

- aspenONE Engineering. Our engineering software is used on an engineer's desktop to design new plants, re-design existing plants, and simulate and optimize plant processes.
- aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain. Our manufacturing software is designed to optimize day-to-day processing activities, enabling
  process manufacturers to make better, more profitable decisions and to improve plant performance. Our supply chain management software is
  designed to enable process manufacturers to reduce inventory levels, increase asset efficiency and optimize supply chain decisions.

The key benefits of our aspenONE solutions include:

*Broad and comprehensive software suites.* We are the only software provider that has developed comprehensive suites of software applications addressing the engineering, manufacturing and supply chain requirements of process manufacturers.

*Mission-critical, integrated software solutions.* aspenONE provides a standards-based framework that integrates applications, data and models within each of our software suites. Process manufacturers seeking to improve their mission-critical business operations can use our integrated applications to support real-time decision-making—both for individual production facilities and across multiple sites.

Flexible commercial model. Our new aspenONE licensing model provides a customer with access to all of the applications within a licensed aspenONE suite, enabling the customer to use those applications whenever required and to experiment with different applications to best solve whatever critical business challenges the customer faces. The customer can easily increase its usage of our software as its business requirements evolve, without disrupting its business processes.

Hardware-independent technology. Our software can be easily integrated and used with equipment manufactured by any major process manufacturing hardware vendor. Because of our hardware-independent approach, customers can use our software to create a unified view of their operations across plants with hardware from different vendors.

# **Our Competitive Strengths**

We believe our key competitive advantages include, in addition to the comprehensive breadth of our integrated software solutions and the flexibility of our new aspenONE licensing model, the following:

*Market leadership.* We are a leader in each of the markets addressed by our software. Based on information presented in reports of ARC Advisory Group relating to performance in 2008, in our core process manufacturing industries of energy, chemicals and pharmaceuticals we ranked:

- #1 in the market addressed by our engineering software;
- #2 in the market addressed by our manufacturing software; and
- #1 in the market addressed by our supply chain software.

*Industry-leading innovation based on substantial process expertise.* Over the past 30 years, we have designed a number of major process engineering advances considered to be industry-standard applications. As of June 30, 2010, approximately 50% of our software development personnel had degrees in chemical engineering or a similar discipline, which helps us address the specific challenges of the process industries.

*Rapid, high return on investment.* Many customers purchase our software because they believe it will provide rapid, demonstrable and significant returns on their investment. For some customers, cost reductions in the first year following installation have exceeded the total cost of our software. For many customers, even a relatively small improvement in productivity can generate substantial recurring benefits due to the large production volumes and limited profit margins typical in process industries.

Established, diversified customer base. As of June 30, 2010, our installed base of more than 1,500 customers included 19 of the 20 largest petroleum companies, all of the 20 largest chemical companies, and 15 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical companies. We consult and collaborate with customers to identify new applications, which leads to innovative, targeted solutions and fosters long-term customer relationships.

# **Growth Strategy**

Our objective is to further establish and extend our position as a leading global provider of process optimization software and related services to the process industries. We intend to build upon our market and technology leadership position by pursuing the following:

- continue to provide innovative, market-leading solutions;
- further penetrate our existing customer base;
- expand our presence in emerging markets; and
- extend our vertical reach and indirect sales channel.

#### Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a number of risks that you should understand before deciding to invest in our common stock. These risks are discussed more fully in "Risk Factors" beginning on page 10, and they include:

- we depend on our aspenONE software for a substantial portion of our revenue, and our business will suffer if demand for, or usage of, our software declines for any reason or if existing customers do not renew under our new aspenONE licensing model;
- our revenue and net income for fiscal 2010 were, and for the foreseeable future will be, adversely affected by the transition to our new licensing model;
- in preparing our consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2010, our management identified two material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and our failure to remedy these or other material weaknesses could result in material misstatements in our financial statements and the loss of investor confidence in our reported financial information;
- · arbitration and litigation involving a former reseller in the Middle East may subject us to substantial damages and expenses;
- our operating results may suffer if customers in the energy, chemicals, engineering and construction, or pharmaceuticals industries experience an economic downturn or other adverse events; and
- unfavorable economic and market conditions and a lessening demand in the market for process optimization software could adversely affect our operating results.

# **Corporate Information**

We were incorporated in Massachusetts in 1981 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1998. Our principal executive offices are located at 200 Wheeler Road, Burlington, Massachusetts 01803, and our telephone number at that address is (781) 221-6400. Our website address is *www.aspentech.com*. The information on our website is not part of this prospectus.

# The Offering

Common stock offered by selling stockholders	15,000,000 shares
Common stock outstanding as of September 1, 2010	92,892,014 shares
Use of proceeds	The selling stockholders are selling all of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders.
Symbol on The NASDAQ Global Select Market	"AZPN"

The number of shares of common stock outstanding as of September 1, 2010 excludes:

- 5,247,039 shares issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding and vested as of September 1, 2010, at a weighted average exercise price of \$6.94 per share;
- 1,057,529 shares issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding but not vested as of September 1, 2010, at a weighted average exercise price of \$10.84 per share;
- 2,214,431 shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units outstanding as of September 1, 2010, without payment of an exercise price; and
- 6,348,233 shares authorized and available as of September 1, 2010, for future issuance under our equity compensation plans.

Except as otherwise noted, the information in this prospectus assumes no exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option.

# **Summary Consolidated Financial Data**

The following tables summarize our consolidated financial data for the periods presented. You should read these data together with the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1, as well as "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus.

		Year Ended June 30,					
	_	2010		2009		2008	
		(In thou	hare data)				
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data							
Revenue:		44.074			_		
Subscription	\$	11,071	\$	170 501	\$	160 404	
Software		42,920		179,591		168,404	
Total subscription and software(1)		53,991		179,591		168,404	
Services and other		112,353		131,989		143,209	
Total revenue		166,344		311,580		311,613	
Cost of revenue:						<u> </u>	
Subscription and software		6,437		12,409		15,916	
Services and other		59,673		63,411		69,077	
Total cost of revenue		66,110		75,820		84,993	
Gross profit	<u> </u>	100,234		235,760		226,620	
Operating expenses:							
Selling and marketing(2)		97,002		84,126		94,965	
Research and development(2)		48,228		46,375		49,899	
General and administrative(2)		63,246		58,256		54,496	
Restructuring charges		1,128		2,446		8,623	
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets				623			
Total operating expenses		209,604		191,826		207,983	
(Loss) income from operations	<u> </u>	(109,370)		43,934		18,637	
Interest income		19,324		22,698		23,784	
Interest expense		(8,455)		(10,516)		(17,783)	
Other (expense) income, net		(2,407)		(1,824)		3,386	
(Loss) income before income taxes		(100,908)		54,292		28,024	
Provision for income taxes		(6,537)		(1,368)		(3,078)	
Net (loss) income	\$	(107,445)	\$	52,924	\$	24,946	
(Loss) earnings per common share:					_		
Basic	\$	(1.18)		0.59	\$	0.28	
Diluted	\$	(1.18)	\$	0.57	\$	0.27	
Weighted average shares outstanding:							
Basic		91,247		90,053		89,640	
Diluted		91,247		92,578		94,092	

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model."

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

In the following table, as adjusted data reflect the estimated offering expenses we expect to incur in connection with this offering.

		June 30, 2010				
	Actua	l (In thousa	As Adjusted ands)			
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1	24,945 \$	124,095			
Working capital	9	94,466	93,616			
Accounts receivable, net		31,738	31,738			
Installments receivable, net	1	28,598	128,598			
Collateralized receivables, net	!	51,430	51,430			
Total deferred revenue	1	37,279	87,279			
Total secured borrowings	•	76,135	76,135			
Redeemable convertible preferred stock		_	_			
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)	1	40,970	140,120			

Following the introduction of our new aspenONE licensing model, management focuses on certain metrics, including the key metrics set forth below, to assist in operating and assessing our business. We believe these metrics are useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance following the introduction of our new licensing model. None of these metrics should be considered as an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP, including net cash provided by operating activities, which is the GAAP financial measure most directly comparable to free cash flow. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics."

		June 30,		
	20	2010 200		09
	·	(In billions)		
Total Term Contract Value Data(1)				
Total term contract value (TCV)	\$	1.2	\$	1.0

(1) Software maintenance and support, or SMS, was not included as part of our term license arrangements prior to fiscal 2010, and no SMS was included in estimated TCV as of June 30, 2009. For comparability purposes, we estimated "license-only" TCV growth for fiscal 2010 by removing the SMS portion of TCV as of June 30, 2010. On this comparable "license-only" basis, we estimate that TCV grew by approximately 10% during fiscal 2010. Overall, we estimate that TCV, with SMS included as of June 30, 2010, increased by approximately 17% during fiscal 2010.

	Year		Three Months Ended								
	Ended June 30, 2010		June 30, 2010			December 31, 2009		Se	ptember 30, 2009		
Bookings Data											
Bookings	\$	365,948	\$	137,750	\$	93,916	\$	95,255	\$	39,027	

	_	June 30, 2010	 2010 200		December 31, September 30, 2009 (In thousands)			 June 30, 2009
Future Cash Collections and Billings Backlog Data								
Billings backlog	\$	389,354	\$ 270,293	\$	206,499	\$	128,252	\$ 100,499
Accounts receivable, net		31,738	28,612		35,507		36,568	49,882
Installments receivable, undiscounted (non-GAAP)(1)		147,315	167,643		180,671		197,053	208,204
Collateralized receivables, undiscounted (non-GAAP)(1)		56,461	70,068		88,722		103,072	107,750
Future cash collections	\$	624,868	\$ 536,616	\$	511,399	\$	464,945	\$ 466,335

(1) Excludes unamortized discount. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Future Cash Collections and Billings Backlog."

	Year Ended June 30,					
	2	010		2009		2008
			(In	thousands)		
Adjusted Total Costs Data						
Total cost of revenue	\$	66,110	\$	75,820	\$	84,993
Total operating expenses		209,604		191,826		207,983
Total expenses		275,714		267,646		292,976
Less:						
Stock-based compensation		(15,260)		(4,670)		(10,600)
Adjusted total costs (non-GAAP)	\$	260,454	\$	262,976	\$	282,376

	Year Ended June 30,						
	2010		2009			2008	
	(In thousands)						
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Free Cash Flow Data							
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$	38,622	\$	33,032	\$	71,464	
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements		(2,652)		(2,972)		(9,424)	
Capitalized computer software development costs		(699)		(2,382)		(780)	
Free cash flow (non-GAAP)	\$	35,271	\$	27,678	\$	61,260	

# For these purposes:

- Total term contract value, or TCV, is an estimate of the renewal value, as of a specific date, of our active portfolio of term license agreements. TCV is calculated by multiplying the terminal annual payment for each active term license agreement by the original length of the existing license term, and then aggregating this amount for all active term license agreements. TCV includes the value of SMS for license agreements under our new aspenONE licensing model, in which SMS is committed for the entire license term. TCV does not include any amounts for perpetual licenses, professional services, training or standalone renewal SMS.
- Bookings represent the amount of contractually committed subscription and software fees, including any bundled software maintenance and support or SMS. Bookings do not include (a) the amount of fees for professional services, training and standalone renewal SMS or (b) the amount of subscription and software fees remaining under existing license agreements that are replaced prior to the scheduled expiration date.
- Billings backlog represents the aggregate value of uninvoiced bookings from prior and current periods. Billings backlog is not reflected on our consolidated balance sheets.

#### RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before purchasing our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows would likely suffer. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could fall, and you may lose all or part of your investment in our common stock.

# **Risks Related to Our Business**

We depend on our aspenONE software for a substantial portion of our revenue, and our business will suffer if demand for, or usage of, our software declines for any reason or if existing customers do not renew under our new aspenONE licensing model.

Our aspenONE suites account for a significant majority of our license revenue and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. If demand for, or usage of, our software declines for any reason or if existing customers do not renew under our new aspenONE licensing model, our revenue would decline and our operating results would suffer. As a result, our revenue could be adversely affected by:

- any decline in demand for or usage of our aspenONE suites;
- the failure of our aspenONE suites to achieve continued market acceptance;
- the introduction of products and technologies that serve as a replacement or substitute for, or represent an improvement over, our aspenONE suites:
- technological innovations that our aspenONE suites do not address; and
- our inability to release enhanced versions of our aspenONE suites on a timely basis.

In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which we recognize license revenue over the term of a license contract. Our future success depends substantially on our customers' acceptance of our new licensing model. We are not able to predict the rate at which customers will renew under our new licensing model and therefore cannot predict the timing or amount of our future revenue or profitability. If customers fail to renew under our new licensing model, we may lose customers, which would negatively impact our financial performance. We intend to expend significant resources to continue to improve our aspenONE solutions and to train our customers in using our solutions, but the successful development of our new licensing model cannot be predicted and we cannot guarantee we will succeed in these goals. Furthermore, customers may elect to continue to purchase our applications on a point product basis, which could limit our ability to grow our business successfully.

Our revenue and net income for fiscal 2010 were, and for the foreseeable future will be, adversely affected by the transition to our new aspenONE licensing model.

Our new aspenONE licensing model, which we introduced in July 2009, provides customers with access to all of the applications within the aspenONE suite or suites they license and includes software maintenance and support, or SMS, for the term of the license contract. Prior to July 2009 we primarily recognized license revenue "upfront," upon shipment of software, on a net present value basis in the period in which a license contract was signed, not over the license term.

As a result of the transition to our new aspenONE licensing model, our revenue for 2010 was significantly less than the level achieved in the preceding years and we expect our license revenue will remain below that level for several more years. Our new licensing model makes it difficult for us to increase our license revenue rapidly through additional bookings in a period, as license revenue from

new customers will be recognized over the applicable license term. Similarly, the full effect of a decline in bookings in any period would not be fully recognized in our revenue for that period, but would negatively affect revenue in subsequent quarters. Moreover, the marked decrease in revenue levels following our introduction of our new licensing model will not result in, or be accompanied by, a corresponding reduction in operating expenses. As a result, the change to our new licensing model will result in our reporting not only significantly lower revenue but also large operating losses for at least the near term and potentially several years. A number of the measures of financial performance calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP and typically considered by investors for technology companies like ours will be of limited value in assessing our performance, growth and financial condition for the foreseeable future. Our announcement of GAAP-based operating results, as well as our lack of visibility into future operating results, may have a significant adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In preparing our consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2010, our management identified two material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and our failure to remedy these or other material weaknesses could result in material misstatements in our financial statements and the loss of investor confidence in our reported financial information.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act. Our management identified two material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2010. A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

The material weaknesses identified by management as of June 30, 2010 consisted of inadequate and ineffective controls over income tax accounting and disclosure and controls over the recognition of professional services revenue. As a result of these material weaknesses, our management concluded as of June 30, 2010 that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in *Internal Control—An Integrated Framework* (September 1992).

We have been implementing and continue to implement remedial measures designed to address these material weaknesses. We cannot be certain that the measures we have taken are effective or will ensure that restatements will not occur in the future. If these remedial measures are insufficient to address these material weaknesses, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control are discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements and we could be required to restate our financial results. We restated our consolidated financial statements for each of the fiscal years from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2007 and for the first quarter of fiscal 2008. Any future restatement of consolidated financial statements could place a significant strain on our internal resources and harm our operating results. Further, any additional or unremedied material weakness may preclude us from meeting our reporting obligations on a timely basis. We have previously not been in compliance with SEC reporting requirements and NASDAQ listing requirements. As a result of the restatements of our consolidated financial statements, we did not maintain our status as a timely filer with the SEC during the period from September 2007 to November 9, 2009 and from November 16, 2009 to December 21, 2009, and as a result our common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ Global Select Market in February 2008 and not relisted until February 2010. If we again fail to remain in compliance with SEC reporting requirements and NASDAQ continued listing requirements, there may be a material adverse effect on our business and the market for our common stock. If we were required to restate our consolidated financial statements, we could be subject to class action litigation and SEC proceedings and could incur monetary

judgments, penalties or other sanctions that could adversely affect our financial condition and could cause our stock price to decline.

Any failure to address the identified material weaknesses or any additional material weaknesses in our internal control could also adversely affect the results of the periodic management evaluations regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that are required to be included in our annual reports on Form 10-K. Internal control deficiencies could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information. We can give no assurance that the measures we have taken and plan to take in the future will remediate the material weaknesses identified or that any additional material weaknesses or additional restatements of financial results will not arise in the future due to a failure to implement and maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting or circumvention of these controls. In addition, even if we are successful in strengthening our controls and procedures, in the future those controls and procedures may not be adequate to prevent or identify irregularities or errors or to facilitate the fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements.

# Arbitration and litigation involving a former reseller in the Middle East may subject us to substantial damages and expenses.

Prior to October 6, 2009, we had an exclusive reseller relationship covering certain countries in the Middle East with AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., a Kuwaiti corporation (now known as Advanced Technology Middle East W.L.L.) that we refer to below as ATME. Under the reseller agreement, we had the right to terminate for, among other things, a material breach in the event of ATME's willful misconduct or fraud. Effective October 6, 2009, we terminated the reseller relationship for material breach by ATME, based on certain actions of ATME.

On November 2, 2009, ATME commenced an action in the Queen's Bench Division (Commercial Court) of the High Court of Justice (England & Wales) captioned In The Matter Of An Intended Arbitration Between AspenTech Middle East W.L.L. and Aspen Technology, Inc., 2009 Folio 1436, seeking preliminary injunctive relief restraining us from taking any steps to impede ATME from serving as our exclusive reseller in the countries covered by the reseller agreement with ATME. We filed evidence in opposition to that request for relief on November 12, 2009. At a hearing on November 13, 2009, the court dismissed ATME's application for preliminary injunctive relief. The court sealed an Order to this effect on November 23, 2009, and further ordered that ATME pay our costs of claim.

Relatedly, on November 11, 2009, we filed a request for arbitration against ATME in the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce, captioned Aspen Technology, Inc. v. AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., Case No. 16732/VRO. Our request for arbitration asserted claims against ATME seeking a declaration that ATME committed a material breach of our agreement and that our termination of our agreement was lawful, and seeking damages for ATME's willful misconduct in connection with the reseller relationship. On November 18, 2009, ATME filed its answer to that request for arbitration and asserted counterclaims against us seeking a declaratory judgment that we unlawfully terminated our agreement with ATME and seeking damages for breach of contract by reason of our purported unlawful termination of our agreement. Our reply to those counterclaims was filed on December 18, 2009.

We expect a determination to be made in the second half of fiscal 2011 with respect to the pending arbitration. However, we can provide no assurance as to the actual timing or outcome of the arbitration. In general, neither party will have the ability to appeal the determination reached. Regardless of the outcome, the proceedings may result in significant legal expenses and may require significant attention and resources of management, all of which could result in losses and damages that have a material adverse effect on our business. The reseller agreement with ATME contained a provision whereby we could be liable for a termination fee if the agreement were terminated other than for material breach. This fee is to be calculated based on a formula contained in the reseller agreement

that we believe was originally developed based on certain assumptions about the future financial performance of ATME, as well as ATME's actual financial performance. Based on the formula and the financial information provided to us by ATME, which we have not yet verified independently, a recent calculation based on the formula would result in a termination fee of between \$60 million and \$77 million. Under the terminated reseller agreement, no termination fee is owed on termination for material breach. If we are found to have breached the terms of our agreement with ATME, we could be found liable for the termination fee, the amount of which may be greater or less than the number indicated above. If we are found liable, we would incur damages that could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow and cash position.

On March 11, 2010, a Kuwaiti entity (known as ATME Group and affiliated with ATME) filed a lawsuit in a Kuwaiti court naming as defendants ATME, us and a reseller newly appointed by us in Kuwait. In this lawsuit, ATME Group claims that it was an exclusive reseller for ATME in Kuwait and that it therefore is entitled to damages resulting from purported customer contracts in Kuwait.

Our operating results may suffer if customers in the energy, chemicals, engineering and construction, or pharmaceuticals industries experience an economic downturn or other adverse events.

We derive a majority of our revenue from companies in the energy, chemicals, engineering and construction, and pharmaceutical industries. Accordingly, our future success depends upon the continued demand for process optimization software and related services by companies in these process industries. These industries are highly cyclical and highly reactive to the price of oil, as well as general economic conditions. Adverse changes in these industries could and have caused delays and reductions in information technology spending by our customers, which could lead to reductions, delays, postponements or cancellations of customer purchases of our products and services, particularly the aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain suite, and in turn could negatively impact our operating results.

Because of the nature of their products and manufacturing processes, companies in these process industries are subject to heightened risk of adverse or even catastrophic environmental, safety and health accidents or incidents, such as the recent oil spill in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. Further, our customers are often subject to ever-changing standards and regulations, and the global nature of their operations can subject them to numerous regulatory regimes. Legislation or regulations regarding these areas may require us to make rapid changes in our products and services, and our inability to effect those changes could adversely impact our revenue, operating margins and other operating results. Any of the foregoing types of events that affects our customers may adversely impact their operations and information technology spending, which could have an adverse effect on our operating results.

In addition, in the past, worldwide economic downturns and pricing pressures experienced by energy, chemical, pharmaceutical and other process industries have led to consolidations and reorganizations. These downturns, pricing pressures and reorganizations have caused delays and reductions in capital and operating expenditures by many of these companies. These delays and reductions have reduced demand for products and services like ours.

In addition, as the global economy deteriorated in 2009, some of our customers elected to change from paying for term licenses upfront to paying in installments over the contract term, which deferred our receipt of cash from those customers. A recurrence of these industry patterns, including any recurrence that may occur in connection with current global economic events, as well as general domestic and foreign economic conditions and other factors that reduce spending by companies in these industries, could harm our operating results in the future. There is no assurance that customers may not seek bankruptcy or other similar relief from creditors, fail to pay amounts due to us, or pay those amounts more slowly, any of which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Unfavorable economic and market conditions or a lessening demand in the market for process optimization software could adversely affect our operating results.

Our business is influenced by a range of factors that are beyond our control and difficult or impossible to predict. If the market for process optimization software grows more slowly than we anticipate, demand for our products and services could decline and our operating results could be impaired. Further, the state of the economy, which deteriorated in the recent broad recession, may deteriorate further in the future. Our operating results may be adversely affected by unfavorable global economic and market conditions as well as a lessening demand for process optimization software generally. Customer demand for our products is intrinsically linked to the strength of the economy. If weakness in the economies of the United States and other countries persists, many customers may delay or reduce technology purchases. This could result in reductions in sales of our products, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies, increased price competition or reduced use of our products by our customers. We will lose revenue if demand for our products is reduced because potential customers experience weak or deteriorating economic conditions, catastrophic environmental or other events and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow from operations would likely be adversely affected.

The majority of our revenue and an increasing percentage of our operations are attributable to operations outside the United States, and our operating results therefore may be materially affected by the economic, political, regulatory and other risks of foreign operations.

As of June 30, 2010, we had 26 offices in 22 countries. We sell our products primarily through a direct sales force located throughout the world. In the event that we are unable to adequately staff and maintain our foreign operations, we could face difficulties managing our international operations.

Customers outside the United States accounted for a significant amount of our total revenue in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008. We anticipate that revenue from customers outside the United States will continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenue for the foreseeable future. Our operations outside the United States are subject to additional risks, including:

- unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, exchange rates, tariffs and other barriers;
- political and economic instability and possible nationalization of property by governments without compensation to the owners;
- less effective protection of intellectual property;
- requirements of foreign laws and other governmental controls;
- difficulties and delays in translating products and product documentation into foreign languages;
- difficulties and delays in negotiating software licenses compliant with accounting revenue recognition requirements in the United States;
- difficulties in collecting trade accounts receivable in other countries;
- · adverse tax consequences; and
- the challenges of handling legal disputes in foreign jurisdictions.

Competition from software offered by current competitors and new market entrants, as well as from internally developed solutions by our customers, could adversely affect our ability to sell our software products and related services and could result in pressure to price our products in a manner that reduces our margins.

Our markets in general are highly competitive and differ among our principal product areas: engineering, manufacturing, and supply chain management. Our engineering software competes with

products of businesses such as ABB Ltd., Chemstations, Inc., Honeywell International, Inc., Invensys plc, KBC Advanced Technologies plc, and Shell Global Solutions International BV. Our manufacturing software competes with products of companies such as ABB Ltd., Honeywell International, Inc., Invensys plc, OSIsoft, Inc., Rockwell Automation, Inc., Siemens AG and Yokogawa Electric Corporation. Our supply chain management software competes with products of companies such as JDA Software Group, Inc., Oracle Corporation and SAP AG. In addition, we face challenges in selling our solutions to large companies in the process industries that have internally developed their own proprietary software solutions.

Many of our current and potential competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other resources than we have. As a result, these companies may be able to offer lower prices, additional products or services, or other incentives that we cannot match or offer. These competitors may be in a stronger position to respond more quickly to new technologies and may be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns. We believe they also have adopted and may continue to pursue more aggressive pricing policies and make more attractive offers to potential customers, employees and strategic partners. For example, some competitors may be able to initiate relationships through sales and installations of hardware and then seek to expand their customer relationships by offering process optimization software at a discount. In addition, many of our competitors have established, and may in the future continue to establish, cooperative relationships with third parties to improve their product offerings and to increase the availability of their products in the marketplace. Competitors with greater financial resources may make strategic acquisitions to increase their ability to gain market share or improve the quality or marketability of their products.

Competition could seriously impede our ability to sell additional software products and related services on terms favorable to us. Businesses may continue to enhance their internally developed solutions, rather than investing in commercial software such as ours. Our current and potential commercial competitors may develop and market new technologies that render our existing or future products obsolete, unmarketable or less competitive. In addition, if these competitors develop products with similar or superior functionality to our products, we may need to decrease the prices for our products in order to remain competitive. If we are unable to maintain our current pricing due to competitive pressures, our margins will be reduced and our operating results will be negatively affected. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors or that competitive pressures will not materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

If we fail to develop new software products, enhance existing products and services, or penetrate new vertical markets, we will be unable to implement our growth strategy successfully and our business could be seriously harmed.

The maintenance and extension of our market leadership and our future growth is largely dependent upon our ability to develop new software products that achieve market acceptance with acceptable operating margins. Enterprises are requiring their application software vendors to provide greater levels of functionality and broader product offerings. Moreover, our industry is characterized by rapidly changing technologies and evolving industry standards and operating platforms. Competitors continue to make rapid technological advances in computer hardware and software technology and frequently introduce new products, services and enhancements. We must continue to enhance our current product line and develop and introduce new products and services that keep pace with increasingly sophisticated customer requirements and the technological developments of our competitors. Our business and operating results could suffer if we cannot successfully respond to the technological advances of competitors, or if our new products or product enhancements and services do not achieve market acceptance.

Under our business plan, we are implementing a product strategy that unifies our software solutions under the aspenONE brand with differentiated aspenONE vertical solutions targeted at specific process industry segments. We cannot assure you that our product strategy will result in products that will meet market needs and achieve significant market acceptance. If we fail to introduce new products that meet the demands of our customers or our target markets, or if we fail to penetrate new vertical markets in the process industries, our revenue will likely grow at a slower rate than we anticipate and our financial condition could suffer.

# Defects or errors in our software products could harm our reputation, impair our ability to sell our products and result in significant costs to us.

Our software products are complex and may contain undetected defects or errors. We have not suffered significant harm from any defects or errors to date, but we have from time to time found defects in our products and we may discover additional defects in the future. We may not be able to detect and correct defects or errors before releasing products. Consequently, we or our customers may discover defects or errors after our products have been implemented. We have in the past issued, and may in the future need to issue, corrective releases of our products to remedy defects or errors. The occurrence of any defects or errors could result in:

- lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our products;
- delays in payment to us by customers;
- product returns;
- injury to our reputation;
- diversion of our resources;
- · legal claims, including product liability claims, against us;
- · increased service and warranty expenses or financial concessions; and
- increased insurance costs.

Defects and errors in our software products could result in claims for substantial damages against us.

# We are subject to a number of lawsuits and disputes arising out of the conduct of our business.

We are subject to a number of lawsuits and disputes arising out of the conduct of our business. Resolution of these matters can be prolonged and costly, and the ultimate results or judgments are uncertain due to the inherent uncertainty in litigation and other proceedings. Moreover, our potential liabilities are subject to change over time due to new developments, changes in settlement strategy or the impact of evidentiary requirements, and we may be required to pay damage awards or settlements that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

In March 2006, we settled class action litigation, including related derivative claims, arising out of our originally filed consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2000 through 2004, the accounting for which we restated in March 2005. Certain members of the class (representing 1,457,969 shares of common stock, or less than 1% of the shares putatively purchased during the class action period) opted out of the settlement and had the right to bring their own state or federal law claims against us, referred to as "opt-out" claims. Opt-out claims were filed on behalf of the holders of approximately 1.1 million of such shares. One of these actions was settled and three were dismissed. The claims in the remaining actions (described below) include claims against us and one or more of our former officers alleging securities and common law fraud, breach of contract, deceptive practices and/or rescissory

damages liability, based on the restated results of one or more fiscal periods included in our restated consolidated financial statements referenced in the class action.

- Herbert G. and Eunice E. Blecker, et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., et al., filed in June 2006 in the Business Litigation Session of the
  Massachusetts Superior Court for Suffolk County and docketed as Civ. A. No. 06-2357-BLS1, was an opt-out claim asserted by persons who
  received 248,411 shares of our common stock in an acquisition. Fact discovery in this action closed in July 2008, and a non-jury trial was
  conducted in November 2009. In January 2010, the court issued its order granting judgment in our favor and dismissing the case. In February
  2010, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the judgment.
- 380544 Canada, Inc., et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., filed on February 15, 2007 in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York and docketed as Civ. A. No. 1:07-cv-01204-JFK in that court, is a claim asserted by persons who purchased 566,665 shares of our common stock in a private placement. Certain motions to dismiss filed by other defendants were resolved on May 5, 2009, and discovery is in process. The claims in the 380544 Canada action are for damages totaling at least \$4.0 million, not including claims for attorneys' fees. We plan to defend the 380544 Canada action vigorously.

We can provide no assurance as to the outcome of these cases or the likelihood of the filing of additional opt-out claims, and these claims may result in judgments against us for significant damages. Regardless of the outcome, such litigation has resulted in the past, and may continue to result in the future, in significant legal expenses and may require significant attention and resources of management, all of which could result in losses and damages that have a material adverse effect on our business.

# We may be subject to significant expenses and damages because of pending liability claims and other claims related to our products and services.

The sale and implementation of certain of our software products and services, particularly in the areas of advanced process control and supply chain management, entail the risk of product liability claims and associated damages. Our software products and services are often integrated with our customers' networks and software applications and are used in the design, operation and management of manufacturing and supply chain processes at large facilities, often for mission critical applications.

Any errors, defects, performance problems or other failures of our software could result in significant liability to us for damages or for violations of environmental, safety and other laws and regulations. Our software products and implementation services could give rise to warranty and other claims. We are unable to determine whether resolution of any of these matters will have a material adverse impact on our financial position, cash flows or results of operations, or, in many cases, reasonably estimate the amount of the loss, if any, that may result from the resolution of these matters.

Our agreements with customers generally contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims. It is possible, however, that the limitation of liability provisions in our agreements may not be effective as a result of federal, foreign, state or local laws or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decisions. A substantial product liability judgment against us could materially and adversely harm our operating results and financial condition. Even if our software is not at fault, a product liability claim brought against us could be time-consuming, costly to defend and harmful to our operations.

Implementation of some of our products can be difficult and time-consuming, and customers may be unable to implement those products successfully or otherwise achieve all of the potential benefits of the products.

Some of our scheduling, production management and execution, and supply chain products must integrate with the existing computer systems and software programs of our customers. This process can

be complex, time-consuming and expensive. As a result, some customers may have difficulty in implementing those products or be unable to implement them successfully or otherwise achieve the products' potential benefits. Delayed or ineffective implementation of those software products or related services may limit our revenue or may result in customer dissatisfaction, harm to our reputation and customer unwillingness to pay the fees associated with these products.

# We may suffer losses on fixed-price professional service engagements.

We undertake a portion of our professional service engagements on a fixed-price basis. Under these types of engagements, we bear the risk of cost overruns and inflation. In the past we have experienced cost overruns, which on occasion have been significant. Should the number of our fixed-price engagements increase in the future, we may experience additional cost overruns that could have a pronounced impact on our operating results.

#### Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could result in declines in our reported revenue and operating results.

In fiscal 2010, 24% of our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. In addition, certain of our operating expenses incurred outside the United States are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Our reported revenue and operating results are subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises primarily from the net difference between non-U.S. dollar receipts from customers outside the United States and non-U.S. dollar operating expenses for subsidiaries in foreign countries. Currently, our largest exposures to foreign exchange rates exist primarily with the Euro, Pound Sterling, Canadian dollar and Japanese Yen against the U.S. dollar. Over recent months, the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar has fluctuated dramatically. Since late fiscal 2008, we have not entered into derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency exchange contracts, intended to manage the volatility of these market risks. We cannot predict the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, and foreign currency fluctuations in the future may adversely affect our revenue and operating results. Any hedging policies we may implement in the future may not be successful, and the cost of those hedging techniques may have a significant negative impact on our operating results.

# If we fail to comply or are deemed to have failed to comply, with our ongoing Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, consent decree, our business may suffer.

In December 2004, we entered into a consent decree with the FTC with respect to a civil administrative complaint filed by the FTC in August 2003 alleging that our acquisition of Hyprotech in May 2002 was anticompetitive in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act and Section 7 of the Clayton Act. In July 2009, we announced that the FTC closed an investigation relating to the alleged violations of the decree and issued an order modifying the consent decree, which became final in August 2009. We are subject to ongoing compliance obligations under the FTC consent decree. There is no assurance that the actions required by the FTC's modified order and related settlement will not require significant attention and resources of management, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, if we fail to comply, or are deemed to have failed to comply, with such consent decree, our business may suffer.

# We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights, which could make us less competitive and cause us to lose market share.

We regard our software as proprietary. Our strategy is to rely on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, and to rely on license and confidentiality agreements and software security measures to further protect our proprietary technology and brand. We have obtained or applied for patent protection with respect to some of our

intellectual property, but generally do not rely on patents as a principal means of protecting our intellectual property. We have registered or applied to register some of our trademarks in the United States and in selected other countries. We generally enter into non-disclosure agreements with our employees and customers, and historically have restricted third-party access to our software source code and licenses, which we regard as proprietary information. In certain cases, we have provided copies of source code to customers for the purpose of special product customization or have deposited copies of the source code in third-party escrow accounts as security for ongoing service and license obligations. In these cases, we rely on non-disclosure and other contractual provisions to protect our proprietary rights.

The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to deter misappropriation of our technology or independent development by others of technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. Our intellectual property rights may expire or be challenged, invalidated or infringed upon by third parties or we may be unable to maintain, renew or enter into new licenses on commercially reasonable terms. Any misappropriation of our technology or development of competitive technologies could harm our business and could diminish or cause us to lose the competitive advantages associated with our proprietary technology, and could subject us to substantial costs in protecting and enforcing our intellectual property rights and/or temporarily or permanently disrupt our sales and marketing of the affected products or services. The laws of some countries in which our products are licensed do not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Moreover, in some non-U.S. countries, laws affecting intellectual property rights are uncertain in their application, which can affect the scope of enforceability of our intellectual property rights.

# Third-party claims that we infringe the intellectual property rights of others may be costly to defend or settle and could damage our business.

We cannot be certain that our software and services do not infringe issued patents, copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property rights of third parties. Litigation regarding intellectual property rights is common in the software industry, and we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time, including claims of alleged infringement of intellectual property rights of third parties by us or our licensees concerning their use of our software products and integration technologies and services. Third parties may bring claims of infringement against us. Because our software is integrated with our customers' networks and business processes, as well as other software applications, third parties may bring claims of infringement against us, as well as our customers and other software suppliers, if the cause of the alleged infringement cannot easily be determined.

Claims of alleged infringement may have a material adverse effect on our business and may discourage potential customers from doing business with us on acceptable terms, if at all. Defending against claims of infringement may be time-consuming and may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, including our management's attention to our business. Furthermore, a party making an infringement claim could secure a judgment that requires us to pay substantial damages. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from selling our software or require that we reengineer some or all of our products. Claims of intellectual property infringement also might require us to enter costly royalty or license agreements. We may be unable to obtain royalty or license agreements on terms acceptable to us or at all. Our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed significantly if any of these events occurred, and the price of our common stock could be adversely affected. Furthermore, former employers of our current and future employees may assert that our employees have improperly disclosed confidential or proprietary information to us. In addition, we have agreed, and may agree in the future, to indemnify certain of our customers against claims that our software infringes upon the intellectual property rights of others. Although we carry general liability insurance, our current insurance coverage may not apply to, and likely would not protect us from, liability that may be imposed under any of the types of claims described above.

If we are not successful in attracting, integrating and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

Our ability to establish and maintain a position of technology leadership in the highly competitive software market depends in large part upon our ability to attract, integrate and retain highly qualified managerial, sales, technical and accounting personnel. Competition for qualified personnel in the software industry is intense. We have from time to time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to attract, integrate and retain a sufficient number of highly qualified personnel, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, and our failure to raise capital when needed could prevent us from executing our business plan.

We expect that our current cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months. We may need to obtain additional financing thereafter or earlier, however, if our current plans and projections prove to be inaccurate or our expected cash flows prove to be insufficient to fund our operations because of lower-than-expected revenue, fewer sales of installment receivable contracts, unanticipated expenses or other unforeseen difficulties.

Our ability to obtain additional financing will depend on a number of factors, including market conditions, our operating performance, the quality of our receivables, and the availability of capital in the credit markets. These factors may make the timing, amount, terms and conditions of any financing unattractive. If adequate funds are not available, or are not available on acceptable terms, we may have to forego strategic acquisitions or investments, reduce or defer our development activities or delay our introduction of new products and services.

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities may dilute the existing stockholder percentage ownership of our common stock. Furthermore, any new securities we issue may have rights, preferences and privileges superior to our common stock. Capital raised through debt financings may require us to make periodic interest and principal payments and may impose potentially restrictive covenants on the conduct of our business.

#### **Risks Related to Our Common Stock**

Our stock price may be adversely affected as more shares of our common stock become available for resale upon, or following, this offering.

There may be negative pressure on our stock price as more shares of our common stock become available for resale as a consequence of this offering.

In addition, other shares of our common stock held by the selling stockholders and not included in this offering will be eligible for resale in the public market, subject to volume limitations pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, although each of the selling stockholders has agreed to certain restrictions on transfers of our common stock during the 90-day period following the date of this prospectus except with the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. We previously granted to the selling stockholders rights to require that we register up to all of those shares under the Securities Act, although the selling stockholders will not be able to request a registration in connection with an additional underwritten public offering for a period of 18 months following completion of this offering. Sales by the selling stockholders, or other holders of a large number of our shares, of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after the completion of this offering, or the perception that those sales could occur, could adversely affect the

market price of our common stock and could materially impair our future ability to raise capital through offerings of our common stock. Further, if a large number of shares of our common stock are sold in the public market after they become eligible for sale as a result of this offering, these sales could reduce the trading price of our common stock.

# Following completion of this offering, the selling stockholders will continue to own a substantial portion of our capital stock and may have significant influence over our affairs.

Upon completion of this offering, the selling stockholders collectively will own 14,512,336 shares of common stock, or 15.6% of our outstanding common stock, based upon shares outstanding as of August 16, 2010, assuming no exercise of the underwriters' overallotment option. In addition, two of our seven current directors previously were elected by the selling stockholders in their prior capacities as holders of shares of Series D-1 convertible preferred stock. As a result, the selling stockholders may exercise significant influence over corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, irrespective of how our other stockholders may vote, including:

- any amendment of our charter or bylaws;
- the approval of some mergers and other significant corporate transactions, including a sale of substantially all of our assets; or
- the defeat of any non-negotiated takeover attempt that might otherwise benefit the other stockholders.

# Our common stock may experience substantial price and volume fluctuations.

The equity markets have from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, particularly in the high technology sector, and those fluctuations often have been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. In addition, factors such our new aspenONE licensing model, our financial performance, announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors, and market conditions in the computer software or hardware industries, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a public company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against that company. This type of litigation against us could result in substantial liability and costs and divert management's attention and resources.

# Our corporate documents and provisions of Delaware law may prevent a change in control or management that stockholders may consider desirable.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our charter and our by-laws contain provisions that might enable our management to resist a takeover of our company. These provisions include:

- limitations on the removal of directors;
- a classified board of directors, so that not all members of the board are elected at one time;
- advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations;
- the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings;
- the ability of the board to make, alter or repeal our by-laws; and
- the ability of the board to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval.

These provisions could:

- have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company or a change in our management that stockholders may consider favorable or beneficial;
- discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions; and
- limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

# SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. We generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "anticipate," "believe," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "potential," "should," "target," or the negative of these terms or other similar words. These statements are only predictions. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our, our customers' or our industry's actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements, to differ. "Risk Factors," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Business," as well as other sections in this prospectus, discuss some of the factors that could contribute to these differences. The forward-looking statements made in this prospectus relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

This prospectus also contains estimates and other information concerning our industry, including market size and growth rates, that are based on industry publications, surveys and forecasts, including those generated by ARC Advisory Group. This information involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to these estimates. Although we believe the information in these industry publications, surveys and forecasts is reliable, we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of the information. The industry in which we operate is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to variety of factors, including those described in "Risk Factors."

# USE OF PROCEEDS

The selling stockholders are offering all of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus and will receive all of the proceeds from this offering. For information about the selling stockholders, see "Principal and Selling Stockholders."

We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering. We are obligated to pay all expenses we incur in connection with this offering, including all registration and filing fees, printing expenses, fees and expenses of our counsel and of one separate counsel designated by the selling stockholders, and state Blue Sky fees and expenses. The selling stockholders will pay other expenses they incur in connection with this offering, including all underwriting discounts and commissions.

# MARKET PRICE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "AZPN." Our common stock was traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market (and its predecessors, the NASDAQ National Market and NASDAQ Global Market) from our initial public offering in 1994 through February 18, 2008, and then was quoted on the over the counter Pink OTC Markets under the symbol "AZPN.PK" until being relisted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on February 10, 2010. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by The NASDAQ Global Select Market or the Pink OTC Markets, as applicable:

	I	ow	1	High
Fiscal 2010				
Quarter ended June 30, 2010	\$	9.52	\$	12.01
Quarter ended March 31, 2010		8.32		10.59
Quarter ended December 31, 2009		9.20		10.89
Quarter ended September 30, 2009		8.55		10.75
Fiscal 2009				
Quarter ended June 30, 2009	\$	6.00	\$	9.60
Quarter ended March 31, 2009		5.50		8.25
Quarter ended December 31, 2008		5.10		13.00
Quarter ended September 30, 2008		11.45		15.10

On September 14, 2010, the last reported sale price for our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market was \$10.37 per share. On August 16, 2010, there were 784 holders of record of our common stock. The number of record holders does not include persons who held our common stock in nominee or "street name" accounts through brokers.

# DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all earnings, if any, to finance the development and growth of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of the board of directors and will depend on a number of factors, including our future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and future prospects and such other factors as the board may deem relevant. In addition, under the terms of our credit facility, we may not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock without the prior approval of the lender, Silicon Valley Bank.

# **CAPITALIZATION**

The following table describes our current portion of secured borrowing and our capitalization as of June 30, 2010. You should read this table together with the other financial information contained in this prospectus, including "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the consolidated financial statements and related notes beginning at page F-1.

	 June 30, 2010 thousands)
Current portion of secured borrowing	\$ 30,424
Long-term secured borrowing	\$ 45,711
Stockholders' equity:	
Undesignated preferred stock, \$0.10 par value:	
Authorized—10,000,000 shares	
Issued and outstanding—no shares	_
Common stock, \$0.10 par value:	
Authorized—210,000,000 shares	
Issued—92,668,280 shares	
Outstanding—92,434,816 shares	9,267
Additional paid-in capital	515,729
Accumulated deficit	(391,038)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	7,525
Treasury stock, at cost—233,464 shares of common stock	(513)
Total stockholders' equity	140,970
Total capitalization	\$ 186,681

The number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2010 excludes:

- 630,640 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding and exercisable as of June 30, 2010, at an exercise price of \$3.33 per share;
- 5,266,354 shares issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding and vested as of June 30, 2010, at a weighted average exercise price of \$7.11 per share;
- 129,516 shares issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding but not vested as of June 30, 2010, at a weighted average exercise price of \$10.24 per share;
- 1,512,263 shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units outstanding as of June 30, 2010, without payment of an exercise price; and
- 8,348,803 shares authorized and available as of June 30, 2010, for future issuance under our equity compensation plans.

# SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and the other financial information presented in this prospectus. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended June 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 are derived from consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus in reliance on the report of KPMG LLP. The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this prospectus. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of operating results to be expected in the future. Basic and diluted income (loss) per share and weighted average shares outstanding have been computed as described in note 2(i) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

		Year Ended June 30,										
	_	2010	2009		2008	20	07		2006			
			(In thous	ands,	except per	share o	lata)					
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data												
Revenue: Subscription	\$	11,071	\$ -	<b>-</b> \$		\$		\$				
Software	Ф	42,920	179,59	-	168,404	-	99,761	Ф	153,730			
Total subscription and software(1)	_	53,991	179,59		168,404		99,761	-	153,730			
Services and other		112,353	131,98		143,209		41,268		140,686			
Total revenue	_	166,344	311,58		311.613		41.029	-	294,416			
20112 30 7 01120	_	100,344	311,50	00	311,013		+1,029	_	294,410			
Cost of revenue:		C 427	10.40	00	15.010		1 174		25.264			
Subscription and software Services and other		6,437 59,673	12,40 63,41		15,916 69,077		21,134 72,426		25,364 72,690			
	_											
Total cost of revenue	<u> </u>	66,110	75,82		84,993		93,560		98,054			
Gross profit		100,234	235,76	50	226,620	24	17,469		196,362			
Operating expenses:												
Selling and marketing(2)		97,002	84,12		94,965		38,694		79,283			
Research and development(2)		48,228	46,37		49,899		47,396		49,544			
General and administrative(2)		63,246	58,25		54,496		51,342		44,708			
Restructuring charges Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets		1,128	2,44 62		8,623		4,634		3,993			
1 0	_	200.504					-		455.500			
Total operating expenses	_	209,604	191,82		207,983		92,066	_	177,528			
(Loss) income from operations		(109,370)	43,93	34	18,637	:	55,403		18,834			
Interest income		19,324	22,69		23,784		21,909		19,978			
Interest expense		(8,455)	(10,51		(17,783)	(	18,613)		(19,532)			
Other (expense) income, net	_	(2,407)	(1,82		3,386		(734)		(2,874)			
(Loss) income before income taxes		(100,908)	54,29		28,024		57,965		16,406			
Provision for income taxes		(6,537)	(1,36	58)	(3,078)	(	12,447)		(9,941)			
Net (loss) income		(107,445)	52,92	24	24,946		45,518		6,465			
Accretion of preferred stock discount and dividends		_	-	_	_		(7,290)		(15,383)			
Net (loss) income	\$	(107,445)	\$ 52,92	24 \$	24,946	\$	38,228	\$	(8,918)			
(Loss) earnings per common share:	_											
Basic	\$	(1.18)	\$ 0.5	59 \$	0.28	\$	0.54	\$	(0.20)			
Diluted	\$			57 \$	0.27	\$	0.50	\$	(0.20)			
Weighted average shares outstanding:		` '							, ,			
Basic		91,247	90,05		89,640		70,879		44,627			
Diluted		91,247	92,57	78	94,092		91,869		44,627			

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model."

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

				,	Year	Ended June 30,			
	2010		2009		2008		2007		2006
					(I:	n thousands)		<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data									
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	124,945	\$	122,213	\$	134,048	\$	132,267	\$ 86,272
Working capital		94,466		97,914		116,307		53,019	10,440
Accounts receivable, net		31,738		49,882		86,870		47,200	48,332
Installments receivable, net		128,598		177,921		134,290		42,827	47,410
Collateralized receivables, net		51,430		96,366		135,349		245,076	211,262
Total deferred revenue		87,279		78,871		106,905		67,106	60,141
Total secured borrowings		76,135		112,096		147,207		206,150	182,404
Redeemable convertible preferred stock		_		_		_		_	125,475
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)		140,970		229,410		172,813		137,206	(22,602)

Following the introduction of our new aspenONE licensing model, management focuses on certain metrics, including the key metrics set forth below, to assist in operating and assessing our business. We believe these metrics are useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance following the introduction of our new licensing model. None of these metrics should be considered as an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP, including net cash provided by operating activities, which is the GAAP financial measure most directly comparable to free cash flow. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics."

		June 010 (In bil	e 30,	
	20	)10		2009
		(In bi	llions)	
Total Term Contract Value Data(1)				
Total term contract value (TCV)	\$	1.2	\$	1.0

(1) Software maintenance and support, or SMS, was not included as part of our term license arrangements prior to fiscal 2010, and no SMS was included in estimated TCV as of June 30, 2009. For comparability purposes, we estimated "license-only" TCV growth for fiscal 2010 by removing the SMS portion of TCV as of June 30, 2010. On this comparable "license-only" basis, we estimate that TCV grew by approximately 10% during fiscal 2010. Overall, we estimate that TCV, with SMS included as of June 30, 2010, increased by approximately 17% during fiscal 2010.

			Three Months Ended												
	_	Year Ended June 30, 2010		June 30, 2010		March 31, 2010 n thousands)	D	ecember 31, 2009	Se	ptember 30, 2009					
Bookings Data															
Bookings	\$	365,948	\$	137,750	\$	93,916	\$	95,255	\$	39,027					

	\$ 389,354 \$ 31,738 147,315 56,461		March 31, 2010		December 31, 2009 (In thousands)		Se	ptember 30, 2009	 June 30, 2009
Future Cash Collections and Billings Backlog Data									
Billings backlog	\$	389,354	\$	270,293	\$	206,499	\$	128,252	\$ 100,499
Accounts receivable, net		31,738		28,612		35,507		36,568	49,882
Installments receivable, undiscounted (non-GAAP)(1)		147,315		167,643		180,671		197,053	208,204
Collateralized receivables, undiscounted (non-GAAP)(1)		56,461		70,068		88,722		103,072	107,750
Future cash collections	\$	624,868	\$	536,616	\$	511,399	\$	464,945	\$ 466,335

<sup>(1)</sup> Excludes unamortized discount. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Future Cash Collections and Billings Backlog."

		Yea	ır Ended Jı	2009 n thousands) \$ 75,820 \$ 191,826				
	_	2010	2009		2008			
			(In thousar	ds)				
Adjusted Total Costs Data								
Total cost of revenue	\$	66,110	\$ 75,82	:0 5	84,993			
Total operating expenses		209,604	191,82	:6	207,983			
Total expenses		275,714	267,64	6	292,976			
Less:								
Stock-based compensation		(15,260)	(4,67	(0)	(10,600)			
Adjusted total costs (non-GAAP)	\$	260,454	\$ 262,97	6 5	282,376			

	Year	r Er	nded June				
	2010	2009		2009			2008
	(	In t	housands				
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Free Cash Flow Data							
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$ 38,622	\$	33,032	\$	71,464		
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements	(2,652)		(2,972)		(9,424)		
Capitalized computer software development costs	(699)		(2,382)		(780)		
Free cash flow (non-GAAP)	\$ 35,271	\$	27,678	\$	61,260		

# For these purposes:

- Total term contract value, or TCV, is an estimate of the renewal value, as of a specific date, of our active portfolio of term license agreements. TCV is calculated by multiplying the terminal annual payment for each active term license agreement by the original length of the existing license term, and then aggregating this amount for all active term license agreements. TCV includes the value of SMS for license agreements under our new aspenONE licensing model, in which SMS is committed for the entire license term. TCV does not include any amounts for perpetual licenses, professional services, training or standalone renewal SMS.
- Bookings represent the amount of contractually committed subscription and software fees, including any bundled software maintenance and support or SMS. Bookings do not include (a) the amount of fees for professional services, training and standalone renewal SMS or (b) the amount of subscription and software fees remaining under existing license agreements that are replaced prior to the scheduled expiration date.
- *Billings backlog* represents the aggregate value of uninvoiced bookings from prior and current periods. Billings backlog is not reflected on our consolidated balance sheets.

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes beginning on page F-1. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read "Risk Factors" for a discussion of important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations.

Our fiscal year ends on June 30, and references to a specific fiscal year are to the twelve months ended June 30 of that year. For example, "fiscal 2010" refers to the year ended June 30, 2010.

#### **Business Overview**

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical process optimization software solutions, which are designed to manage and optimize plant and process design, operational performance, and supply chain planning. Our aspenONE software and related services have been developed specifically for companies in the process industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements.

We have more than 1,500 customers globally. Our customers include manufacturers in process industries such as energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels, as well as engineering and construction firms that help design process manufacturing plants. As of June 30, 2010, our installed base included 19 of the 20 largest petroleum companies, all of the 20 largest chemical companies, and 15 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical companies. Customers outside the United States accounted for a majority of our total revenue in each of fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, and no single customer represented 10% or more of our total revenue in fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.

# Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model

Prior to fiscal 2010, we offered term or perpetual licenses to specific aspenONE products or specifically defined sets of aspenONE products, which we refer to as point products. The majority of our license revenue was recognized under an "upfront revenue model," in which the net present value of the aggregate license fees was recognized as revenue upon shipment of the point products. We typically invoiced customers annually and recorded the net present value of uninvoiced payments as installments receivable. Customers typically received one year of SMS bundled with their license agreements and then could elect to renew SMS annually. Revenue from SMS was recognized ratably over the period during which the SMS was delivered.

On July 1, 2009, we began offering our aspenONE software under a new term licensing model, under which a customer can access all products within a licensed suite (aspenONE Engineering or aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain). During the license term, a customer is entitled to receive SMS as well as any software products and upgrades introduced into the licensed suite. Revenue is recognized over the term of a license agreement on a subscription basis. We typically issue invoices annually, and we record each invoiced payment as deferred revenue and then recognize revenue from that payment over the applicable period. We also continue to offer our customers the ability to license point products, which in July 2009, we began licensing with SMS bundled for the entire term. Revenue is recognized on these arrangements over the contract term, as payments become due. Uninvoiced payments are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.

Our new aspenONE licensing model has not changed the method or timing of our customer billing or cash collections. Consequently, we do not expect any material change to net cash provided by

operating activities as a result of the transition to our new licensing model. The principal accounting implications of the change in our licensing model are as follows:

- The majority of our license revenue is no longer recognized on an upfront basis. As the result of the transition to our new aspenONE licensing model, our license revenue for fiscal 2010 was significantly less than the level achieved in the preceding fiscal years. We expect that our license revenue will increase as customers renew their licensing arrangements under our new licensing model. We do not expect to recognize levels of revenue comparable to prior fiscal years unless and until a significant majority of our existing license agreements have been renewed under our new licensing model. Because the timing of our incurrence of operating costs has not changed, the lower levels of revenue expected over the next few years will result in significant operating and net losses.
- The amount of our installments receivable will decrease over time, as license agreements executed under our upfront revenue model reach the end of their terms.
- The amount of our deferred revenue will increase over time, as installments for license transactions executed under our new licensing model are deferred and recognized on a subscription basis. We will not, however, realize a significant increase in deferred revenue until a substantial portion of the license agreements previously executed under our upfront revenue model has been renewed under our new licensing model.

For additional information about the recognition of revenue under the upfront revenue model and our new aspenONE licensing model, see "—Revenue." Because of the accounting implications of our new aspenONE licensing model, we believe that, for the next several years, a number of performance indicators based on U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, will be of limited value in assessing our performance, growth and financial condition. Accordingly, we are focusing on a number of other business metrics, including those described under "—Key Business Metrics."

#### Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from the following sources:

- Software licenses. We provide integrated process optimization software solutions designed specifically for the process industries. We license our software products on a term or perpetual basis, and we offer extended payment options for our term license agreements that generally require annual payments.
- *SMS.* Our SMS business consists primarily of providing customer technical support and access to software fixes and upgrades. We provide customer technical support services throughout the world by our three global call centers as well as via email and through our support website.
- *Professional services.* We offer professional services that include implementing and integrating our software applications. Customers who use our professional services typically engage us to provide those services over periods of up to 24 months. We charge customers for professional services on a time-and-materials or fixed-price basis.

Before we can recognize revenue, the following four basic criteria generally must be met:

- *Persuasive evidence of an arrangement*—As evidence of the existence of an arrangement, we use a contract signed by the customer for software licenses and SMS and we use a signed contract and a statement of work for professional services.
- Delivery of product—Software and the corresponding access keys are generally delivered to customers via disk media with standard shipping
  terms of free carrier, our warehouse. Our software license agreements do not contain conditions for acceptance.

- Fee is fixed or determinable—We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinable at the outset of the arrangement. In addition, we assess whether contract modifications to an existing term arrangement constitute a concession. Our software license agreements do not include a right of return or exchange.
- Collection of fee is probable—We assess the probability of collecting from each customer at the outset of the arrangement based on a number of factors, including the customer's payment history, its current creditworthiness, economic conditions in the customer's industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions. If in our judgment collection of a fee is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met.

We have established vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value for SMS and professional services, but not for our software products. Our VSOE determination is based upon the price charged to similarly situated customers when the elements are sold separately. We allocate the arrangement consideration among the elements included in our multi-element arrangements using the residual method. Under the residual method, the VSOE of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee for perpetual and term licenses is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. If VSOE does not exist for an undelivered element in an arrangement, revenue is deferred until such evidence does exist for the undelivered elements, or until all elements are delivered, whichever is earlier.

# Software License Revenue

Upfront Revenue Model

Prior to fiscal 2010, we generally licensed point products pursuant to term or perpetual license agreements with contractual provisions intended to result in the "upfront" recognition of license revenue upon delivery of the point products, regardless of whether payment was made in period installments or at the outset of the arrangement. Under our upfront revenue model, we typically were able to demonstrate that the license fees were fixed or determinable for all arrangements, including those for term licenses containing extended payment terms, and we had an established history of collecting under the terms of these agreements without providing concessions to customers. A portion of the license fees generally was recorded as deferred revenue due to the inclusion of an undelivered element, SMS, and the amount of revenue allocated to SMS was based on the VSOE of fair value for SMS using the residual method. The net present value of the residual license fees typically was recognized upon delivery of the software.

License revenue recognized under the upfront revenue model upon the delivery of the licensed software (that is, both term and perpetual license agreements) typically is reported as software revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

New aspenONE Licensing Model

In July 2009, we began offering our new aspenONE licensing model, which provides customers with access to all products within the aspenONE suite or suites they license rather than to only those point products the customers license. During the term of a license agreement, a customer is entitled to receive SMS as well as any software products and upgrades that may be introduced into the licensed suite. For purposes of recognizing revenue, the license fees under these agreements are not fixed or determinable, because the agreements provide rights to future unspecified software products for no additional fee and therefore the economics of the arrangements are not comparable to our historical transactions with customers under the upfront revenue model. As a result, the amount of revenue recognized is limited to the amount of customer payments currently due, which generally results in

license revenue being recognized over the term of the agreement on a subscription basis, beginning when the first payment is due, which typically is 30 days after execution of the agreement.

We also offer our customers the ability to license point products. In July 2009 we began licensing point products on a term basis with SMS included for the full license term. Under these arrangements, license revenue cannot be recognized under the upfront revenue model, as the aggregate fees are not considered fixed or determinable because the agreements include SMS for the full term of the license and therefore the economics of the arrangements are not comparable to our historical transactions with customers under the upfront revenue model. License revenue for these arrangements generally will be recognized as payments become due over the term of the agreement.

We generally do not intend to enter into new or renewal term contracts that will qualify for revenue recognition upfront, upon delivery of the licensed software. We may, however, do so on a limited basis, as follows:

- The incremental revenue associated with amendments to existing term license agreements that was recognized under the upfront revenue model will continue to be accounted for on an upfront basis, provided all other revenue recognition requirements have been met. As customers increasingly transition to our new aspenONE licensing model, we expect that there will come a time at which we will be unable to support VSOE of fair value of SMS in our new point product arrangements based on our legacy term license SMS renewals and we therefore will be required to recognize all revenue related to the license component on our point product arrangements ratably, on a subscription basis.
- We expect that occasionally a customer will prefer to license point products under terms providing for payment in full at the outset of the arrangement. In this case, all of the license revenue generally will be recognized upon delivery of the software products using the residual method.
- We also anticipate that occasionally a customer may wish to license point products on a perpetual basis. If we agree to enter into a perpetual license agreement, the customer will not be entitled to receive software products that may be introduced and will receive SMS for only one year, subject to annual renewal at the election of the customer. Accordingly, we expect that the license fees for perpetual license agreements typically will continue to be recognized upon delivery of the software products using the residual method.

We do not anticipate that any of the foregoing arrangements will generate a significant portion of our license revenue in the future.

License and SMS revenue for arrangements sold under our new aspenONE licensing model are combined and presented together as subscription revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. License revenue from point product licenses with SMS bundled for the entire license term is reported as software revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. The revenue related to the SMS component of point product licenses for which we have established VSOE is reported in services and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **SMS**

Upfront Revenue Model

Prior to fiscal 2010, SMS typically was bundled with the license agreement for the initial year of the license term and then could be renewed, typically on an annual basis, at the election of the customer. The fair value of SMS was deferred and subsequently recognized over the term of the SMS arrangement.

Revenue recognized with respect to SMS sold under the upfront model is reported as services and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

New aspenONE Licensing Model

Since July 2009, license agreements executed under our new aspenONE licensing model or for point products include SMS bundled for the entire license term. The SMS revenue is recognized over the license term.

For arrangements sold under the new aspenONE licensing model, SMS revenue is combined with license revenue and reported as subscription revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. The revenue related to the SMS component of point product licenses for which we have established VSOE is reported in services and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Professional Services**

We provide professional services on a time-and-materials or fixed-price basis. We recognize professional services fees for time-and-materials contracts based upon hours worked and contractually agreed-upon hourly rates. We recognize revenue from fixed-price engagements using the proportional performance method, based on the ratio of costs incurred, substantially all of which are labor-related, to the total estimated project costs. Project costs are based on standard rates, which vary by the consultant's professional level, plus all direct expenses incurred to complete the engagement that are not reimbursed by the client. All project costs are expensed as incurred. Reimbursable amounts received from customers for out-of-pocket expenses are recorded as revenue.

Upfront Revenue Model

We generally recognize revenue from professional services as the services are performed, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Under the upfront model, professional services arrangements sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new license agreement were generally recognized as revenue as the services were performed.

Revenue recognized with respect to professional services is reported as services and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

New aspenONE Licensing Model

Our practices and revenue recognition policies for professional services generally have not changed following our transition to our new aspenONE licensing model. In those circumstances in which committed professional services arrangements are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new license agreement, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the license term.

Revenue recognized with respect to professional services is reported as services and other revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Key Components of Operations**

# Revenue

Subscription Revenue. Subscription revenue relates to the licensing of our products under our new aspenONE licensing model, where SMS is included for the entire term of the arrangement and the customer receives the right to unspecified future software products that may be introduced during the term of the arrangement for no additional fee. License and SMS revenue for arrangements sold under

our new aspenONE licensing model are combined and presented together as subscription revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

*Software Revenue.* Software revenue consists of all license transactions that do not contain rights to future unspecified software products for no additional fee. Specifically, software revenue includes:

- license revenue recognized under the upfront revenue model upon the delivery of the licensed software (that is, both perpetual and term license agreements);
- license revenue recognized over the term of the license agreements for term agreements, including point product licenses with SMS bundled for
  the entire license term, but excluding license revenue from license agreements executed under our new aspenONE licensing model, which is
  recorded as subscription revenue; and
- other license revenue derived from transactions that are being recognized over time as the result of not previously meeting one or more of the requirements for recognition under the upfront revenue model.

Services and Other Revenue. Our services and other revenue consists primarily of revenue related to professional services, SMS (other than SMS bundled with license agreements executed under our new aspenONE licensing model, which is recorded as subscription revenue) and training. The amount and timing of this revenue depend on a number of factors, including:

- the number, value and rate per hour of service transactions booked during the current and preceding periods;
- the number and availability of service resources actively engaged on billable projects;
- the timing of milestone acceptance for engagements contractually requiring customer sign-off;
- the timing of negotiating and signing maintenance renewals;
- the timing of collection of cash payments when collectability is uncertain; and
- the size of the installed base of license contracts.

# Cost of Revenue

Cost of Subscription and Software. The cost of subscription and software revenue consists of royalties, amortization of capitalized software costs, distributor fees, the costs of providing SMS related to our new aspenONE licensing model and costs related to delivery of software.

Cost of Services and Other. Our cost of services and other revenue consists primarily of personnel-related and external consultant costs associated with providing professional services, SMS on arrangements not licensed on a subscription basis and training to customers. The costs of providing SMS for our new aspenONE licensing model are included in cost of subscription and software.

## **Operating Expenses**

Selling and Marketing Expense. Selling expenses consist primarily of the personnel and travel expenses related to the effort expended to license our products and services to current and potential customers, as well as for overall management of customer relationships. Marketing expenses include expenses needed to promote our company and our products and to acquire market research and measure customer opinions to help us better understand our customers and their business needs.

Research and Development Expense. Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel and external consultant expenses related to the creation of new products and to enhancements and engineering changes to existing products.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expenses include the costs of corporate and support functions, such as executive leadership and administration groups, finance, legal, human resources and corporate communications, and other costs such as outside professional and consultant fees and provision for bad debts.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges result from the closure or consolidation of our facilities, or from qualifying reductions in headcount.

### Other Income and Expenses

*Interest Income.* Interest income is recorded for the accretion of interest on the installment payments of our term software license contracts when revenue is recognized upfront at net present value, and to a lesser extent from the investment of cash balances in short-term instruments.

*Interest Expense.* Interest expense consists of charges primarily related to our secured borrowings. Secured borrowings are derived from our borrowing arrangements with unrelated financial institutions.

Other Income (Expense), Net. Other income (expense), net is comprised primarily of foreign currency exchange gains (losses) generated from the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units. We may enter into foreign currency forward contracts to attempt to minimize the adverse impact related to unfavorable exchange rate movements, although we have not done so since fiscal 2008. Our foreign currency forward contracts have not been designated as hedging instruments and, therefore, do not qualify for fair value or cash flow hedge treatment under the criteria of Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Therefore, any unrealized gains and losses on the foreign currency forward contracts, as well as the underlying transactions we are attempting to shield from exchange rate movements, are recognized as a component of other income (expense), net.

*Provision for Income Taxes.* Provision for income taxes is comprised of the taxes currently payable as a result of domestic and foreign operations and the net tax effects of book to tax timing differences. We record interest and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense. We expect the amount of income tax expense, if any, to vary each reporting period depending upon fluctuations in our taxable income and our availability of tax benefits from net loss carryforwards.

## **Key Business Metrics**

#### **Background**

With the adoption of our new aspenONE licensing model, our revenue for fiscal 2010 was significantly less than in the preceding fiscal years. We expect that our revenue will increase as customers renew their licensing arrangements under our new licensing model. We do not expect to recognize levels of revenue comparable to prior fiscal years unless and until a significant majority of our existing license agreements have been renewed under our new licensing model. As a result, we believe that, for the next few years, a number of our performance indicators based on U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP, including revenue, gross profit, operating income (loss) and net income (loss), will be of limited value in assessing our performance, growth and financial condition. Accordingly, we instead are focusing on certain non-GAAP and other business metrics, including the key metrics set forth below, to track our business performance. None of these metrics should be considered as an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with GAAP.

To supplement our statements of cash flows presented on a GAAP basis, we use the non-GAAP measure of free cash flow to analyze cash flows generated from our operations. Management believes that this financial measure is useful to investors because it permits investors to view our performance

using the same tools that management uses to gauge progress in achieving our goals. We believe this measure is also useful to investors because it is an indication of cash flow that may be available to fund further investments in future growth initiatives and it is also useful as the basis for comparing our performance with that of our competitors. To supplement our presentation of total cost of revenue and total operating costs presented on a GAAP basis, we use a non-GAAP measure of adjusted total costs, which excludes certain non-cash and non-recurring expenses. Management believes that this financial measure is useful to investors because it demonstrates our commitment to cost containment. The presentation of these non-GAAP measures is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity or as an alternative to total cost of revenue and total operating costs as a measure of our total costs.

### **Total Term Contract Value**

Total term contract value, or TCV, is an estimate of the renewal value, as of a specific date, of our active portfolio of term license agreements. TCV is calculated by multiplying the terminal annual payment for each active term license agreement by the original length of the existing license term, and then aggregating this amount for all active term license agreements. Accordingly, TCV represents the full renewal value of all of our term license agreements under the hypothetical assumption that all of those agreements are simultaneously renewed for the identical license terms and at the same terminal annual payment amounts as the terminal payment of the original contract.

TCV includes the value of SMS for any multi-year license agreements for which SMS is committed for the entire license term. TCV does not include any amounts for perpetual licenses, professional services, training or standalone renewal SMS. TCV is calculated using constant currency assumptions for agreements denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars in order to remove the impact of currency fluctuations between comparison dates.

We believe TCV is a useful metric for analyzing our business performance, particularly while we are transitioning to our new aspenONE licensing model and revenue comparisons between fiscal periods do not reflect the actual growth rate of our business. Comparing TCV for different dates provides insight into the growth and retention rate of our business during the period between those dates. TCV increases as the result of:

- new term license agreements with new or existing customers;
- renewals or modifications of existing license agreements that result in higher license fees due to price escalation or an increase in the number of tokens or products licensed; and
- renewals of existing license agreements that increase the length of the license term.

The renewal of an existing license agreement will not increase TCV unless the renewal results in higher license fees or a longer license term. TCV is adversely affected by customer non-renewals and by renewals that result in lower license fees or a shorter license term. Our standard license term historically has been between five and six years, and we do not expect this standard term to change in the future. Many of our contracts have escalating annual payments throughout the term of the arrangement. By calculating TCV based on the terminal year annual payment, we are typically using the highest annual fee from the existing arrangement to calculate the hypothetical renewal value of our portfolio of term arrangements.

We estimate that TCV was \$1.2 billion as of June 30, 2010. Our portfolio of active license agreements as of June 30, 2010 reflected a mix of (a) license agreements that include SMS for the entire license term and (b) legacy license agreements that did not include SMS. We estimate that TCV was \$1.0 billion as of June 30, 2009. SMS was not included as part of our term license arrangements prior to fiscal 2010, and no SMS was included in estimated TCV as of June 30, 2009. For comparability purposes, we estimated "license-only" TCV growth for fiscal 2010 by removing the SMS portion of

TCV as of June 30, 2010, using our established VSOE rate of fair value for SMS. On this comparable "license-only" basis, we estimate that TCV grew by approximately 10% during fiscal 2010, principally as the result of an increase in the number of tokens or products licensed. Overall, we estimate that TCV, with SMS included as of June 30, 2010, increased by approximately 17% during fiscal 2010.

## **Bookings**

Bookings represent the amount of contractually committed subscription and software fees, including any bundled SMS. Bookings do not include (a) the amount of fees for professional services, training or standalone renewal SMS or (b) the amount of subscription and software fees remaining under pre-existing license agreements that were replaced prior to the scheduled expiration date.

Bookings are a measure of the business closed during a period. The contractual arrangements that contribute to bookings represent binding payment commitments by customers over periods that typically range from five to six years, although individual customer commitments can be for longer or shorter periods. The amount of bookings in a period is affected by the volume, duration and value of contracts renewed during that period. The timing and value of contract renewals can have a significant impact on quarter-over-quarter and year-over-year comparisons of bookings. Therefore, short-term bookings trends may not be indicative of the growth of the business. Accordingly, we also focus on bookings' contribution to growth in TCV and to growth in billings backlog and future cash collections.

The following table presents our bookings for the four quarters of fiscal 2010, following the introduction of our new aspenONE licensing model:

	Year Ended		Three 1	Months Ended		
	June 30, 2010	June 30, 2010	March 31, 2010	December 31, 2009	September 30, 2009	_
	<u> </u>		(In thousan	ds)	·	
Bookings	\$ 365,948	\$ 137,750	\$ 93,916	\$ 95,255	\$ 39,027	•

We have experienced favorable customer adoption of our new aspenONE licensing model since its introduction. Our bookings historically have been stronger in our second and fourth fiscal quarters and lowest in our first fiscal quarter, although there can be significant variation in this pattern. During the first quarter of fiscal 2010, we experienced lower-than-normal bookings due to the sales cycle start-up time associated with the introduction of our new licensing model. As customers became more familiar with our new licensing model and our sales team had additional time to educate customers and complete licensing transactions, we experienced significantly higher bookings in the second half of fiscal 2010.

Fiscal 2010 bookings benefited principally from (a) early renewals by customers that elected to adopt our new aspenONE licensing model prior to the expiration of their existing license agreements and (b) growth driven by customers increasing the number of tokens or products licensed, which accounted for a significant portion of the growth in TCV during fiscal 2010 (as described above under "—Total Term Contract Value").

## Future Cash Collections and Billings Backlog

Future cash collections is the sum of billings backlog, accounts receivable, undiscounted installments receivable and undiscounted collateralized receivables. Billings backlog represents the aggregate value of uninvoiced bookings from prior and current periods.

Prior to the introduction of our new aspenONE licensing model, the majority of bookings was recognized as revenue in the period booked and reflected on our balance sheet as installments receivable, or if sold, as collateralized receivables. Installments receivable and collateralized receivables were discounted to net present value at prevailing market rates at the time of the transaction. Amounts

collected for collateralized receivables are applied to pay the related secured borrowings and are not available for any other expenditures.

Under our new aspenONE licensing model, extended contractual payments are not considered fixed or determinable and, as a result, are not included in installments receivable or collateralized receivables. These future payments are included in billings backlog, which is not reflected on our consolidated balance sheets. We believe future cash collections is a useful metric because it provides insight into the cash generation capability of our business. Under the upfront revenue model, we did not previously monitor billings backlog or future cash collections since we believe that accounts receivable, installments receivable, collateralized receivables and certain other measures were appropriate indicators of estimated cash generation.

Because a substantial majority of our future bookings will reflect arrangements under our new aspenONE licensing model, we expect billings backlog to grow over time and expect installments receivable and collateralized receivables to decline. When our transition to the new aspenONE licensing model is complete, the only sources of cash excluded from future cash collections will be amounts attributable to professional services, training and any remaining standalone SMS renewals.

The following table provides our future cash collections as of the dates presented:

	June 30, 2010	March 31, 2010	December 31, 2009 (In thousands)	September 30, 2009	June 30, 2009
Billings backlog	\$ 389,354	\$ 270,293		\$ 128,252	\$ 100,499
Accounts receivable, net	31,738	28,612	35,507	36,568	49,882
Installments receivable, undiscounted (non-GAAP)(1)	147,315	167,643	180,671	197,053	208,204
Collateralized receivables, undiscounted (non-GAAP)					
(1)	56,461	70,068	88,722	103,072	107,750
Future cash collections	\$ 624,868	\$ 536,616	\$ 511,399	\$ 464,945	\$ 466,335

### (1) Excludes unamortized discount.

The growth in billings backlog and future cash collections in fiscal 2010 reflected our customers' adoption of our new aspenONE licensing model. We expect that billings backlog and future cash collections will continue to grow steadily as we convert and renew existing customers to multi-year contracts, which now include SMS for the full term of the arrangement. In addition, we are actively engaged in transitioning customers from perpetual license arrangements to our new licensing model. Prior to fiscal 2008, we licensed our aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain suite primarily on a perpetual basis, and as we convert these customers to our new licensing model, their licensing fees and SMS will become part of billings backlog and future cash collections.

Installments and collateralized receivables are shown at net present value on our consolidated balance sheets. Future cash collections excludes the unamortized discount on installment and collateralized receivables. Amounts collected for collateralized receivables are applied to pay the related secured borrowings and are not available for any other expenditures. We are providing the following reconciliation for the periods presented to reconcile to undiscounted installment and

collateralized receivables, as included in our future cash collections metric, with GAAP installment receivables, net and GAAP collateralized receivables, net:

	 June 30, 2010	March 31, 2010		Г	December 31, 2009	2009		_	June 30, 2009
					(In thousands)				
Installments receivable, undiscounted (non-GAAP)	\$ 147,315	\$	167,643	\$	180,671	\$	197,053	\$	208,204
Unamortized discount	(18,717)		(21,304)		(24,122)		(27,320)		(30,283)
Installments receivable, net	\$ 128,598	\$	146,339	\$	156,549	\$	169,733	\$	177,921
Collateralized receivables, undiscounted (non-GAAP)	\$ 56,461	\$	70,068	\$	88,722	\$	103,072	\$	107,750
Unamortized discount	(5,031)		(6,562)		(8,241)		(10,092)		(11,384)
Collateralized receivables, net	\$ 51,430	\$	63,506	\$	80,481	\$	92,980	\$	96,366

### **Adjusted Total Costs**

The following table presents our total cost of revenue and total operating expenses, as adjusted for stock-based compensation expense, for the indicated periods:

	Year Ended June 30,							
		2010	2009			2008		
			(In thousands)					
Total cost of revenue	\$	66,110	\$	75,820	\$	84,993		
Total operating expenses		209,604		191,826		207,983		
Total expenses		275,714		267,646		292,976		
Less:								
Stock-based compensation		(15,260)		(4,670)		(10,600)		
Adjusted total costs (non-GAAP)	\$	260,454	\$	262,976	\$	282,376		

In fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we incurred significant expenses in conjunction with our efforts to become current in our SEC filings. Our external financial consultant and audit expenses totaled \$16.6 million in fiscal 2010, \$24.7 million in fiscal 2009, and \$14.3 million in fiscal 2008. We significantly reduced our external financial consultant and audit expenses in the latter portion of fiscal 2010. We expect to maintain this lower level of financial consultant and audit expense into fiscal 2011. In addition, we expect the transition to our new aspenONE licensing model will provide us with a significant opportunity to standardize and further improve our sales and administrative processes. Overall, we expect costs to remain relatively flat for fiscal 2011.

## Free Cash Flow

*Free cash flow* is calculated as net cash provided by operating activities less the sum of (a) purchase of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements and (b) capitalized computer software development costs.

Customer collections and, consequently, cash flow from operating activities and free cash flow are primarily driven by license and services billings, rather than recognized revenue. As a result, the transition to our new aspenONE licensing model will not have an adverse impact on cash receipts. Until existing license contracts are renewed and license-related revenue returns to prior year levels, we believe free cash flow is a more relevant measure of our financial performance than income statement profitability measures such as total revenue, gross profit, operating profit and net income. Additionally, we also believe that free cash flow is often used by security analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of software companies.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net cash flow to free cash flow provided by operating activities for the periods presented:

	Year Ended June 30,
	2010 2009 2008
	(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$ 38,622 \$ 33,032 \$ 71,464
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements	(2,652) $(2,972)$ $(9,424)$
Capitalized computer software development costs	(699) (2,382) (780)
Free cash flow (non-GAAP)	\$ 35,271 \$ 27,678 \$ 61,260

The lower levels of net cash provided by operating activities since fiscal 2008 are primarily attributable to decreases in cash received for prepaid license transactions. As part of our historical contract arrangements, customers could elect to pay for their term licenses upfront rather than over the contract term. The upfront payment would normally be equal to the net present value of the annual cash payments, typically discounted at an 8% rate. As the global economy deteriorated in 2009, some of our customers changed from paying upfront to paying in installments. Additionally, during this period we started selling our aspenONE for Manufacturing and Supply Chain suite predominantly on a term basis rather than on a perpetual basis, enabling our customers to pay in annual installments rather than upfront. Going forward, we expect free cash flow to increase as the impact of prior period license prepayments moderates and customers renew contracts that were previously paid upfront. In addition, we believe we will realize improved free cash flow as we benefit from the continued growth of our portfolio of term license contracts and our focused cost structure management.

Although we received less cash from customer prepayments in fiscal 2010 and 2009, we continued to reduce our secured borrowings while maintaining our cash balance:

		Year Ended June 30,							
	20	010	2009		2008				
		(I	n thousands)						
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data									
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 12	24,945	122,213	\$	134,048				
Secured borrowings	7	76,135	112,096		147,207				

## **Results of Operations**

## Comparison of Fiscal 2010 to Fiscal 2009

The following table sets forth the results of operations, percentage of net revenue and the period-to-period percentage change in certain financial data for fiscal 2010 and 2009:

Revenue:           Subscription         \$ 11,071         6.7%         \$ —         —%         * *           Software         42,920         25.8         179,591         57.6         (76.1           Total subscription and software(1)         53,991         32.5         179,591         57.6         (69.9           Service and other         112,353         67.5         131,989         42.4         (14.9           Total revenue         166,344         100.0         311,580         100.0         (46.6           Cost of revenue:           Subscription and software         6,437         3.9         12,409         4.0         (48.1           Services and other         59,673         35.9         63,411         20.4         (5.9								
Revenue:           Subscription         \$ 11,071         6.7%         — 6         *           Software         42,920         25.8         179,591         57.6         (76.1           Total subscription and software(1)         53,991         32.5         179,591         57.6         (69.9           Service and other         112,353         67.5         131,989         42.4         (14.9           Total revenue         166,344         100.0         311,580         100.0         (46.6           Cost of revenue:           Subscription and software         6,437         3.9         12,409         4.0         (48.1           Services and other         59,673         35.9         63,411         20.4         (5.9		2010	<del></del> ,-	2009		% Change		
Subscription       \$ 11,071       6.7%       —       —%       *         Software       42,920       25.8       179,591       57.6       (76.1         Total subscription and software(1)       53,991       32.5       179,591       57.6       (69.9         Service and other       112,353       67.5       131,989       42.4       (14.9         Total revenue       166,344       100.0       311,580       100.0       (46.6         Cost of revenue:         Subscription and software       6,437       3.9       12,409       4.0       (48.1         Services and other       59,673       35.9       63,411       20.4       (5.9	Revenue:		(Dollars in thou	sands)				
Software         42,920         25.8         179,591         57.6         (76.1           Total subscription and software(1)         53,991         32.5         179,591         57.6         (69.9           Service and other         112,353         67.5         131,989         42.4         (14.9           Total revenue         166,344         100.0         311,580         100.0         (46.6           Cost of revenue:         Subscription and software         6,437         3.9         12,409         4.0         (48.1           Services and other         59,673         35.9         63,411         20.4         (5.9		\$ 11.071	6.7% \$	_	%	*%		
Service and other         112,353         67.5         131,989         42.4         (14.5)           Total revenue         166,344         100.0         311,580         100.0         (46.6)           Cost of revenue:         Subscription and software         6,437         3.9         12,409         4.0         (48.1)           Services and other         59,673         35.9         63,411         20.4         (5.5)	<b>F</b>	7 ,-	•	179,591		(76.1)		
Total revenue         166,344         100.0         311,580         100.0         (46.6)           Cost of revenue:         Subscription and software         6,437         3.9         12,409         4.0         (48.1)           Services and other         59,673         35.9         63,411         20.4         (5.9)	Total subscription and software(1)	53,991	32.5	179,591	57.6	(69.9)		
Cost of revenue:     Subscription and software     6,437     3.9     12,409     4.0     (48.1)       Services and other     59,673     35.9     63,411     20.4     (5.9)	Service and other	112,353	67.5	131,989	42.4	(14.9)		
Subscription and software       6,437       3.9       12,409       4.0       (48.1         Services and other       59,673       35.9       63,411       20.4       (5.9	Total revenue	166,344	100.0	311,580	100.0	(46.6)		
Services and other 59,673 35.9 63,411 20.4 (5.9)	Cost of revenue:							
	Subscription and software	6,437	3.9	12,409	4.0	(48.1)		
	Services and other	59,673	35.9	63,411	20.4	(5.9)		
Total cost of revenue 66,110 39.7 75,820 24.3 (12.8	Total cost of revenue	66,110	39.7	75,820	24.3	(12.8)		
Gross profit 100,234 60.3 235,760 75.7 (57.5	Gross profit	100,234	60.3	235,760	75.7	(57.5)		
Operating expenses:	Operating expenses:							
Selling and marketing(2) 97,002 58.3 84,126 27.0 15.3	Selling and marketing(2)	97,002	58.3	84,126	27.0	15.3		
Research and development(2) 48,228 29.0 46,375 14.9 4.0	Research and development(2)	48,228	29.0	46,375	14.9	4.0		
General and administrative(2) 63,246 38.0 58,256 18.7 8.6	General and administrative(2)	63,246	38.0	58,256	18.7	8.6		
		1,128	0.7	2,446	8.0	(53.9)		
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets — — 623 0.2 *	Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	_	_	623	0.2	*		
Total operating expenses 209,604 126.0 191,826 61.6 9.3	Total operating expenses	209,604	126.0	191,826	61.6	9.3		
(Loss) income from operations (109,370) (65.7) 43,934 14.1 (348.9	(Loss) income from operations	(109,370)	(65.7)	43,934	14.1	(348.9)		
Interest income 19,324 11.6 22,698 7.3 (14.9)	Interest income	19,324	11.6	22,698	7.3	(14.9)		
Interest expense (8,455) (5.1) (10,516) (3.4) (19.6	Interest expense	(8,455)	(5.1)	(10,516)	(3.4)	(19.6)		
Other (expense) income, net (2,407) (1.4) (1,824) (0.6) 32.0	Other (expense) income, net	(2,407)	(1.4)	(1,824)	(0.6)	32.0		
(Loss) income before provision for taxes (100,908) (60.7) 54,292 17.4 (285.9)	(Loss) income before provision for taxes	(100,908)	(60.7)	54,292	17.4	(285.9)		
Provision for income taxes (6,537) (3.9) (1,368) (0.4) *	Provision for income taxes	(6,537)	(3.9)	(1,368)	(0.4)	*		
Net (loss) income \$ (107,445) (64.6)%\$ 52,924 17.0% (303.0)	Net (loss) income	\$ (107,445)	(64.6)%\$	52,924	17.0%	(303.0)%		

<sup>\*</sup>Not meaningful.

## Revenue

Total revenue in fiscal 2010 decreased primarily due to our transition to the new aspenONE licensing model. Total revenue from customers outside the United States was \$102.8 million, or 61.8%

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model."

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

of total revenue, and \$213.9 million, or 68.7% of total revenue, for fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. The geographical mix of revenue can vary from period to period.

## **Subscription Revenue**

	Y	Year Ended June 30,				Period-to-p Chang	
		2010 2009 (Dollars in t			ious	\$ ands)	%
Subscription revenue	\$ 1	11,071	\$	_	\$	11,071	*
As a percent of revenue		6.7%	ó	*			
- <del></del>							

\*Not meaningful.

Subscription agreements were not offered prior to fiscal 2010. The relatively small amount of subscription revenue recognized in the current year is a reflection of both the ratable recognition of these arrangements and the short time span that the new aspenONE licensing model has been available. We expect subscription revenue to increase as customers renew existing contracts under our new aspenONE licensing model and subscription contracts become a more significant portion of our term license portfolio.

### **Software Revenue**

	Year End	ed June 30,	Period-to-perio	d Change					
	2010	2010 2009 \$		%					
		(Dollars in thousands)							
Software revenue	\$ 42,920	\$ 179,591	\$ (136,671)	(76.1)%					
As a percent of revenue	25.8%	57.69	%						

The decrease in software revenue was primarily attributable to the changes to our business model described above. Prior to July 2009, the substantial majority of our license revenue was recognized on an upfront basis. Going forward, we expect that most of our software revenue will be recognized over the contract term, either on a subscription basis or as payments become due. Of the total software revenue recorded in fiscal 2010, \$6.9 million related to legacy arrangements that were both booked and recognized in fiscal 2010; \$24.5 million related to legacy arrangements that had previously been deferred; \$9.6 million related to point product arrangements under our new aspenONE licensing model; and, \$1.9 million related to perpetual arrangements.

### **Services and Other Revenue**

	 Year Ended	l Ju	ne 30,	P	eriod-to-perio	d Change
	2010 2009		2009		\$	%
		(	(Dollars in tho	usa	ınds)	
Services and other revenue	\$ 112,353	\$	131,989	\$	(19,636)	(14.9)%
As a percent of revenue	67.5%		42.4%			

### Professional Services Revenue

	Year Ended June 30,			Period-to-period Change			
	2010 2009			\$	%		
			Dollars in t	nous	ands)		
Professional services revenue	\$ 37,491	\$	48,352	\$	(10,861)	(22.5)%	
As a percent of revenue	22.5%		15.5%	)			

Customer demand for professional services began to decline in the second quarter of fiscal 2009, coincident with the downturn in the global economic environment, and continued throughout fiscal 2010. We often compete with a number of qualified competitors when bidding for professional service contracts, particularly in developed markets where our products are well established. Having a robust network of providers that can provide professional services to support the deployment and utilization of our software is beneficial to our licensing and SMS businesses. However, this competitive environment can have an unfavorable impact on our professional services revenue. Although there were signs of increased customer demand in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, we cannot be certain that this higher level of activity will continue throughout fiscal 2011 or beyond. We expect to realize growth opportunities in developing markets, in particular the Middle East.

Under the new aspenONE licensing model, revenue from committed professional service arrangements that are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE licensing transaction is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (a) the period the services are performed and (b) the term of the related software arrangement. We expect professional services deferred revenue related to new aspenONE licensing transactions to grow in fiscal 2011.

### SMS and Training Revenue

	Year Ended June 30,					Period-to-period Change			
	2010 2009		\$		%				
			(1	Dollars in th	ousa	ınds)			
SMS and training revenue(1)	\$ 7	74,862	\$	83,637	\$	(8,775)	(10.5)%		
As a percent of revenue		45.0%		26.8%	)				

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes other revenue of \$647 and \$1,047 in fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to miscellaneous revenue.

The decrease in SMS and training revenue was primarily due to lower SMS revenue associated with customers transitioning to the new aspenONE licensing model and the continued trend of customers electing to replace perpetual license agreements with new term contracts. Under the new aspenONE licensing model, SMS revenue is included in subscription revenue, whereas it was included in services and other revenue under the prior licensing model. Additionally, the trend of moving customers from perpetual license agreements to term-based contracts has resulted in decreased SMS revenue for fiscal 2010. While the transition from perpetual to term-based contracts generally results in larger combined software license and SMS revenue for the business over the term of the arrangement, it results in decreased SMS revenue, because the SMS fee is calculated as a percentage of the license fee. Perpetual license arrangements typically have a larger initial license fee than term arrangements. We expect SMS and training revenue to continue to decrease as we transition our business to a predominantly subscription-based model.

## Expenses

#### Overview

	Year Ende	d June 30,	Period-to-p Chang	
	2010	(Dollars in the	s ousands)	%
Total cost of revenue	\$ 66,110	\$ 75,820	\$ (9,710)	(12.8)%
Total operating expenses	209,604	191,826	17,778	9.3
Total expenses	275,714	267,646	8,068	3.0
Less:				
Stock-based compensation	15,260	4,670	10,590	226.8
Total expenses, excluding stock-based compensation	\$ 260,454	\$ 262,976	\$ (2,522)	(1.0)%

The increase in total expenses, which consist of the cost of revenue and total operating expenses, was primarily the result of higher stock-based compensation in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. During the period from mid-September 2007 until November 9, 2009 and from November 16, 2009 to December 21, 2009, we did not maintain our status as a timely filer with the SEC and we were unable to issue stock-based compensation to our directors and employees. On November 9, 2009, we were current with our filings and we issued 2.7 million restricted stock units and 0.3 million stock options to our directors and employees. A portion of these awards were vested upon issuance in consideration of the fact that we were unable to issue equity grants for the past two years. The stock-based compensation cost recognized during the second quarter of fiscal 2010 associated with the November grants represented \$9.2 million of the total \$15.3 million of expense recorded for fiscal 2010. These expenses are included in the cost of revenue and each of the respective operating expense lines of our consolidated statements of operations and materially impact the comparative analysis of the year-to-date amounts.

The decrease in comparative total expenses, adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation, principally consists of lower expenses for consultants and contractors of \$9.1 million, royalties of \$5.0 million, payroll and benefits of \$3.1 million, and third-party commissions of \$1.2 million. These expense decreases were partially offset by increased expenses for sales commissions of \$6.9 million, legal and related expenses of \$4.9 million and bonuses of \$5.0 million. During fiscal 2010 we met all of our bonus criteria and accrued 100% of our bonus plan, as compared to 50% in fiscal 2009. Additionally, the current year bonus expense includes an additional 28% discretionary bonus for certain executives, which was granted in consideration for significantly exceeding current year bonus plan targets.

## **Cost of Subscription and Software Revenue**

		Year Ended June 30,				Period-to-period Change			
	2010			2009	\$		%		
			(I	Oollars in th	ousa	ınds)			
Cost of subscription and software revenue	\$	6,437	\$	12,409	\$	(5,972)	(48.1)%		
Gross margin		88.1%		93.1%	ó				

The period-over-period reduction in cost of subscription and software revenue was primarily due to decreases of \$4.9 million in royalty costs during the period related to our license products and lower capitalized software amortization charges of \$1.7 million. Previously our royalty expense was correlated to the mix of products sold and was typically recognized in the period in which revenue for those products was recorded. As a result of the change to the new aspenONE licensing model, royalty expense is incurred evenly over the contractual term, consistent with the revenue recognition on the related customer arrangement. Amortization of capitalized software costs for fiscal 2010 decreased \$1.7 million compared to fiscal 2009 as a result of reduced cost capitalization in the current period and previously capitalized items reaching the end of their useful life in fiscal 2010. The decrease in cost of subscription and software revenue was partially offset by \$0.7 million of costs associated with providing SMS for the aspenONE suite of products. These costs were not included in the cost of subscription and software prior to the transition to the new aspenONE licensing model in fiscal 2010.

### **Cost of Services and Other Revenue**

	Period-to-period							
	 Year Ended June 30,				Change			
	 2010		2009		\$	%		
	(Dollars in thousands)							
Cost of services and other revenue	\$ 59,673	\$	63,411	\$	(3,738)	(5.9)%		
Gross margin	46.9%	ó	52.0%	ó				

### Professional Services Revenue

The largest component of the reduction in cost of services and other revenue in fiscal 2010 pertained to our professional services business, which accounted for \$4.4 million of the year-over-year decrease. The decrease was primarily related to our reduction of staffing levels by approximately 16% over the course of fiscal 2010 to better align our cost structure with the decreased demand for professional services.

### **SMS** and Training Revenue

Costs associated with SMS and training revenue increased \$0.1 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009. As the subscription business grows, we expect the cost of SMS revenue to migrate from cost of services and other revenue to cost of subscription and software revenue. Currently it is not possible to predict the rate at which this migration will occur, because that rate will be a function of adoption of our new aspenONE licensing model. We do not have sufficient experience with the rate of adoption to provide a meaningful forecast of this change. Eventually, we expect the majority of our cost of SMS revenue to be accounted for in cost of subscription and software revenue.

Stock-based compensation expense related to cost of services and other revenue was \$0.9 million higher in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. We expect the reported gross profit margin of services and other revenue to continue to decline over the next several years, as SMS revenue is reclassified to subscription revenue, since SMS revenue has a high gross profit margin relative to the other revenue streams included in services and other revenue.

## **Selling and Marketing Expense**

		Period-to-p	eriod
	Year Ended June 30,	Chang	e
	2010 2009	\$	%
	(Dollars in th	ousands)	
Selling and marketing expense	\$ 97,002 \$ 84,126	\$ 12,876	15.3%
As a percent of revenue	58.3% 27.0%	ó	

The increase in selling and marketing expense was predominantly the result of higher commissions of \$6.9 million, stock-based compensation costs of \$4.8 million and payroll and benefits expenses of \$2.3 million. Commissions increased during fiscal 2010 as a result of increased bookings on a worldwide basis, as well as a greater number of sales personnel exceeding their sales targets as compared to fiscal 2009. Additionally, in fiscal 2010, bookings eligible for commissions included multi-year contractually committed SMS fees under the new aspenONE licensing model. Selling and marketing payroll and benefit expenses increased in fiscal 2010 due to increased headcount compared to fiscal 2009. These expense increases were partially offset by \$1.2 million of reductions in third-party commissions. Previously, we accrued the entire amount of third-party commission costs related to a sale in the period in which revenue for those products was recorded. Since the introduction of our new product offerings, we expense the costs over the life of the agreement, on a basis consistent with the revenue recognized.

### **Research and Development Expense**

	Year E	inded June 30,	Period-to Chan							
	2010	2009	\$	%						
	·	(Dollars in thousands)								
Research and development expense	\$ 48,22	28 \$ 46,375	\$ 1,853	4.0%						
As a percent of revenue	29	.0% 14.99	%							

The increase in research and development expense was primarily the result of increased bonuses of \$1.6 million, higher stock-based compensation expense of \$1.4 million and increased expense related to a reduction in internal capitalized development costs of \$1.4 million. In fiscal 2009, we capitalized significant costs related to the development and release of the aspenONE v7.1 product; we did not have similar levels of capitalizable costs in fiscal 2010. These cost increases were partially offset by reduced payroll and benefit expenses of \$1.8 million and lower facility and IT-related costs of \$1.1 million.

## **General and Administrative Expense**

	Period-to-period Year Ended June 30, Change
	2010 2009 \$ %
	(Dollars in thousands)
General and administrative expense	\$ 63,246 \$ 58,256 \$ 4,990 8.6%
As a percent of revenue	38.0% 18.7%

The increase in general and administrative expense is primarily attributable to \$4.9 million of higher legal and related costs, \$3.5 million of stock-based compensation, \$2.1 million of payroll and benefit expenses, \$1.7 million of increased bonus and \$1.4 million of bad debt expense, partially offset by \$8.5 million in cost reductions related to financial consultants and contractors and decreases in recruiting and related expenses of \$0.7 million. The increase in legal fees in fiscal 2010 as compared to

fiscal 2009 was due to our increased use of external legal services during the fiscal year, as well as the impact of us reaching the maximum reimbursable limit of an insurance policy in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 under which certain legal costs were previously covered. During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, we reached the maximum reimbursable limit for the policy and as a result, our expenses increased in fiscal 2010. The \$2.1 million increase in payroll and benefit expenses is related to increased average headcount, primarily within the finance organization. We hired full-time finance personnel throughout fiscal 2010 to replace and further reduce our reliance on more costly external consultants.

## **Restructuring Charges**

	,	Period-to-period Year Ended June 30, Change							
	_	2010		2009		\$	%		
	<u></u>	(Dollars in thousands)							
Restructuring charges	\$	1,128	\$	2,446	\$	(1,318)	(53.9)%		
As a percent of revenue		0.7%	ó	0.8%	ó				

The activity in restructuring charges was the result of accretion and adjustments to existing facilities-related restructuring plans for changes in estimates and sub-lease assumptions.

### Interest Income

	Year Ended June 30,	Period-to-period ar Ended June 30. Change					
	2010 2009	\$	%				
	(Dollars in thou	usands)					
Interest income	\$ 19,324 \$ 22,698	\$ (3,374)	(14.9)%				
As a percent of revenue	11.6% 7.3%						

The \$3.4 million decrease in interest income consists of a \$2.2 million decline in interest income from our collateralized and installment receivables portfolios and a \$1.2 million decrease from lower interest earnings on our cash and cash equivalent balances. Under the new aspenONE licensing model, receivables are recorded when the payments become due and payable and we no longer record installment receivables. We expect interest income to decrease going forward.

### **Interest Expense**

			Period-to-	period
	Year Ended	June 30,	Chan	ge
	2010	2009	\$	%
	<u></u>	(Dollars in thousa	ınds)	
Interest expense	\$ (8,455)	\$ (10,516)	\$ 2,061	(19.6)%
As a percent of revenue	(5.1)%	(3.4)%		

The \$2.1 million decrease in interest expense was primarily attributable to lower average secured borrowing balances, resulting from the continued paydown of our existing arrangements. We expect interest expense to decrease going forward.

## Other (Expense) Income, Net

					Period-to-	
	 Year Ended June 30,				Change	
	 2010		2009		\$	%
	 	(D	ollars in tho	usan	ids)	
Other (expense) income, net	\$ (2,407)	\$	(1,824)	\$	(583)	32.0%
As a percent of revenue	(1.4)%	6	(0.6)%	6		

The change in other (expense) income, net was primarily due to foreign currency losses due to the further weakening of the Pound Sterling and Euro, offset by gains recognized from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar. The losses recorded in the prior fiscal year were primarily the result of the weakening of Pound Sterling and the Euro throughout the period.

# **Provision for Income Taxes**

	Year Ended June 30,				P	Period-to-period Change		
	2010		2009		\$		%	
			(Do	ollars in thous	sands)			
Provision for income taxes	\$	(6,537)	\$	(1,368)	\$	(5,169)	*	
As a percent of revenue		(3.9)%		(0.4)%				

<sup>\*</sup>Not meaningful.

The increase in provision for income taxes was primarily due to an increase in foreign income tax offset by a release of certain tax contingencies in Canada. Cash payments, net of refunds for income taxes, totaled \$2.5 million in fiscal 2010.

## Comparison of Fiscal 2009 to Fiscal 2008

The following table sets forth the results of operations, percentage of net revenue and the period-to-period percentage change in certain financial data for fiscal 2009 and 2008:

Revenue:         (bollars in Usadas)           Subscription         \$ —         -%         \$ —         -%           Software         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Total subscription and software(1)         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Service and other         131,989         42.4         143,209         46.0         7.8           Total revenue         311,580         100.0         311,613         100.0         0.00           Cost of revenue           Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5								
Revenue:         Subscription         \$ —         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.6         \$ 6.2         \$ 6.0		2009						
Software         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Total subscription and software(1)         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Service and other         131,989         42.4         143,209         46.0         (7.8)           Total revenue         311,580         100.0         311,613         100.0         (0.0)           Cost of revenue           Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9	Revenue:		(Dollars in t	nousands)				
Software         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Total subscription and software(1)         179,591         57.6         168,404         54.0         6.6           Service and other         131,989         42.4         143,209         46.0         (7.8)           Total revenue         311,580         100.0         311,613         100.0         (0.0)           Cost of revenue:           Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9 <tr< th=""><th>Subscription</th><th>\$ —</th><th>%</th><th>\$ —</th><th>%</th><th>%</th></tr<>	Subscription	\$ —	%	\$ —	%	%		
Service and other         131,989         42.4         143,209         46.0         (7.8)           Total revenue         311,580         100.0         311,613         100.0         (0.0)           Cost of revenue:           Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —	1	179,591	57.6	168,404	54.0	6.6		
Total revenue         311,580         100.0         311,613         100.0         (0.0)           Cost of revenue:         Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:         Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934	Total subscription and software(1)	179,591	57.6	168,404	54.0	6.6		
Cost of revenue:           Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7	Service and other	131,989	42.4	143,209	46.0	(7.8)		
Subscription and software         12,409         4.0         15,916         5.1         (22.0)           Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,996         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest expense         (	Total revenue	311,580	100.0	311,613	100.0	(0.0)		
Services and other         63,411         20.4         69,077         22.2         (8.2)           Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) i	Cost of revenue:							
Total cost of revenue         75,820         24.3         84,993         27.3         (10.8)           Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net	Subscription and software	12,409	4.0	15,916	5.1	(22.0)		
Gross profit         235,760         75.7         226,620         72.7         4.0           Operating expenses:           Selling and marketing(2)         84,126         27.0         94,965         30.5         (11.4)           Research and development(2)         46,375         14.9         49,899         16.0         (7.1)           General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before p	Services and other	63,411	20.4	69,077	22.2	(8.2)		
Operating expenses:         Selling and marketing(2)       84,126       27.0       94,965       30.5       (11.4)         Research and development(2)       46,375       14.9       49,899       16.0       (7.1)         General and administrative(2)       58,256       18.7       54,496       17.5       6.9         Restructuring charges       2,446       0.8       8,623       2.8       (71.6)         Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets       623       0.2       —       —       —         Total operating expenses       191,826       61.6       207,983       66.7       (7.8)         Income from operations       43,934       14.1       18,637       6.0       135.7         Interest income       22,698       7.3       23,784       7.6       (4.6)         Interest expense       (10,516)       (3.4)       (17,783)       (5.7)       (40.9)         Other (expense) income, net       (1,824)       (0.6)       3,386       1.1       (153.9)         Income before provision for taxes       54,292       17.4       28,024       9.0       93.7         Provision for income taxes       (1,368)       (0.4)       (3,078)       (1.0)       (55.6)	Total cost of revenue	75,820	24.3	84,993	27.3	(10.8)		
Selling and marketing(2)       84,126       27.0       94,965       30.5       (11.4)         Research and development(2)       46,375       14.9       49,899       16.0       (7.1)         General and administrative(2)       58,256       18.7       54,496       17.5       6.9         Restructuring charges       2,446       0.8       8,623       2.8       (71.6)         Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets       623       0.2       —       —       —       —         Total operating expenses       191,826       61.6       207,983       66.7       (7.8)         Income from operations       43,934       14.1       18,637       6.0       135.7         Interest income       22,698       7.3       23,784       7.6       (4.6)         Interest expense       (10,516)       (3.4)       (17,783)       (5.7)       (40.9)         Other (expense) income, net       (1,824)       (0.6)       3,386       1.1       (153.9)         Income before provision for taxes       54,292       17.4       28,024       9.0       93.7         Provision for income taxes       (1,368)       (0.4)       (3,078)       (1.0)       (55.6)	Gross profit	235,760	75.7	226,620	72.7	4.0		
Research and development(2)       46,375       14.9       49,899       16.0       (7.1)         General and administrative(2)       58,256       18.7       54,496       17.5       6.9         Restructuring charges       2,446       0.8       8,623       2.8       (71.6)         Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets       623       0.2       —       —       —         Total operating expenses       191,826       61.6       207,983       66.7       (7.8)         Income from operations       43,934       14.1       18,637       6.0       135.7         Interest income       22,698       7.3       23,784       7.6       (4.6)         Interest expense       (10,516)       (3.4)       (17,783)       (5.7)       (40.9)         Other (expense) income, net       (1,824)       (0.6)       3,386       1.1       (153.9)         Income before provision for taxes       54,292       17.4       28,024       9.0       93.7         Provision for income taxes       (1,368)       (0.4)       (3,078)       (1.0)       (55.6)	Operating expenses:							
General and administrative(2)         58,256         18.7         54,496         17.5         6.9           Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Selling and marketing(2)	84,126	27.0	94,965	30.5	(11.4)		
Restructuring charges         2,446         0.8         8,623         2.8         (71.6)           Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Research and development(2)	46,375	14.9	49,899	16.0	(7.1)		
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets         623         0.2         —         —         —           Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	General and administrative(2)	58,256	18.7	54,496	17.5	6.9		
Total operating expenses         191,826         61.6         207,983         66.7         (7.8)           Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Restructuring charges	2,446	8.0	8,623	2.8	(71.6)		
Income from operations         43,934         14.1         18,637         6.0         135.7           Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	623	0.2	_	_	_		
Interest income         22,698         7.3         23,784         7.6         (4.6)           Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Total operating expenses	191,826	61.6	207,983	66.7	(7.8)		
Interest expense         (10,516)         (3.4)         (17,783)         (5.7)         (40.9)           Other (expense) income, net         (1,824)         (0.6)         3,386         1.1         (153.9)           Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Income from operations	43,934	14.1	18,637	6.0	135.7		
Other (expense) income, net       (1,824)       (0.6)       3,386       1.1       (153.9)         Income before provision for taxes       54,292       17.4       28,024       9.0       93.7         Provision for income taxes       (1,368)       (0.4)       (3,078)       (1.0)       (55.6)	Interest income	22,698	7.3	23,784	7.6	(4.6)		
Income before provision for taxes         54,292         17.4         28,024         9.0         93.7           Provision for income taxes         (1,368)         (0.4)         (3,078)         (1.0)         (55.6)	Interest expense	(10,516)	(3.4)	(17,783)	(5.7)	(40.9)		
Provision for income taxes (1,368) (0.4) (3,078) (1.0) (55.6)	Other (expense) income, net	(1,824)	(0.6)	3,386	1.1	(153.9)		
(2,000)	Income before provision for taxes	54,292	17.4	28,024	9.0	93.7		
Net income \$ 52,924 17.0% \$ 24,946 8.0% 112.2%		(1,368)	(0.4)	(3,078)	(1.0)	(55.6)		
	Net income	\$ 52,924	17.0%	\$ 24,946	8.0%	112.2%		

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model."

## Revenue

Total revenue in fiscal 2009 remained fairly consistent with fiscal 2008. Total revenue from customers outside the United States was \$213.9 million, or 68.7% of total revenue, for fiscal 2009 and \$198.1 million, or 63.6% of total revenue, for fiscal 2008. The geographical mix of revenue can vary from period to period.

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

### **Software Revenue**

	Year Ended June 30,			Period-to-pe Change		
	 2009		2008		\$	%
	 	(Do	ollars in thou	ısan	ds)	
Software revenue	\$ 179,591	\$	168,404	\$	11,187	6.6%
As a percent of revenue	57.69	6	54.0%	6		

Software revenue in fiscal 2009 and 2008 was generated primarily from term license contracts and, to a lesser degree, from perpetual arrangements. Since we have relationships with many leading companies in the process industries, growth in our software revenue is derived from the expansion of existing customer relationships, either through licensing for incremental users or by licensing additional software products in our aspenONE suite. The addition of new customers has traditionally represented a smaller component of our revenue growth.

During each of fiscal 2009 and 2008, a significant portion of our bookings was not recorded as revenue in the same fiscal period due to certain revenue recognition criteria not being met. The year-over-year increase in software revenue was primarily driven by the timing of revenue recognition under GAAP as opposed to an indication of actual business activity.

Bookings during fiscal 2009 were \$37.0 million lower than fiscal 2008, which reflected the impact of the global economic downturn. Bookings associated with a number of large contracts totaling \$52.1 million in fiscal 2009 and \$57.5 million in fiscal 2008 did not meet the criteria for revenue recognition as of the end of the fiscal year. However, during fiscal 2009, \$31.6 million of revenue was recognized from business booked in fiscal 2008. This level of license revenue deferral represented a significant divergence from prior fiscal years.

### Services and Other Revenue

	Period-to-period Year Ended June 30, Change	
	2009 2008 \$ %	
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Services and other revenue	\$ 131,989 \$ 143,209 \$ (11,220) (7.8)%	
As a percent of revenue	42.4% 46.0%	

## Professional Services Revenue

	Yea	Year Ended June 30,			Period-to-pe Change	
	200	9	2008		\$	%
	·		Dollars in t	hous	ands)	
Professional services revenue	\$ 48	352 \$	59,708	\$	(11,356)	(19.0)%
As a percent of revenue		15.5%	19.29	6		

The decrease in services and other revenue was due to lower professional services revenue in fiscal 2009. The global economic environment during fiscal 2009 generally impacted our customers' ability to commit to more discretionary spending initiatives, which affected our professional services business.

# **SMS** and Training Revenue

	Year Ended June 30,				Period-to Cha		
		2009		2008		\$	%
			(I	Oollars in th	ousa	nds)	
SMS and training revenue(1)	\$	83,637	\$	83,501	\$	136	0.2%
As a percent of revenue		26.89	6	26.89	6		

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes other revenue of \$1,047 and \$1,209 in fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively, related to miscellaneous revenue.

SMS and training revenue was consistent with fiscal 2008.

Expenses

# **Cost of Subscription and Software Revenue**

	Year Ende	d Ju	ıne 30,		Period-to-p Chang	
	2009		2008		\$	%
		(1	Dollars in th	ious	ands)	
Cost of subscription and software revenue	\$ 12,409	\$	15,916	\$	(3,507)	(22.0)%
Gross margin	93.19	6	90.59	6		

The reduction in cost of subscription and software revenue was primarily due to lower capitalized software amortization charges, reduced royalty expenses; and third-party fees. Royalty expenses and third-party fees were lower as a result of a change in the mix of license products sold.

## **Cost of Services and Other Revenue**

			Period-to-pe	eriod		
	Year Ende	Year Ended June 30,		ear Ended June 30, Chan		
	2009	2008	\$	%		
		(Dollars in th	ousands)	<u>.</u>		
Cost of services and other revenue	\$ 63,411	\$ 69,077	\$ (5,666)	(8.2)%		
Gross margin	52.0%	6 51.89	6			

Cost of services and other revenue decreased primarily due to lower staffing needs as a result of decreased demand for our professional services. Stock-based compensation expense decreased because we were unable to issue new equity-based compensation awards because during the period from mid-September 2007 until November 9, 2009 and from November 16, 2009 to December 21, 2009, we did not maintain our status as a timely filer with the SEC. Finally, the cost to deliver maintenance support was reduced by consolidating work and bringing in-house services that were formerly outsourced, which carried a higher cost to us.

# **Selling and Marketing Expense**

	Year Ended June 30,				Period-to-pe Change		
	2009 2008 \$		2009 2008		\$	%	
			(	Dollars in t	hous	sands)	
Selling and marketing expense	\$	84,126	\$	94,965	\$	(10,839)	(11.4)%
As a percent of revenue		27.09	6	30.5%	6		

The decrease in selling and marketing expense was largely the result of lower personnel-related costs including salaries, commissions, bonuses, and stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation expense decreased because we were unable to issue new equity-based compensation awards because we were not timely in our filings with the SEC. Additionally, there were other decreases in costs related to travel, external consultants and marketing events.

## **Research and Development Expense**

	Year Ende	d June 30,	Period-to-pe Change	
	2009	2008	\$	%
		(Dollars in the	ousands)	
Research and development expense	\$ 46,375	\$ 49,899	\$ (3,524)	(7.1)%
As a percent of revenue	14.9%	6 16.0%	6	

The decrease in research and development expense related primarily to a reduction in incentive bonuses for employees and decreases in stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation expense decreased because we were unable to issue new equity-based compensation awards as a result of our not being timely in our filings with the SEC. Additionally, we capitalized a higher portion of our research and development expenses during fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008, which contributed to a year-over-year decrease in research and development expenses.

### **General and Administrative Expense**

	Year Ende	Year Ended June 30,		-period nge
	2009	2008	\$	%
		(Dollars in t	housands)	
General and administrative expense	\$ 58,256	\$ 54,496	\$ 3,760	6.9%
As a percent of revenue	18.79	6 17.59	%	

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to the extended time and effort to complete the fiscal 2008 audit. These higher costs were significant and included extensive use of external financial consultants, higher audit fees, and to a lesser extent, an increase in personnel costs. These finance cost increases were partially offset by lower legal costs. Stock-based compensation expense also decreased because we were unable to issue new equity-based compensation awards as a result of our not being timely in our filings with the SEC.

## **Restructuring Charges**

	Year Ended June 30,				Period-to-p Change		
	2009		2008		\$	%	
		(D	ollars in th	ousa	ands)		
Restructuring charges	\$ 2,446	\$	8,623	\$	(6,177)	(71.6)%	
As a percent of revenue	0.8%	6	2.89	6			

During fiscal 2009, we initiated a plan to reduce operating expense that resulted in the reduction of our workforce. We recorded a restructuring charge of \$2.4 million during fiscal 2009 primarily associated with this program. This charge was significantly lower than the restructuring charge that was incurred in the prior year associated with the relocation of our corporate headquarters.

### **Interest Income**

	Period-to-period	
	Year Ended June 30, Change	
	2009 2008 \$ %	
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Interest income	\$ 22,698 \$ 23,784 \$ (1,086) (4.6)%	
As a percent of revenue	7.3% 7.6%	

Interest income decreased primarily due to lower average receivables balances for both installment and collateralized receivables.

## **Interest Expense**

		Period-to	
	Year Ended June 30,	Cha	nge
	2009 2008	\$	%
	(Dollars in t	housands)	<u> </u>
Interest expense	\$ (10,516) \$ (17,783	3) \$ 7,267	(40.9)%
As a percent of revenue	(3.4)% (5.7)	7)%	

The decrease in interest expense was attributable to lower average secured borrowing balances, principally due to the payoff of three significant securitizations during fiscal 2008.

## Other (Expense) Income, Net

	Year Ended June 30,	Period-to-per	od Change	
	2009 2008	\$	%	
	(Dollars	in thousands)		
Other (expense) income, net	\$ (1,824) \$ 3,386	\$ (5,210)	(153.9)%	
As a percent of revenue	(0.6)% 1.1	.%		

Other (expense) income, net decreased, primarily due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Pound Sterling and Euro.

## **Provision for Income Taxes**

					Period-to	-period
	 Year Ende	d Jui	ne 30,		Char	nge
	 2009		2008	\$		%
	 	ollars in the	ousa	nds)	<u> </u>	
Provision for income taxes	\$ (1,368)	\$	(3,078)	\$	1,710	(55.6)%
As a percent of revenue	(0.4)%	ó	(1.0)%	6		

We recorded a provision for income taxes of \$1.4 million for fiscal 2009, primarily related to our income in foreign jurisdictions, withholding taxes imposed on license fees paid to us from customers outside the United States, and changes in estimates under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions* (currently included as provisions of ASC Topic 740), or FIN 48. The income tax provision also included state income taxes. We did not record a federal income tax provision on our domestic income, since we are able to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards. We have available net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and foreign tax credits that expire at various dates from 2010 through 2025.

## **Quarterly Results of Operations**

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each quarter of fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, as well as the percentage of total revenue for each line item shown. This information has been derived from our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the information for the quarters presented. You should read these data together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes beginning on page F-1.

						Quarter	Ended					
		Fiscal 2	2010			Fiscal				Fiscal	2008	
	June 30,			Sept. 30,	June 30,	Mar. 31,	Dec. 31,	Sept. 30,	June 30,	Mar. 31,	Dec. 31,	Sept. 30,
	2010	2010	2009	2009	2009	2009	2008	2008	2008	2008	2007	2007
Darramina						(In thou	isands)					
Revenue: Subscription	\$ 5,873	\$ 3,959 \$	1,214 5	5 25	s —	s —	s —	s —	s —	¢	s —	¢
Software	8,148	14,714	8,976	11,082	41,612	41,070	47,272	49,637	59,688	40,018	37,579	31,119
Total	0,110	11,711	0,570	11,002	-11,012			10,007		10,010		01,110
subscription												
and												
software(1)	14,021	18,673	10,190	11,107	41,612	41,070	47,272	49,637	59,688	40,018	37,579	31,119
Services and												
other	24,223	26,945	32,496	28,689	29,643	30,222	35,355	36,769	38,624	34,226	36,640	33,719
Total revenue	38,244	45,618	42,686	39,796	71,255	71,292	82,627	86,406	98,312	74,244	74,219	64,838
Total cost of												
revenue	17,498	14,674	16,469	17,469	20,094	18,396	18,164	19,166	21,928	21,450	21,900	19,715
Gross profit	20,746	30,944	26,217	22,327	51,161	52,896	64,463	67,240	76,384	52,794	52,319	45,123
Operating												
expenses:												
Selling and												
marketing(2)	27,426	25,267	23,757	20,552	21,607	20,494	19,887	22,138	27,260	24,105	22,320	21,280
Research and development(2)	12,100	12,719	12,515	10,894	11,471	11,738	10,514	12,652	12,802	12,852	11,555	12,690
General and	12,100	12,713	12,313	10,034	11,4/1	11,730	10,514	12,032	12,002	12,052	11,555	12,030
administrative(2)	15,956	12,650	19,226	15,414	15,333	14,441	14,376	14,106	15,253	13.854	13,083	12,306
Restructuring	-,	,	-,	-,	-,	ĺ	,	,	,	_,	-,	,
charges	868	(45)	34	271	421	1,760	231	34	(5)	111	1,291	7,226
Impairment of												
goodwill and												
intangible assets							623					
Total operating	=0.0=0	=====	== =00		40.000	40.400	4= 604	40.000	== 0.40	=0.000	10.010	<b>50 500</b>
expenses	56,350	50,591	55,532	47,131	48,832	48,433	45,631	48,930	55,310	50,922	48,249	53,502
(Loss) income												
from	(35,604)	(19,647)	(29,315)	(24,804)	2,329	4,463	18,832	18,310	21,074	1,872	4,070	(8,379)
operations Interest, net	2,478	2,750	2,603	3,038	2,329	2,946	3,212	3,061	1,657	1,626	914	1,804
Other (expense)	2,470	2,730	2,003	3,030	2,303	2,340	3,212	3,001	1,037	1,020	314	1,004
income, net	(2,310)	(2,144)	(222)	2,269	2,145	(3,308)	2,920	(3,581)	(1,460)	2,653	2,030	163
(Loss) income			<u> </u>									
before												
provision for												
income taxes	(35,436)	(19,041)	(26,934)	(19,497)	7,437	4,101	24,964	17,790	21,271	6,151	7,014	(6,412)
Provision for		(0 m15)	(D. EOS:	/4 = a=:		2.0	(0.000	(0.45=	/a:-:	(0.44=)		(O = O · ·
income taxes	1,464	(2,713)	(3,723)	(1,565)	2,777	3,995	(2,003)	(6,137)	(613)	(2,118)	2,244	(2,591)
Net (loss)	A (00.05-)	A (04 mm :: +	(00.055)		d 4000			A 44.055	A 00.055	A 4055		<b>*</b> (0.00=:
income	\$ (33,972)	\$ (21,754) \$	(30,657)	(21,062)	\$ 10,214	\$ 8,096	\$ 22,961	\$ 11,653	\$ 20,658	\$ 4,033	\$ 9,258	\$ (9,003)

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "—Transition to New aspenONE Licensing Model."

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.

						Quarter I									
		Fiscal				Fiscal					Fiscal 2008				
	June 30, 2010	Mar. 31, 2010	Dec. 31, 2009	Sept. 30, 2009	June 30, 2009	Mar. 31, 2009	Dec. 31, 2008	Sept. 30, 2008	June 30, 2008	Mar. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Sept. 30, 2007			
					(Per	centage of to	otal revenu	e)							
Revenue: Subscription	15.4%	8.7%	2.9%	0.1%	%	%	—%	—%	—%	—%	—%	%			
Software	21.3	32.2	21.0	27.8	58.4	57.6	57.2	57.4	60.7	53.9	50.6	48.0			
Total subscription and															
software	36.7	40.9	23.9	27.9	58.4	57.6	57.2	57.4	60.7	53.9	50.6	48.0			
Services and other	63.3	59.1	76.1	72.1	41.6	42.4	42.8	42.6	39.3	46.1	49.4	52.0			
Total revenue	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0			
Total cost of revenue	45.8	32.2	38.6	43.9	28.2	25.8	22.0	22.2	22.3	28.9	29.5	30.4			
Gross margin	54.2	67.8	61.4	56.1	71.8	74.2	78.0	77.8	77.7	71.1	70.5	69.6			
Operating expenses:	3.12	07.10	01.1	3011	71.0	7	7 6.0	77.0		711	7000				
Selling and marketing	71.7	55.4	55.7	51.6	30.3	28.7	24.1	25.6	27.8	32.5	30.1	32.8			
Research and development	31.6	27.9	29.3	27.4	16.1	16.5	12.7	14.6	13.0	17.3	15.6	19.6			
General and administrative	41.7	27.7	45.8	38.7	21.5	20.3	17.4	16.3	15.5	18.7	17.6	19.0			
Restructuring charges	2.3	(0.1)	0.1	0.7	2.5	0.3	_	_	0.1	1.7	11.1	0.6			
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	_	_	_	_	_	_	0.8	_	_	_	_	_			
Total															
operating expenses	147.3	110.9	130.1	118.4	68.5	67.9	55.2	56.6	56.3	68.6	65.0	82.5			
(Loss) income from															
operations Interest, net	(93.1) 6.5	(43.1) 6.0	(68.7) 6.1	(62.3) 7.6	3.3 4.2	6.3 4.1	22.8 3.9	21.2 3.5	21.4 1.7	2.5 2.2	5.5 1.2	(12.9) 2.8			
Other (expense) income, net	(6.0)	(4.7)	(0.5)	5.7	3.0	(4.6)	3.5	(4.1)	(1.5)	3.6	2.7	0.3			
(Loss) income before provision for income taxes	(92.7)	(41.7)	(63.1)	(49.0)	10.4	5.8	30.2	20.6	21.6	8.3	9.5	(9.9)			
Provision for	, í	, í	ì	, í	2.0	F.0	(2.4)	(7.4)	(0.0)	(2.0)	2.0	ì			
income taxes	3.8	(5.9)	(8.7)	(3.9)	3.9	5.6	(2.4)	(7.1)	(0.6)	(2.9)	3.0	(4.0)			
Net (loss) income	(88.8)%	(47.7)%	(71.8)%	(52.9)%	14.3%	11.4%	27.8%	13.5%	21.0%	5.4%	12.5%	(13.9)%			

Since the first quarter of fiscal 2010, our revenue has decreased due to our change to our new aspenONE licensing model. We expect that our revenue will increase as customers renew their license arrangements under our new licensing model.

We have focused on controlling our operating costs in recent periods. However, the variability in our historical quarterly cost trends may not reflect the true recurring costs of the business, due to factors such as significant external financial consulting and audit fees, restructuring charges and variability in our stock-based compensation granting practices resulting from being delisted. As a result, quarterly cost comparisons may not be meaningful.

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

#### Resources

We historically have financed our operations through cash generated from operating activities, public offerings of our convertible debentures and common stock, private offerings of our preferred stock and common stock, borrowings secured by our installment receivable contracts and borrowings under bank credit facilities. As of June 30, 2010, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of \$124.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and up to \$16.4 million of borrowing capacity under our credit facility. The amount of borrowing capacity available under the credit facility varies in accordance with the terms of the agreement. We are not currently dependent upon short-term funding.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents and our cash flow from operating activities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months. To the extent our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operating activities, and credit facility borrowing are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through the financing of additional receivables or from public or private equity or debt financings. We also may need to raise additional funds in the event we determine in the future to effect one or more acquisitions of businesses, technologies and products. If additional funding is required, we may not be able to effect a receivable, equity or debt financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities for the years indicated:

	Year Ended June 30,								
	_	2010		2009		2008			
			(In	thousands)					
Cash flow provided by (used in):									
Operating activities	\$	38,622	\$	33,032	\$	71,464			
Investing activities		(3,351)		(5,354)		(10,391)			
Financing activities		(31,700)		(38,419)		(59,761)			
Effect of exchange rates on cash balances		(839)		(1,094)		469			
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$	2,732	\$	(11,835)	\$	1,781			

# Operating Activities

Cash generated by operating activities is our primary source of liquidity. Cash from operating activities provided \$38.6 million during fiscal 2010. This amount resulted from net loss of \$107.4 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of \$23.5 million, and a net \$122.5 million source of cash due to decreases in operating assets and increases in operating liabilities.

Non-cash items within net loss consisted primarily of \$15.3 million of stock-based compensation, \$6.6 million of depreciation and amortization and \$3.2 million of net unrealized foreign currency losses driven by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Pound Sterling and Euro, and were offset by \$2.2 million of deferred income taxes.

Our cash balance increased in part due to a \$122.5 million decrease in operating assets and increase in operating liabilities. The cash generated from this change consisted primarily of (a) decreases in installment and collateralized receivables totaling \$92.5 million, (b) a decrease in accounts receivable of \$16.5 million, (c) a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$8.9 million, and (d) an increase in deferred revenue of \$8.7 million. These sources of cash were partially offset by decreases in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities totaling \$1.6 million, a decrease in income taxes payable of \$0.8 million, and an increase in unbilled services of \$1.6 million.

The decreased levels of net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2010 and 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 was primarily related to decreases in cash received for prepaid license transactions and the change to licensing our MSC suite on a term basis, rather than perpetual. Going forward, we expect cash from operating activities to increase as the impact of prior period license prepayments moderates and customers renew contracts that were previously paid upfront.

Looking ahead, we expect to continue to generate positive cash flow from operations. We do not expect the adoption of our new licensing model to have a negative impact on our operating cash flows because most of our existing contracts are already on an installment term basis. We anticipate that existing cash balances, together with funds generated from operations, will be sufficient to finance our operations and meet our cash requirements for the foreseeable future.

#### **Investing Activities**

During fiscal 2010, we used \$2.7 million of cash for capital expenditures, primarily to upgrade our financial reporting and management information systems. We have ongoing efforts to enhance our information system and implement internal control enhancements, which have been designed in part to remediate our deficiencies in internal controls over financial reporting. A portion of the remediation costs are expected to be incurred to upgrade our existing financial applications. We do not expect the costs we are investing in our financial reporting and management systems to be materially different from our IT investment costs in prior fiscal years.

Capitalized software development costs decreased \$1.7 million in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2009, we capitalized costs related to the development and release of the aspenONE version 7.1 product; we did not have similar levels of capitalized costs in fiscal 2010. We are not currently party to any material purchase contracts related to future capital expenditures.

## Financing Activities

During fiscal 2010, we used \$31.7 million of cash for financing activities. We reduced our secured borrowings balances by \$34.8 million and paid withholding taxes of \$4.0 million on vested restricted stock units. We did not finance any receivables to fund operations in fiscal 2010. However, we did swap \$9.5 million of previously financed receivables for purposes of simplifying the administration of the program. This exchange was shown as both a use and source of funds related to secured borrowings on our statement of cash flows. Additionally, we received proceeds of \$7.2 million from the exercise of employee stock options during fiscal 2010. We expect the existing secured borrowings balances included in our consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2010 to continue to decline during fiscal 2011 and thereafter, as we continue the trend of not replacing securitized borrowings as they are paid down.

# Credit Facility

We are party to a credit facility arrangement with Silicon Valley Bank that we originally entered into in January 2003 and have amended several times subsequently. This arrangement provides a line of credit of up to the lesser of (i) \$25.0 million or (ii) 50% to 80% of certain eligible receivables. The line of credit bears interest at the greater of (i) the bank's prime rate (4.0% at June 30, 2010) plus 0.5%, or (ii) 4.75%. If we maintain a \$10.0 million compensating cash balance with the bank, our unused line of

credit fee will be 0.1875% per annum; otherwise it will be 0.375% per annum. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of our assets, and we are required to meet certain financial covenants, including minimum tangible net worth, minimum cash balances and an adjusted quick ratio. The terms of the loan arrangement restrict our ability to pay dividends in cash.

We were in compliance with the terms of the credit facility as of June 30, 2010. As of June 30, 2009, we were not in compliance with certain financial reporting requirements under the terms of the credit facility. We obtained waivers for that non-compliance and on November 3, 2009, we executed an amendment to the loan arrangement that adjusted certain terms of covenants, including modifying the date we must provide quarterly unaudited and annual audited financial statements to the bank. In June 2010, we executed an amendment to the loan arrangement that extended the maturity date of the credit facility to November 15, 2010.

As of June 30, 2010, there were \$4.4 million in letters of credit outstanding under the line of credit and no outstanding debt under the line of credit and \$16.4 million was available for future borrowing. Our total borrowing through Silicon Valley Bank is limited to \$95 million. In the event that we utilize the full \$85 million available through the Traditional Programs, as described below, with Silicon Valley Bank, our total credit line could not exceed \$10 million.

Borrowings Collateralized by Receivable Contracts

#### **Traditional Programs**

We historically have maintained arrangements, which we refer to as our Traditional Programs, with General Electric Capital Corporation, Bank of America and Silicon Valley Bank providing for borrowings that are secured by our installment and other receivable contracts, and for which limited recourse exists against us. Under the Traditional Programs, we and the financial institution must agree to enter into each transaction and negotiate the amount borrowed and interest rate secured by each receivable. The customers' payments of the underlying receivables fund the repayment of the related amounts borrowed. The weighted average interest rate on the secured borrowings was 8.3% at June 30, 2010 and 8.1% at June 30, 2009.

The collateralized receivables earn interest income, and the secured borrowings accrue borrowing costs at approximately the same interest rate. When we receive cash from a customer, the collateralized receivable balance is reduced and the related secured borrowing is reclassified to an accrued liability for amounts we must remit to the financial institution. The accrued liability is reduced when payment is remitted to the financial institution. The terms of the customer receivables range from amounts due within 30 days to receivables due within four years.

Under the Traditional Programs, we received aggregate cash proceeds of \$9.5 million, \$30.2 million and \$74.1 million during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Since December 2007, we have not sold any receivables for the purpose of raising cash, but we have sold some large dollar receivables in order to fund the repurchase of several large groups of smaller receivables previously sold to the banks, for the purpose of simplifying our administration of the Traditional Programs. In June 2008, we repurchased the outstanding invoices under the Bank of America program at their carrying value of \$2.7 million inclusive of a one percent pre-payment penalty. As of June 30, 2010, we had outstanding secured borrowings of \$76.1 million under the Traditional Programs that were secured by collateralized receivables totaling \$51.4 million.

We estimate that there was approximately \$49.3 million available under the Silicon Valley Bank program at June 30, 2010. As the collection of the collateralized receivables and resulting payment of the borrowing obligation reduces the outstanding balance, the availability under the arrangement can be increased. We expect to maintain our access to cash under this arrangement, and to transfer installments receivable as business requirements dictate. Our ongoing ability to access the available

capacity will depend upon a number of factors, including the generation of additional customer receivables and the financial institution's willingness to continue to enter into these transactions.

Under the terms of the Traditional Programs, we have transferred the receivables to the financial institutions with limited financial recourse to us. We can be required to repurchase the receivables under certain circumstances in case of specific defaults by us as set forth in the program terms. Potential recourse obligations are primarily related to the Silicon Valley Bank arrangement, which requires us to pay interest to Silicon Valley Bank when the underlying customer has not paid by the receivable due date. This recourse is limited to a maximum period of 90 days after the due date. A total of \$32.2 million of outstanding receivables had this potential recourse obligation as of June 30, 2010. This 90-day recourse obligation is recognized as interest expense as incurred and totaled less than \$0.1 million, \$0.1 million, and \$0.4 million for fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. Otherwise, recourse generally results from circumstances in which we failed to perform requirements related to contracts with the customer. Other than the specific items noted above, the financial institution bears the credit risk of the customers associated with the receivables the institution purchased.

In the ordinary course of us acting as a servicing agent for receivables transferred to Silicon Valley Bank, we regularly receive funds from customers that are processed and remitted onward to Silicon Valley Bank. While in our possession, these cash receipts are contractually owned by Silicon Valley Bank, are held by us on behalf of Silicon Valley Bank until remitted, and are restricted from our use. There were no cash receipts held for the benefit of Silicon Valley Bank and recorded in our cash balances and current liabilities as of June 30, 2010 or June 30, 2009.

The terms of the asset purchase agreement for one of the Traditional Programs requires the timely reporting of financial information. As of June 30, 2009, we were not in compliance with that requirement. We obtained waivers for such non-compliance that extended the deadlines for delivering financial information for fiscal 2009 and the first quarter of fiscal 2010. As a result of the uncertainty as to when we would meet this covenant, we were required to reclassify the obligation to a current liability in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2009. We are now in compliance with the timely filing requirement of the agreement. Accordingly, we have classified the long-term portion of the related obligation as non-current in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2010.

#### Securitization of Accounts Receivable

During fiscal 2005 and 2007 we entered into two securitization arrangements where we securitized and transferred receivables with a net carrying value of \$71.9 million and \$32.1 million, respectively, and received cash proceeds of \$43.8 million and \$20.0 million, respectively. These borrowings were secured by the transferred receivables, and the debt and borrowing costs were repaid as the receivables were collected. Neither arrangement met the criteria for a sale, and as such was accounted for as a secured borrowing. We received and retained collections on these receivables after all borrowing and related costs were paid to the financial institution. The financial institutions' rights to repayment were limited to the payments received from the receivables. Both securitizations were paid off during fiscal 2008 at their respective carrying values of \$4.2 million and \$12.2 million. The payments resulted in a reclassification to accounts receivable of \$9.8 million and to current installments receivable of \$17.8 million from the current portion of collateralized receivables, and \$23.9 million from non-current collateralized receivables to non-current installment receivables.

### **Contractual Obligations and Requirements**

Our contractual obligations at June 30, 2010 primarily consisted of operating leases for our headquarters and other facilities, purchase commitments, and other debt obligations. Other than these, there were no other commitments for capital or other expenditures. Our obligations related to these items at June 30, 2010 were as follows:

	Payments due by Period									
	_	Total	Less than 1 Year		1 to 3 Years (In thousands)		3 to 5 Years			ore than Years
Contractual Cash Obligations:					Ì	ĺ				
Operating leases	\$	31,812	\$	10,832	\$	12,440	\$	6,737	\$	1,803
Fixed fee royalty obligations		9,531		3,503		3,722		2,002		304
Contractual royalty obligations		8,525		3,118		3,929		1,478		_
Total contractual cash obligations	\$	49,868	\$	17,453	\$	20,091	\$	10,217	\$	2,107
Other Commercial Commitments:	_				_			<del></del>		<del></del>
Standby letters of credit	\$	4,429	\$	2,030	\$	684	\$	_	\$	1,715
Total commercial commitments	\$	4,429	\$	2,030	\$	684	\$		\$	1,715

As of June 30, 2010, we had multiple agreements, which expire through 2012, to sublease approximately 95,093 square feet of our former office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The above table does not reflect contractual future sublease rental income, which totaled \$6.2 million at June 30, 2010. See note 11 to the consolidated financial statements beginning at page F-1 for additional information about our operating leases.

The standby letters of credit were issued by Silicon Valley Bank in the United States and National Westminster Bank in the United Kingdom, and secure performance on professional services contracts and rental agreements.

The above table does not reflect any amounts relating to past transfers of certain receivables under our receivable sale facilities. Repayments of borrowings under these facilities are funded by the payments made by the customer either to the applicable financial institution directly or to us as agent, with no financial recourse to us. Because we do not have any contractual obligation to fund these payments and there are no financial guarantees issued in relation to these transactions, we do not have any contractual payment obligations relating to these transactions.

#### **Controls and Procedures**

#### Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2010. The term "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable

assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2010, and due to the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described in our accompanying *Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting*, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

## **Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

In connection with the audit of our financial statements for fiscal 2010, our management and our independent registered public accounting firm reported to our board of directors material weaknesses in the design and operation of our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is defined by the standards issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants as a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of the material weaknesses described below, management concluded that, as of June 30, 2010, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective and KPMG LLP, in its audit report for fiscal 2010, expressed an adverse opinion as we had not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2010, based on criteria established in *Internal Control—An Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Inadequate and ineffective controls over income tax accounting and disclosure

We did not have adequate design or operation of controls that provide reasonable assurance that the accounting for income taxes and related disclosures were prepared in accordance with GAAP. Specifically, we did not have sufficient staffing and technical expertise in the tax function to provide adequate review and control with respect to the (a) foreign subsidiary tax provisions and related accruals; (b) complete and accurate recording of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to differences in accounting treatment for book and tax purposes; and (c) complete and accurate recording of income tax accounting entries and corresponding tax provisions and accruals.

This material weakness contributed to material post-closing adjustments which have been reflected in the financial statements for fiscal 2010. These adjustments resulted in changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, accrued tax liability, income tax expense, retained earnings and related disclosures.

Inadequate and ineffective controls over the recognition of professional services revenue

We did not have adequate controls that provided reasonable assurance that professional services revenue was recorded in accordance with GAAP. Specifically, we did not have: (a) appropriately documented policies and procedures, and adequately designed or effectively operating review controls to ensure that professional services revenue would be recorded consistently in accordance with GAAP; (b) effective controls over communications between professional services project management and corporate finance regarding matters that may have consequences to revenue recognition of professional services; (c) appropriately designed or effectively operating review controls to ensure that professional services-related bundling arrangements were accounted for properly, primarily concerning professional services bundled with licenses and professional services bundled with other professional services; and (d) appropriately designed system configuration controls to ensure that data and reports generated from the system can be relied upon for the purpose of accurately and timely recording professional services revenue in accordance with GAAP.

The remediation efforts in fiscal 2010 that were evidenced in the fourth quarter included the following:

- Enhanced people management to recruit and retain qualified finance professionals to help ensure the effective implementation of the key controls and remedial actions designed to address the areas where material weaknesses were previously identified, and to help maintain the control environment and renewed sense of accountability on an ongoing basis;
- Enhanced monitoring and review controls to help ensure that proper accounting for all complex, non-routine transactions is researched, detailed in memoranda and reviewed by senior management prior to recording;
- Implemented detailed period-end closing and reporting schedules to ensure that all closing activities were properly monitored and completed in a timely manner, including timely review of period-end account reconciliations;
- Enhanced information technology general controls including configuration and user access review to help provide a reliable information infrastructure and reduce the level of inefficient manual reviews and reconciliations;
- Enhanced procedures and implemented system configuration controls to help ensure that cash flows used or provided from operating, investing and financing activities used to compile the cash flow statement are calculated accurately; and
- Introduced a new subscription-based license offering for our aspenONE software suite that was available as of July 9, 2009. The introduction of
  this new product offering brought about a change from the upfront revenue recognition to the subscription basis revenue recognition model. This
  change simplified certain business processes, decreased the complexities of our license revenue recognition, reduced the risk of license revenue
  being misstated in our periodic financial reports, and allowed us to successfully implement the following enhancements:
  - Integrated and automated certain order processing methods and procedures including order entry, billing and revenue recognition, to help management maintain the level of quality and timely review of license revenue transactions; and
  - Improved system configuration to automate some critical financial reports to provide management with reliable data to record license revenue accurately and completely.

In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2010, we hired senior financial management with subject matter expertise in the tax and professional services departments. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2010, we also started implementing the following measures to improve our internal controls over income tax accounting and disclosure and recognition of professional services revenue. We plan to further enhance these measures in fiscal 2011.

- Redesigned our tax accounting function, process and related controls to ensure that our accounting for income taxes and related disclosures can be completed accurately and in a timely manner; and
- Reviewed our professional services business processes, redesigned and documented critical procedures and controls in order to:
  - Enhance presale review to help ensure that reliable revenue accounting determinations are provided in a timely manner;
  - Enhance management monitoring of project status to ensure that all data that has revenue recognition impact are available and reviewed for the purpose of recording professional services revenue completely, accurately and in a timely manner;

- Ensure that multiple-element arrangements where services are bundled with a license or other services arrangements are properly
  accounted for; and
- Automate project accounting to have appropriately designed system configuration controls to ensure that data and reports generated from
  the system can be relied upon for the purpose of accurately and timely recording revenue in accordance with GAAP.

The remediation policies and procedures we have implemented and plan to implement may be insufficient to address our material weaknesses and additional material weaknesses may be discovered in the future. The existence of one or more material weaknesses precludes a conclusion that we maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. Such conclusion is required to be disclosed in our future Annual Reports on Form 10-K and may impact the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting and the reliability of our internal control over financial reporting. Among other things, any unremediated material weaknesses could result in material post-closing adjustments in future financial statements. Furthermore, any such unremediated material weaknesses could have the effects described above in "Risk Factors—In preparing our consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2010, our management identified two material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and our failure to effectively remedy these or other material weaknesses could result in material misstatements in our financial statements and the loss of investors' confidence in our reported financial information."

#### **Effects of Inflation**

Inflation and changing prices have not had a material effect on our business, and we do not expect that they will materially affect our business in the foreseeable future. However, the impact of inflation on replacement costs of equipment, cost of revenue and operating costs, especially employee compensation costs, may not be readily recoverable in the price of our software and service offerings.

#### **Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements**

As of June 30, 2010, we did not have any significant off-balance-sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K of the SEC.

#### Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

In the ordinary course of conducting business, we are exposed to certain risks associated with potential changes in market conditions. These market risks include changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates. In order to manage the volatility of our more significant market risks, we may enter into derivative financial instruments such as forward currency exchange contracts.

#### Foreign Currency Exposure

In fiscal 2010, 24% of our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. In addition, certain of our operating costs incurred outside the United States are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Foreign currency risk arises primarily from the net difference between (a) non-U.S. dollar receipts from customers outside the United States and (b) non-U.S. dollar operating costs for subsidiaries in foreign countries. Although it was our historical practice to hedge the majority of our non-U.S. dollar receipts, beginning in late fiscal 2008 we revised this practice to evaluate the need for hedges based on only the net exposure to foreign currencies. We measure our net exposure to each currency for which we have either cash inflows or outflows.

During fiscal 2010 and 2009, our largest exposures to foreign exchange rates existed primarily with the Euro, Pound Sterling, Canadian dollar, and Japanese Yen against the U.S. dollar. Based on the

anticipated net exposures to these currencies, we believe that our foreign currency risk is not large enough to warrant hedging, and we therefore had no foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding at June 30, 2010 or 2009.

During fiscal 2010 and 2009, we recorded \$2.6 million and \$1.8 million, respectively, of net foreign currency exchange losses related to the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units. Our analysis of operating results transacted in various foreign currencies indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in the foreign currency exchange rates could have increased or decreased the consolidated results of operations by \$1.5 million for fiscal 2010 and by \$4.7 million for fiscal 2009.

## **Investment Portfolio**

We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. We place our investments in instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in our investment policy guidelines. We do not expect any material loss with respect to our investment portfolio from changes in market interest rates or credit losses, as our investments consist primarily of money market accounts. At June 30, 2010, all of the instruments in our investment portfolio were included in cash and cash equivalents.

## **Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments**

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with the following critical accounting policies have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements:

- revenue recognition;
- impairment of long-lived assets, goodwill, and intangible assets;
- computer software development costs;
- loss contingencies; and
- accounting for income taxes.

For further information on our significant accounting policies, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

## Revenue Recognition

Four basic criteria must be satisfied before license revenue can be recognized: persuasive evidence of an arrangement between us and an end user; delivery of our product has occurred; the fee for the product is fixed or determinable; and collection of the fee is probable. Our management uses its judgment concerning the satisfaction of these four basic criteria, particularly the criteria relating to the determination of whether the arrangement fees are fixed or determinable and to the collectability of the arrangement fees, during evaluation of each revenue transaction.

Fee is fixed or determinable—We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinable at the outset of the arrangement. Significant judgment is involved in making this assessment. Under our upfront revenue model, we are able to demonstrate that the fees are fixed or determinable for all arrangements, including those for our term licenses that contain extended payment terms. We have an established history of collecting under the terms of these contracts without providing concessions to customers. In addition, we also assess whether contract modifications to an existing term arrangement constitute a concession. In making this assessment, significant analysis is performed to ensure that no concessions are given. Our software license agreements do not include right of return or exchange.

With the introduction of our aspenONE licensing model and the changes to the licensing terms for point products licensed on a fixed-term basis, we cannot assert that the fees in these new arrangements are fixed or determinable because the rights provided to customers and the economics of the arrangements are not comparable to our historical transactions with other customers under the upfront revenue model. As a result, the amount of revenue recognized for these new arrangements will be limited by the amount of customer payments currently due. For our new aspenONE licenses this generally results in the fees being recognized ratably over the term of the contracts. For our point product licenses with bundled SMS, this generally results in the license fee being recognized as each payment comes due, while the allocated portion of the SMS revenue is recognized ratably over its annual term.

Collection of fee is probable—We assess the probability of collecting from each customer at the outset of the arrangement based on a number of factors, including the customer's payment history, its current creditworthiness, economic conditions in the customer's industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions. If in our judgment collection of a fee is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met.

VSOE of Fair Value for SMS and Professional Services

We have established VSOE for SMS and professional services, but not for our software products. We assess VSOE of fair value for SMS based on an analysis of standalone SMS renewals using the bell-shaped curve approach. We use the optional renewals of SMS on our legacy term license arrangements to support VSOE of fair value for SMS bundled in our new fixed-term point product arrangements. The license product offerings and the SMS in the legacy term arrangements and the new point product arrangements are the same.

As we are increasingly transitioning our legacy term license customers to new point product arrangements with bundled SMS for the entire term of the arrangement and we no longer market legacy term license arrangements, we expect our population of standalone annual renewals to decrease over time. As a result, there will come a point in time where we will be unable to support VSOE of fair value of SMS in our new point product arrangements based on our legacy term license SMS renewals. When this occurs, we will be required to recognize revenue related to the license component on our point product arrangements ratably, on a subscription basis. Additionally, SMS revenue will be included as subscription revenue, in a manner similar to the current recognition of subscription arrangements under our new aspenONE licensing model. We expect the impact of a loss of VSOE of fair value for SMS to be immaterial to our results of operations, since we currently recognize license revenue on point product arrangements over the term of the arrangement, as payments become due.

Professional Services Revenue

The use of the proportional performance method depends upon our ability to reliably estimate the direct costs to complete a project. We use historical experience as a basis for future estimates to complete current projects. Additionally, management believes that costs are the best available measure of performance. Reimbursable amounts received from customers for out-of-pocket expenses are

recorded as revenue. If the costs to complete a project are not estimable or the completion is uncertain, the revenue is recognized upon completion of the services.

In the past, we have occasionally been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects, which have resulted in lower than anticipated income or losses on those contracts. We may experience similar situations in the future. Provisions for estimated losses on contracts are made during the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated. To date, such losses have not been significant.

### Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In accordance with ASC Topic 360, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets*, we review the carrying value of long-lived assets when circumstances dictate that they should be reevaluated, based upon the expected future operating cash flows of our business or other factors that trigger an evaluation for potential impairment. The evaluation of the undiscounted results of any impairment evaluation is based upon our expected future cash flows. These future undiscounted cash flow estimates are based on historical results, adjusted to reflect our best estimate of future markets and operating conditions, and are updated based on actual operating trends. Historically, actual results have occasionally differed from our estimated future cash flow estimates. In the future, actual results may differ materially from these estimates and accordingly cause impairment of our long-lived assets.

In accordance with ASC Topic 360, we conduct an assessment of the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31 of each year, based on weighting estimates of future cash flows from the reporting units or estimates of the market value of the reporting units, based on comparable companies. We also perform impairment analyses whenever events or circumstances indicate that goodwill or certain intangibles may be impaired. Currently our reporting units are the same as our operating segments. These estimates of future discounted cash flows are based upon historical results, adjusted to reflect our best estimate of future market and operating conditions. Historically, actual results have occasionally differed from our estimated future cash flow estimates. In the future, actual results may differ materially from these estimates. In addition, the comparable companies used to establish market value for our reporting units is based on management's judgment. As discussed above, we expect to experience a significant reduction in revenue for the next several years. However, we do not expect a material change in cash flows, and as a result, do not expect to recognize an impairment of our recorded goodwill.

The timing and size of any future impairment charges involves the application of our estimates and judgment and could result in the impairment of all, or substantially all, of our goodwill, intangible assets or other long-lived assets.

## **Computer Software Development Costs**

Certain computer software development costs are capitalized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Capitalization of computer software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility. In accordance with ASC 985-20, "Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed," we define the establishment of technological feasibility as the completion of a detail program design. Amortization of capitalized computer software development costs is provided on a product-by-product basis using (a) the greater of the amount computed using the ratio that current gross revenue for a product bears to total of current and anticipated future gross revenue for that product or (b) the straight-line method, beginning upon commercial release of the product, and continuing over the remaining estimated economic life of the product, not to exceed three years. Software for internal use is capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40, "Intangibles Goodwill and Other—Internal Use Software." At each balance sheet date, we evaluate the unamortized capitalized

software costs for potential impairment by assessing our ability to recover the remaining capitalized costs in light of past and future product revenue.

### Loss Contingencies

The outcomes of legal proceedings and claims brought against us are subject to significant uncertainty. We accrue estimated liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other sources when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim, assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated. Disclosure of a contingency is required if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred. In determining whether a loss should be accrued we evaluate, among other factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Change in these factors could materially impact our consolidated financial statements.

Under the terms of substantially all of our license agreements, we have agreed to indemnify customers for costs and damages arising from claims against such customers based on, among other things, allegations that our software products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party. In most cases, in the event of an infringement claim, we retain the right to procure for the customer the right to continue using the software product or to replace or modify the software product to eliminate the infringement while providing substantially equivalent functionality. If neither of those actions can be reasonably achieved, we may terminate the license agreement and provide a refund to the customer. These indemnification provisions are accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 460. The likelihood that we will be required to make refunds to customers under these indemnification provisions is considered remote. In most cases, and where legally enforceable, the indemnification refund is limited to the amount of the license fees paid by the customer.

### Accounting for Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740, *Accounting for Income Taxes*. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and statutes that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets can result from unused operating losses, and research and development and foreign tax credit carryforwards and deductions recorded for financial statement purposes prior to them being deductable on a tax return. Valuation allowances are provided against net deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the reversal of taxable temporary differences. We consider, among other available information, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, limitations on the availability of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, and other evidence assessing the potential realization of deferred tax assets. Adjustments to the valuation allowance are included in the tax provision in our consolidated statements of operations in the period they become known or can be estimated.

Significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets and liabilities. The valuation allowance is based on our estimates of taxable income for jurisdictions in which we operate and the period over which our deferred tax assets may be recoverable. Historically, our U.S. taxable income has been unpredictable and highly dependent upon closing a small number of large license transactions, the loss of which would result in a pre-tax loss.

With the adoption of our new aspenONE licensing model, we expect to recognize significantly lower revenue over the near term, which will result in substantial pre-tax losses. Consequently, we have concluded that it is appropriate to maintain our U.S. valuation allowance. When our U.S. tax

profitability becomes more predictable we may reverse some or all of the valuation allowance of \$63.5 million related to our U.S. net deferred tax assets. Any such reversal would be recorded as an income tax benefit in the consolidated statements of operations in the period when the utilization of deferred tax assets is determined to be more likely than not.

For fiscal 2010, our income tax provision included amounts determined under the provisions of FIN 48, *Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions* (currently included as provisions of ASC Topic 740), which was adopted as of July 1, 2007 and is intended to satisfy additional income tax assessments, including interest and penalties, that could result from any tax return positions for which the likelihood of sustaining the position on audit does not meet a threshold of "more likely than not." The tax accrual included penalties and interest, which were recorded as a component of our income tax expense. Tax liabilities under FIN 48 were recorded as a component of our income taxes payable and other non-current liabilities balance and totaled \$23.4 million as of June 30, 2010. The ultimate amount of taxes due will not be known until examinations are completed and settled or the audit periods are closed by statute.

Our U.S. and foreign tax returns are subject to periodic compliance examinations by various local and national tax authorities through periods defined by the tax code in the applicable jurisdiction. The years prior to 2007 are closed in the United States, although the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits generated in earlier periods will keep these periods open for examination. Similarly, the years prior to 2008 are closed in the United Kingdom, although the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards generated in earlier periods will keep the periods open for examination. Our Canadian subsidiaries are subject to audit from 2007 forward, and certain other of our international subsidiaries are subject to audit from 2003 forward. In connection with examinations of tax filings, tax contingencies can arise from differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations relative to the amount, timing or proper inclusion or exclusion of revenue and expenses in taxable income or loss. For periods that remain subject to audit, we have asserted and unasserted potential assessments that are subject to final tax settlements.

#### **Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements**

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued ASC Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures*, which enhances existing guidance for measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. ASC Topic 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB permitted companies to partially defer the effective date of ASC Topic 820 for one year for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis. We adopted ASC Topic 820 on July 1, 2008. The adoption of ASC Topic 820 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2010-06, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements*. This ASU requires new disclosures including significant transfers into and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and a reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements including purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis. It also clarifies existing disclosures regarding the level of disaggregation, inputs and valuation techniques. We adopted ASU No. 2010-06 during the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and it did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 855, *Subsequent Events*. ASC Topic 855 establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. ASC Topic 855 is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. We adopted ASC Topic 855 on April 1, 2009. The adoption of ASC Topic 855 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial

statements. In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-09, *Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure Requirements*. As a result of ASU No. 2010-09, ASC Topic 855 no longer requires entities to disclose the date through which subsequent events have occurred. We adopted ASU No. 2010-09 during the third quarter of fiscal 2010. The adoption of ASU No. 2010-09 did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC Topic 810, *Consolidation*, which establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent's ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. The authoritative guidance also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. ASC Topic 810 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 810 as of July 1, 2009. The adoption of ASC Topic 810 did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows as there were no minority interests reported as of June 30, 2010.

In April 2008, the FASB issued additional authoritative guidance to ASC Topic 350-30, *Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—General Intangibles Other Than Goodwill*. The guidance amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under ASC Topic 350. The updated guidance was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We adopted the provisions of our new guidance as of July 1, 2009. The adoption of our new provisions did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows, due to the immaterial value of intangibles as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, *The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles*—a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162. SFAS No. 168 stipulates the FASB Accounting Standards Codification is the source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. SFAS No. 168 is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 168 on July 1, 2009. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, *Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets*. SFAS No. 166 removes the concept of a qualifying special purpose entity from ASC Topic 860 and removes the exception from applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R). This statement also clarifies the requirements for isolation and limitations on portions of financial assets that are eligible for sale accounting. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 166 on July 1, 2010. The adoption of SFAS No. 166 did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 167, *Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)*. SFAS No. 167 amends the consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities and affects the overall consolidation analysis under FASB Interpretation No. 46(R). SFAS No. 167 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 167 on July 1, 2010. The adoption of SFAS No. 167 did not have a material impact on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13 (previously Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 08-1, *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables*). ASU No. 2009-13 superseded EITF 00-21, *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables*, to eliminate the requirement that all undelivered elements have VSOE or third-party evidence before an entity can recognize the portion of

an overall arrangement fee that is attributable to items that already have been delivered. In the absence of VSOE or third-party evidence of the standalone selling price for one or more delivered or undelivered elements in a multiple-element arrangement, entities will be required to estimate the selling prices of those elements. The overall arrangement fee will be allocated to each element (both delivered and undelivered items) based on their relative selling prices, regardless of whether those selling prices are evidenced by VSOE or third-party evidence or are based on the entity's estimated selling price. Application of the "residual method" of allocating an overall arrangement fee between delivered and undelivered elements will no longer be permitted upon adoption of ASU 2009-13. Additionally, the new guidance will require entities to disclose more information about their multiple-element revenue arrangements. ASU No. 2009-13 is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted ASU No. 2009-13 on July 1, 2010. We do not expect the adoption of ASU No. 2009-13 to have a material effect on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14 (previously EITF 09-3, *Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software Elements*). ASU No. 2009-14 amends the scope of software revenue recognition to exclude tangible products that contain both software and non-software components that function together to deliver a product's essential functionality. ASU No. 2009-14 is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted ASU No. 2009-14 on July 1, 2010. The adoption of ASU No. 2009-14 did not have a material effect on our financial operations, results of operations or cash flows.

#### BUSINESS

#### Overview

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical process optimization software solutions, which are designed to manage and optimize plant and process design, operational performance, and supply chain planning. Our aspenONE software and related services have been developed specifically for companies in the process industries, including the energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and engineering and construction industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements.

Our software incorporates our proprietary empirical models of manufacturing and planning processes and reflects the deep domain expertise we have amassed from focusing on solutions for the process industries for nearly 30 years. We have developed our applications to design and optimize processes across three principal business areas: engineering, manufacturing and supply chain. We are a recognized market and technology leader in providing process optimization software for each of these business areas.

We have more than 1,500 customers globally. Our customers include manufacturers in process industries such as energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels, as well as engineering and construction firms that help design process manufacturing plants. As of June 30, 2010, our installed base included 19 of the 20 largest petroleum companies, all of the 20 largest chemical companies, and 15 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical companies. Customers outside the United States accounted for a majority of our total revenue in each of fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, and no single customer represented 10% or more of our total revenue in fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.

We have established sustainable competitive advantages based on the breadth, flexibility and return on investment associated with our software offerings, as well as our market leadership position, our extensive process industry expertise and our established, diversified customer base. We consult and collaborate with customers to identify new applications, which leads to innovative, targeted solutions and fosters long-term customer relationships. This approach has helped us develop software solutions that are embedded in our customers' operations and integrated with their core business processes.

In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. Our new licensing model provides customers with increased access to our applications, and we believe this flexibility will lead to increased usage and revenue over time. Because we previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upon shipment of software, our revenue for fiscal 2010 was significantly less than in the preceding fiscal years. We expect that our revenue will increase as customers renew their licensing arrangements under our new licensing model. We do not expect to recognize levels of revenue comparable to prior fiscal years unless and until a significant majority of our existing license agreements have been renewed under our new licensing model.

# **Industry Background**

The process industries consist of companies that typically manufacture finished products by applying a controlled chemical process either to a raw material that is fed continuously through the plant or to a specific batch of raw material. The process industries include energy, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels as well as engineering and construction firms that design process manufacturing plants.

Process manufacturing is often complex because small changes in the feedstocks used, or to the chemical process applied, can have a significant impact on the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of

manufacturing operations. As a result, process manufacturers, as well as the engineering and construction firms that partner with these manufacturers, have extensive technical requirements and need a combination of software, services and domain expertise to help design, operate and manage manufacturing environments. The unique characteristics associated with process manufacturing create special demands for business applications that frequently exceed the capabilities of generic software applications or non-process manufacturing software packages. The process industries require sophisticated, integrated software applications capable of designing and optimizing their complex, interconnected manufacturing and business processes.

# **Industry-Specific Challenges Facing the Process Industries**

Companies in different process industries face specific challenges that are driving the need for solutions that design, operate and manage their manufacturing environments more effectively:

- Energy. The energy industry encompasses refineries as well as oil and gas exploration and production companies:
  - The refining sector is characterized by high volumes and low operating margins. Refineries are under pressure to optimize product mix, minimize inventory, and lower operating costs to improve margins in the face of volatile market conditions.
  - Exploration and production companies are targeting reserves in increasingly diverse geographic areas. They face the challenge of
    designing production platform processes effectively and managing both interconnected assets and complex supply chains, all while
    optimizing production and ensuring regulatory compliance.
- *Chemicals.* The chemicals industry includes both bulk and specialty chemical companies:
  - Bulk chemical producers, which compete primarily on price, are seeking to achieve economies of scale and manage operating margin
    pressure by building larger, more complex plants located near feedstock sources.
  - Specialty chemical manufacturers, which primarily manufacture highly differentiated customer-specific products, face challenges in
    managing their diverse product lines, multiple plants and complex supply chains. They must, for example, identify where and when to
    manufacture a product to drive maximum profitability while ensuring high quality and quick turnaround times.
- *Pharmaceuticals.* The increasing prevalence of generic drugs and expansion of regulatory requirements are driving pharmaceutical companies to improve their operational performance. They are seeking to optimize their manufacturing and distribution operations to help them meet demanding regulatory requirements, bring new products to market faster during their initial patent protection period and decrease production costs.
- Engineering and construction. Engineering and construction firms must compete on a global basis in bidding on and executing complex, large-scale projects. They need a digital environment in which plant designs can be produced quickly and efficiently using highly accurate cost estimation technology. This, in turn, requires significant collaboration not only internally but also with the manufacturer and, in some cases, other engineering and construction firms.

Similarly, companies in the consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels industries are seeking process optimization solutions to address their varied process manufacturing challenges.

# **Increasing Complexity of the Process Industries**

In addition to the technical requirements associated with the process industries, several industry trends are driving the growing complexity of these industries:

- Globalization of markets. Process manufacturers are expanding their operations beyond mature geographic markets in order to take advantage of growing demand and available feedstocks in emerging markets such as China, India, Russia, Latin America and the Middle East. Process manufacturers must be able to design, build and operate an emerging-market plant efficiently and economically. They also need to improve efficiency and reduce costs at their existing plants in mature markets in order to compete with new plants in emerging markets.
- Volatile markets. Process manufacturers must react quickly to frequent changes in feedstock prices, temporary or longer-term feedstock shortages, and rapid changes in finished product prices. Unpredictable commodity markets strain the manufacturing and supply chain operations of process manufacturers, which must consider, and when appropriate implement, changes in inventory levels, feedstock inputs, equipment usage and operational processes in order to remain competitive.
- *Increased margin pressure.* As the result of the increasingly competitive global environment, process manufacturers are seeking to design more efficient new plants and, at the same time, increase throughput and reduce costs at existing plants. These companies must optimize manufacturing operations and supply chain management, because even a relatively small change in feedstock, labor or energy costs, or in throughput, can have a significant impact on profitability.
- Shrinking engineering workforce. In mature geographic markets the number of chemical engineers is decreasing, as more engineers are retiring than are entering the process industries. Process companies are seeking information technology solutions by which they can capture and manage the knowledge acquired by their engineers through years of experience and can automate tasks traditionally performed by engineers.
- Environmental and safety regulations. Process companies must comply with an expanding array of data maintenance and reporting requirements under governmental and regulatory mandates, and the global nature of their operations can subject them to numerous regulatory regimes. These companies often face heightened scrutiny and oversight because of the environmental, safety and other implications of their products and manufacturing processes. These companies increasingly are relying upon software applications to model potential outcomes, store operating data and develop reporting capabilities.

# **Market Opportunity**

Technology solutions historically have played a major role in helping companies in the process industries improve their manufacturing productivity. In the 1980s process manufacturers implemented distributed control systems, or DCS, to automate the management of plant hardware. DCS use computer hardware, communication networks and industrial instruments to measure, record and automatically control process variables. In the 1990s these manufacturers adopted enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems to streamline back office functions and interact with DCS. This allowed process manufacturers to track, monitor and report the performance of each plant, rather than relying on traditional paper and generic word processing spreadsheets.

Many process manufacturers have implemented both DCS and ERP systems but have realized that their investments in hardware and back-office systems are inadequate. DCS are only able to control and monitor processes based on fixed sets of parameters and cannot dynamically react to changes in the manufacturing process unless instructed by end-users. ERP systems can only record what is

produced in operations. Although DCS and ERP systems help manage manufacturing performance, neither of these systems can optimize what is produced, how it is produced or where it is produced. Moreover, neither can help a process manufacturer understand how to improve its processes or how to identify opportunities to decrease operating expenses.

Process optimization software addresses the gap between DCS and ERP systems. This software focuses on optimizing the manufacturing process itself: how the process is run and the economics of that process. By connecting DCS and ERP systems with intelligent, dynamic applications, process optimization software allows a manufacturer to make better, faster economic decisions. This software can optimize a manufacturing environment by, for example, incorporating process manufacturing domain knowledge, supporting real-time decision making, and providing the ability to forecast and simulate potential actions. Furthermore, these solutions can optimize the supply chain by helping a manufacturer to understand the operating conditions in each plant, which enables a manufacturer to decide where best to manufacture products.

The market for engineering, manufacturing and supply chain process optimization software and services for the energy, chemicals and pharmaceuticals industries was \$2.4 billion in 2008, based on information from reports issued in 2009 by ARC Advisory Group. More specifically, based on this information, it is estimated that:

- the engineering market was \$443 million in 2008 and will grow 8% annually through 2013;
- the manufacturing market was \$1.7 billion in 2008 and will grow 12% annually through 2013; and
- the supply chain market was \$279 million in 2008 and will grow 5% annually through 2013.

The market for process optimization software and services is growing even more rapidly in emerging markets, as process manufacturers extend their operations to take advantage of growing demand and available feedstocks in those markets. According to the ARC reports, the market for engineering, manufacturing and supply chain software and services in all process industries in the Asia Pacific and Latin American regions is expected to grow from \$1.2 billion in 2008 to \$2.2 billion in 2013, representing a compound annual growth rate of 12%.

# aspenONE Solutions

We provide integrated process optimization software solutions designed and developed specifically for the process industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements. Our aspenONE software applications are organized into two suites, which are centered on our principal business areas of engineering, manufacturing and supply chain:

- aspenONE Engineering. Our engineering software is used on an engineer's desktop to design new plants, re-design existing plants, and simulate and optimize plant processes.
- aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain. Our manufacturing software is designed to optimize day-to-day processing activities, enabling process manufacturers to make better, more profitable decisions and to improve plant performance. Our supply chain management software is designed to enable process manufacturers to reduce inventory levels, increase asset efficiency and optimize supply chain decisions.

While a significant number of our customers have already migrated to our new aspenONE licensing model, we continue to offer customers the ability to purchase our applications as point products. By offering point products, we can acquire, retain and potentially up-sell any customer that does not want to migrate to our new licensing model.

We offer customer support, professional services and training services to our customers. Professional services are offered as a means to further customize and integrate our technology based on specific customer requirements.

The key benefits of our aspenONE solutions include:

Broad and comprehensive software suites. We believe we are the only software provider that has developed comprehensive suites of software applications addressing the engineering, manufacturing and supply chain requirements of process manufacturers. While some competitors offer solutions in one or two principal business areas, no other vendor can match the breadth of our aspenONE offerings. In addition, we have developed an extensive array of software applications that address extremely specific and complex industry and end-user challenges, such as production scheduling for petroleum companies and solubility modeling for solvent screening.

Mission-critical, integrated software solutions. aspenONE provides a standards-based framework that integrates applications, data and models within each of our software suites. Process manufacturers seeking to improve their mission-critical business operations can use the integrated software applications in the aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain suite to support real-time decision-making both for individual production facilities and across multiple sites. In addition, the common data models underlying an aspenONE suite improve collaboration and productivity by enabling data to be entered once and then maintained in a centralized repository accessible across a customer's enterprise.

Flexible commercial model. Our new aspenONE licensing model provides a customer with access to all of the applications within the aspenONE suite or suites the customer licenses. The customer can change or alternate the use of multiple applications in a licensed suite through the use of exchangeable units of measurement, or tokens, licensed in quantities determined by the customer. This enables the customer to use those applications whenever required and to experiment with different applications to best solve whatever critical business challenges the customer faces. The customer can easily increase its usage of our software as its business requirements evolve, without disrupting its business processes.

Hardware-independent technology. Our software can be easily integrated and used with equipment manufactured by any major process manufacturing hardware vendor. Because of our hardware-independent approach, customers can use our software solutions to create a unified view of their operations, even if their plants use hardware from different vendors.

# **Our Competitive Strengths**

We believe our key competitive advantages include, in addition to the comprehensive breadth of our integrated software solutions and the flexibility of our new aspenONE licensing model, the following:

*Market leadership.* We are a leader in each of the markets addressed by our software. Based on information presented in reports issued in 2009 by ARC Advisory Group relating to performance in 2008, in our core process manufacturing industries of energy, chemicals and pharmaceuticals we ranked:

- #1 in the market addressed by our engineering software;
- #2 in the market addressed by our manufacturing software; and
- #1 in the market addressed by our supply chain software.

*Industry-leading innovation based on substantial process expertise.* Over the past 30 years, we have designed a number of major process engineering advances considered to be industry-standard applications. Since our founding, we have built a highly specialized development organization

comprised of not only traditional software engineers but also chemical engineers. As of June 30, 2010, approximately 50% of our software development personnel had degrees in chemical engineering or a similar discipline. This approach provides us with substantial process industry expertise, as our developers have critical know-how that allows us to address the specific challenges of our customers.

Rapid, high return on investment. Many customers purchase our software because they believe it will provide rapid, demonstrable and significant returns on their investment. For some customers, cost reductions in the first year following installation have exceeded the total cost of our software. For many customers, even a relatively small improvement in productivity can generate substantial recurring benefits due to the large production volumes and limited profit margins typical in process industries. In addition, our solutions can generate organizational efficiencies and operational improvements that can further increase a process company's return on investment.

Established, diversified customer base. We view our installed customer base of more than 1,500 customers as an important strategic asset and as evidence of our leadership position. As of June 30, 2010, our installed base included 19 of the 20 largest petroleum companies, all of the 20 largest chemical companies, and 15 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical companies. We consult and collaborate with customers to identify new applications, which leads to innovative, targeted solutions and fosters long-term customer relationships.

## **Growth Strategy**

Our objective is to further establish and extend our position as a leading global provider of process optimization software and related services to the process industries. We intend to build upon our market and technology leadership position by pursuing the following:

Continue to provide innovative, market-leading solutions. We have pioneered a number of industry standard and award-winning software applications. For example, AspenPlus, our process modeling tool for the chemicals industry, has won the *Chemical Processing* magazine Readers' Choice Award for "Process Simulation Software" for the last seven years. We have been recognized by *R&D Magazine* for innovation in out of the box modeling capabilities that we developed with the National Institute of Standards and Technology. Our recent innovations include applications for electrolyte and biofuel characterizations and methodologies for carbon management. We intend to continue to invest in research and development in order to develop and offer new and enhanced solutions for our aspenONE suites.

Further penetrate existing customer base. We have an installed base of over 1,500 customers, but many customers do not use all of our products and services. We intend to target customers that use only one of our aspenONE suites or that do not extensively utilize our professional services and training capabilities. In addition, we believe that many of our customers do not take full advantage of the applications in the aspenONE suite they currently license. As we transition these customers to our new aspenONE licensing model, we will seek to identify ways in which they can improve their business processes by using the entire licensed suite of aspenONE applications, both at an individual user level and across all of their plant locations.

Expand presence in emerging markets. Companies in the process industries are expanding their operations to take advantage of growing demand and available feedstocks in less mature markets such as China, India, Russia, Latin America and the Middle East. Additionally, process manufacturers with existing plants in these markets are beginning to recognize the value of upgrading their operations to take advantage of process optimization solutions. We historically have derived a significant portion of our total revenue from outside of North America, and we believe we can further extend our international presence by penetrating emerging markets. We have, for example, recently established a direct sales force and customer support capabilities for Russia and the Middle East.

Extend vertical reach and indirect sales channel. We historically focused on the energy, chemicals, and engineering and construction industries and in recent years have increasingly targeted the pharmaceutical industry. We intend to expand beyond our core vertical industries, in part by further developing our indirect channel. We are seeking to develop relationships with third-party resellers that have a presence in certain non-core verticals such as power, consumer package goods, pulp and paper, minerals and mining, and biofuels. We believe these relationships will enable us to reach companies in additional process industries cost effectively and to leverage our indirect channel partners' market experience and domain expertise in those industries.

#### **Products**

Our integrated process optimization software solutions are designed and developed specifically for the process industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements.

We have designed and developed our software applications across three principal business areas:

- Engineering. Process manufacturers must address a variety of challenges related to strategic planning, collaborative engineering, economic evaluation, debottlenecking and operational improvement. They must, for example, determine where they should locate facilities, how they can lower manufacturing costs, what they should produce and how they can maximize plant efficiency. Our engineering software applications are used during both the design and the ongoing operation of plant facilities to model and improve the way engineers develop and deploy manufacturing assets. In the design phase, for example, our software supports proposal generation, develops highly accurate cost estimates, generates detailed implementation schedules and manages change orders. Our engineering solutions include desktop and server applications that typically do not require substantial professional services, although services may be provided for customized model designs and process synthesis.
- Manufacturing. Process manufacturers must address a wide range of manufacturing challenges such as optimizing execution efficiency, reducing costs, selecting the right raw materials, scheduling and coordinating production processes, and identifying an appropriate balance between turnaround times, delivery schedules, cost and inventory. Our manufacturing software products focus on optimizing day-to-day processing activities, enabling customers to make better, faster decisions that lead to improved plant performance and operating results. These solutions include desktop and server applications that help customers make real-time decisions, which can reduce fixed and variable costs and improve product yields.
- Supply chain management. Process manufacturers must address numerous challenges as they strive to effectively and efficiently manage raw
  materials inventory, production schedules and feedstock purchasing decisions. Supply chain managers face these challenges in an environment of
  ever-changing market prices, supply constraints and customer demands. Our supply chain management solutions include desktop and server
  applications that help customers optimize critical supply chain decisions in order to reduce inventory, increase asset efficiency, and respond more
  quickly to changing market conditions.

Our software products can be linked with a customer's DCS and ERP systems to further improve the customer's ability to gather, analyze and use the resulting information across the customer's business processes. By integrating our solutions with their DCS and ERP systems, customers can utilize historical data and develop new models to project and simulate future operational behavior, throughput performance, economic value and profitability.

Our software applications are organized into two suites: aspenONE Engineering and aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain. These suites are integrated applications that allow end-users to utilize common data models to design process manufacturing environments, forecast and simulate potential actions, monitor operational performance, and manage planning and scheduling activities. The two suites are designed around core modules and applications that allow customers to design, manage and operate their process manufacturing environments, as shown below:

# aspenONE Engineering

<b>Business Area</b>	aspenONE Module	Major Products	Product Descriptions
Engineering	Engineering	Aspen Plus	Process modeling software for conceptual design, optimization and performance monitoring for the chemicals industry
		Aspen HYSYS	Process modeling software for conceptual design, optimization and performance monitoring for the energy industry
		Aspen Basic Engineering	Workflow tool that allows engineers to build, re-use and share process models and data
		Aspen Economic Evaluation	Economic evaluation software for estimating costs of conceptual process designs
		Aspen Exchanger Design and Rating	Software used to design, simulate and optimize the performance of heat exchangers

# aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain

Business Area Manufacturing	aspenONE Module Production Management & Execution	Major Products Aspen InfoPlus.21	Product Descriptions  Data historian software that collects and stores large volumes of data for analysis and reporting
	Advanced Process Control	Aspen DMCplus	Multi-variable controller software capable of processing multiple constraints simultaneously
Supply Chain	Planning & Scheduling	Aspen Collaborative Demand Manager	Enterprise solution for forecasting market demand
		aspenONE Planning & Scheduling for Olefins	Software that enables olefins producers to optimize the purchase, management and processing of feedstocks
		Aspen Petroleum Scheduler	Integrated system that supports comprehensive scheduling and optimization of refinery activities
		Aspen PIMS	Enterprise planning software that optimizes feedstock evaluation, product slate and operational execution
		Aspen Plant Scheduler	Plant scheduling software that optimizes production scheduling
		Aspen Supply Chain Planner	Software for determining what to produce given product demands, inventory, and manufacturing and distribution constraints
	Supply & Distribution	Aspen Inventory Management & Operations Scheduling	Enterprise solution that allows users to manage their supply and demand balancing, inventory and scheduling
		Aspen Petroleum Supply Chain Planner	Economic planning tool that solves multi-commodity, multi-period transportation optimization problems
		Aspen Fleet Optimizer	Enterprise solution for inventory management and truck transportation optimization
			78

Our product development activities are currently focused on strengthening the integration of our applications and adding new capabilities that address specific mission-critical operational business processes in each industry. As of June 30, 2010, we had a total of 400 employees in our research and development group, which is comprised of software development and quality assurance personnel. As of June 30, 2010, approximately 50% of our research and development group had degrees in chemical engineering or a similar discipline. We incurred research and development expense of \$48.2 million in fiscal 2010, \$46.4 million in fiscal 2009 and \$49.9 million in fiscal 2008.

## **Maintenance and Training**

Maintenance consists primarily of providing customer technical support and access to software fixes and upgrades. Under our new aspenONE licensing model, maintenance is bundled with our licenses and is required for all customers who purchase our aspenONE suites. Customer technical support services are provided throughout the world by our three global call centers as well as via email and through our support website.

We offer a variety of training solutions ranging from standardized training, which can be delivered in a public forum, on-site at a customer's location or over the Internet, to customized training sessions, which can be tailored to fit customer needs. As of June 30, 2010, we had a total of 147 employees in our customer support and training group.

## **Professional Services**

We offer professional services focused on implementation of our solution. Our professional services team primarily consists of project engineers with degrees in chemical engineering or a similar discipline, or who have significant relevant industry experience. Our employees include experts in fields such as thermophysical properties, distillation, adsorption processes, polymer processes, industrial reactor modeling, the identification of empirical models for process control or analysis, large-scale optimization, supply distribution systems modeling and scheduling methods. The services provided by our professional services team include implementing and integrating our software applications for customers that are seeking to integrate our technology with their existing systems in order to further improve their plant performance and gain better operational data. We offer our services on either a time-and-material or fixed-price basis. As of June 30, 2010, we had a total of 181 employees in our professional services group.

#### **Customers**

Our software solutions are installed at the facilities of more than 1,500 customers worldwide. These customers include process manufacturers and the engineering and construction firms that provide services to them. Our customers include:

BP International Ltd Exxon Mobil Corporation Flint Hills Resources, LLC Instituto Mexicano del Petroleo (PEMEX) Marathon Oil Corporation Occidential Petroleum Corporation OMV Group Petróleos de Venezuela S.A. (PDVSA) Repsol YPF, S.A. Saudi Arabian Oil Co. (SaudiAramco) Shell Oil Company Statoil ASA Suncor Energy Inc. Total S.A

Chemicals

Air Liquide BASF China Petrochemical International Co. Ltd The Dow Chemical Company Lyondell Chemical Company Mitsubishi Chemical USA, Inc. Saudi Basic Industries Corp (SABIC) Suid Afrikaanse Steenkool en Olie (Sasol)

**Engineering and Construction** 

The Bechtel Group, Inc. Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. KBR, Inc. Technip SA Técnicas Reunidas, S.A. WorleyParsons Limited

Pharmaceutical

Bayer Technology Services GmbH Bristol-Myers Squibb Eli Lilly & Company Pfizer, Inc.

Other Cargill, Incorporated Lefarge North America Inc.

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue in fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.

#### Sales and Marketing

Valero Energy Corp.

We employ a value-based sales approach, offering our customers a comprehensive suite of software and services that enhance the efficiency and productivity of their engineering, manufacturing and supply chain operations. We have increasingly focused on selling our products as a strategic investment for our customers and therefore devote an increasing portion of our sales efforts at senior management levels, including senior decision makers in manufacturing, operations and technology. Our aspenONE solution strategy supports this value-based approach by broadening the scope of optimization across the entire enterprise and expanding the use of process models in the operations environment. In particular, we offer a variety of training programs focused on illustrating the capabilities of our applications and intend to implement compensatory programs for our sales force that will reward efforts that increase customer usage of currently licensed products.

Historically, most of our license sales have been generated through our direct sales force. Because the complexity and cost of our products often result in extended sales cycles, we believe that the development of long-term, consultative relationships with our customers is essential to a successful sales strategy. To develop these relationships, we focus our worldwide sales force on a defined set of strategic accounts. In North America we have organized our sales force around specific vertical markets. In the rest of the world the sales force is organized around specific countries or regions.

In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which customers receive access to all of the applications within the aspenONE suite or suites they license. This affords customers the ability to use our software whenever required and to experiment with different applications to best solve whatever critical business challenges they face. Customers can easily increase their usage of our software as their business requirements evolve, without disrupting their business processes. We believe our new licensing model will further enable our sales force to develop consultative sales relationships with our customers.

In order to market the specific functionality and other complex technical features of our software, our account managers work with specialized teams of technical sales engineers and product specialists organized for each sales and marketing effort. Our technical sales engineers typically have advanced degrees in chemical engineering or related disciplines and actively consult with a customer's plant engineers. Product specialists share their detailed knowledge of the specific features of our software solutions as they apply to the unique business processes of different vertical industries. In addition, we have a limited number of global account managers, each of whom is focused on a specific global account. Our overall sales force, which consists of quota-carrying sales account managers, sales services personnel, business support engineers, partner organization personnel, industry business unit professionals, marketing personnel and support staff, consisted of 333 employees as of June 30, 2010.

We supplement our direct sales efforts with a variety of marketing initiatives, including industry analyst and public relations activities, campaigns to promote awareness, user group meetings and customer relationship programs. We have established reseller relationships with select companies that we believe can help us increase sales in specific regions and non-core target markets.

We also license our software products to universities that agree to use our products in teaching and research. We believe that students' familiarity with our products will stimulate future demand once the students enter the workplace.

#### Competition

Our markets in general are highly competitive, and we expect the intensity of competition in our markets to increase as existing competitors enhance and expand their product and service offerings and as new participants enter the market. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced profitability and loss of market share. We cannot ensure that we will be able to compete successfully against existing or future competitors. Some of our customers and companies with which we have strategic relationships also are, or may become, competitors.

Many of our current and potential competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other resources than we have. As a result, these companies may be able to offer lower prices, additional products or services, or other incentives that we cannot match or offer. These competitors may be in a stronger position to respond more quickly to new technologies and may be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns. We believe they also have adopted and may continue to pursue more aggressive pricing policies and make more attractive offers to potential customers, employees and strategic partners. For example, some competitors may be able to initiate relationships through sales and installations of hardware and then seek to expand their customer relationships by offering process optimization software at a discount.

In addition, many of our competitors have established, and may in the future continue to establish, cooperative relationships with third parties to improve their product offerings and to increase the availability of their products in the marketplace. Competitors with greater financial resources may make strategic acquisitions to increase their ability to gain market share or improve the quality or marketability of their products.

Our primary competitors differ among our principal product areas:

- Our engineering software competes with products of businesses such as ABB Ltd., Chemstations, Inc., Honeywell International, Inc., Invensys plc, KBC Advanced Technologies plc, and Shell Global Solutions International BV.
- Our manufacturing software competes with products of companies such as ABB Ltd., Honeywell International, Inc., Invensys plc, OSIsoft, Inc., Rockwell Automation, Inc., Siemens AG and Yokogawa Electric Corporation.

 Our supply chain management software competes with products of companies such as JDA Software Group, Inc., Oracle Corporation and SAP AG.

In addition, we face challenges in selling our solutions to large companies in the process industries that have internally developed their own proprietary software solutions.

We believe the key competitive differentiator in our industry is the value, or return on investment, that our software and services provide. We seek to develop and offer integrated suites of targeted, high-value vertical industry solutions that can be implemented with relatively limited service requirements. We believe this approach provides us with an advantage over many of our competitors that offer software products that are point solutions or are more service-based. The principal competitive factors in our industry also include:

- breadth, depth and integration of software offerings;
- domain expertise of sales and service personnel;
- consistent global support;
- performance and reliability;
- price; and
- time to market.

# **Key License Agreements**

# Massachusetts Institute of Technology

In March 1982 we entered into a System License Agreement with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, or MIT, under which we received a worldwide, perpetual non-exclusive license (with the right to sublicense) to use, reproduce, distribute and create derivative works of the computer programs known as "ASPEN" and the related documentation. The ASPEN program licensed from MIT provides a framework for simulating the steady-state behavior of chemical processes that we utilize in the simulation engine for our Aspen Plus product. MIT has agreed that we would own any derivative works and enhancements of ASPEN that we may create during the term of the agreement. A one-time license fee of \$30,000 has been paid in full. MIT has the right to terminate the agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events: if we breach the agreement and do not cure the breach within 90 days after receiving a written notice from MIT; if we cease to carry on our business; if proceedings under any bankruptcy or insolvency law are commenced by or against us and not dismissed within 90 days; if we make an assignment for the benefit of our creditors and such assignment is not discontinued within 90 days; or if a receiver is appointed for us and is not discharged within 90 days. In the event of such termination, our license to ASPEN will terminate but the sublicenses granted to our customers prior to termination will remain in effect.

## Honeywell

In December 2004 we entered into a consent decree with the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, with respect to a civil administrative complaint filed by the FTC in August 2003 alleging that our acquisition of Hyprotech Ltd. and related subsidiaries of AEA Technology plc, which we refer to collectively as Hyprotech, in May 2002 was anticompetitive in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act and Section 7 of the Clayton Act. In connection with the consent decree, we and our subsidiaries Hyprotech Company, AspenTech Canada Ltd., AspenTech Ltd. and Hyprotech UK Ltd. entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Honeywell International Inc. and its subsidiaries Honeywell Control Systems Limited and Honeywell Limited-Honeywell Limitee, which we refer to collectively as Honeywell. Pursuant to that agreement and the related ancillary agreements, we

sold to Honeywell assets, including intellectual property rights, relating to our operator training business and our Hyprotech engineering software products. Under the terms of the transactions:

- we retained a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free non-exclusive license (with the limited rights to sublicense) to the Hyprotech engineering software and have the right to continue to develop and sell the Hyprotech engineering products; and
- we retained certain agreements with third parties other than customers or distributors for HYSYS and related products.

We are subject to ongoing compliance obligations under the FTC consent decree. In July 2009, we announced that the FTC closed an investigation relating to the alleged violations of the decree, and issued an order modifying the consent decree, which became final in August 2009. The modification requires that we continue to provide the ability for users to save input variable case data for Aspen HYSYS and Aspen HYSYS Dynamics software in a standard "portable" format, which will make it easier for users to transfer case data from later versions of the products to earlier versions. We also must provide documentation to Honeywell of the Aspen HYSYS and Aspen HYSYS Dynamics input variables, as well as documentation of the covered heat exchange products. These requirements will apply to all existing and future versions of the covered products released prior to December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2016, at the option of Honeywell. In addition, we are required to provide to Honeywell a license to modify and distribute (in object code form) certain versions of our flare system analyzer software.

There is no assurance that the actions required by the FTC's modified order and related settlement with Honeywell will not provide Honeywell with additional competitive advantages that could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

## **Intellectual Property**

We regard our software as proprietary. Our strategy is to rely on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, and to rely on license and confidentiality agreements, and software security measures to further protect our proprietary technology and brand. The laws of many countries in which our products are licensed may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

We have obtained or applied for patent protection with respect to some of our intellectual property, but generally do not rely on patents as a principal means of protecting intellectual property. As of June 30, 2010 we owned twenty-five patents issued in the United States, four patent applications pending in the United States, and foreign counterparts to several of these cases.

We conduct business under our trademarks and use trademarks on some of our products. We believe that having distinctive marks may be an important factor in marketing our products. We have registered or applied to register some of our significant trademarks in the United States and in selected other countries. Although we have a foreign trademark registration program for selected marks, the laws of many countries protect trademarks solely on the basis of registration and we may not be able to register or use such marks in each foreign country in which we seek registration. We actively monitor use of our trademarks and have and will enforce our rights to our trademarks.

We rely on trade secrets to protect certain of our technology. We generally seek to protect these trade secrets by entering into non-disclosure agreements with our employees and customers, and historically have restricted access to our software source code and licenses, which we regard as proprietary information. In certain cases, we have provided copies of source code to customers for the purpose of special product customization or have deposited copies of the source code in third-party escrow accounts as security for ongoing service and license obligations. In these cases, we rely on

non-disclosure and other contractual provisions to protect our proprietary rights. Trade secrets may be difficult to protect, and it is possible that parties may breach their confidentiality agreements with us.

The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to deter misappropriation of our technology or independent development by others of technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. Any misappropriation of our technology or development of competitive technologies could harm our business. We could incur substantial costs in protecting and enforcing our intellectual property rights.

Third parties have asserted, and may assert in the future, claims that our products infringe patents or patent applications under which we do not hold licenses or other rights. Third parties may own or control these patents and patent applications in the United States and abroad. These third parties have brought, and could in the future bring, claims against us that would cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could cause us to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement suit were brought against us, we could be forced to stop or delay manufacturing or sales of the product that is the subject of the suit before or after the suit is decided on the merits. In addition, we could be forced to redesign a product that uses an allegedly infringing technology. The cost to us of any patent litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial and may require significant commitments of time by our management.

We believe that the success of our business depends more on the quality of our proprietary software products, technology, processes and know-how than on trademarks, copyrights or patents. While we consider our intellectual property rights to be valuable, we do not believe that our competitive position in the industry is dependent simply on obtaining legal protection for our software products and technology. Instead, we believe that the success of our business depends primarily on our ability to maintain a leadership position by developing proprietary software products, technology, information, processes and know-how. Nevertheless, we attempt to protect our intellectual property rights with respect to our products and development processes through trademark, copyright and patent registrations, both foreign and domestic, whenever appropriate as part of our ongoing research and development activities.

## **Employees**

As of June 30, 2010, we had a total of 1,289 full-time employees, of whom approximately 700 were located in the United States. None of our employees is represented by a labor union, except for 9 employees of our subsidiary Hyprotech UK Limited who belong to the Prospect union for professionals. We have experienced no work stoppages and believe that our employee relations are satisfactory.

#### **Facilities**

Our principal executive offices are located in leased facilities in Burlington, Massachusetts, consisting of approximately 75,000 square feet of office space. Our lease expires in February 2015. These facilities accommodate our product development, sales, marketing, operations and finance and administrative activities. Subject to the terms and conditions of the lease, we may extend the term of the lease for two successive terms of five years each at 95% of the thencurrent market rate. As of June 30, 2010, under the lease, we had total non-cancelable lease obligations of \$9.4 million. We also will pay additional rent for our proportionate share of operating costs and taxes.

Prior to September 1, 2007, our principal offices occupied 110,843 square feet of office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The lease of this office space expires on September 30, 2012. As of June 30, 2010, we had multiple agreements, which expire through 2012, to sublease 95,093 square feet of this former office space. We also lease space for our Houston, Texas facilities. This lease encompasses 76,315 square feet and expires in July 2016. We have an agreement, which expires in 2016, to sublease approximately 8,000 square feet of this space. In addition to these two facilities, we also lease office space in Shanghai, China; Reading, England; and other locations.

We do not own any real property. We believe that our leased facilities are adequate for our anticipated future needs.

# **Legal Proceedings**

## ATME Arbitration and Litigation

Prior to October 6, 2009, we had an exclusive reseller relationship covering certain countries in the Middle East with AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., a Kuwaiti corporation (now known as Advanced Technology Middle East W.L.L.) that we refer to below as ATME. Under the reseller agreement, we had the right to terminate for, among other things, a material breach in the event of ATME's willful misconduct or fraud. Effective October 6, 2009, we terminated the reseller relationship for material breach by ATME based on certain actions of ATME.

On November 2, 2009, ATME commenced an action in the Queen's Bench Division (Commercial Court) of the High Court of Justice (England & Wales) captioned In The Matter Of An Intended Arbitration Between AspenTech Middle East W.L.L. and Aspen Technology, Inc., 2009 Folio 1436, seeking preliminary injunctive relief restraining us from taking any steps to impede ATME from serving as our exclusive reseller in the countries covered by the reseller agreement with ATME. We filed evidence in opposition to that request for relief on November 12, 2009. At a hearing on November 13, 2009, the court dismissed ATME's application for preliminary injunctive relief. The court sealed an Order to this effect on November 23, 2009, and further ordered that ATME pay our costs of claim.

Relatedly, on November 11, 2009, we filed a request for arbitration against ATME in the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce, captioned Aspen Technology, Inc. v. AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., Case No. 16732/VRO. Our request for arbitration asserted claims against ATME seeking a declaration that ATME committed a material breach of our agreement and that our termination of our agreement was lawful, and seeking damages for ATME's willful misconduct in connection with the reseller relationship. On November 18, 2009, ATME filed its answer to that request for arbitration and asserted counterclaims against us seeking a declaratory judgment that we unlawfully terminated our agreement with ATME and seeking damages for breach of contract by reason of our purported unlawful termination of our agreement. Our reply to those counterclaims was filed on December 18, 2009.

We expect a determination to be made in the second half of fiscal 2011 with respect to the pending arbitration. However, we can provide no assurance as to the actual timing or outcome of the arbitration. In general, neither party will have the ability to appeal the determination reached. Regardless of the outcome, the proceedings may result in significant legal expenses and may require significant attention and resources of management, all of which could result in losses and damages that have a material adverse effect on our business. The reseller agreement with ATME contained a provision whereby we could be liable for a termination fee if the agreement were terminated other than for material breach. This fee is to be calculated based on a formula contained in the reseller agreement that we believe was originally developed based on certain assumptions about the future financial performance of ATME, as well as ATME's actual financial performance. Based on the formula and the financial information provided to us by ATME, which we have not yet verified independently, a recent calculation based on the formula would result in a termination fee of between \$60 million and

\$77 million. Under the terminated reseller agreement, no termination fee is owed on termination for material breach. If we are found to have breached the terms of our agreement with ATME, we could be liable for the termination fee, the amount of which may be greater or less than the number indicated above. If we are found liable, we would incur damages that could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow and cash position. We intend to pursue our claims against ATME, and to defend the counterclaim by ATME, vigorously.

On March 11, 2010, a Kuwaiti entity (known as ATME Group and affiliated with ATME) filed a lawsuit in a Kuwaiti court naming as defendants ATME, us and a reseller newly appointed by us in Kuwait. In this lawsuit, ATME Group claims that it was an exclusive reseller for ATME in Kuwait and that it therefore is entitled to damages resulting from purported customer contracts in Kuwait. We intend to defend this action vigorously.

# Class Action and Opt-out Claims

In March 2006, we settled class action litigation, including related derivative claims, arising out of our originally filed consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2000 through 2004, the accounting for which we restated in March 2005. Certain members of the class (representing 1,457,969 shares of common stock (or less than 1% of the shares putatively purchased during the class action period)) opted out of the settlement and had the right to bring their own state or federal law claims against us, referred to as "opt-out" claims. Opt-out claims were filed on behalf of the holders of approximately 1.1 million of such shares. One of these actions was settled and three were dismissed. The claims in the remaining actions (described below) include claims against us and one or more of our former officers alleging securities and common law fraud, breach of contract, deceptive practices and/or rescissory damages liability, based on the restated results of one or more fiscal periods included in our restated consolidated financial statements referenced in the class action.

- Herbert G. and Eunice E. Blecker, et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., et al., filed in June 2006 in the Business Litigation Session of the Massachusetts Superior Court for Suffolk County and docketed as Civ. A. No. 06-2357-BLS1, was an opt-out claim asserted by persons who received 248,411 shares of our common stock in an acquisition. Fact discovery in this action closed in July 2008, and a non-jury trial was conducted in November 2009. In January 2010, the court issued its order granting judgment in our favor and dismissing the case. In February 2010, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the judgment. We intend to continue to defend this action vigorously.
- 380544 Canada, Inc., et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., filed on February 15, 2007 in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York and docketed as Civ. A. No. 1:07-cv-01204-JFK in that court, is a claim asserted by persons who purchased 566,665 shares of our common stock in a private placement. Certain motions to dismiss filed by other defendants were resolved on May 5, 2009, and discovery is in process. The claims in the 380544 Canada action are for damages totaling at least \$4.0 million, not including claims for attorneys' fees. We plan to defend the 380544 Canada action vigorously.

We can provide no assurance as to the outcome of these cases or the likelihood of the filing of additional opt-out claims, and these claims may result in judgments against us for significant damages. Regardless of the outcome, such litigation has resulted in the past, and may continue to result in the future, in significant legal expenses and may require significant attention and resources of management, all of which could result in losses and damages that have a material adverse effect on our business.

# Other Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are also from time to time involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations, proceedings, and threats of litigation consisting of intellectual property, commercial and other matters. The results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, and unfavorable resolutions are possible and could materially affect our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. In addition, regardless of the outcome, litigation could have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

While the outcome of these proceedings and claims identified above cannot be predicted with certainty, there are no other matters, as of June 30, 2010, that, in the opinion of management, might have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### MANAGEMENT

#### **Executive Officers and Directors**

## **Biographical Information**

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and directors, including their ages, as of August 16, 2010:

Name	Age	Position
Mark E. Fusco	49	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mark P. Sullivan	54	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Antonio J. Pietri	45	Executive Vice President, Field Operations
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	51	Executive Vice President, Sales and Strategy
Frederic G. Hammond	50	Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Donald P. Casey	64	Director
Gary E. Haroian	58	Director
Stephen M. Jennings	49	Director
Joan C. McArdle	58	Director
David M. McKenna	43	Director
Michael Pehl	49	Director

Mark E. Fusco has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2005 and as one of our directors since 2003. Mr. Fusco served as president and chief operating officer of Ajilon Consulting, an IT consulting firm, from May 2002 to January 2005, and as executive vice president of Ajilon Consulting from 1999 to 2002. Mr. Fusco was a co-founder of Software Quality Partners, an IT consulting firm specializing in software quality assurance and testing that was acquired by Ajilon Consulting in 1999, and served as president of Software Quality Partners from 1994 to 1999. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Fusco also served as president of Analysis and Computer Systems, Inc., a producer of simulation and test equipment for digital communications in the defense industry. Mr. Fusco was a professional ice hockey player for the Hartford Whalers of the National Hockey League, and was a member of the 1984 U.S. Olympic ice hockey team. He holds a B.A. in Economics from Harvard College and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration. We believe Mr. Fusco's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his extensive knowledge of our business, his experience in founding and building technology companies as well as his corporate vision and operational knowledge, which provide strategic guidance to the board of directors. As our President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Fusco provides essential insight and guidance to our board of directors from an insider perspective of our day-to-day operations. In addition, Mr. Fusco's experience in senior management positions at various other companies brings beneficial leadership and operational experience to our board of directors.

Mark P. Sullivan has served as our Executive Vice President since August 2010 and Chief Financial Officer since July 2009. Mr. Sullivan previously served as our Senior Vice President from July 2009 to July 2010. He served as a financial consultant to our company from March 2009 through June 2009. From 1994 to December 2008, Mr. Sullivan served in various financial executive positions at Fidelity Investments, a diversified financial services company. From 1987 to 1993, he served as Chief Operating Officer and Principal Finance and Accounting Officer at Westerbeke Corporation, a manufacturer of generators, diesel propulsion engines and other power solutions for commercial and recreational marine applications. During 1987, he served as Consulting Manager in the Business Investigatory Services group of Coopers & Lybrand Company, a public accounting and professional services firm which merged with Price Waterhouse in 1998 to form PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. From 1980 to 1987, he held a number of financial leadership roles with Analog Devices, Inc., a manufacturer of analog, mixed-signal and digital signal processing integrated circuits used in industrial, communication,

computer and consumer applications. He holds a B.A. from Middlebury College and an M.S. in Management from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Antonio J. Pietri has served as our Executive Vice President, Field Operations since July 2007. Mr. Pietri served as our Senior Vice President and Managing Director for our Asia-Pacific region from 2002 to June 2007 and held various other positions with our company from 1996 until 2002. From 1992 to 1996, he was at Setpoint Systems, Inc., which we acquired, and before that he worked at ABB Simcon and AECTRA Refining and Marketing, Inc. He holds an M.B.A. from the University of Houston and a B.S. in Chemical Engineering from the University of Tulsa.

Manolis E. Kotzabasakis has served as our Executive Vice President, Sales and Strategy since August 2010. Mr. Kotzabasakis served as our Senior Vice President, Sales and Strategy from July 2007 to July 2010; our Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Business Development from January 2005 to June 2007; Senior Vice President, Marketing and Strategy from July 2004 to December 2004; Senior Vice President, Engineering Business Unit from September 2002 to June 2004; Vice President of our Aspen Engineering Suite of Products, Research and Development from 1998 to 2002; and Director of our Advanced Process Design Group from 1997 to 1998. He holds a B.Sc. in Chemical Engineering from the National Technical University of Athens and an M.Sc. and Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from the University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology.

Frederic G. Hammond has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since July 2005. From February to June 2005, Mr. Hammond was a partner at the law firm of Hinckley, Allen & Snyder LLP in Boston, Massachusetts. From 1999 through August 2004, Mr. Hammond served as vice president, business affairs and general counsel of Gomez Advisors, Inc., a performance management and benchmarking technology services firm. From 1992 to 1999, Mr. Hammond served as general counsel of Avid Technology, Inc., a provider of digital media creation, management and distribution solutions. Prior to 1992, Mr. Hammond was an attorney with the law firm of Ropes & Gray LLP in Boston, Massachusetts. He holds a B.A. from Yale College and a J.D. from Boston College Law School.

Donald P. Casey has served as one of our directors since 2004. Since 2001, Mr. Casey has been an information strategy and operations consultant to technology and financial services companies. From 2000 to 2001, Mr. Casey served as president and chief operating officer of Exodus Communications, Inc., an Internet infrastructure services provider. From 1991 to 1999, Mr. Casey served as chief technology officer and president of Wang Global, Inc. Mr. Casey previously held executive management positions at Lotus Development Corporation, Apple Computer, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation. He holds a B.S. in Mathematics from St. Francis College. We believe Mr. Casey's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his many years of experience in the software industry, much of it with business software companies. His experience includes executive management and development roles. We believe Mr. Casey's extensive industry knowledge and industry perspective are beneficial for the board of directors.

Gary E. Haroian has served as one of our directors since 2003. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Haroian served in various positions, including as chief financial officer, chief operating officer and chief executive officer, at Bowstreet, Inc., a provider of software application tools. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Haroian served as senior vice president of finance and administration and chief financial officer of Concord Communications, Inc., a network management software company. From 1983 to 1996, Mr. Haroian served in various positions, including chief financial officer, president, chief operating officer and chief executive officer, at Stratus Computer, Inc., a provider of continuous availability solutions. Mr. Haroian currently serves as a director of A123 Systems, a company that designs, develops, manufactures and sells advanced, rechargeable lithium-ion batteries and battery systems. He also serves as a director of Network Engines, Inc., a provider of server appliance solutions, Phase Forward Incorporated, a provider of clinical trials and drug safety software, and Unica Corporation, a

global provider of enterprise marketing management software. Mr. Haroian previously served on the board of directors of AuthorizeNet. Holdings (formerly known as Lightbridge, Inc.), a provider of transaction and payment processing services from 2005 to 2007, and Embarcadero Technologies, Inc., a provider of database management solutions from 2004 to 2006. Prior to 1983, Mr. Haroian was a Certified Public Accountant. He holds a B.A. in Economics and a B.B.A. in Accounting from the University of Massachusetts Amherst. We believe that Mr. Haroian's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his extensive advisory experience to various emerging technology companies, his service on the boards of directors of other public companies and his financial and accounting expertise.

Stephen M. Jennings has served as our Chairman of the Board since January 2005 and as one of our directors since 2000. Mr. Jennings has been the Managing Partner of The Monitor Group, a strategy consulting firm since 2006, and has served as a director there since 1996. He also serves as a director of LTX-Credence Corporation, a semiconductor test equipment manufacturer. He holds a B.A. in Economics from Dartmouth College and an M.A. (Oxon) from Oxford University, where he studied Philosophy, Politics and Economics as a Marshall Scholar. We believe Mr. Jennings's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his experience in building companies from earliest stages of growth to mature companies. As a consultant in the technology sector and other industries, he brings valuable different perspectives to the board of directors.

Joan C. McArdle has served as one of our directors since 1994. Ms. McArdle has served as a senior vice president of Massachusetts Capital Resource Company, an investment company, since 2001, and served as a vice president of Massachusetts Capital Resource Company from 1985 to 2001. She holds an A.B. in English from Smith College. We believe Ms. McArdle's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include her experience in building and financing companies from earliest stages of growth to mature technology companies. In addition, Ms. McArdle's knowledge of the technology industry and venture experience enable her to provide the board of directors with valuable strategic advice.

David M. McKenna has served as one of our directors since 2006. Since January 2008, Mr. McKenna has been a managing Partner of Advent International Corporation, a private equity firm. From 2003 to December 2007, Mr. McKenna was a Managing Director at the firm. From 1992 to 2000, he held various positions with Advent International. Prior to returning to Advent International, Mr. McKenna was a principal at Bain Capital from 2000 to 2003. He holds a B.A. in English from Dartmouth College. We believe Mr. McKenna's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his experience in building companies from earliest stages of growth to mature technology companies. In addition, Mr. McKenna's knowledge of software industry trends, international markets and private equity experience enable him to provide the board of directors with valuable strategic advice.

Michael Pehl has served as one of our directors since 2003. Mr. Pehl has been a partner of North Bridge Growth Equity, a growth equity fund, since February 2007. Before joining North Bridge, Mr. Pehl was an operating partner of Advent International Corporation from 2001 to December 2006. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Pehl held various positions, including president, chief operating officer and director, at Razorfish, Inc., a strategic, creative and technology solutions provider for digital businesses. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Pehl was chairman and chief executive officer of International Integration, Inc. (i-Cube), which was acquired by Razorfish, Inc. Prior to joining i-Cube, Mr. Pehl was a founder of International Consulting Solutions, Inc., an SAP implementation and business process consulting firm. We believe Mr. Pehl's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his deep experience in building companies from the earliest stages of growth to mature technology companies, as a seasoned investor in various technology companies, and his insight into capital formation and operational development matters.

#### Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

## Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Neither Donald Casey nor Stephen Jennings, the members of the compensation committee, is or has ever been an officer or employee of our company or any of our subsidiaries, nor has been party to any related person transaction involving our company. None of our executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as members of our board of directors or compensation committee.

#### **Board of Directors**

## Composition

The board of directors currently consists of seven members. The board is divided into three classes, with the classes serving for staggered three-year terms. The members of the classes are as follows:

- the class I directors are Mark Fusco and Gary Haroian, and their terms will expire at the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders;
- the class II directors are Donald Casey, Stephen Jennings and Michael Pehl, and their terms will expire at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders, which is expected to be held in December 2010; and
- the class III directors are Joan McArdle and David McKenna and their terms will expire at the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders.

Directors hold office until their successors have been elected and qualified or until the earlier of their resignation or removal.

All of the members of the board of directors are independent as defined under the rules of The NASDAQ Global Select Market with the exception of Mr. Fusco, who serves as our president and chief executive officer.

#### Committees

The board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and corporate governance committee. All of the members of each of these standing committees are independent as defined under the rules of The NASDAQ Global Select Market and, in the case of the audit committee, the independence requirements set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act.

# Audit Committee

The members of the audit committee are Donald Casey, Gary Haroian and Joan McArdle. Mr. Haroian chairs the audit committee. The board of directors has determined that all the members of the audit committee are independent directors as defined under NASDAQ rules, including the independence requirements set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act. The board has determined that Mr. Haroian is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in applicable SEC rules. The responsibilities of the audit committee include:

appointing, approving the compensation of, and overseeing the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm;

- oversight of our independent registered public accounting firm, including the receipt and consideration of reports from such firm;
- reviewing and discussing our audited financial statements and related disclosures with management and our independent registered public accounting firm;
- coordination of the board's oversight of our internal accounting controls for financial reporting and our disclosure controls and procedures, as well as the administration of our code of business conduct and ethics;
- overseeing our internal audit function;
- establishing policies for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints and concerns regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters;
- meeting independently with members of our internal auditing staff and our independent registered public accounting firm;
- receiving and reviewing the written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm required by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communication with the Audit Committee concerning independence and discussing with the independent registered public accounting firm any disclosed relationships between them and our company; and
- preparing the audit committee report for our annual proxy statement required by SEC rules.

# Compensation Committee

The members of the compensation committee are Donald Casey and Stephen Jennings. Mr. Casey chairs the compensation committee. The board of directors has determined that all the members of the compensation committee are independent directors as defined under NASDAQ rules. The purpose of the compensation committee is to discharge the responsibilities of the board of directors relating to compensation of executive officers. Specific responsibilities of the compensation committee include:

- annually reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to the independent members of the board with respect to, corporate goals and objectives relevant to chief executive officer and other executive officer compensation;
- making recommendations to the independent members of the board with respect to, the compensation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer and reviewing and approving the compensation of our other executive officers;
- overseeing an evaluation of executive officers;
- overseeing and administering cash and equity incentive plans;
- reviewing and making recommendations to the board with respect to director compensation;
- reviewing and discussing annually with management our "Compensation Discussion and Analysis"; and
- preparing the compensation committee report required by SEC rules.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The members of our nominating and corporate governance committee are Donald Casey, Gary Haroian, Stephen Jennings and Joan McArdle. Mr. Jennings chairs this committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include:

- identifying individuals qualified to become members of the board of directors;
- recommending to the board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the board committees;
- developing and recommending to the board corporate governance principles; and
- overseeing an annual evaluation of the board.

## Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and persons performing similar functions. We have posted a copy of the code of business conduct and ethics in the corporate governance section of our website, www.aspentech.com. We intend to satisfy disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers from, our code by posting such information on our website.

## **Director Compensation**

The following table provides information regarding the compensation paid to our non-employee members of the board of directors in fiscal 2010.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stock Awards (\$)(1)	Total(\$)
Donald P. Casey	\$ 201,638	\$ 93,113	\$ 294,751
Gary E. Haroian	174,638	93,113	267,751
Stephen M. Jennings	216,638	93,113	309,751
Joan C. McArdle	164,638	93,113	257,751
David M. McKenna	102,638	93,113	195,751
Michael Pehl	100,138	93,113	193,251

<sup>(1)</sup> The amounts shown represent grant date fair value calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 with respect to restricted stock units granted to the directors. Each restricted stock unit was fully vested on the grant date. The aggregate number of option awards outstanding held by each of our non-employee directors as of June 30, 2010 was as follows: Mr. Casey, 48,000; Mr. Haroian, 48,000; Mr. Jennings, 75,548; Ms. McArdle, 75,548; Mr. McKenna, 24,000; and Mr. Pehl, 60,000.

In fiscal 2010, we paid our non-employee directors an annual fee of \$25,000 for their services as directors, and we paid annual retainers as set forth in the table below. All annual retainers are payable in monthly installments.

Position	Retainer
Chairman of the Board	\$ 75,000
Audit Committee Chair	30,000
Audit Committee Member	20,000
Compensation Committee Chair	15,000
Compensation Committee Member	7,500

We also paid each director \$2,500 for participation in our quarterly board meetings, and \$2,000 for participation in all other board or committee meetings of at least one hour duration. All participation fees are payable quarterly.

In January 2008 the board determined to grant each non-employee director options to purchase 21,000 shares of our common stock on the second trading day immediately following our becoming current in our SEC filings. Of those shares, 15,000 would vest immediately on the date of grant and the balance would vest in two equal quarterly installments on the last business day of the two quarters following the date of grant. The options would have an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the business day immediately preceding the date of grant and would have a term of ten years.

In October 2009 the board determined to supersede the aforementioned January 2008 resolution and resolved instead to grant 9,750 restricted stock units to each non-employee director contemporaneously with the next annual program grant to our employees. The restricted stock units were granted on November 9, 2009, and were fully vested on the grant date. The board further resolved that each non-employee director be paid cash in an amount equal to 5,250 times the closing price per share of our common stock on the last trading day before the grant date, which was the date of program grants to our employees. Payment was made no later than thirty days following date of grant.

We require our directors to own shares of our common stock with a dollar value equal to their annual retainer, which they have a period of time to achieve.

#### **Executive Compensation**

# Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides information regarding our compensation programs and policies for fiscal 2010 for our named executive officers, or NEOs, who consist of:

- Mark Fusco, our President and Chief Executive Officer;
- Mark Sullivan, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer;
- Antonio Pietri, our Executive Vice President, Field Operations;
- Manolis Kotzabasakis, our Executive Vice President, Sales and Strategy; and
- Frederic Hammond, our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary.

Objectives and Philosophy of Our Executive Compensation Program

Our compensation philosophy for our executive officers is based on a desire to ensure sustained financial and operating performance, and to reward and retain talent that we believe is critical to our ongoing success. We believe that the compensation of our executive officers should align their interests with those of our stockholders and focus behavior on the achievement of both near-term corporate targets as well as long-term business objectives and strategies.

The primary objectives of our executive compensation program are as follows:

- attract and retain talented and experienced executives in the highly competitive technology and software industries;
- reward and retain executives whose knowledge, skills and performance are critical to our continued success, and simultaneously align their interests with those of our stockholders by motivating them to increase stockholder value;

- balance retention compensation with pay-for-performance compensation by ensuring that a significant portion of total compensation is determined by financial operating results and the creation of stockholder value; and
- motivate our executives to manage our business to meet short-term and long-term objectives and reward them appropriately for meeting or exceeding them.

Our compensation is also designed to allow us to attract and retain senior executives critical to our long-term success by providing competitive compensation packages and recognizing and rewarding individual contributions, to ensure that executive compensation is aligned with corporate strategies and business objectives, and to promote the achievement of key strategic and financial performance measures.

# **Components of Our Executive Compensation Program**

To achieve these objectives, we use a mix of compensation elements, including:

- base salary;
- annual performance-based and discretionary cash bonuses;
- long-term equity incentives in the form of stock options and restricted stock units;
- employee benefits; and
- severance and change-of-control benefits.

In determining the amount and form of these compensation elements, we may consider a number of factors, including the following:

- compensation levels paid by companies in our peer group, with a particular focus on target levels for cash compensation based on cash compensation targets of similarly situated officers employed by the peer companies, as we believe this approach helps us to hire and retain the best possible talent while at the same time maintaining a reasonable and responsible cost structure;
- corporate performance, particularly as reflected in achievement of key corporate strategic, financial and operational goals such as growth and penetration of customer base and financial and operational performance, as we believe this encourages our NEOs to focus on achieving our business objectives;
- the need to motivate executives to address particular business challenges unique to a particular year;
- internal pay equity of the compensation paid to one NEO as compared to another, as we believe this contributes to retention and a spirit of teamwork among our executives;
- broader economic conditions, in order to ensure that our pay strategies are effective yet responsible, particularly in the face of any unanticipated consequences of the broader economy on our business; and
- individual negotiations with NEOs, particularly in connection with their initial compensation package, as these executives may be leaving meaningful compensation opportunities at prior employers—or may be declining significant compensation opportunities at other potential employers—in order to come work for us, as well as negotiations upon their departures, as we recognize the benefit to our stockholders of seamless transitions.

While our compensation committee does not have a formal policy for determining the allocation between cash and non-cash compensation, or short-term and long-term compensation, historically the

compensation committee has allocated a greater percentage of an executive's total target compensation to variable compensation and equity compensation as they assume greater responsibility in the organization. The compensation committee determines the percentage mix of compensation they believe is appropriate for each executive taking into account specific responsibilities within the company, the talent and expertise necessary to achieve our corporate objectives, and specific expected performance outcomes for the year.

# Role of the Compensation Committee

The compensation committee of the board of directors oversees our executive compensation program. In this role, the compensation committee is generally responsible for reviewing, modifying, approving and otherwise overseeing the compensation policies and practices applicable to our employees, including the administration of our equity and employee benefit plans. As part of this responsibility, the compensation committee reviews and approves (or recommends for approval by a majority of the independent directors), the compensation structure for our NEOs. The board is responsible for establishing corporate objectives and targets for purposes of variable cash compensation. For fiscal 2010, the board approved the corporate objectives of global license bookings and cash flow from operations as targets for our cash bonus plan.

The compensation committee historically has, at its discretion, presented to the board information regarding executive compensation matters for all executives. Compensation matters for all executives other than the chief executive officer are approved by the compensation committee and presented to the board for informational purposes. The compensation committee presents to the board its recommendations on compensation matters for the chief executive officer including base salary and target bonus levels, for approval by the independent directors. In fiscal 2010, the board approved the compensation committee's recommendations as presented.

As part of its deliberations, in any given year, the compensation committee reviews and considers materials such as our financial reports and projections, operational data, tax and accounting information that set forth the total compensation that may become payable to executives in various hypothetical scenarios, executive and director stock ownership information, our stock performance data, analyses of historical executive compensation levels and current company-wide compensation levels, industry and peer company benchmark data, and the recommendations of our chief executive officer. The compensation committee may review materials and advice provided by an independent compensation consultant, but did not engage any compensation consultants in determining or recommending the amount, form or any other aspect of executive compensation for fiscal 2010.

# Role of Management

For NEOs other than our chief executive officer, the compensation committee solicits and considers the performance evaluations and compensation recommendations submitted to the compensation committee by the chief executive officer. In the case of the chief executive officer, the board of directors (other than the chief executive officer) evaluates his performance and determines his compensation. Mark Fusco, our chief executive officer and one of our directors, participated in the meetings of the compensation committee related to the amount of the fiscal 2010 compensation packages for each of the NEOs, other than for Mr. Fusco.

Our human resources, accounting and finance, and legal departments work with our chief executive officer to design and develop compensation programs applicable to NEOs and other senior executives that the chief executive officer recommends to the compensation committee. These departments also work with the chief executive officer to recommend changes to existing compensation programs, to recommend financial and other performance targets to be achieved under those programs, to prepare analyses of financial data, to prepare peer group data summaries, to prepare other

compensation committee briefing materials, and ultimately to implement the decisions of the board and the compensation committee.

## Compensation Benchmarking

The compensation committee reviews relevant market and industry practices on executive compensation to balance our need to compete for talent with our need to maintain a reasonable and responsible cost structure, as well as with the goal of aligning the interests of the NEOs with those of our stockholders. In making compensation decisions, the compensation committee reviewed information on practices, programs and compensation levels implemented by a peer group selected by the compensation committee and also used as a reference point the IPAS Global Technology Survey and Culpepper Global Survey, or collectively the other global industry survey sources. The composition of the peer group is reviewed and updated by the compensation committee annually, based in part on recommendations of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer.

#### Peer Group

# Fiscal 2010

The peer group selected by the compensation committee for fiscal 2010 consists of companies that are U.S. publicly-traded software companies, that have revenue within a specified range of our revenue, have a similar business model, size (or are otherwise in the same geographical location) and that the compensation committee believes compete with us for executive talent. At the time the compensation committee reviewed peer group data for purposes of fiscal 2010, the peer group had annual revenue of between \$256 million and \$1.07 billion. For fiscal 2010, the 14 companies included in the peer group were:

ANSYS, Inc.
Epicor Software Corporation
i2 Technologies, Inc.
Informatica Corporation
JDA Software Group, Inc.
Lawson Software, Inc.
Manhattan Associates, Inc.
Mentor Graphics Corporation
Nuance Communications, Inc.
Parametric Technology Corporation
Progress Software Corporation
QAD Inc.
TIBCO Software Inc.
Wind River Systems, Inc.

## Compensation Positioning and Compensation Allocations

In general, the compensation committee sets cash compensation elements as follows, with compensation above this level possible for exceptional performance:

- base salaries at or near the 50th percentile for our peer group; and
- target cash bonus compensation ranging from the 60th to the 75th percentile for our peer group.

The compensation committee believes targeting each element of cash compensation at these percentiles for our peer group is necessary in order to achieve the primary objectives, described above, of our executive compensation program. The higher percentile for target cash bonuses is intended to

highly motivate our executives to achieve the corporate financial and individual objectives that underlie our performance-based bonus plans.

Benchmarking is not the only factor the compensation committee considers in setting either element of cash compensation. The equity compensation element is not benchmarked to a specific peer group percentile, although peer group data, including mean and distribution data for peer company officers, are analyzed and considered by the compensation committee in the process of determining compensation levels for NEOs. A number of other factors, such as economic conditions, performance and individual negotiations, may play an important role (or no role) with respect to the cash or equity compensation offered to any NEO in a given year. In setting actual compensation levels for a NEO, the compensation committee, in addition to considering peer group data, also considers the NEO's duties and responsibilities and the NEO's ability to influence corporate performance. In addition to peer group analysis, the compensation committee also reviews global industry survey data to confirm the reasonableness of proposed compensation levels. The compensation committee believes this general approach helps us to compete in hiring and retaining the best possible talent while at the same time maintaining a reasonable and responsible cost structure.

The compensation committee considers actual realized compensation received in determining if compensation programs are meeting their objectives. It does not, however, typically reduce compensation plan targets because of compensation realized from prior awards, in order to avoid creating an inadvertent disincentive for exceptional performance.

Reasons for Providing and Manner of Structuring the Key Compensation Elements

#### **Base Salary**

The compensation committee recognizes the importance of base salary as an element of compensation that helps to attract and retain our executives. We provide base salary as a fixed source of compensation for our executives, allowing them a degree of certainty as a significant portion of their total compensation is "at risk" and dependent upon the achievement of financial goals and individual objectives. Base salary is used to recognize the performance, skills, knowledge, experience and responsibilities required of all our employees, including our NEOs. We target base salary levels at approximately the 50th percentile of our peer group.

Historically, the compensation committee has reviewed the annual salaries for each of our NEOs on an annual basis, considering whether existing base salary levels continue to be at approximately the 50th percentile for our peer group and other global industry survey data. In addition to considering the peer group and other global industry survey data, the compensation committee may also, but does not always, consider other factors, including the experience, tenure and performance of a NEO, the scope of the NEO's responsibility, the salary level negotiated by a NEO in any existing employment agreement, broader economic conditions, our financial health, and the extent to which the compensation committee is generally satisfied with the NEO's past performance and expected future contributions.

## Fiscal 2010

For fiscal 2010 base salaries for our NEOs other than Mr. Sullivan, the compensation committee initially consulted the peer group and other global industry data. Due to the current economic environment, however, the compensation committee determined that, rather than perform a detailed analysis by NEO against the peer group and other global industry data, they would keep base salaries at their fiscal 2009 levels (as was the case for all employees), irrespective of where the NEOs' base salaries fell against the peer group data. We hired Mr. Sullivan in July 2009 and the compensation committee recommended to the board of directors that he be given a base salary of \$300,000 for fiscal 2010, which the compensation committee believed was competitive based on his prior experience and taking into

account our peer group and other global industry survey data, and the board approved that recommendation.

## **Variable Cash Compensation**

In addition to base salary, executives are eligible to earn additional cash compensation through annual (that is, short-term) variable cash bonuses. These are intended to motivate executives to work at the highest levels of their individual abilities and to achieve company-wide operating and strategic objectives as well as individual objectives. The compensation committee recognizes the important role that variable cash compensation plays in attracting and retaining executives and therefore generally seeks to set target levels for variable bonuses (that is, payouts for target performance achievement) so that target cash bonus compensation ranges from the 60th to the 75th percentile for target cash bonus compensation of similarly situated executives at our peer group.

The compensation committee generally starts the process of determining the target bonus levels, and the individual performance goals by which performance will be measured under the bonus programs for executives (other than the chief executive officer, whose target bonus level and individual performance goals are set by the board of directors), in the last quarter before the start of the applicable fiscal year. Typically, in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, the compensation committee considers potential individual performance measures and the target bonus percentages for the next fiscal year for executives (other than the chief executive officer). As part of this analysis, the compensation committee considers the likely bonus payouts for the ongoing fiscal year for executives (other than the chief executive officer) and reviews its preliminary analysis with the chief executive officer, in connection with their consideration of expected financial results for the prior year, budgets for the applicable year and the economic forecast for the applicable year. The compensation committee also considers peer group company data provided by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer. The chief executive officer then makes a recommendation to the compensation committee as to the target bonuses that the other executives should be eligible to earn for the applicable year, and the compensation committee reviews and finalizes its earlier discussions regarding the structure and elements of compensation for the new fiscal year. Among other things, the board of directors approves the corporate performance goals for the year and the compensation committee determines individual performance goals (other than goals for the chief executive officer which are set by the board of directors).

The process of the compensation committee and, with respect to the chief executive officer, the board of directors for establishing variable cash compensation for fiscal 2010 was completed in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. As with base salaries for fiscal 2010, the compensation committee initially consulted the peer group and other global industry data but, due to the current economic environment, determined not to perform a detailed analysis by NEO against the peer group and other global industry data. Instead, the compensation committee decided to keep variable compensation targets at their fiscal 2009 levels (as was the case for all employees), irrespective of where the NEOs' target bonus amounts fell against the peer group data. In September 2009 the compensation committee and, with respect to our chief executive officer, the board of directors approved the Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for fiscal 2010, or 2010 Executive Plan, an incentive bonus plan for our executives for fiscal 2010. The participants in the 2010 Executive Plan include Mark Fusco, Mark Sullivan, Antonio Pietri, Manolis Kotzabasakis and Frederic Hammond and those other executives who report directly to our chief executive officer.

## 2010 Executive Plan

Any amounts earned under the 2010 Executive Plan are payable in cash and directly tied to achievement of corporate financial targets and individual performance goals. Amounts payable under the 2010 Executive Plan are based and weighted as follows:

- 65% of the overall bonus is based on our corporate achievement of target global license bookings (calculated as the net present value of license bookings) of \$200 million; and
- 35% of the overall bonus is based on our corporate achievement of target cash flow from operations of \$22.9 million.

In connection with the 2010 Executive Plan, the board of directors selected global license bookings and cash flow from operations as the primary corporate performance goals for fiscal 2010. The board chose these goals because it expected that, particularly in light of the implementation of our new aspenONE licensing model, those two goals would be the best indicators of the achievement of the execution of our operating plan in fiscal 2010 and would be important to increasing the value of our common stock, therefore aligning the financial interests of executives with those of our stockholders. The goals were based upon targets approved by the board as part of our fiscal 2010 operating plan. In order for any bonus to be payable to any executive under either the global license bookings or operating cash flow metric, we must achieve at least 70% of the applicable target metric. Each metric is measured and funded independently. Accordingly, the compensation committee generally sets the target performance level for the corporate financial objectives at a level that would only be achieved if we continued to substantially improve on our past levels of performance, and if our executives performed at very high levels. As a result, the compensation committee believed that global license bookings and cash flow from operations targets would be difficult to reach but would be attainable with significant effort, but would not entail taking inappropriate risks.

An executive must also achieve individual performance objectives established in connection with the 2010 Executive Plan. The compensation committee established, and assessed compliance with, individual performance goals for Mark Fusco, and Mr. Fusco, as chief executive officer, developed, and assessed compliance with, individual goals for the chief financial officer and the three other NEOs covered by the 2010 Executive Plan, subject to the compensation committee's review. The compensation committee approved the individual performance goals for Antonio Pietri, Manolis Kotzabasakis and Frederic Hammond, and recommended to the board approval of the goals for Messrs. Fusco and Sullivan. The board subsequently approved the individual performance goals for each of Messrs. Fusco and Sullivan. Under the 2010 Executive Plan, each executive will receive a performance achievement rating between 80% and 100%, which will be used as a multiplier against the funded level of each financial metric to determine a final earned bonus under each financial metric. As part of the negotiations of initial compensation for Mr. Sullivan when he joined us in July 2009, the compensation committee agreed that payment of his target bonus would be guaranteed for fiscal 2010.

In fiscal 2010, performance was evaluated at mid-year and at year-end, and the bonus was allocated up to 25% to mid-year and 75% to year-end. Achievement below 25% at mid-year can be made up by the executive at the end of year based on year-end results. The year-end calculation will also weighted by the individual performance assessment rating.

No award is payable to an executive under the plan if the executive's employment terminates prior to the payment date under the plan; provided that in the event the executive's employment terminates due to death, incapacity or retirement, then any award payable will be prorated.

In addition to awards based on the performance metrics established in the plan, the compensation committee may make discretionary awards under the plan to eligible employees in such amounts as the committee determines are appropriate and in our best interests.

In the first half of fiscal 2010, NEOs were eligible to earn a bonus of up to 25% of their annual bonus target under the 2010 Executive Plan. Global license bookings and cash flow from operations targets and actual results were as follows for the first half of fiscal 2010:

Plan Metric_	Fina	nncial Target(\$)	Actual Results(\$)		
Global license bookings	\$	82.0 million	\$	91.9 million	
Cash flow from operations		14.6 million		4.6 million	

As we exceeded our global license bookings target of \$82.0 million, we funded that element at 100%. Since we did not achieve at least 70% of the target cash flow from operations, we did not fund that element of the bonus. Our NEOs received 16.25% of their annual target bonuses (or 65% of their mid-year target bonuses) with the exception of Mr. Sullivan who was paid out at 25% of his annual target bonus consistent with his first year employment agreement for performance during the first half of fiscal 2010.

After the completion of fiscal 2010, NEOs were eligible to earn a bonus of up to 83.75% of their annual bonus target under the 2010 Executive Plan (other than Mr. Sullivan who was entitled to receive 75% of his annual bonus target pursuant to the terms of his first year employment agreement). Global license bookings and cash flow from operations targets and actual results were as follows for fiscal 2010:

Plan Metric	Fin	nancial Target(\$)	Α	Actual Results(\$)
Global license bookings	\$	200.0 million	\$	249.3 million
Cash flow from operations		22.9 million		38.6 million

As we exceeded both of our global license bookings and cash flow targets, we funded both elements at 100% for financial performance during the balance of fiscal 2010. As a result, our NEOs were eligible to receive up to 83.75% of their annual target bonuses, subject to reduction by up to 20% based upon each NEO's performance against individual performance goals set at the beginning of fiscal 2010, with the exception of Mr. Sullivan whose target bonus was guaranteed for fiscal 2010. The compensation committee then assigned a performance achievement rating to each NEO (other than Mr. Sullivan). The compensation committee determined that each NEO (other than Mr. Sullivan) had successfully achieved his individual performance objectives for fiscal 2010 and assigned a 100% performance rating for achievement of the following: Mr. Fusco successfully led us to becoming a timely filer under the Exchange Act and a relisting of our securities on a national securities exchange. In addition, Mr. Fusco successfully pursued certain growth opportunities important to our long-term success.

Mr. Petri improved our professional services organization and its offerings as well as helped us grow our services bookings. In addition, Mr. Pietri was tasked with rolling out the new AspenONE licensing model throughout the field sales organization as well as expanding certain global strategic growth opportunities, each of which he accomplished successfully. Mr. Kotzabasakis helped facilitate the successful adoption of the new AspenONE licensing model by identifying opportunities for the sales operations organization, as well as focused on continued development of strategic growth opportunities. Mr. Hammond successfully managed certain strategic litigation matters and compliance initiatives and led the reorganization of our worldwide corporate structure to achieve greater operating efficiencies. Based on the 100% performance rating ascribed to each NEO, the compensation committee awarded our NEOs the remaining 83.75% of their target bonuses

In addition, the compensation committee and, in the case of Mr. Fusco, the board of directors approved a discretionary bonus pursuant to the 2010 Executive Plan for each NEO to recognize the annual financial performance overachievement against both the global license bookings and cash flow from operations targets.

The table below itemizes the amounts earned under the 2010 Executive Plan.

					Y	ear-End					
						Actual					
					Cas	h Payment					
			Mid-Y	ear Actual	E	Based on					
			Cash	Payment	Ach	ievement of					
				sed on		et Financial					
	Fiscal	2010 Annual		vement of	3	ectives and		cretionary		otal Bonus	
		Target		Financial	Ir	ıdividual		rd Received		eceived for	
Named Executive Officer	Cash	Payment(\$)	Obje	ctives(\$)	Perf	ormance (\$)	at Y	ear End (\$)	Fis	cal 2010(\$)	
Mark E. Fusco	\$	700,000	\$	113,750	\$	586,250	\$	196,000	\$	896,000	
Mark P. Sullivan		175,000		43,750		131,250		49,000		224,000	
Antonio J. Pietri		275,000		44,688		230,313		77,000		352,000	
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis		260,000		42,250		217,750		72,800		332,800	
Frederic G. Hammond		140,000		22,750		117,250		39,200		179,200	

# **Equity Compensation**

We provide a portion of our executive compensation in the form of stock options and restricted stock units that vest over time. We believe that this helps to retain our executives and aligns their interests with those of our stockholders by allowing the executives to participate in our longer-term success through stock price appreciation.

Our equity award program is the primary vehicle for offering long-term incentives to our executives. We believe that equity grants help to align the interests of our executives and our stockholders, provide our executives with a strong link to our long-term performance and also create an ownership culture. Our equity awards typically take the form of stock options and restricted stock units. Stock options typically require significant growth in stockholder value to generate long-term value to our executives which is in line with our performance-oriented culture. In addition, the vesting feature of our equity grants is intended to further our goal of executive retention by providing an incentive to an executive to remain in our employ during the vesting period. Restricted stock units have intrinsic value which is important in retaining our executive talent. The compensation committee carefully considers the mix of equity instruments when determining annual equity awards to ensure that the executive's total compensation conforms to our overall philosophy and objectives.

In determining the size and mix of equity grants to our executives, our compensation committee considers comparative share ownership of executives in our peer group and in the global industry survey data generally between the 50th and 75th percentiles (when available) and also considers the individual executive's performance, contributions and level of responsibility, the executive's ability to significantly influence our growth and profitability, the amount of equity previously awarded to the executive and the vesting status of previous equity awards. In addition, the compensation committee takes into account our company-level performance and the recommendations of the chief executive officer other than for himself.

We have established equity ownership guidelines of three times base salary for our chief executive officer and one times base salary for our other NEOs.

Our equity awards typically have taken the form of stock options and restricted stock units. We typically make an initial equity award of stock options and/or restricted stock units to new executives and an annual equity program grant in August each year as part of our overall compensation program. All grants of options and restricted stock units to our executives are approved by the compensation committee. Equity awards for our chief executive officer are determined by the compensation committee and then recommended to the board of directors for approval.

We set the exercise price of all stock option grants to equal the prior trading day's closing price of our common stock. Typically, the equity awards we grant to our executives vest pro rata over the first sixteen quarters of a ten-year option term. Vesting and exercise rights cease shortly after termination of employment except in the case of death or disability. Prior to the exercise of an option, or vesting of a restricted stock unit, the holder has no rights as a stockholder with respect to the shares subject to such equity awards, including voting rights and the right to receive dividends or dividend equivalents.

As part of executive compensation planning for fiscal years 2008, 2009 and 2010, the compensation committee also made recommendations, following the closing of the applicable prior fiscal year, for annual equity grants for our NEOs to the board of directors. The compensation committee's grant recommendations were made after consideration and discussion about each individual's prior year performance, company performance for the year in question, and a review of peer group and global industry survey data. The compensation committee considered each of these parameters for each of our NEOs and determined both the size of the equity awards and equity mix (the relative balance of options and restricted stock units). However, we became delinquent in our SEC filings in fiscal 2008 and remained delinquent throughout fiscal 2009 because of certain accounting errors we had identified. Our failure to timely file reports under the Securities Exchange Act resulted in a lack of an effective registration statement to register the common stock underlying the contemplated equity awards, so we suspended equity grants until we became current.

## Fiscal 2010 Equity Awards

When we initially became current with our Securities Exchange Act filings on November 9, 2009, the compensation committee's prior recommendations were reexamined. The compensation committee determined it was appropriate to recommend the same equity awards previously contemplated to the board of directors for approval. At the time of grant, each equity award was given a separate vesting schedule that provided for upfront vesting of a portion of the grant to offset the delay in our ability to make the equity awards in the applicable previously contemplated fiscal year. The remainder of each grant was scheduled to vest quarterly on the last business day of each fiscal quarter (beginning

March 31, 2010) for a total vesting timeframe of 16 quarters for each grant. On November 9, 2009, we granted stock options and restricted stock units with applicable vesting to our NEOs as follows:

Mark E. Fusco       Stock options       128,000       80,000       48,000       6         Restricted stock units       100,000       62,500       37,500       6         Restricted stock units       166,667       62,500       104,167       10         Restricted stock units       167,000       20,875       146,125       14         Mark P. Sullivan       Restricted stock units       65,000       8,125       56,875       14	Named Executive Officer	Type of Equity Award	Number of Shares Subject to Award (#)	Number of Shares Vested on Grant Date (#)	Number of Unvested Shares on Grant Date (#)	Number of Fiscal Quarters to Vest Commencing on March 31, 2010
Restricted stock units 166,667 62,500 104,167 10 Restricted stock units 167,000 20,875 146,125 14	Mark E. Fusco	Stock options	128,000	80,000	48,000	6
Restricted stock units 167,000 20,875 146,125 14		Restricted stock units	100,000	62,500	37,500	6
		Restricted stock units	166,667	62,500	104,167	10
Mark P. Sullivan Restricted stock units 65,000 8,125 56,875 14		Restricted stock units	167,000	20,875	146,125	14
Mark P. Sullivan         Restricted stock units         65,000         8,125         56,875         14						
	Mark P. Sullivan	Restricted stock units	65,000	8,125	56,875	14
Antonio J. Pietri Restricted stock units 67,000 41,875 25,125 6	Antonio J. Pietri	Restricted stock units	67,000	41,875	25,125	6
Restricted stock units 30,000 11,250 18,750 10		Restricted stock units	30,000	11,250	18,750	10
Restricted stock units 30,000 3,750 26,250 14		Restricted stock units	30,000	3,750	26,250	14
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis Stock options 15,360 9,600 5,760 6	Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	Stock options	15,360	9,600	5,760	6
Restricted stock units 12,000 7,500 4,500 6		Restricted stock units	12,000	7,500	4,500	6
Restricted stock units 30,000 11,250 18,750 10		Restricted stock units	30,000	11,250	18,750	10
Restricted stock units 30,000 3,750 26,250 14		Restricted stock units	30,000	3,750	26,250	14
Frederic G. Hammond Stock options 15,360 9,600 5,760 6	Frederic G. Hammond	Stock options	15,360	9,600	5,760	6
Restricted stock units 12,000 7,500 4,500 6		Restricted stock units	12,000	7,500	4,500	6
Restricted stock units 20,000 7,500 12,500 10		Restricted stock units	20,000	7,500	12,500	10
Restricted stock units 20,000 2,500 17,500 14		Restricted stock units	20,000	2,500	17,500	14

As with the other elements of compensation for fiscal 2010, the compensation committee initially consulted the peer group and other global industry data (when available) when determining the size and mix of equity awards for the NEOs, but principally based its equity award decisions on the relative size of the awards received by each NEO in the past and relative size of the awards received by the other NEOs.

# Fiscal 2011 Compensation Actions

In addition to the bonus payments under the 2010 Executive Plan made in July 2010, the compensation committee took the following additional actions related to NEO compensation after the year ended June 30, 2010 through August 31, 2010:

# **Base Salary**

In July 2010, our compensation committee, and in the case of Mr. Fusco, the board of directors, raised the base salaries of our NEOs as set forth in the table below:

Named Executive Officer	Fiscal 2010	Base Salary (\$)	Fiscal 2011 Base Salary (\$)	Percentage Increase (%)
Mark E. Fusco	\$	500,000	\$ 550,000	10.0%
Mark P. Sullivan		300,000	310,000	3.3
Antonio J. Pietri		300,000	315,000	5.0
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis		265,000	290,000	9.4
Frederic G. Hammond		275,000	300,000	9.1

# 2011 Executive Plan

In July 2010, our compensation committee approved an Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan FY11 for each of our executive officers and certain other members of senior management (other than

for Mr. Fusco, whose plan was approved by the board of directors upon a recommendation of the compensation committee). Each such plan is identical in form, except for the amount of the executive's target awards and individual performance goals.

The purpose of these plans is to motivate and reward performance for the achievement of certain corporate and individual objectives for fiscal 2011. Payments under each plan are based upon the achievement of certain performance metrics established by the board of directors and the executive's individual performance. Under each plan, we must achieve target global license bookings and cash flow from operations amounts. These targets are weighted at 65% and 35%, respectively, for purposes of determining each eligible executive's bonus. In order for any bonus to be payable under a plan, we must achieve at least 70% of the specified metrics. Each metric is measured and funded independently. The executive must also achieve individual performance objectives approved by our chief executive officer or the compensation committee (in the case of our chief executive officer), and the executive's individual performance will be assessed by the chief executive officer or by the compensation committee (in the case of the chief executive officer). The executive will receive a performance achievement rating between 80% and 100%, and this rating will be used as a multiplier against the funded level of each financial metric to determine a final earned bonus under each financial metric. The annual targets under the 2011 Executive Plan for each of the NEOs are as follows:

	Fiscal 2011	Annual Target
Named Executive Officer	Cash I	ayment(\$)
Mark E. Fusco	\$	750,000
Mark P. Sullivan		250,000
Antonio J. Pietri		300,000
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis		275,000
Frederic G. Hammond		175,000

In fiscal 2011, performance against the financial metrics under each plan will be evaluated at mid year and at year end, and individual performance will be assessed at year end. There is the potential for a mid-year payment based on performance against mid-year targets, not to exceed 25% of the annual bonus target. The year-end calculation will also be weighted by the individual performance assessment rating. If an executive's employment terminates prior to the end of the performance period, eligibility for any payment will be subject to the retention agreement then in effect between us and the executive. In addition to awards based on the performance metrics established under each plan, the compensation committee may make a discretionary award to the executive in such amount as the compensation committee determines to be appropriate and in our best interests.

## **Equity Awards**

The compensation committee completed its annual program grant for fiscal 2011 in July 2010. The awards issued to our NEOs in August 2010 are as follows:

Named Executive Officer	Type of Equity Award	Number of Shares Subject to Award (#)
Mark E. Fusco	Stock options	132,000
	Restricted stock units	107,200
Mark P. Sullivan	Stock options Restricted stock units	49,500 40,200
Antonio J. Pietri	Stock options Restricted stock units	49,500 40,200
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	Stock options Restricted stock units	49,500 40,200
Frederic G. Hammond	Stock options Restricted stock units	20,625 16,750

## Benefits and Other Compensation

We maintain broad-based benefits that are provided to all employees, including health and dental insurance, life and disability insurance and a 401(k) plan. Executives are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, in each case on the same basis as other employees. Our NEOs are not entitled to benefits that are not otherwise available to all employees.

## Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits

Pursuant to executive retention agreements we have entered into with each of our NEOs as of June 30, 2010 and to the provisions of our option agreements, those executives are entitled to specified benefits in the event of the termination of their employment under specified circumstances, including termination following a change in control of our company. We have provided more detailed information about these benefits, along with estimates of value under various circumstances, in the table below under "—Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control."

We believe these agreements assist in maintaining a competitive position in terms of attracting and retaining key executives. The agreements also support decision-making that is in the best interests of our stockholders, and enable our executives to focus on company priorities. We believe that our severance and change in control benefits are generally in line with prevalent peer practice with respect to severance packages offered to executives.

Except with respect to our chief executive officer, our practice in the case of change-of-control benefits under the executive retention agreements has been to structure these as "double trigger" benefits. In other words, the change in control does not itself trigger benefits; rather, benefits are paid only if the employment of the executive is terminated during a specified period after the change in control and under the circumstances described in "—Employment and Change in Control Agreements and Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control" below. We believe a "double trigger" benefit maximizes stockholder value because it prevents an unintended windfall to executives in the event of a friendly change in control, while still providing them appropriate incentives to cooperate in negotiating any change in control in which they believe they may lose their jobs.

#### *Tax and Accounting Considerations*

The accounting and tax treatment of particular forms of compensation do not materially affect our compensation decisions. However, we evaluate the effect of such accounting and tax treatment on an ongoing basis and will make appropriate modifications to compensation policies where appropriate. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or IRC, generally disallows a tax deduction to a publicly-traded company for certain compensation in excess of \$1,000,000 paid in any taxable year to the chief executive officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers. Qualifying performance-based compensation is not subject to the deduction limitation if specified requirements are met.

The compensation committee periodically reviews the potential consequences of Section 162(m), and we generally intend to structure the performance-based portion of our executive compensation, where feasible, to comply with exemptions in Section 162(m) so that the compensation remains tax-deductible to us. The compensation committee in its judgment may, however, authorize compensation payments that do not comply with the exemptions in Section 162(m) when it believes that such payments are appropriate to attract and retain executive talent.

#### Conclusion

Through the compensation arrangements described above, a significant portion of each executive's compensation is contingent on our company-wide and his individual performance. Therefore, the realization of benefits by the executive is closely linked to our achievements and increases in stockholder value. We remain committed to this philosophy of paying for performance, recognizing that the competitive market for talented executives and the volatility of our business may result in highly variable compensation in any particular time period. The compensation committee gives careful consideration to our executive compensation program, including each element of compensation for each executive. The compensation committee believes the executive compensation program is reasonable relative to the peer group. The compensation committee also believes that the compensation program gives each executive appropriate incentives, based on the executive's responsibilities, achievements and ability to contribute to our performance. Finally, the compensation committee believes that our compensation structure and practices encourage management to work for real innovation, business improvements and outstanding stockholder returns, without taking unnecessary or excessive risks.

## Risk Analysis of Compensation Policies and Programs

The compensation committee has reviewed the compensation policies as generally applicable to our employees, and believes that these policies do not encourage excessive and unnecessary risk-taking and that the level of risk that they do encourage is not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our company. The design of the compensation policies and programs encourages employees to remain focused on both our short- and long-term goals. For example, while the cash bonus plan measures performance on an annual basis, the equity awards typically vest over a number of years, which we believe encourages employees to focus on sustained stock price appreciation, thus limiting the potential for excessive risk-taking.

#### **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table contains information regarding compensation earned during the last three fiscal years by our NEOs.

Name and Principal Position  Mark E. Fusco  President and Chief  Executive Officer	Year 2010 2009 2008	Salary (\$)  \$ 500,000  500,000  500,000	Bonus (\$)(1) \$ 196,000 350,000	Stock Awards (\$)(2) \$ 4,141,520	Option Awards (\$)(2) \$ 506,880	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$)(3) \$ 700,000	All Other Compensation (\$)(4) \$ 5,716 5,811 3,305	Total (\$) \$ 6,050,116 855,811 923,305
Mark P. Sullivan Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2010 2009 2008	300,000	224,000 — —	620,750 — —	_ _ _	_ _ _	9,629 — —	1,154,380
Antonio J. Pietri Executive Vice President, Field Operations	2010 2009 2008	300,000 300,000 275,000	77,000 192,500 —	1,212,850 — —	_ _ _	275,000 — 275,000	9,479 259,050 302,281	1,874,329 751,550 852,281
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis Executive Vice President, Sales and Strategy	2010 2009 2008	265,000 265,000 250,000	72,800 — —	687,600 — —	60,826 — —	260,000 130,964 224,990	6,390 7,452 24,370	1,352,615 403,416 499,360
Frederic G. Hammond Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and	2010 2009	275,000 275,000	39,200 70,000	496,600 —	60,826	140,000	8,074 5,937	1,019,699 350,937
Secretary	2008	250,000	_	_	_	140,000	2,808	392,808

- (1) Amounts shown exclude performance-based incentive payments, which are included in "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation." Mr. Sullivan's includes a first year guarantee of \$175,000 and a discretionary award of \$49,000.
- (2) Amounts shown represent grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718, with respect to restricted stock units and stock options granted to the NEOs. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown disregard the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. Each stock option was granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date. For a description of the assumptions relating to our valuations of the restricted stock units and stock options, see note 8 to the consolidated financial statements beginning at page F-1.
- (3) Amounts shown consist of awards based on performance under our 2010 Executive Plan and equivalent predecessor plans for each respective fiscal year. For additional information regarding these awards in fiscal 2010, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Variable Cash Compensation."
- (4) Amounts shown include matching contributions under our 401(k) deferred savings retirement plan and the annual value associated with life and death and disability insurance. The amount shown for Mr. Pietri in fiscal 2010 also includes (a) expatriation foreign tax of \$1,000; (b) \$72 for state and medical tax gross ups; and (c) \$8,414 in matching contributions under our 401(k) deferred savings retirement plan. The amount shown for Mr. Pietri in fiscal 2009 also includes (a) \$57,371 for reimbursement of his relocation and housing expenses in connection with his move from China to Massachusetts; (b) \$172,052 of expatriation foreign tax; and (c) \$23,396 for applicable federal, state and medical tax grossups. The amount shown for Mr. Pietri in fiscal 2008 includes payments related to his former expatriate assignment as Senior Vice President of Regional Sales and Services in China prior to relocation to Massachusetts; (b) \$1,500 for expatriate executive transition and hardship assistance payments; (c) \$146,022 in related Chinese tax payments; (d) \$44,260 for applicable federal, state and medical tax gross-ups; (e) \$23,549 in tax equalization payments for expatriate benefits; and (f) \$786 for foreign goods and services adjustments.

## **Grants of Plan-Based Awards**

The following table shows all plan-based awards granted to the NEOs during fiscal 2010. The equity awards granted in fiscal 2010 identified in the table below are also reported in the table entitled "Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End." For additional information regarding the non-equity

incentive plan awards, please refer to "—Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Reasons for Providing and Manner of Structuring the Key Compensation Elements—Variable Cash Compensation."

		Uı	Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards(1)		All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities	Exercise or Base Price	Grant Date Fair Value of
Name	Grant Date	Threshold (\$)	Target (\$)	Maximum (\$)(2)	Stock or Units (#)(3)	Underlying Options (#)(4)	of Option Awards (\$/Sh)	Stock and Option Awards (\$)
Mark E. Fusco	N/A	\$ 280,000	\$ 700,000	\$ 700,000				
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	433,667	_	_	\$ 4,141,520
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	_	117,529	\$ 9.55	465,415
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	_	10,471	9.55	41,456
Mark P. Sullivan	11/9/2009	_	_	_	65,000	_	_	620,750
Antonio J. Pietri	N/A	110,000	275,000	275,000	_	_	_	_
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	127,000	_	_	1,212,850
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	N/A	104,000	260,000	260,000	_	_	_	_
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	72,000	_	_	687,600
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	_	9,600	9.55	38,016
	11/9/2009		_			5,760	9.55	22,810
Frederic G. Hammond	N/A	56,000	140,000	140,000	_	_	_	_
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	52,000	_	_	496,600
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	_	9,600	9.55	38,016
	11/9/2009	_	_	_	_	5,760	9.55	22,810

<sup>(1)</sup> Consists of performance-based cash incentive bonus awards under the 2010 Executive Plan. Actual amounts of awards are set forth in the summary compensation table above to the extent they have been determined and paid as of the date of this prospectus.

<sup>(2)</sup> Under the 2010 Executive Plan, the compensation committee is also permitted to make discretionary bonus payments in excess of the "Maximum." Any such amounts would be reflected under the "Bonus" column in the summary compensation table above.

<sup>(3)</sup> Represents restricted stock units granted under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.

<sup>(4)</sup> Represents stock options granted under the Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan.

# Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth certain information as to unexercised options and stock awards held at the end of fiscal 2010 by our NEOs.

		Option .	Stock Awards			
	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable(1)	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price (\$)(2)	Option Expiration Date(3)	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)(6)
Mark E. Fusco	24,000	_	\$ 8.12	12/10/2013	_	_
	1,100,000	_	5.73	3/21/2015	_	_
	500,000	_	5.27	9/15/2015	_	_
	187,500	12,500	10.42	11/17/2016	_	_
	96,000	32,000	9.55	11/8/2019	_	_
	_	_	_	_	6,250(4)	\$ 68,063
	_	_	_	_	25,000(5)	272,250
	_	_	_	_	83,334(5)	907,507
	_	_	_	_	125,250(5)	1,363,973
Mark P. Sullivan	_	_	_	_	48,750(5)	530,888
Antonio J. Pietri	6,000		14.05	4/0/2011		
Alitoillo J. Pietri	6,000	_	14.05	4/9/2011 8/15/2013	_	_
	5,188 21,994	_	3.25 6.57	10/13/2014	<del></del>	_
	31,250	_	5.27	9/13/2015	<del></del>	_
	18,750	1,250	10.42	11/14/2016	<del></del>	_
	10,750	1,230	10.42	11/14/2010	625(4)	6,806
					22,500(5)	245,025
					15,000(5)	163,350
	_	_	_	_	16,750(5)	182,408
Manolis Kotzabasakis	7,500	_	30.75	10/17/2010	10,730(3)	102,400
Widilolls Kotzabasakis	10,000		14.05	4/9/2011	_	
	9,300		2.98	8/16/2012	_	
	93,277		2.75	8/15/2013		
	205,211		2.75	8/15/2013		
	37,500	_	6.57	10/13/2014	_	_
	70,000	_	5.27	9/13/2015	_	_
	22,500	1,500	10.42	11/14/2016		
	11,520	3,840	9.55	11/8/2019		_
		-			750(4)	8,168
	_	_		_	15,000(5)	163,350
	_	_	_	_	3,000(5)	32,670
	_	_		_	22,500(5)	245,025
					,= = = (= )	-,-
Frederic G. Hammond	200,000	_	5.27	9/13/2015	_	_
	22,500	1,500	10.42	11/14/2016	_	_
	11,520	3,840	9.55	11/8/2019	_	_
	_	_	_	_	750(4)	8,168
	_	_	_	_	15,000(5)	163,350
	_	_	_	_	10,000(5)	108,900
	_	_	_	_	3,000(5)	32,670

<sup>(1)</sup> In connection with our failure to timely file reports under the Securities Exchange Act and consequent lack of an effective registration statement covering shares issuable in connection with certain equity grant awards, in December 2007 the board

- of directors voted to extend the period of time within which such awards may be exercised. Certain of these awards are subject to this extension.
- (2) Each option has an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock at the time of grant as reported on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on the date of grant.
- (3) The expiration date of each option occurs ten years after the grant of such option.
- (4) Each restricted stock unit becomes exercisable subject to the holder's continued employment with us as to 25% on achievement of specified performance goals and the balance in twelve equal quarterly installments thereafter.
- (5) See pages 103 and 104 of this prospectus for information regarding the vesting terms of these awards.
- (6) The closing price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on June 30, 2010 was \$10.89.

Remaining vesting dates for each outstanding option award held by the NEOs are as follows:

		Number of Shares Underlying Unvested Awards						
Vesting Date	Exercise Price(\$)	Mark E. Fusco	Mark P. Sullivan	Antonio J. Pietri	Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	Frederic G. Hammond		
9/30/2010	\$ 10.42	12,500	_	1,250	1,500	1,500		
9/30/2010	9.55	8,000	_	_	960	960		
12/31/2010	9.55	8,000	_	_	960	960		
3/31/2011	9.55	8,000	_	_	960	960		
6/30/2011	9.55	8,000	_	_	960	960		

Remaining vesting dates for each outstanding restricted stock unit held by the NEOs are as follows:

	Number of Shares Underlying Unvested Awards						
Vesting Date	Mark E. Fusco	Mark P. Sullivan	Antonio J. Pietri	Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	Frederic G. Hammond		
Fiscal 2011							
09/30/2010	27,104	4,062	7,937	4,500	3,250		
12/31/2010	27,105	4,063	7,938	4,500	3,250		
03/31/2011	27,103	4,062	7,937	4,500	3,250		
06/30/2011	27,105	4,063	7,938	4,500	3,250		
Fiscal 2012							
09/30/2011	20,854	4,062	3,750	3,750	2,500		
12/31/2011	20,855	4,063	3,750	3,750	2,500		
03/31/2012	20,853	4,062	3,750	3,750	2,500		
06/30/2012	20,855	4,063	3,750	3,750	2,500		
Fiscal 2013							
09/30/2012	10,437	4,062	1,875	1,875	1,250		
12/31/2012	10,438	4,063	1,875	1,875	1,250		
03/31/2013	10,437	4,062	1,875	1,875	1,250		
06/30/2013	10,438	4,063	1,875	1,875	1,250		

## **Option Exercises and Stock Vested**

The table below details shares of common stock that vested under restricted stock units and options that were exercised by our NEOs during fiscal 2010.

			Stock Awa	ards
	Number of Shares Acquired on Exercise	Value Realized on Exercise(\$)	Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting(1)	Value Realized on Vesting(\$)
Mark E. Fusco	_	_	225,083	\$ 2,223,630
Mark P. Sullivan	_	_	16,250	164,044
Antonio J. Pietri	_	_	75,250	737,441
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	28,247	\$ 205,956	34,500	341,085
Frederic G. Hammond	_	_	27,000	266,735

<sup>(1)</sup> With respect to shares acquired upon vesting of restricted stock units, each NEO elected to have shares withheld to pay associated income taxes. The number of shares reported represents the gross number prior to withholding of such shares.

## **Employment and Change in Control Agreements**

On December 7, 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Mark Fusco, pursuant to which Mr. Fusco agreed to serve as our President and Chief Executive Officer. Under this agreement, in the event of termination of Mr. Fusco's employment (other than for the reasons set forth below), including termination of his employment after a change in control (as defined below) or termination of employment by Mr. Fusco for "good reason" (which includes constructive termination, relocation, or reduction in salary or benefits), Mr. Fusco will be entitled to a lump sum severance payment equal to two times the sum of:

- the amount of Mr. Fusco's annual base salary in effect immediately prior to notice of termination (or in the event of termination after a change in control, then the amount of his annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the change in control, if higher); and
- the amount of the average of the annual bonuses paid to Mr. Fusco for the three years (or the number of years employed, if less) immediately preceding the notice of termination (or in the event of termination after a change in control, then the amount of the average annual bonuses paid to Mr. Fusco for the three years (or the number of years employed, if less) immediately prior to the change in control, if higher) or the occurrence of a change in control, as the case may be.

In addition, in lieu of any further life, disability, and accident insurance benefits otherwise due to Mr. Fusco following his termination (other than for the reasons set forth below), including termination after a change in control, we will pay Mr. Fusco a lump sum amount equal to the estimated cost (as determined in good faith by us) to Mr. Fusco of providing such benefits, to the extent that Mr. Fusco is eligible to receive such benefits immediately prior to notice of termination, for a period of two years commencing on the date of termination. We will also pay all health insurance due to Mr. Fusco for a period of two years commencing on the date of termination.

Mr. Fusco's employment agreement provides that the payments received by him relating to termination of his employment will be increased in the event that these payments would subject him to excise tax as a parachute payment under IRC Section 4999. The increase would be equal to an amount necessary for Mr. Fusco to receive, after payment of such tax, cash in an amount equal to the amount he would have received in the absence of such tax. However, the increased payment will not be made if the total severance payment, if so increased, would not exceed 110% of the highest amount that could be paid without causing an imposition of the excise tax. In that event, in lieu of an increased payment, the total severance payment will be reduced to such reduced amount. We have indemnified Mr. Fusco

for the amount of any penalty applicable to any payments Mr. Fusco receives from us as a result of his termination that is imposed by IRC Section 409A.

However, in the event that Mr. Fusco's employment is terminated for one or more of the following reasons, then Mr. Fusco will not be entitled to the severance payments described above:

- by us for "cause" (as defined below);
- by reason of Mr. Fusco's death or disability;
- by Mr. Fusco without good reason (unless such resignation occurs within 180 days following a change in control); or
- after Mr. Fusco shall have attained age 70.

Under the terms of Mr. Fusco's employment agreement, in the event of a "potential change in control" (as defined below), Mr. Fusco agrees to remain in our employment until the earliest of:

- three months after the date of such potential change in control;
- the date of a change in control;
- the date of termination by Mr. Fusco of his employment for good reason or by reason of death or retirement; and
- our termination of Mr. Fusco's employment for any reason.

For the purposes of Mr. Fusco's employment agreement, "cause" for our terminating Mr. Fusco means:

- the willful and continued failure by Mr. Fusco to substantially perform his duties after written demand by the board;
- willful engagement by Mr. Fusco in gross misconduct materially injurious to us; or
- a plea by Mr. Fusco of guilty or no contest to a felony charge.

For the purposes of Mr. Fusco's employment agreement, a "change in control" is deemed to have occurred if any of the following conditions shall have been satisfied:

- continuing directors cease to constitute more than two-thirds of the membership of the board;
- any person or entity acquires, directly or indirectly, beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the combined voting power of our then-outstanding voting securities;
- a change in control occurs of a nature that we would be required to report on a current report on Form 8-K or pursuant to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A or any similar item, schedule or form under the Securities Exchange Act, as in effect at the time of the change, whether or not we are then subject to such reporting requirement, including our merger or consolidation with any other corporation, other than:
  - a merger or consolidation where (1) our voting securities outstanding immediately prior to such transaction continue to represent 51% or more of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the surviving or resulting entity outstanding immediately after such transaction, and (2) our directors immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continue to constitute more than two-thirds of the membership of the board of directors of the surviving or combined entity following such transaction; or
  - a merger or consolidation effected to implement our recapitalization (or similar transaction) in which no person or entity acquires 25% or more of the combined voting power of our then outstanding securities; or

• our stockholders approve a plan of complete liquidation or an agreement for the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets (or any transaction having a similar effect).

For the purposes of Mr. Fusco's employment agreement, a "potential change in control" is deemed to have occurred if any of the following conditions shall have been satisfied:

- we enter into an agreement, the consummation of which would result in the occurrence of a change in control;
- we or anyone else publicly announces an intention to take or to consider taking actions which, if consummated, would constitute a change in control:
- any person or entity becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 15% or more of the combined voting power of our then-outstanding securities (entitled to vote generally for the election of directors); or
- the board adopts a resolution to the effect that, for purposes of Mr. Fusco's employment agreement, a "potential change in control" has occurred.

On October 28, 2005, we entered into an amendment to our employment agreement with Mr. Fusco. This amendment provides that in the event Mr. Fusco becomes entitled, on the terms and conditions set forth in the employment agreement, to receive a severance payment upon termination of his employment, such a payment must be made within 30 days after the Date of Termination (as defined in the employment agreement). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the severance payment will constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" subject to the provisions of IRC Section 409A, then the payment instead will be due within 15 days after the earlier of (i) the expiration of six months and one day following the Date of Termination or (ii) Mr. Fusco's death following the Date of Termination. Mr. Fusco's agreement was amended and restated on October 3, 2007 to comply with the applicable provisions of IRC Section 409A.

We have executive retention agreements with the following executive officers: Mark Sullivan, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; Antonio Pietri, our Executive Vice President of Field Operations; Manolis Kotzabasakis, our Executive Vice President, Sales and Strategy; and Frederic Hammond, our Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary; each of whom we refer to as a specified executive.

Pursuant to the terms of each executive retention agreement, if the specified executive's employment is terminated prior to a change in control without cause, the specified executive will be entitled to the following:

- payment of an amount equal to the specified executive's annual base salary then in effect, payable over twelve months;
- payment of an amount equal to the specified executive's total target bonus for the fiscal year, pro-rated for the portion of the fiscal year elapsed prior to termination, payable in one lump sum;
- payment of an amount equal to the cost to the specified executive of providing life, disability and accident insurance benefits, payable in one lump sum, for a period of one year; and
- continuation of medical, dental and vision insurance coverage to which the specified executive was entitled prior to termination for a period of one year.

In the event the specified executive's employment is terminated without cause within twelve months following a change in control or by the specified executive for good reason (which includes constructive termination, relocation, a reduction in salary or benefits, or our breach of any employment

agreement with the specified executive or a failure to pay benefits when due), then the specified executive shall be entitled to the following:

- payment of an amount equal to the sum of the specified executive's annual base salary then in effect and the specified executive's target bonus for the then-current fiscal year, payable in a single installment;
- payment of an amount equal to the cost to the specified executive of providing life, disability and accident insurance benefits, payable in a single installment, for a period of one year;
- continuation of medical, dental and vision insurance coverage to which the specified executive was entitled prior to termination for a period of one year; and
- full vesting of (a) all of the specified executive's options to purchase shares of our stock, which options may be exercised by the specified executive for a period of twelve months following the date of termination and (b) all restricted stock and restricted stock units then held by the specified executive.

Each executive retention agreement provides that the total payments received by the specified executive relating to termination of his/her employment will be reduced to an amount equal to the highest amount that could be paid to the specified executive without subjecting such payment to excise tax as a parachute payment under IRC Section 409A, provided that no reduction shall be made if the amount by which these payments are reduced exceeds 110% of the value of any additional taxes that the specified executive would incur if the total payments were not reduced.

## For the purposes of each agreement:

- "change in control" means (a) the acquisition of 50% or more of either the then-outstanding shares of our common stock or the combined voting power of our then-outstanding securities; (b) such time as the members of the board immediately prior to the change in control do not continue to constitute the majority of our directors following the change in control; (c) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or share exchange involving our company, unless the transaction would not result in a change in ownership of 50% or more of both our then-outstanding common stock and the combined voting power of our then-outstanding securities; or (d) our liquidation or dissolution;
- "cause" means (a) the willful and continued failure by a specified executive to substantially perform his/her duties for us after delivery by the board of a written demand for performance (other than any such failure resulting from the executive's incapacity due to physical or mental illness, or any such failure after the executive gives us notice of termination for good reason), and a failure by the specified executive to cure the performance failure within 30 days; or (b) the willful engaging by the specified executive in gross misconduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to us; and
- "good reason" means constructive termination of the specified executive, relocation, a reduction in the specified executive's salary or benefits, our breach of any employment agreement with the specified executive or our failure to pay benefits when due.

Each executive retention agreement terminates on the earliest to occur of (a) July 31, 2011, (b) the first anniversary of a change in control, and (c) our payment of all amounts due to the specified executive following a change in control. Each agreement is subject to automatic renewal on August 1 of each year, unless we give notice of termination at least seven days prior to the renewal date.

## Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

The following table sets forth estimated compensation that would have been payable to each of our NEOs as severance or upon a change in control of our company under two alternative scenarios, assuming the termination triggering severance payments or a change in control took place on June 30, 2010:

Name	Cash Payment (\$)(1)	Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options (\$)(2)	Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock Units (\$)(3)	Welfare Benefits (\$)(4)	Total (\$)
Mark E. Fusco					
Termination without cause or with good reason prior to change in control  Change in control with termination without cause	\$ 2,081,654	_	_	\$ 30,250	\$ 2,111,904
or with good reason	2,081,654	\$ 48,755	\$ 2,611,792	30,250	4,772,451
Mark P. Sullivan  Termination without cause or with good reason prior to change in control	475,827	_	_	12,056	487,883
Change in control with termination without cause or with good reason	475,827	_	530,888	12,056	1,018,771
Antonio J. Pietri Termination without cause or with good reason prior to change in control Change in control with termination without cause	575,827			15,125	590,952
or with good reason	575,827	588	597,589	15,125	1,189,129
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis Termination without cause or with good reason prior to change in control Change in control with termination without cause	525,827	_	_	15,125	540,952
or with good reason	525,827	5,851	449,213	15,125	996,016
Frederic G. Hammond Termination without cause or with good reason					
prior to change in control  Change in control with termination without cause	415,827	_	_	15,065	430,892
or with good reason	415,827	5,851	313,088	15,065	749,830

<sup>(1)</sup> Amounts shown reflect payments based on salary and bonus as well as payment of estimated cost of life, disability and accident insurance benefits during the agreement period.

<sup>(2)</sup> Amounts shown represent the value of stock options upon the applicable triggering event described in the first column. The value of stock options is based on the difference between the exercise price of the options and \$10.89, which was the closing price of the common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on the last trading day of fiscal 2010 June 30, 2010

<sup>(3)</sup> Amounts shown represent the value of restricted stock units upon the applicable triggering event described in the first column, based on \$10.89, which was the closing price of the common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on the last trading day of fiscal 2010, June 30, 2010.

<sup>(4)</sup> Amounts shown represent the estimated cost of providing employment-related benefits during the agreement period.

#### CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

## **Board Determination of Independence**

The board of directors uses the definition of independence established by The NASDAQ Stock Market. Under applicable NASDAQ rules, a director qualifies as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of the board, he or she does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The board has determined that Donald Casey, Gary Haroian, Stephen Jennings and Joan McArdle do not have any relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director of our company, and that each of these directors therefore is an "independent director" as defined in NASDAQ Listing Rule 5605(a)(2).

## **Related-Party Transactions**

The following discussion relates to certain transactions that involve both our company and one of our executive officers, directors, director nominees or five percent stockholders, each of whom we refer to as a "related party." For purposes of this discussion, a "related-party transaction" is a transaction, arrangement or relationship:

- in which we participate;
- that involves an amount in excess of \$120,000; and
- in which a related party has a direct or indirect material interest.

Since July 1, 2007, there have been no related-party transactions, except for the executive officer and director compensation arrangements described in the sections "Management—Director Compensation" and "—Executive Compensation."

The board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any related-party transaction. If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to as a "related person transaction," the related person must report the proposed related person transaction to our General Counsel. The policy calls for the proposed related person transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by the audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the audit committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the chairman of the audit committee to review and, if deemed appropriate, approve proposed related person transactions that arise between audit committee meetings, subject to ratification by the audit committee at its next meeting. Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually.

A related person transaction reviewed under the policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the audit committee after full disclosure of the related person's interest in the transaction. As appropriate for the circumstances, the audit committee will review and consider:

- the related person's interest in the related person transaction;
- the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the related person transaction;
- the approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person's interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss;
- whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business;
- whether the terms of the transaction are no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached with an unrelated third party;

- the purpose of, and the potential benefits to us of, the transaction; and
- any other information regarding the related person transaction or the related person in the context of the proposed transaction that would be
  material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.

The audit committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if the audit committee determines that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in our best interests. The audit committee may impose any conditions on the related person transaction that it deems appropriate.

In addition to the transactions that are excluded by the instructions to the SEC's related person transaction disclosure rule, the board has determined that the following transactions do not create a material direct or indirect interest on behalf of related persons and, therefore, are not related person transactions for purposes of this policy:

- interests arising solely from the related person's position as an executive officer of another entity (whether or not the person is also a director of such entity), that is a participant in the transaction, where (a) the related person and all other related persons own in the aggregate less than a 10% equity interest in such entity and (b) the related person and his or her immediate family members are not involved in the negotiation of the terms of the transaction and do not receive any special benefits as a result of the transaction, and
- a transaction that is specifically contemplated by provisions of our charter or bylaws.

The policy provides that transactions involving compensation of executive officers shall be reviewed and approved by the compensation committee in the manner specified in its charter.

Since July 1, 2007, there have been no related-party transactions that were specifically contemplated by our charter or bylaws and excepted from the definition of related-party transactions according to the preceding exception.

## PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following tables set forth certain information, as of August 16, 2010, with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock by:

- each person or group that we know to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock;
- each of our executive officers and directors;
- our executive officers and directors as a group; and
- each of the selling stockholders.

As of August 16, 2010, a total of 92,891,514 shares of common stock were outstanding. In the following table, (a) shares under "Right to Acquire" include shares subject to options and restricted stock units that were vested as of August 16, 2010 or will vest within 60 days of August 16, 2010 and (b) unless otherwise noted, each person identified possesses, to our knowledge, sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares listed, subject to community property laws where applicable. Shares not outstanding but deemed beneficially owned by virtue of the right of a person to acquire those shares are treated as outstanding only for purposes of determining the number and percent of shares of common stock owned by such person or group. The information in this table is based upon information supplied by executive officers, directors, principal and selling stockholders and Schedules 13G filed with the SEC. The address of all of our executive officers and directors is in care of Aspen Technology, Inc., 200 Wheeler Road, Burlington, Massachusetts 01803.

	Prior to Offering						After Offering			
Name of Holder	Outstanding Shares	Right to Acquire	Total Number	%	Shares Offered	Outstanding Shares	Right to Acquire	Total Number	%	
5% Stockholders										
Funds managed by Advent International Corporation 75 State Street, 29th Floor Boston, MA 02109	29,512,336	_	29,512,336	31.8%	15,000,000	14,512,336	_	14,512,336	15.6%	
Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc 6300 Lamar Avenue Overland Park, KS 66202	14,683,233	_	14,683,233	15.8	_	14,683,233	_	14,683,233	15.8	
Third Point LLC 390 Park Avenue New York, New York 10022	5,021,000	_	5,021,000	5.4	_	5,021,000	_	5,021,000	5.4	
Cadian Capital Management, LLC 461 Fifth Avenue, 24th Floor New York, New York 10017	4,785,818	_	4,785,818	5.2	_	4,785,818	_	4,785,818	5.2	
Alydar Partners, LLC 222 Berkeley Street 17 <sup>th</sup> Floor Boston, MA 02116	3,989,884	_	3,989,884	4.3	_	3,989,884	_	3,989,884	4.3	

	Prior to Offering				After Offering				
	Outstanding	Right to	Total		Shares	Outstanding	Right to	Total	
Name of Holder	Shares	Acquire	Number	%	Offered	Shares	Acquire	Number	%
Named Executive Officers and L	Directors								
Mark E. Fusco	201,937	1,970,054	2,171,991	2.3	_	201,937	1,970,054	2,171,991	2.3
Mark. P. Sullivan	11,089	9,667	20,756	*	_	11,089	9,667	20,756	*
Manolis E. Kotzabasakis	30,770	479,373	510,143	*	_	30,770	479,373	510,143	*
Frederic G. Hammond	26,079	242,065	268,144	*	_	26,079	242,065	268,144	*
Antonio J. Pietri	56,315	97,974	154,289	*	_	56,315	97,974	154,289	*
Joan C. McArdle	186,492	78,848	265,340	*	_	186,492	78,848	265,340	*
Stephen M. Jennings	11,492	78,848	90,340	*	_	11,492	78,848	90,340	*
Michael Pehl	11,492	63,300	74,792	*	_	11,492	63,300	74,792	*
Donald P. Casey	11,492	51,300	62,792	*	_	11,492	51,300	62,792	*
Gary E. Haroian	11,492	51,300	62,792	*	_	11,492	51,300	62,792	*
David M. McKenna	11,492	27,300	38,792	*	_	11,492	27,300	38,792	*
All executive officers and									
directors as a group									
(11 persons)	395,142	3,150,029	3,545,171	3.7	_	395,142	3,150,029	3,545,171	3.7
Selling Stockholders									
Advent Energy II Limited					990,010				
Partnership	1,947,835	_	1,947,835	2.1		957,825	_	957,825	1.0
Advent Partners II Limited									
Partnership	208,935	_	208,935	*	106,194	102,741	_	102,741	*
Advent Partners DMC III									
Limited Partnership	109,478	_	109,478	*	55,644	53,834	_	53,834	*
Advent Partners GPE-III	,		ĺ		ĺ	ĺ		ĺ	
Limited Partnership	35,378	_	35,378	*	17,982	17,396	_	17,396	*
Advent Partners GPE-IV									
Limited Partnership	182,597	_	182,597	*	92,807	89,790	_	89,790	*
Advent Partners (NA) GPE-III									
Limited Partnership	10,513	_	10,513	*	5,345	5,168	_	5,168	*
Advent PGGM Global									
Limited Partnership	413,151	_	413,151	*	209,990	203,161	_	203,161	*
Digital Media &									
Communications III									
Limited Partnership	1,907,638	_	1,907,638	2.1	969,580	938,058	_	938,058	1.0
Digital Media &									
Communications III-A									
Limited Partnership	944,435	_	944,435	1.0	480,020	464,415	_	464,415	*
Digital Media &									
Communications III-B									
Limited Partnership	236,057	_	236,057	*	119,980	116,077	_	116,077	*
Digital Media &									
Communications III-C									
Limited Partnership	3,777,641	_	3,777,641	4.1	1,920,030	1,857,611	_	1,857,611	2.0
Digital Media &									
Communications III-D									
C.V.	708,275	_	708,275	*	359,990	348,285	_	348,285	*
Digital Media &									
Communications III-E C.V.	472,218	_	472,218	*	240,010	232,208	_	232,208	*
Global Private Equity III	,		,		-,				
Limited Partnership	4,131,728	_	4,131,728	4.4	2,100,000	2,031,728	_	2,031,728	2.2
Global Private Equity IV	, , ,		, - ,		,,	, ,		,,	· ·
Limited Partnership	14,426,457	_	14,426,457	15.5	7,332,418	7,094,039	_	7,094,039	7.6
r	, .,		, -, -:		, ,	,,		,,	

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 1.0%

For information relating to the securities attributed to funds managed by Advent International Corporation, see "—Selling Stockholders" below.

The securities attributed to Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc. are beneficially owned by one or more open-end investment companies or other managed accounts that are advised or sub-advised by Ivy Investment Management Company, or IICO, an investment advisory subsidiary of Waddell & Reed

Financial, Inc., or WDR, or Waddell & Reed Investment Management Company, or WRIMCO, an investment advisory subsidiary of Waddell & Reed, Inc., or WRI. WRI is a broker-dealer and underwriting subsidiary of Waddell & Reed Financial Services, Inc., a parent holding company, or WRFSI. In turn, WRFSI is a subsidiary of WDR, a publicly traded company. The investment advisory contracts grant IICO and WRIMCO all investment and/or voting power over securities owned by such advisory clients. The investment sub-advisory contracts grant IICO and WRIMCO investment power over securities owned by such sub-advisory clients and, in most cases, voting power. Any investment restriction of a sub-advisory contract does not restrict investment discretion or power in a material manner. Therefore, IICO and/or WRIMCO may be deemed the beneficial owner of these securities.

The securities attributed to Third Point LLC are beneficially owned by Third Point LLC and Daniel S. Loeb and 3,700,900 of these securities are beneficially owned by Third Point LLC, Daniel S. Loeb, Third Point Offshore Master Fund, L.P. and Third Point Advisors II L.L.C.

The securities attributed to Cadian Capital Management, LLC are beneficially owed by Cadian Capital Management, LLC and Eric Bannasch.

The securities attributed to Alydar Partners, LLC include (a) 48,112 shares held by Alydar Fund, L.P., (b) 547,109 shares held by Alydar QP Fund, L.P., (c) 1,765,791 shares held by Alydar Fund Limited, (d) 12,260 shares held by Alysheba Fund, L.P., (e) 304,904 shares held by Alysheba QP Fund, L.P., (f) 1,154,267 shares held by Alysheba Fund Limited, (g) 15,508 shares held by Alysun Fund, L.P., (h) 89,642 shares held by Alysun QP Fund, L.P., and (i) 52,291 shares held by Alysun Fund Limited. John A. Murphy, an individual, is managing member of Alydar Capital, LLC and Alydar Partners, LLC, both Delaware limited liability companies, and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by these entities. Alydar QP Fund, L.P., Alysheba Fund, L.P., Alysheba QP Fund, L.P., Alysun Fund, L.P., and Malysun QP Fund, L.P., and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by these entities. Alydar Partners, LLC is the investment manager of Alydar Fund, L.P., Alydar QP Fund, L.P., Alysheba Fund, L.P., Alysun Fund, L.P., Alysun Fund Limited and Alysheba Fund Limited and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by these entities. John Murphy disclaims beneficial ownership of these securities.

The securities attributed to Ms. McArdle include 175,000 shares of common stock held by Massachusetts Capital Resource Company. Ms. McArdle serves as a senior vice president of Massachusetts Capital Resource Company and may be deemed to have shared voting power over these shares. Ms. McArdle disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares except to the extent of her pecuniary interest therein.

## Selling Stockholders

Advent International Corporation is a global private equity firm. Advent International Corporation is the General Partner of Advent Partners II Limited Partnership, Advent Partners DMC III Limited Partnership, Advent Partners GPE-IV Limited Partnership, Advent Partners GPE-III Limited Partnership, Advent Partners (NA) GPE-III Limited Partnership and Advent International Limited Partnership, which is in turn the general partner of Global Private Equity III Limited Partnership, Global Private Equity IV Limited Partnership, Advent PGGM Global Limited Partnership, Digital Media & Communications III-A Limited Partnership, Digital Media & Communications III-B Limited Partnership, Digital Media & Communications III-E C.V., and Advent Energy II Limited Partnership. These funds are the selling stockholders in this offering. With respect to the shares of our common stock held by the Advent funds, a group of individuals currently composed of Ernest G. Bachrach, David M. McKenna,

David M. Mussafer, Michael Pehl and Steven M. Tadler exercises voting and investment power over the shares beneficially owned by Advent International Corporation. Each of Mr. Bachrach, Mr. Mckenna, Mr. Mussafer, Mr. Pehl and Mr. Tadler disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Advent funds except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

The selling stockholders purchased an aggregate of 300,300 shares of our Series D-1 convertible preferred stock, or Series D-1 preferred, and related warrants in August 2003. They have converted all of the shares of Series D-1 preferred and have exercised all of the related warrants for shares of our common stock.

## Shares Available for Future Sale

Following completion of this offering, the shares of common stock held by the selling stockholders, will be eligible for resale in the public market, subject to volume limitations, under Rule 144 of the Securities Act and will have the benefit of demand and incidental registration rights granted by us. In connection with this offering, however, each of the selling stockholders has entered into a lock-up agreement as described below.

*Rule 144.* In general, under Rule 144, an affiliate who has beneficially owned shares of our common stock for at least one year would be entitled to sell within any three-month period a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:

- 1% of the number of shares of common stock then outstanding, which will equal 928,915 shares immediately after this offering (based on shares outstanding as of August 16, 2010); and
- the average weekly trading volume of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to the sale.

Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to manner of sale provisions, notice requirements and the availability of current public information about us.

Registration Rights. Under an investor rights agreement that we entered into as of August 14, 2003, we granted the selling stockholders, as the holders of Series D-1 preferred, registration rights with respect to the shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the Series D-1 preferred. We have filed the registration statement for this offering pursuant to an exercise of demand registration rights granted to the selling stockholders. Following the completion of this offering, we will be required to file up to three additional demand registration statements with the SEC upon the written request of one or more selling stockholders that request registration of securities having an aggregate market value of at least \$10,000,000. We are required to use our best efforts to cause any such registration statement to be declared effective for 45 days or up to 120 days if requested by the underwriter from the date the registration statement is declared effective or until the date on which all shares of common stock registered pursuant to such registration statement have been sold. The selling stockholders may not deliver a notice requesting a demand registration of any underwritten offering until at least 18 months after the closing of any prior underwritten offering, including this offering, registered pursuant to a demand registration request.

Under the investor rights agreement, we also have granted to the selling stockholders unlimited incidental, or "piggyback," registration rights to have the securities listed above included in any registration statement, subject to certain restrictions, which we propose to file (other than in connection with registration rights granted to other holders of our securities, or to register shares issued in an acquisition or in certain equity financings).

Under the investor rights agreement, we are obligated to pay all expenses we incur in connection with each registration, including all registration and filing fees, exchange listing fees, printing expenses,

fees and expenses of our counsel and of one separate counsel designated by the selling stockholders, state Blue Sky fees and expenses, and the expense of any special audits incident to or required by any such registration, but excluding underwriting discounts and commissions.

*Lock-up Agreements.* Each of the selling stockholders has agreed that, subject to limited exceptions, for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus it will not, without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.:

- offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for common stock or publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale, pledge or disposition;
- enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of our common stock; or
- make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to registration of any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock.

## Relationships with Selling Stockholders

The selling stockholders, as holders of shares of Series D-1 preferred, previously had the right to elect a number of our directors. Two of our seven current directors previously were elected by the selling stockholders in their capacities as holders of such shares of Series D-1 preferred.

Except for the foregoing, none of the selling stockholders or their affiliates has held any position or office with, or has otherwise had a material relationship with, our company or any of our subsidiaries within the past three years.

#### DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description summarizes the material terms of our capital stock, as well as relevant provisions of our certificate of incorporation, as amended, or our charter, and our by-laws and the Delaware General Corporation Law. For a complete description of the terms of our capital stock, please refer to our charter and by-laws.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 220,000,000 shares. These shares consist of 210,000,000 shares of common stock, \$0.10 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.10 par value per share, of which 400,000 shares were designated as Series A participating cumulative preferred stock, 40,000 shares were designated as Series B-II convertible preferred stock, 20,000 shares were designated as Series B-II convertible preferred stock, 60,000 shares were designated as Series C preferred stock, 302,000 shares were designated as Series D-1 preferred and 65,000 shares were designated as Series D-2 convertible preferred stock. No shares of our preferred stock are outstanding, and no additional shares of the Series A, C, D-1 or D-2 preferred stock may be issued under our charter.

#### **Common Stock**

*Voting.* Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters to be voted upon by stockholders for each share held on the record date for such vote.

*Dividends*. Subject to any preference rights of holders of preferred stock, holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends, when, as and if declared by the board of directors, out of funds legally available for dividends.

*Liquidation.* Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in all of our assets available for distribution to stockholders in proportion to the amount of common stock they own. The amount available for common stockholders is calculated after our payment of liabilities. Holders of preferred stock will receive their preferential share of our assets before the holders of common stock receive any assets.

Other Rights. Holders of common stock have no right to:

- convert the common stock into any other security,
- have the common stock redeemed, or
- purchase additional shares of common stock to maintain their proportionate ownership interest.

The common stock does not have any cumulative voting rights, which means that the holders of a majority of the shares can elect all the directors to be elected by common stockholders and that the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to elect any of those directors. All outstanding shares of common stock are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

## **Undesignated Preferred Stock**

Our charter authorizes the board of directors to issue, without any further action by the stockholders, preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, liquidation preferences, redemption privileges and sinking fund terms. The rights, preferences and restrictions of the preferred stock of each series are or will be fixed by the certificate of designations relating to that series. Any or all of the rights of a series of preferred

stock may be greater than the rights of the common stock. In addition, a series of preferred stock may have other rights, including economic rights senior to our common stock, so that the issuance of such preferred stock would adversely affect the market value of our common stock. The issuance of preferred stock may also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company without any action by the stockholders.

## Certain Provisions of Our Charter and By-Laws

We must comply with Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, an anti-takeover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a "business combination" with an "interested stockholder" for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. Generally, a "business combination" includes mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, an "interested stockholder" includes a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation's outstanding voting stock. The existence of this provision generally will have an anti-takeover effect for transactions not approved in advance by the board of directors, including discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by stockholders.

Our charter provides for the division of the board into three classes as nearly equal in size as possible with staggered three-year terms. In addition, our charter provides that directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the shares of capital stock of the corporation entitled to vote. Under our by-laws, any vacancy on the board of directors however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the board, may only be filled by vote of a majority of the directors then in office. The classification of the board and the limitations on the removal of directors and filling of vacancies could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, control of us.

Our charter also provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders at any annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may only be taken if it is properly brought before such meeting and may not be taken by written consent in lieu of a meeting. Our charter further provides that special meetings of the stockholders may only be called by our chairman of the board, our chief executive officer or, if none, our president, or by the board. Under our by-laws, in order for any matter to be considered properly brought before a meeting, a stockholder must comply with certain requirements regarding advance notice to us. The foregoing provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next stockholders' meeting stockholder actions that are favored by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities. These provisions may also discourage another person from making a tender offer for our common stock, because such person, even if it acquired a majority of our outstanding voting securities, would be able to take action as a stockholder (such as electing new directors or approving a merger) only at a duly called stockholders' meeting, and not by written consent.

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend a corporation's charter or by-laws, unless a corporation's charter or by-laws, as the case may be, requires a greater percentage. Our charter and by-laws require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the voting power of all the shares of our capital stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote to amend or repeal any of the provisions described in the prior two paragraphs.

Our charter contains certain provisions permitted under the Delaware General Corporation Law relating to the liability of directors. The provisions eliminate a director's liability for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty, except in certain circumstances involving wrongful acts, such as the breach of a director's duty of loyalty or acts or omissions that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law. Further, our certificate of incorporation contains provisions to indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling our company pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the opinion of the SEC is that such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

#### UNDERWRITING

The selling stockholders are offering the shares of common stock described in this prospectus through a number of underwriters. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. are acting as joint book-running managers of the offering and as representatives of the underwriters. We and the selling stockholders have entered into an underwriting agreement with the underwriters. Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, the selling stockholders have agreed to sell to the underwriters, and each underwriter has severally agreed to purchase, at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, the number of shares of common stock listed next to its name in the following table:

Name	Number of Shares
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC	
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.	
William Blair & Company, L.L.C.	
Canaccord Genuity Inc.	
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	
Cowen and Company, LLC	
Pacific Crest Securities LLC	
Total	15,000,000

The underwriters are committed to purchase all the shares of common stock offered by the selling stockholders if they purchase any shares. The underwriting agreement also provides that if an underwriter defaults, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may also be increased or the offering may be terminated.

The underwriters propose to offer the shares of common stock directly to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to certain dealers at that price less a concession not in excess of \$ per share. Any such dealers may resell shares to certain other brokers or dealers at a discount of up to \$ per share from the public offering price. After the initial public offering of the shares, the offering price and other selling terms may be changed by the underwriters. Sales of shares made outside of the United States may be made by affiliates of the underwriters.

The underwriters have an over-allotment option to purchase up to 2,250,000 additional shares of common stock from the selling stockholders to cover sales of shares by the underwriters that exceed the number of shares specified in the table above. The underwriters have 30 days from the date of this prospectus to exercise this over-allotment option to purchase additional shares. If any shares are purchased with this over-allotment option, the underwriters will purchase shares in approximately the same proportion as shown in the table above. If any additional shares of common stock are purchased, the underwriters will offer the additional shares on the same terms as those on which the shares are being offered.

The underwriting discounts and commissions are equal to the public offering price per share of common stock less the amount paid by the underwriters to the selling stockholders per share of common stock. The underwriting discounts and commissions are \$ per share. The following table shows the per share and total underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid to the underwriters by the selling stockholders assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option.

## **Underwriting Discounts and Commissions**

	Total Paid by Selling Stockholder		
Without	With full		
over-	over-		
allotment	allotment		
exercise	exercise		
\$	\$		
\$	\$		

We estimate that the total expenses of this offering, including registration, filing and listing fees, printing fees and legal and accounting expenses, but excluding the underwriting discounts and commissions, will be \$850,000.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the websites maintained by one or more underwriters, or selling group members, if any, participating in the offering. The underwriters may agree to allocate a number of shares to underwriters and selling group members for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the representatives to underwriters and selling group members that may make Internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations.

We have agreed that, subject to limited exceptions, for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus we will not, without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.:

- offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, or file with the SEC a registration statement under the Securities Act relating to, any shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our common stock, or publicly disclose the intention to make any such offer, pledge, sale, disposition or filing, or
- enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of any shares of our common stock or any such other securities.

Our directors and executive officers and the selling stockholders have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters prior to the commencement of this offering pursuant to which each of these persons or entities has agreed that, subject to limited exceptions, for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus it will not, without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.:

- offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for any shares of our common stock or publicly disclose the intention to make any such offer, pledge, sale or disposition,
- enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of any shares of our common stock or any such other securities, or

 make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to registration of any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock.

We and the selling stockholders have agreed to indemnify the several underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "AZPN."

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, which involves making bids for, or purchasing and selling shares of, common stock in the open market for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common stock while this offering is in progress. These stabilizing transactions may include making short sales of the common stock, which involves the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares of common stock than they are required to purchase in this offering, and purchasing shares of common stock on the open market to cover positions created by short sales. Short sales may be "covered" shorts, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the underwriters' over-allotment option referred to above, or may be "naked" shorts, which are short positions in excess of that amount. The underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising their over-allotment option, in whole or in part, or by purchasing shares in the open market. In making this determination, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market compared to the price at which the underwriters may purchase shares through the over-allotment option. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the common stock in the open market that could adversely affect investors who purchase in this offering. To the extent that the underwriters create a naked short position, they will purchase shares in the open market to cover the position.

The underwriters have advised us that, pursuant to Regulation M of the Securities Act, they may also engage in other activities that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the common stock, including the imposition of penalty bids. This means that, if the representatives of the underwriters purchase common stock in the open market in stabilizing transactions or to cover short sales, the representatives can require the underwriters that sold those shares as part of this offering to repay the underwriting discount received by them.

These activities may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of the common stock or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common stock, and, as a result, the price of the common stock may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in the open market. If the underwriters commence these activities, they may discontinue them at any time. The underwriters may carry out these transactions on The NASDAQ Global Select Market, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.

In addition, in connection with this offering certain of the underwriters (and selling group members) may engage in passive market making transactions in our common stock on The NASDAQ Stock Market prior to the pricing and completion of this offering. Passive market making consists of displaying bids on The NASDAQ Stock Market no higher than the bid prices of independent market makers and making purchases at prices no higher than these independent bids and effected in response to order flow. Net purchases by a passive market maker on each day are generally limited to a specified percentage of the passive market maker's average daily trading volume in the common stock during a specified period and must be discontinued when such limit is reached. Passive market making may cause the price of our common stock to be higher than the price that otherwise would exist in the open market in the absence of these transactions. If passive market making is commenced, it may be discontinued at any time.

Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the underwriters that would permit a public offering of the securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The securities offered by this prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any such securities be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this prospectus comes are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.

This document is only being distributed to and is only directed at (i) persons who are outside the United Kingdom or (ii) to investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the "Order") or (iii) high net worth entities, and other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling with Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as "relevant persons"). The securities are only available to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, purchase or otherwise acquire such securities will be engaged in only with, relevant persons. Any person who is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this document or any of its contents.

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each a "Relevant Member State"), from and including the date on which the European Union Prospectus Directive (the "EU Prospectus Directive") is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") an offer of securities described in the prospectus may not be made to the public in that Relevant Member State prior to the publication of a prospectus in relation to the shares which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the EU Prospectus Directive, except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of shares to the public in that Relevant Member State at any time:

- to legal entities which are authorized or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorized or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;
- to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than €43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turnover of more than €50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts;
- to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the book-running managers for any such offer; or
- in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the Issuer of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of securities to the public" in relation to any securities in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the securities, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the EU Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the expression EU Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

The shares may not be offered or sold by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance

(Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (ii) to "professional investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the shares may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder.

This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the shares may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, or the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the shares are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary is an accredited investor, shares, debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the shares under Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or (3) by operation of law.

The securities have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan (the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law) and each underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell any securities, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), or to others for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

This prospectus is not a formal disclosure document and has not been lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, or ASIC. It does not purport to contain all information that an investor or their professional advisers would expect to find in a prospectus for the purposes of Chapter 6D.2 of the Australian Corporations Act 2001, or the Act, in relation to the securities or our company.

This prospectus is not an offer to retail investors in Australia generally. Any offer of securities in Australia is made on the condition that the recipient is a "sophisticated investor" within the meaning of section 708(8) of the Act or a "professional investor" within the meaning of section 708(11) of the Act, or on condition that the offer to that recipient can be brought within the exemption for 'Small-Scale Offerings' (within the meaning of section 708(1) of the Act). If any recipient does not satisfy the criteria for these exemptions, no applications for securities will be accepted from that recipient. Any

offer to a recipient in Australia, and any agreement arising from acceptance of the offer, is personal and may only be accepted by the recipient.

If a recipient on-sells their securities within 12 months of their issue, that person will be required to lodge a disclosure document with ASIC unless either:

- the sale is pursuant to an offer received outside Australia or is made to a "sophisticated investor" within the meaning of 708(8) of the Act or a "professional investor" within the meaning of section 708(11) of the Act; or
- it can be established that our company issued, and the recipient subscribed for, the securities without the purpose of the recipient on-selling them or granting, issuing or transferring interests in, or options or warrants over them.

This prospectus has not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Registrar of Companies in India. This prospectus or any other material relating to these securities may not be circulated or distributed, directly or indirectly, to the public or any members of the public in India. Further, persons into whose possession this prospectus comes are required to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. Each prospective investor is advised to consult its advisors about the particular consequences to it of an investment in these securities. Each prospective investor is also advised that any investment in these securities by it is subject to the regulations prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India and the Foreign Exchange Management Act and any regulations framed thereunder.

Our securities may not be offered, sold and delivered directly or indirectly, or offered or sold to any person for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of Korea except pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of Korea, including the Securities and Exchange Act and the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law and the decrees and regulations thereunder. Our securities have not been registered with the Financial Supervisory Commission of Korea for public offering in Korea. Furthermore, our securities may not be resold to Korean residents unless the purchaser of our securities complies with all applicable regulatory requirements (including but not limited to government approval requirements under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law and its subordinate decrees and regulations) in connection with the purchase of our securities.

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates have provided in the past to use and our affiliates and may provide from time to time in the future certain commercial banking, financial advisory, investment banking and other services for us and our affiliates in the ordinary course of their business, for which they have received customary fees and commissions. In addition, from time to time, certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may effect transactions for their own account or the account of customers, and hold on behalf of themselves or their customers, long or short positions in our debt or equity securities or loans, and may do so in the future.

## **LEGAL MATTERS**

The validity of the common stock offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Cooley LLP, Boston, Massachusetts. The underwriters have been represented by Goodwin Procter LLP, Boston, Massachusetts.

## **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Aspen Technology, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2010, have been included herein and in the registration statement in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, appearing elsewhere herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of common stock to be sold by the selling stockholders in this offering. The registration statement, including the attached exhibits and schedule, contains additional relevant information about us and our common stock. This prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and the exhibits and schedule thereto. The rules and regulations of the SEC allow us to omit from this prospectus certain information included in the registration statement. We also are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and file reports and other information with the SEC.

For further information about us and our common stock, you may inspect a copy of the registration statement and the exhibits and schedule to the registration statement without charge at the offices of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain copies of all or any part of the registration statement from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 upon the payment of the prescribed fees. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website at *www.sec.gov* that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants like us that file electronically with the SEC. You can also inspect our registration statement on this website. This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the SEC. The registration statement contains more information than this prospectus about us and our common stock, including certain exhibits. You can obtain a copy of the registration statement from the SEC at the address listed above or from the SEC's website.

# INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	<u>F-2</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008	F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2010 and 2009	<u>F-</u> 2
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended June 30,	
2010, 2009 and 2008	<u>F-5</u>
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-7

## Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders Aspen Technology, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aspen Technology, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit) and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2010. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Boston, Massachusetts September 1, 2010

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

		Year Ended June 30,						
	_	2010 2009 2008 (In thousands, except per share data)						
Revenue:		(In thousar	ıds,	except per si	iare	data)		
Subscription	\$	11,071	\$	_	\$			
Software	Ψ	42,920	Ψ	179,591	Ψ	168,404		
Total subscription and software(1)	_	53,991	_	179,591	_	168,404		
Services and other		112,353		131,989		143,209		
Total revenue	_	166,344	-	311,580	-	311,613		
	_	100,344	_	311,300	_	311,013		
Cost of revenue:		C 405		10.400		45.046		
Subscription and software		6,437		12,409		15,916		
Services and other	_	59,673		63,411		69,077		
Total cost of revenue	_	66,110	_	75,820	_	84,993		
Gross profit		100,234		235,760		226,620		
Operating expenses:	_							
Selling and marketing(2)		97,002		84,126		94,965		
Research and development(2)		48,228		46,375		49,899		
General and administrative(2)		63,246		58,256		54,496		
Restructuring charges		1,128		2,446		8,623		
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets		_		623		_		
Total operating expenses		209,604		191,826		207,983		
(Loss) income from operations		(109,370)		43,934		18,637		
Interest income		19,324		22,698		23,784		
Interest expense		(8,455)		(10,516)		(17,783)		
Other (expense) income, net		(2,407)		(1,824)		3,386		
(Loss) income before provision for taxes	_	(100,908)		54,292		28,024		
Provision for income taxes		(6,537)		(1,368)		(3,078)		
Net (loss) income	\$	(107,445)	\$	52,924	\$	24,946		
(Loss) earnings per common share:								
Basic	\$	(1.18)	\$	0.59	\$	0.28		
Diluted	\$	(1.18)	\$	0.57	\$	0.27		
Weighted average shares outstanding:								
Basic		91,247		90,053		89,640		
Diluted		91,247		92,578		94,092		

<sup>(1)</sup> In July 2009 we introduced our aspenONE licensing model under which license revenue is recognized over the term of a license contract. We previously recognized a substantial majority of our license revenue upfront, upon shipment of software. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations—New aspenONE Licensing Model."

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

<sup>(2)</sup> Certain costs previously recorded as selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to research and development expense and general and administrative expense, as described in note 2(y) to these consolidated financial statements.

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	June 30,		
	2010 (In thousar	2009	
	share		
ASSETS			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 124,945		
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$4,685 and \$5,809	31,738	49,882	
Current portion of installments receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,119 and			
\$1,015	51,729	64,531	
Current portion of collateralized receivables	25,675	38,695	
Unbilled services	1,860	298	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	5,236	9,413	
Prepaid income taxes	7,468	13,159	
Deferred tax assets	1,632	3,795	
Total current assets	250,283	301,986	
Non-current installments receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,196 and \$1,663	76,869	113,390	
Non-current collateralized receivables	25,755	57,671	
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net of accumulated depreciation of \$29,769 and			
\$27,438	8,057	9,604	
Computer software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of \$67,251 and \$65,094	2,367	3,918	
Goodwill	17,361	16,686	
Non-current deferred tax assets	11,597	10,788	
Other non-current assets	2,424	1,933	
Total assets	\$ 394,713	\$ 515,976	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		-	
Current liabilities:			
Current portion of secured borrowing	\$ 30,424	\$ 83,885	
Accounts payable	6,092	5,135	
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	49,890	47,882	
Income taxes payable	1,161	1,888	
Deferred revenue	67,852	62,801	
Current deferred tax liability	398	2,481	
Total current liabilities	155,817	204,072	
Long-term secured borrowing	45,711	28,211	
Long-term deferred revenue	19,427	16,070	
Non-current deferred tax liability	956	2,354	
Other non-current liabilities	31,832	35,859	
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11, 12 and 13)			
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, \$0.10 par value—Authorized—3,636 shares in			
2010 and 2009			
Issued and outstanding—none in 2010 or 2009	_		
Stockholders' equity:			
Common stock, \$0.10 par value—Authorized—210,000,000 shares			
Issued—92,668,280 shares in 2010 and 90,326,513 shares in 2009			
Outstanding—92,434,816 shares in 2010 and 90,093,049 shares in 2009	9,267	9,033	
Additional paid-in capital	515,729	497,478	
Accumulated deficit	(391,038)	(283,593)	
Accumulated other comprehensive income	7,525	7,005	
Treasury stock, at cost—233,464 shares of common stock in 2010 and 2009	(513)	(513)	
Total stockholders' equity	140,970	229,410	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 394,713	\$ 515,976	
Tom mornaco ana otocimoracio equity	=======================================	=======================================	

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

	Commo	n Stock			Accumulated	Treasury	Stock		
	Number of Shares	\$0.10 Par Value	Additional Paid-in Capital	Accumulated  Deficit  (In the	Other Comprehensive Income ousands, except sha	Number of Shares	Cost	Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)	Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance June 30, 2007	89,133,494	\$ 8,913	\$ 480,671	\$ (361,463)	•	233,464	\$ (513)	\$ 137,206	
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase									
plans	51,311	5	462	_	_	_	_	467	
Exercise of stock									
options	362,605	37	2,765	_	_	_	_	2,802	
Conversion of warrants	500,203	50	(50)	_	_	_	_	_	
Issuance of restricted stock units	187,913	19	(1,185)	_	_	_	_	(1,166)	
Stock-based compensation	_	_	10,425	_	_	_	_	10,425	
Translation adjustment	_	_	_	_	(1,867)	_	_	(1,867)	
Net income				24,946				24,946	24,946
Balance June 30, 2008	90,235,526	9,024	493,088	(336,517)	7,731	233,464	(513)	172,813	\$ 23,079
Issuance of restricted stock units	90,987	9	(369)	_	_	_	_	(360)	
Stock-based compensation	_	_	4,759	_	_	_	_	4,759	
Translation adjustment	_	_	_	_	(726)	_	_	(726)	
Net income				52,924				52,924	52,924
Balance June 30, 2009	90,326,513	9,033	497,478	(283,593)	7,005	233,464	(513)	229,410	\$ 52,198
Exercise of stock options	1,416,794	142	7,039	_	_	_	_	7,181	
Issuance of restricted stock units	924,973	92	(4,132)	_	_	_	_	(4,040)	
Stock-based compensation	_	_	15,344	_	_	_	_	15,344	
Translation adjustment Net loss				— (107,445)	520 —		_	520 (107,445)	\$ 520 (107,445)
Balance June 30, 2010	92,668,280	\$ 9,267	\$ 515,729	\$ (391,038)	\$ 7,525	233,464	\$ (513)	\$ 140,970	\$ (106,925)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

		Year Ended June 30, 2010 2009 2008				
		2010		2008		
Cash flows from operating activities:			(	thousands)		
Net (loss) income	\$	(107,445)	\$	52,924	\$	24,946
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating						
activities:						
Depreciation and amortization		6,551		8,712		10,917
Net foreign currency loss (gain)		3,227		3,828		(2,791)
Stock-based compensation		15,260		4,670		10,600
Amortization of debt costs		_		_		960
Loss on the disposal of property, equipment and leasehold improvements		53		466		43
Deferred income taxes		(2,167)		(911)		(9,375)
Provision for bad debts		585		(314)		(189)
Loss on impairment of goodwill and intangible assets		_		623		_
Changes in assets and liabilities:						
Accounts receivable		16,493		34,552		(38,264)
Unbilled services		(1,573)		2,842		7,188
Prepaid expenses, other assets and prepaid income taxes		8,905		(11,589)		(1,175)
Installments and collateralized receivable		92,450		(8,042)		18,889
Income taxes payable		(773)		(10,243)		(6,066)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		(1,612)		(16,784)		15,997
Deferred revenue		8,668		(27,702)		39,784
Net cash provided by operating activities		38,622		33,032		71,464
Cash flows from investing activities:						
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements		(2,652)		(2,972)		(9,424)
Capitalized computer software development costs		(699)		(2,382)		(780)
Purchase price adjustments on previous acquisitions				_		(187)
Net cash used in investing activities		(3,351)		(5,354)		(10,391)
Cash flows from financing activities:	_		_			
Proceeds from secured borrowings		9,501		30,153		74,129
Repayment of secured borrowings		(44,342)		(68,212)		(135,800)
Exercise of stock options and warrants		7,181				2,802
Payment of tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock		(4,040)		(360)		(1,166)
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plans		_		`—		467
Payments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations		_		_		(193)
Net cash used in financing activities		(31,700)	_	(38,419)		(59,761)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	_	(839)	_	(1,094)	_	469
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	_	2,732	_	(11,835)	_	1,781
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year		122,213		134,048		132,267
	ф.		ф		ф.	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$	124,945	<b>3</b>	122,213	\$	134,048
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:						
Income taxes paid	\$	2,541	\$	28,921	\$	5,726
Interest paid		8,057		10,550		16,782

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## (1) Operations

Aspen Technology, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, is a leading global provider of mission-critical process optimization software solutions, which are designed to manage and optimize plant and process design, operational performance, and supply chain planning. Our aspenONE software and related services have been developed specifically for companies in the process industries, which consist of energy, chemicals, engineering and construction, pharmaceuticals, consumer packaged goods, power metals and mining, pulp and paper, and biofuels. We operate globally through 26 offices in 22 countries as of June 30, 2010.

## (2) Significant Accounting Policies

## (a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

## (b) Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### (c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of three months or less when purchased.

## (d) Derivative Instruments and Hedging

We record all derivatives, which consist of foreign currency exchange contracts, on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not accounting hedges must be adjusted to fair value through earnings. If a derivative is a hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative are either offset against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings or included in accumulated other comprehensive income depending on the nature of the hedge. The ineffective portion of a derivative's change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings. We do not meet the requirements of Accounting Standards Codification 815, "Derivatives and Hedging," in order to account for any derivatives using hedge accounting treatment during the periods presented. Therefore, the changes in fair value of all derivatives are recognized in earnings.

Historically, it was our practice to enter into foreign currency forward contracts to offset currency risk of foreign denominated receivables. Beginning in late fiscal 2008 we revised this practice to more comprehensively assess our net exposure to foreign currencies. This net exposure arises primarily from the net difference between (a) non-U.S. dollar receipts and (b) non-U.S. dollar operating costs for subsidiaries in foreign countries.

We record our foreign currency exchange contracts at fair value in our consolidated balance sheet and the related realized or unrealized gains or losses on these contracts are recognized in earnings as a

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

component of other income (expense), net. During fiscal 2009 and 2008 the gains on these contracts were \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million, respectively. We had no such contracts during fiscal 2010.

There were no foreign currency derivative financial instruments outstanding as of June 30, 2010.

# (e) Depreciation and Amortization

We provide for depreciation and amortization, primarily computed using the straight-line method, by charges to operations in amounts estimated to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Asset Classification	Estimated Useful Life
Computer equipment	3 years
Purchased software	3 - 5 years
Furniture and fixtures	3 - 10 years
Leasehold improvements	Life of lease or asset, whichever is shorter

Depreciation expense was \$4.1 million, \$4.6 million and \$4.1 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

# (f) Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from the following sources: (1) licensing software products; (2) providing post contract support (referred to as SMS); and (3) providing professional services including consulting and training. We sell our software products to end users under fixed-term and perpetual licenses. As a standard business practice, we offer extended payment term options for our fixed-term license contracts, which are generally payable on an annual basis. Certain of our fixed-term license agreements include product mixing rights that allow customers the flexibility to change or alternate the use of multiple products included in the license arrangement after those products are delivered to the customer. We refer to these arrangements as token arrangements. Tokens are fixed units of measure. The amount of software usage is limited by the value of the tokens purchased by the customer.

Historically, we executed software license arrangements with contractual provisions that resulted in the "upfront" recognition of license revenue upon delivery of the software products, provided all other revenue recognition requirements were met. In July 2009, we began offering our new aspenONE licensing model, which provides customers with access to all products within the aspenONE suite or suites they license. As part of our new licensing model, customers receive, for no additional fee, SMS for the term of the license and the right to unspecified future software products and upgrades that may be introduced into the licensed suite during the term of the arrangement. Under this new licensing model, we recognize revenue over the term of the agreement on a subscription basis, beginning when the first payment is due, typically 30 days after signing the agreement, provided all other revenue recognition requirements are met. In July 2009, we also began bundling SMS for the full contract term on our point product license arrangements. Previously, SMS on our multi-year term contracts was offered for an initial one-year period, and then renewed annually thereafter at the customers' option ("legacy term license arrangements").

Over the next several years, we expect to transition substantially all of our customers to our new aspenONE licensing model or to point product arrangements with SMS bundled for the contract term.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

However, during this transition period we expect to execute some license contracts under the upfront revenue model, including perpetual licenses, which will continue to be recognized on an upfront basis.

Four basic criteria must be satisfied before software license revenue can be recognized: persuasive evidence of an arrangement between us and an end user; delivery of our product has occurred; the fee for the product is fixed or determinable; and collection of the fee is probable.

*Persuasive evidence of an arrangement*—We use a contract signed by the customer as evidence of an arrangement for software licenses and SMS. For professional services we use a signed contract and a statement of work to evidence an arrangement. In cases where both a signed contract and a purchase order are required by the customer, we consider both taken together as evidence of the arrangement.

*Delivery of our product*—Software and the corresponding access keys are generally delivered to customers via disk media with standard shipping terms of Free Carrier, Aspen Technology's warehouse (i.e., FCA, named place). Our software license agreements do not contain conditions for acceptance.

Fee is fixed or determinable—We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinable at the outset of the arrangement. Significant judgment is involved in making this assessment.

Under our upfront revenue model, we are able to demonstrate that the fees are fixed or determinable for all arrangements, including those for our term licenses that contain extended payment terms. We have an established history of collecting under the terms of these contracts without providing concessions to customers. In addition, we also assess whether contract modifications to an existing term arrangement constitute a concession. In making this assessment, significant analysis is performed to ensure that no concessions are given. Our software license agreements do not include right of return or exchange.

With the introduction of our new aspenONE licensing model and the changes to the licensing terms of our point product agreements sold on a fixed-term basis, we cannot assert that the fees in these new arrangements are fixed or determinable because the rights provided to customers and the economics of the arrangements are not comparable to our historical transactions with other customers under the upfront revenue model. As a result, the amount of revenue recognized for these new arrangements will be limited by the amount of customer payments currently due. For our new aspenONE licenses this generally results in the fees being recognized ratably over the term of the contracts. For our point product licenses with bundled SMS, this generally results in the license fee being recognized as each payment comes due, while the allocated portion of the SMS revenue is recognized ratably over its annual term.

Collection of fee is probable—We assess the probability of collecting from each customer at the outset of the arrangement based on a number of factors, including the customer's payment history, its current creditworthiness, economic conditions in the customer's industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions. If in our judgment collection of a fee is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met.

We allocate the arrangement consideration among the elements included in our multi-element arrangements using the residual method. Under the residual method, the VSOE of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee for perpetual and term licenses is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

are met. If VSOE does not exist for an undelivered element in an arrangement, revenue is deferred until such evidence does exist for the undelivered elements, or until all elements are delivered, whichever is earlier.

We have established vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value for SMS and professional services, but not for our software products. We assess VSOE of fair value for SMS based on an analysis of standalone SMS renewals using the bell-shaped curve approach. We use the optional renewals of SMS on our legacy term license arrangements to support VSOE of fair value for SMS bundled in our new fixed-term point product arrangements. The license product offerings and the SMS in the legacy term arrangements and the new point product arrangements are the same.

As we are increasingly transitioning our legacy term license customers to new point product arrangements with bundled SMS for the entire term of the arrangement, and we no longer market legacy term license arrangements, we expect our population of standalone annual renewals to decrease over time. As a result, there will come a point in time where we will be unable to support VSOE of fair value of SMS in our new point product arrangements based on our legacy term license SMS renewals. If this were to occur, we would be required to recognize revenue related to the license component on our point product arrangements ratably, on a subscription basis in a manner similar to the current recognition of subscription arrangements under our new aspenONE licensing model. We expect the impact of a loss of VSOE of fair value for SMS to be immaterial to our results of operations, since we currently recognize license revenue on point product arrangements over the term of the arrangement, as payments become due.

Under the upfront revenue model, the residual license fee is recognized upfront upon delivery of the software provided all other revenue recognition criteria were met. For arrangements entered into since July 2009, the arrangement fees are generally recognized over the term of the license agreement since these arrangements include contractual provisions such as rights to future unspecified software products for no additional fee or because we cannot assert that the fees are fixed or determinable.

# **Subscription Revenue**

When a customer elects to license our products under our new aspenONE licensing model, SMS is included for the entire term of the arrangement and the customer receives, for no additional fee, the right to unspecified future software products and upgrades that may be introduced into the licensed aspenONE suite during the term of the arrangement. These agreements combine the right to use all software products within a given product suite with SMS for the term of the arrangement. Due to our obligation to provide unspecified future software products and upgrades, we are required to recognize the revenue ratably (that is, on a subscription basis) over the term of the license, once the four revenue recognition criteria noted above are met. License and SMS revenue for arrangements sold under our new licensing model are combined and presented together as subscription revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Software Revenue**

Software revenue consists of all license transactions that do not contain rights to future unspecified software products for no additional fee. Specifically, it includes license revenue recognized under the upfront revenue model upon the delivery of the license products (i.e., both perpetual and term license contracts); license revenue recognized over the term of the license agreements for fixed-term contracts

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

including point product licenses with SMS bundled for the entire license term; and other license revenue derived from transactions that are being recognized over time as the result of not previously meeting one or more of the requirements for recognition under the upfront revenue model.

The license fees derived from the sale of fixed-term point product arrangements with SMS included for the contract term are recognized under the residual method, as payments come due. The related SMS is recognized over the term of the SMS agreement beginning with the due date of the annual payment and is reported in services and other on the consolidated statement of operations. Occasionally, we expect certain customers to elect upfront payment terms. For these arrangements with upfront payment, all of the license revenue will be recognized upfront by applying the residual method of accounting when the above four revenue recognition requirements have been met.

We use the optional renewals of SMS on our legacy term license arrangements to support VSOE of fair value for SMS bundled in our new fixed-term point product arrangements. As we are increasingly transitioning our legacy term license customers to new point product arrangements with bundled SMS for the entire term of the arrangement, and we no longer offer legacy term license arrangements, we expect our population of standalone annual renewals to decrease over time. As a result, there may come a point in time where we may be unable to support VSOE of fair value of SMS in our new point product arrangements based on our legacy term license SMS renewals. If this were to occur, we would be required to recognize revenue related to the license component on our point product arrangements ratably, on a subscription basis. We expect the potential impact of a loss of VSOE of fair value for SMS to be immaterial to our results of operations, since we currently recognize license revenue on point product arrangements over the term of the arrangement, as payments become due.

Perpetual license arrangements do not include the same rights as those provided to customers under the new aspenONE licensing model. Accordingly, the license fees for perpetual license agreements will continue to be recognized upon delivery of the software products using the residual method provided all other revenue recognition requirements are met. The revenue attributable to perpetual software licenses is recognized in software revenue in the consolidated statement of operations.

#### Services and Other

# **SMS Revenue**

Under the upfront revenue model, SMS is typically included with the license for the initial year of the license term. Under these arrangements, the fair value of SMS is deferred and subsequently amortized into services and other in the consolidated statement of operations over the contractual term of the SMS arrangement. SMS renewals are at the option of the customer.

For arrangements executed under the new aspenONE licensing model or where point product licenses are sold with SMS for the contract term, the customer commits to SMS for the entire term of the license arrangement. The revenue related to the SMS component of the new aspenONE licensing model is reported in subscription revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. The revenue related to the SMS component of point product licenses, for which we have VSOE, is reported in services and other in the consolidated statement of operations.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

# **Professional Services**

Professional services are provided to customers on a time-and-materials (T&M) or fixed-price basis and are generally recognized as the services are performed, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. We recognize professional services fees for our T&M contracts based upon hours worked and contractually agreed-upon hourly rates. Revenue from fixed-price engagements is recognized using the proportional performance method based on the ratio of costs incurred, substantially all of which are labor-related, to the total estimated project costs. All revenue amounts are recognized within services and other in the statement of operations. Project costs are based on standard rates, which vary by the consultant's professional level, plus all direct expenses incurred to complete the engagement that are not reimbursed by the client. All project costs are expensed as incurred. The use of the proportional performance method is dependent upon our ability to reliably estimate the direct costs to complete a project. We use historical experience as a basis for future estimates to complete current projects. Additionally, management believes that costs are the best available measure of performance. Reimbursables received from customers for out-of-pocket expenses are recorded as revenue. If the costs to complete a project are not estimable or the completion is uncertain, the revenue is recognized upon completion of the services. In those circumstances in which committed professional services arrangements are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new license agreement, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of the period the services are performed or the license term.

Occasionally, we provide professional services considered essential to the functionality of the software. We recognize the combined revenue from the sale of the software and related services using the percentage-of-completion method. However, when these professional services are combined with, and essential to, the functionality of a new aspenONE license transaction, the amount of combined revenue recognized will be the lesser of the amount determined by either the subscription method or the percentage-of-completion method.

In the past, we have occasionally been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects, which have resulted in lower than anticipated income or losses on those contracts. We may experience similar situations in the future. Provisions for estimated losses on contracts are made during the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated. To date, such losses have not been significant.

#### **Installments Receivable**

Installments receivable resulting from product sales under the upfront revenue model are discounted to present value at prevailing market rates at the effective date of the contract. Finance fees are recognized using the effective interest method over the relevant license term and are classified as interest income. The amount of the net installments receivable is split between current and non-current in the consolidated balance sheets.

Under the new aspenONE licensing model and for point product arrangements sold with SMS bundled for the entire license term, receivables are recorded when the payments become due and payable. Payment amounts under extended payment term arrangements are not presented in the consolidated balance sheets as the related arrangement fees are not fixed or determinable. As a result, all contractual payments will be recorded as revenue on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of operations either as subscription or software revenue.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

# **Deferred Revenue**

Under the upfront revenue model and point product arrangements, a portion of the arrangement fee is generally recorded as deferred revenue due to the inclusion of an undelivered element, typically SMS. The amount of revenue allocated to undelivered elements is based on the VSOE of fair value for those elements using the residual method and is earned and recognized as revenue as each element is delivered. Deferred revenue related to these transactions generally consists of SMS and represents payments received in advance of services rendered as of the balance sheet dates.

Under the new aspenONE licensing model, customers receive rights to unspecified future products and SMS for the full contract term. As VSOE does not exist for both of these undelivered elements, we are required to recognize the arrangement fees ratably (i.e., on a subscription basis) over the term of the license. Therefore, deferred revenue is recorded as each payment comes due and revenue is recognized ratably over the associated license period.

# **Other Licensing Matters**

Our standard licensing agreements include a product warranty provision. Such warranties are accounted for in accordance with ASC 460, "Guarantees" (ASC 460). The likelihood that we will be required to make refunds to customers under such provisions is considered remote. Historically, any such payments have been de minimis.

Under the terms of substantially all of our license agreements, we have agreed to indemnify customers for costs and damages arising from claims against such customers based on, among other things, allegations that our software products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party. In most cases, in the event of an infringement claim, we retain the right to (i) procure for the customer the right to continue using the software product; (ii) replace or modify the software product to eliminate the infringement while providing substantially equivalent functionality; or (iii) if neither (i) nor (ii) can be reasonably achieved, we may terminate the license agreement and provide a refund to the customer up to the license fees paid by the customer. Such indemnification provisions are accounted for in accordance with ASC 460. The likelihood that we will be required to make refunds to customers under such provisions is considered remote. In most cases and where legally enforceable, the indemnification is limited to the amount paid by the customer.

# (g) Computer Software Development Costs

Certain computer software development costs are capitalized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Capitalization of computer software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility. In accordance with ASC 985-20, "Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed," we define the establishment of technological feasibility as the completion of a detail program design. Amortization of capitalized computer software development costs is provided on a product-by-product basis using (a) the greater of the amount computed using the ratio that current gross revenue for a product bear to total of current and anticipated future gross revenue for that product or (b) the straight-line method, beginning upon commercial release of the product, and continuing over the remaining estimated economic life of the product, not to exceed three years. Software for internal use is capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40, "Intangibles Goodwill and Other—Internal Use Software." At each balance sheet date, we evaluate the unamortized capitalized software costs for potential impairment by comparing to the net realizable value of the products. Total

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

computer software costs capitalized were \$0.7 million, \$2.4 million and \$0.8 million in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Total amortization expense charged to operations was approximately \$2.2 million, \$3.9 million, and \$6.5 million in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

# (h) Foreign Currency Translation

The determination of the functional currency of subsidiaries is based on the subsidiaries' financial and operational environment and is normally the local currency. Gains and losses from foreign currency translation related to entities whose functional currency is their local currency are credited or charged to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), included in stockholders' equity in the consolidated balance sheets. In all instances, foreign currency transaction gains or losses are credited or charged to the consolidated statements of operations as incurred as a component of other income (expense), net. Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains were (\$2.6) million, (\$1.8) million and \$2.5 million in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

# (i) Net (Loss) Income Applicable to Common Stockholders

Basic earnings per share were determined by dividing income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share were determined by dividing (loss) income attributable to common stockholders by diluted weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted weighted average shares reflect the dilutive effect, if any, of potential common shares. To the extent their effect is dilutive, employee equity awards and warrants, based on the treasury stock method, and other commitments to be settled in common stock are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. For fiscal 2010, all potential common shares were anti-dilutive due to the net loss. The calculations of basic and diluted net (loss) income per share and basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

					Year	Ended June	30,					
		2010	2009						2008			
	Loss	Shares		r Share mount	Income	Shares		r Share mount	Income	Shares		Share nount
Basic (loss) earnings												
per share:												
Net (loss) income	\$ (107,445)	91,247	\$	(1.18)	\$ 52,924	90,053	\$	0.59	\$ 24,946	89,640	\$	0.28
Diluted (loss) earnings												
per share:												
Employee equity												
awards						2,133				3,897		
Warrants						392				555		
(Loss) income giving effect to dilutive				_			-	-			-	
adjustments	\$(107,445)	91,247	\$	(1.18)	\$ 52,924	92,578	\$	0.57	\$ 24,946	94,092	\$	0.27

The following potential common shares were excluded from the calculation of dilutive weighted average shares outstanding because the exercise price of the stock options exceeded the average market price of our common stock and/or their effect would be anti-dilutive at the balance sheet date (in thousands):

	Year	Ended June	30,
	2010	2009	2008
Employee equity awards and warrants	8,642	2,230	2,205

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

# (j) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk are principally cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and installments and collateralized receivables. We place our cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions management believes to be high credit quality. Concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables is limited to certain customers to which we make substantial sales. To reduce risk, we assess the financial strength of our customers. We do not generally require collateral or other security in support of our receivables. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, we had no customers that represented more than 10% of total receivables.

Our business and results of operations are affected by international, national and regional economic conditions. Financial markets in the United States, Europe and Asia have been experiencing extreme disruption in recent months, including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, ratings downgrades of certain investments and declining values of others. We are unable to predict the likely duration and severity of the current disruptions in financial markets, credit availability, and adverse economic conditions throughout the world. These economic developments affect businesses such as ours and those of our customers in a number of ways that could result in unfavorable consequences.

# (k) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Discounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of receivables when a loss is reasonably expected to occur. The allowance for doubtful accounts is established to represent the best estimate of the net realizable value of the outstanding accounts and installments receivable. The development of the allowance for doubtful accounts in general is based on a review of past due amounts, historical write-off and recovery experience, as well as aging trends affecting specific accounts and general operational factors affecting all accounts. In addition, factors are developed utilizing historical trends in bad debts, returns and allowances.

We consider current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. If circumstances relating to specific customers change or unanticipated changes occur in the general business environment, our estimates of the recoverability of receivables could be further adjusted.

The following table summarizes allowance for doubtful accounts activity for accounts and installments receivable in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,							
		2010		2009		2008		
Balance, beginning of year	\$	8,487	\$	10,637	\$	10,769		
Provision (recovery) for bad debts		437		(1,378)		752		
Write-offs		(1,924)		(772)		(884)		
Balance, end of year	\$	7,000	\$	8,487	\$	10,637		

The following table summarizes our receivable balances, net of the related allowance for doubtful accounts, as of June 30, 2010, and 2009 (in thousands). Installments and collateralized receivables are presented on the consolidated balance sheet and in the table below net of discounts for future interest established at inception of the note and carry terms of up to five years.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

	 June 30,											
			2009									
	Gross		Allowance		Net		Gross	Allowance		Net		
Accounts Receivable	\$ 36,423	\$	4,685	\$	31,738	\$	55,691	\$	5,809	\$	49,882	
Installments Receivable	130,913		2,315		128,598		180,599		2,678		177,921	
Collateralized Receivable	51,430		_		51,430		96,366		_		96,366	

The unamortized discount on installments and collateralized receivables is recognized over the term of the note as interest income, using the effective interest method. The total of such unrecognized discounts as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 was as follows (in thousands):

	Jur	ıe 30,
	2010	2009
Current portion of installments receivable	\$ 2,775	\$ 3,141
Current portion of collateralized receivables	1,158	1,726
Long-term installments receivable	15,942	27,142
Long-term collateralized receivables	3,873	9,658

# (l) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Effective July 1, 2008, we adopted the provisions of ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures" (ASC 820), for financial assets and financial liabilities. Effective July 1, 2009, we adopted the provisions of ASC 820 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants. ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

- Level 1 Inputs—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
  measurement date.
- Level 2 Inputs—Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.) or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means.
- Level 3 Inputs—Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity's own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents are reported at fair value utilizing Level 1 Inputs. We obtain quoted market prices in identical markets to estimate the fair value of its cash equivalents.

Financial instruments not measured or recorded at fair value in the accompanying financial statements consist of accounts receivable, installments receivable, collateralized receivables, accounts payable and secured borrowings. The estimated fair value of accounts receivable, installments receivable, collateralized receivables and accounts payable approximates the carrying value. The estimated fair value of secured borrowings exceeds the carrying value by \$4.3 million as of June, 2010. The fair value of secured borrowings was calculated using the market approach, utilizing interest rates that were indirectly observable in markets for similar liabilities.

The following table summarizes financial assets and financial liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the accompanying financial statements as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value (in thousands):

		nt at Ig		
<u>Description</u>	N	oted Prices in Active Iarkets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs Level (3)
June 30, 2010				
Assets:				
Cash equivalents	\$	107,000	_	_
June 30, 2009				
Assets:				
Cash equivalents	\$	87,918	_	

Certain non-financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These include reporting units measured at fair value using market and income approaches in the first step of a goodwill impairment test. Certain non-financial assets, including goodwill, intangible assets and other non-financial long-lived assets, are measured at fair value using market and income approaches on a non-recurring basis when there is an indication that there may be a triggering event which could result in impairment. The adoption of ASC 820 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities had no material impact on the financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010.

# (m) Intangible Assets, Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

Acquired intangibles are removed from the accounts when fully amortized and no longer in use. Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the following at June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

			June 30, 2010		June 30, 2009				
		Gross			Gross		<u>.</u>		
	Estimated	Carrying	Accumulated		Carrying	Accumulated			
Asset Class	Useful Life	Amount	Amortization	Net	Amount	Amortization	Net		
Customer Relationships	3 - 12 years	\$ 676	\$ 676	\$ —	\$ 647	\$ 491	\$ 156		

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Intangible asset amortization expense was \$0.2 million, \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Fiscal 2010 was the final year of amortization on the outstanding intangible asset. Amortization expense is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

The changes in the carrying amount of the goodwill by reporting unit for fiscal 2010 and 2009 were as follows (in thousands):

	Reporting Unit									
Asset Class		License	P	rofessional Services	Maintenance and Training			Total		
Balance as of June 30, 2008	_	Liceise		Scrvices		iu Iraning		Total		
Goodwill	\$	68,059	\$	5,103	\$	16,007	\$	89,169		
Accumulated impairment losses		(65,569)		(4,581)				(70,150)		
-	\$	2,490	\$	522	\$	16,007	\$	19,019		
Impairment loss		_		(521)		_	_	(521)		
Effect of changes in currency translation		(15)		(1)		(1,796)		(1,812)		
Balance as of June 30, 2009										
Goodwill	\$	68,044	\$	5,102	\$	14,211	\$	87,357		
Accumulated impairment losses		(65,569)		(5,102)		_		(70,671)		
	\$	2,475	\$	_	\$	14,211	\$	16,686		
Effect of changes in currency										
translation		15		_		660		675		
Balance as of June 30, 2010										
Goodwill	\$	68,059	\$	5,102	\$	14,871	\$	88,032		
Accumulated impairment losses		(65,569)		(5,102)		_		(70,671)		
	\$	2,490	\$	_	\$	14,871	\$	17,361		

We test goodwill for impairment annually at the reporting unit level using a fair value approach in accordance with the provisions of ASC 350, "Intangibles —Goodwill and Other." We conduct our annual impairment test on December 31, of each year. The initial step requires us to determine the fair value of each reporting unit and compare it to the carrying value, including goodwill, of such reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no impairment loss is to be recognized. However, if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of this unit may be impaired. The amount of impairment, if any, is then measured based upon the estimated fair value of goodwill at the valuation date. We performed our annual impairment test for each reporting unit as of December 31, 2009, and determined that the estimated fair values substantially exceeded the carrying values. As such, no impairment losses were recognized as a result of the analysis. If an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, goodwill will be evaluated for impairment between annual tests.

Certain negative macroeconomic factors began to impact the global credit markets in late calendar 2008 and we noted significant unfavorable trends in business conditions in the second quarter of fiscal 2009. In connection with preparing the annual impairment assessment, we identified significant

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

deterioration in the expected future financial performance of the professional services segment compared to the expected future financial performance of this segment at the end of fiscal 2008. As a result, we recognized goodwill and intangible assets impairments of \$0.5 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, within the professional services reporting unit during the second fiscal quarter of 2009, which ended December 31, 2008, to write off all of the goodwill and intangible assets of this reporting unit. The method for determining fair value was based on weighting estimates of future cash flows from the reporting units and estimates of the market value of the reporting units, based on comparable companies. These impairment losses were recorded as loss on impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in the consolidated statement of operations.

We evaluate our long-lived assets, which include property and leasehold improvements and intangible assets, excluding goodwill, for impairment as events and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If we determine that an impairment review is required, we would review the expected future undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the assets. If we determine that the carrying value of our long-lived assets may not be recoverable, we would measure any impairment based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate determined by us to be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model.

# (n) Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Comprehensive income is disclosed in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders' equity (deficit) and comprehensive income. The components of accumulated other comprehensive income as of June 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 consist of cumulative translation adjustments.

# (o) Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted ASC 718, "Compensation—Stock Compensation" (ASC 718). Under the provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period.

# (p) Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets

We derecognize financial assets, specifically accounts receivable and installments receivable, when control has been surrendered in compliance with ASC 860, "Transfers and Servicing" (ASC 860). Transfers of accounts receivable and installments receivable that meet the requirements of (ASC860) for sale accounting treatment are removed from the balance sheet and gains or losses on the sale are recognized. If the conditions for sale accounting treatment are not met, or are no longer met, accounts receivable and installments receivable transferred are classified as collateralized receivables in the consolidated balance sheet and cash received from these transactions is classified as secured borrowings. All transfers of assets are accounted for as secured borrowings. Transaction costs associated with secured borrowings, if any, are treated as borrowing costs and recognized in interest expense. When we receive cash from a customer, the collateralized receivable balance is reduced and the related secured borrowing is reclassified to an accrued liability for amounts we must remit to the financial institution. The accrued liability is reduced when payment is remitted to the financial institution.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

#### (q) Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the statutory tax rates and laws expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided against net deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the timing of the temporary differences becoming deductible. Management considers, among other available information, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, limitations of availability of net operating loss carryforwards, and other matters in making this assessment.

We do not provide deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries since we intend to indefinitely reinvest either currently or sometime in the foreseeable future. Unrecognized provisions for taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered indefinitely reinvested, are not material to our consolidated financial position or results of operations. We are continuously subject to examination by the IRS, as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. The IRS and other taxing authorities may challenge certain deductions and credits reported by us on our income tax returns. In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, *Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions*, (currently included as provisions of ASC Topic 740), which clarifies the criteria for recognition and measurement of benefits from uncertain tax positions. Under FIN 48, an entity should recognize a tax benefit when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the technical merits, that the position would be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority. The amount to be recognized, if the more-likely-than-not threshold was passed, should be measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Furthermore, any change in the recognition, de-recognition or measurement of a tax position should be recorded in the period in which the change occurs. We account for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of the provision for income taxes.

# (r) Legal Fees and Contingencies

We accrue estimated liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other sources when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated. We believe that we have sufficient accruals to cover any obligations resulting from claims, assessments or litigation that have met this criteria.

# (s) Advertising Costs

We charge advertising costs to expense as the costs are incurred. We incurred advertising expenses of \$2.7 million, \$2.5 million and \$3.3 million during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We had no prepaid advertising costs included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

# (t) Research and Development Expense

We charge research and development expenditures to expense as the costs are incurred. Research and development expenses include salaries, direct costs incurred and building and overhead expenses.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

# (u) Accounting for Restructuring Accruals

We follow ASC 420, "Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations." In addition, we consider the guidance where applicable in ASC 712, "Compensation—Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits," and ASC 715, "Compensation—Retirement Benefits." In accounting for these obligations, we are required to make assumptions related to the amounts of employee severance, benefits, and related costs and to the time period over which facilities will remain vacant, sublease terms, sublease rates and discount rates. Estimates and assumptions are based on the best information available at the time the obligation has arisen. The restructuring charge for restructuring programs that have future payments that extend beyond one year is recorded at the net present value of the future cash payments to be made. The discount is then accreted to restructuring expense over the term of the remaining payments. These estimates are reviewed and revised as facts and circumstances dictate; changes in these estimates could have a material effect on the amount accrued on the consolidated balance sheet.

# (v) Correction of Immaterial Errors

During the first and second quarters of fiscal 2010, we identified errors related to stock compensation expense, license and professional services revenue, and income taxes that originated in prior periods and concluded that the errors were not material to any of the previously reported periods or to the periods in which the errors were corrected. These immaterial errors were corrected in the first and second quarter 2010 Interim Financial Statements. The impact to certain captions in the unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 2010, resulting from the out-of-period component of the correction of immaterial errors, is as follows (in thousands):

		Three Mon	ths E	nded
	September 30, 2009 Increase (Decrease)			ecember 31, 2009
				Increase Decrease)
Total revenue	\$	93	\$	(370)
Income (loss) from operations		(722)		(370)
Income (loss) before provision for taxes		(722)		(370)
Net income (loss)		(1,302)		(1,540)

During the first quarter of fiscal 2009, we identified certain errors related to income taxes, stock-based compensation expense, and foreign transactions that originated in prior periods and concluded that the errors were not material to any of the previously reported periods or to the periods in which the errors were corrected. These immaterial errors were corrected in first quarter 2009 Interim Financial Statements and in the information presented in the first quarter and full fiscal year financial statements and disclosures. The impact to certain captions in the consolidated statement of operations

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

for fiscal 2009, resulting from these out-of-period components of the immaterial corrections, is as follows (in thousands):

	Three N	<b>Months</b>
	End	led
	Septem	ber 30,
	200	08
	Incre	
	(Decr	ease)
Total revenue	\$	_
Income from operations		887
Income before provision for taxes		315
Net income		(3,618)

# (w) Subsequent Events

We evaluated events occurring between the end of our most recent fiscal year and the date the financial statements were issued. There were no subsequent events to be disclosed based on this evaluation, other than the warrant exercise on August 13, 2010 described in Note 9.

# (x) Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures" (ASC 820), which enhances existing guidance for measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB permitted companies to partially defer the effective date of ASC 820 for one year for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis. We adopted ASC 820 on July 1, 2008. The adoption of ASC 820 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-06, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements." This ASU requires new disclosures including significant transfers into and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and a reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements including purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis. It also clarifies existing disclosures regarding the level of disaggregation, inputs and valuation techniques. We adopted ASU No. 2010-06 during the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and it did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC 855, "Subsequent Events" (ASC 855). ASC 855 establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. ASC 855 is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. We adopted ASC 855 on April 1, 2009. The adoption of ASC 855 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2010-09, "Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure Requirements." As a result of ASU No. 2010-09, ASC 855 no longer requires entities to disclose the date through which subsequent events have occurred. We adopted ASU No. 2010-09 during the third quarter of fiscal 2010. The adoption of ASU No. 2010-09 did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC 810, "Consolidation" (ASC 810), which establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent's ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. The authoritative guidance also establishes reporting requirements that provide sufficient disclosures that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. ASC 810 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We adopted the provisions of ASC 810 as of July 1, 2009. The adoption of ASC 810 did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows as there were no minority interests reported as of June 30, 2010 or 2009.

In April 2008, the FASB issued additional authoritative guidance to ASC 350-30, "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—General Intangibles Other Than Goodwill" (ASC 350). The guidance amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under ASC 350. The updated guidance was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We adopted the provisions of the new guidance as of July 1, 2009. The adoption of the new provisions did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows due to the immaterial value of intangibles as of June 30, 2010.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, "The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles—a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162" (SFAS No. 168). SFAS No. 168 stipulates the FASB Accounting Standards Codification is the source of authoritative U.S. GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. SFAS No. 168 is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 168 on July 1, 2009. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

# (y) Reclassifications

Certain line items within total operating costs of our prior period consolidated statements of operations and Note 15, "Segment and Geographic Information," have been reclassified to conform to currently reported presentations. Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, we reclassified expenses primarily relating to product management from Selling and marketing to Research and development. Other adjustments were made to reclassify certain allocable expenses from Selling and marketing to General and administrative and immaterial losses and gains on asset disposals to the department where the related assets were held. The impact of these reclassifications to our previously presented statements of operations for fiscal 2009 and 2008 is represented in the table below (in thousands):

		ne 30,		
		2009		2008
		Increase / (	Dec	rease)
Selling and marketing	\$	(5,024)	\$	(4,717)
Research and development		4,912		4,720
General and administrative		118		(69)
Loss (gain) on sales and disposals of assets		(6)		66

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (2) Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Additionally, in fiscal 2010, we reclassified cash flows from changes in other non-current assets in our prior period consolidated statements of cash flows from an investing activity to an operating activity. This immaterial reclassification was made as a result of the underlying assets being operating in nature. The impact of this change on our cash flows from operating activities totaled (\$0.4) million and (\$0.6) million for fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively.

# (3) Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges consist of the following (in thousands):

	Yea	Year Ended June 30,					
	2010	2010 2009					
Restructuring Charges	\$ 1,128	\$ 2,446	\$ 8,623				

During fiscal 2010, we recorded \$1.1 million in restructuring charges. Of this amount, \$0.7 million related to changes in the estimates of future operating costs and sublease assumptions related to our restructuring programs and \$0.4 million related to accretion.

At June 30, 2010, total restructuring liabilities of \$8.5 million related to the closure of facilities and contract termination costs. We anticipate that payments of \$9.3 million will be made related to the closure of facilities through fiscal 2017.

The following activity was recorded for the indicated years (in thousands):

	Cons of Fac Co Ter	losure/ solidation cilities and ontract mination Costs	Employee Severance, Benefits, and Related Costs	Total
Accrued expenses, June 30, 2007	\$	13,386	\$ 828	\$ 14,214
Restructuring charge		6,276	545	6,821
Fiscal 2008 payments		(5,249)	(1,203)	(6,452)
Restructuring charge—accretion		575	_	575
Change in estimate—revised assumption		1,366	(139)	1,227
Accrued expenses, June 30, 2008	-	16,354	31	16,385
Restructuring charge		_	1,700	1,700
Fiscal 2009 payments		(5,009)	(1,604)	(6,613)
Restructuring charge—accretion		629	_	629
Change in estimate—revised assumption		(55)	172	117
Accrued expenses, June 30, 2009		11,919	299	12,218
Restructuring charge		_	_	_
Fiscal 2010 payments		(4,535)	(297)	(4,832)
Restructuring charge—accretion		420	_	420
Change in estimate—revised assumption		710	(2)	708
Accrued expenses, June 30, 2010	\$	8,514	\$	\$ 8,514

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (3) Restructuring Charges (Continued)

#### (a) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended March 31, 2009

In the three months ended March 31, 2009, we initiated a worldwide plan to reduce operating expenses by reorganizing business units through headcount reductions. During fiscal 2009, we recorded a charge of \$1.7 million associated with headcount reductions. Approximately 70 employees, or 5% of the workforce, were eliminated under the restructuring plan. The employees were primarily located in North America and Europe. All business units were affected, including services, sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative. During fiscal 2010, payments of \$0.3 million were made, which marked the completion of this restructuring plan.

#### (b) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended June 30, 2007

In May 2007, we initiated a plan to relocate our corporate headquarters from Cambridge to Burlington, Massachusetts. The relocation resulted in our ceasing to use our prior corporate headquarters leased space, subleasing the space to a third party, and the relocation to a new facility. During fiscal 2008, we recorded a charge of \$6.0 million associated with the relocation of certain departments to temporary space. The closure and relocation actions were completed in October 2007. These costs did not meet the criteria for accrual as of June 30, 2007. During fiscal 2009, we recorded an additional \$0.4 million in restructuring charges, primarily related to accretion. During fiscal 2010, we made payments of \$1.3 million and recorded additional restructuring charges of \$0.3 million related to accretion, offset by a \$0.1 million reduction of the accrual due to changes in estimates. As of June 30, 2010, there was \$2.8 million remaining in accrued expenses related to the remaining lease payments, to be paid through fiscal 2013.

# (c) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended June 30, 2005.

In May 2005, we initiated a plan to consolidate several corporate functions and to reduce our operating expenses. The plan to reduce operating expenses primarily resulted in headcount reductions, and also included the termination of a contract and the consolidation of facilities. These actions resulted in an aggregate restructuring charge of \$3.8 million, recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2008 we recorded an additional \$0.8 million in restructuring charges related to headcount reductions, relocation costs and facility consolidations associated with the May 2005 plan that did not qualify for accrual at June 30, 2005. As of June 30, 2009, there were no remaining accruals associated with the plan.

Closure/consolidation of facilities: Approximately \$0.3 million of the restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2008 related to the termination of facility leases.

*Employee severance, benefits and related costs:* Approximately \$0.5 million of the restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2008 related to the reduction in headcount. Approximately 130 employees, or 10% of the workforce, were eliminated under the restructuring plan. The employees were primarily located in North America and Europe. All business units were affected, including services, sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative.

# (d) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended June 30, 2004

In June 2004, we initiated a plan to reduce our operating expenses in order to better align our operating cost structure with the economic environment and to improve operating margins. The plan to reduce operating expenses resulted in the consolidation of facilities, headcount reductions, and the

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (3) Restructuring Charges (Continued)

termination of operating contracts. These actions resulted in an aggregate restructuring charge of \$23.5 million, recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. During fiscal 2005, we recorded \$14.4 million related to headcount reductions and facility consolidations associated with the June 2004 restructuring plan that did not qualify for accrual at June 30, 2004. In addition, we recorded \$0.4 million in restructuring charges related to the accretion of the discounted restructuring accrual and a \$0.8 million decrease to the accrual related to changes in estimates of severance benefits and sublease terms. During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recorded a \$0.5 million increase, and a less than \$0.1 million and \$1.2 million decrease, respectively, to the accrual primarily due to changes in the estimate of future operating costs and sublease assumptions associated with the facilities, as well as accretion of \$0.1 million, \$0.3 million, and \$0.3 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2010, there was \$2.7 million remaining in accrued expenses relating to the remaining lease payments, to be paid through fiscal 2017.

Closure/consolidation of facilities: Approximately \$9.1 million of the fiscal 2005 restructuring related to the termination of facility leases and other lease related costs. The facility leases had remaining terms ranging from several months to eight years. The amount accrued is an estimate of the remaining obligation under the lease or actual costs to buy-out leases, reduced by expected income from the sublease of the underlying properties. The remaining accrual all relates to future payments related to the closure and consolidation of facilities under the plan.

*Employee severance, benefits and related costs:* Approximately \$4.4 million of the fiscal 2005 restructuring charge, related to a reduction in headcount. In the aggregate, approximately 147 employees, or 9% of the workforce, were eliminated under the restructuring plan implemented by management. The fiscal 2005 restructuring charge related to employees that had not been notified in a manner that would allow for accrual as of June 30, 2004. Such accrual occurred in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. A majority of the employees were located in North America, although Europe was affected as well. All business units were affected, including services, sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative.

*Impairment of assets:* Approximately \$1.0 million of the fiscal 2005 restructuring charge related to charges associated with the impairment of fixed assets associated with the closed and consolidated facilities. These assets were considered to be impaired because their carrying values were in excess of their fair values.

# (e) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended December 31, 2002

In October 2002, management initiated a plan to reduce operating expenses in response to first quarter revenue results that were below expectations and to general economic uncertainties. The plan to reduce operating expenses resulted in headcount reductions, consolidation of facilities, and discontinuation of development and support for certain non-critical products. These actions resulted in an aggregate restructuring charge of \$28.7 million. During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recorded a \$0.4 million increase, a \$0.1 million increase and a \$0.1 million decrease, respectively, to the accrual, primarily due to changes in the estimate of future operating costs associated with the facilities. As of June 30, 2010, there was \$3.0 million remaining in accrued expenses primarily relating to the remaining lease payments to be paid through fiscal 2013.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (3) Restructuring Charges (Continued)

# (f) Restructuring charges originally arising in the three months ended June 30, 2002

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, management initiated a plan to reduce operating expenses and to restructure operations around our two primary product lines, engineering software and manufacturing/supply chain software. We reduced worldwide headcount by approximately 10%, or 200 employees, closed and consolidated facilities, and disposed of certain assets, resulting in an aggregate restructuring charge of \$13.2 million. During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recorded nominal increases to the accrual, due to changes in sublease assumptions. As of June 30, 2010, there was \$0.1 million remaining in accrued expenses relating to lease payments, to be paid through fiscal 2011.

#### (4) Secured Borrowings and Collateralized Receivables

We have transferred certain customer installment and trade receivables to financial institutions that are accounted for as secured borrowings. The transferred receivables serve as collateral under the receivable sales facilities. Since December 2007, we have not sold any receivables for the purpose of raising cash, but we have sold some large dollar receivables in order to fund the repurchase of several large groups of smaller receivables previously sold to the banks, for the purpose of simplifying our administration of the programs. Generally, the carrying value of each collateralized receivable approximates the carrying value of the equivalent secured borrowing. However, there are instances when the financed future committed customer receivable has not yet been recognized as revenue, and as a result, has not been recorded as a collateralized receivable on our balance sheet. As of June 30, 2010, the carrying value of our secured borrowings approximated the related future committed customer receivable.

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, receivables totaling \$51.4 million and \$96.4 million, respectively, were pledged as collateral for the secured borrowings. The secured borrowings totaled \$76.1 million and \$112.1 million as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The collateralized receivables are presented at their net present value. The interest rate implicit in the installment receivables was 8% as of June 30, 2010 and 2009. We recorded \$6.2 million, \$8.7 million and \$15.1 million of interest income associated with the collateralized receivables for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and recognized \$8.0 million, \$10.5 million and \$16.1 million of interest expense associated with the secured borrowings. Proceeds from and payments on the secured borrowings are presented as components of cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Reductions of secured borrowings are recognized as financing cash flows upon payment to the financial institution and operating cash flows from collateralized receivables are recognized upon customer payment of amounts due

# **Traditional Programs**

We historically have maintained arrangements which we refer to as our Traditional Programs to transfer certain of our receivables to financial institutions upon the mutual agreement of us and the financial institution for each such customer receivable. The transfers of customer receivables under these programs have been accounted for as secured borrowings. Under our arrangements with General Electric Capital Corporation, Bank of America and Silicon Valley Bank (SVB), both parties must agree to enter into each transaction and negotiate the amount borrowed and interest rate secured by each receivable. We received cash proceeds of \$9.5 million, \$30.2 million and \$74.1 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, related to these programs.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (4) Secured Borrowings and Collateralized Receivables (Continued)

The collateralized receivables earn interest income and the secured borrowings accrue borrowing costs at approximately the same interest rate. When cash is received from a customer by us, the collateralized receivable balance is reduced and the related secured borrowing is reclassified to an accrued liability for amounts we must remit to the financial institution. The accrued liability is reduced when payment is remitted to the financial institutions. The terms of the customer receivables range from amounts that are due within 30 days to receivables that are due within four years.

Under the terms of the Traditional Programs we have transferred the receivables to the financial institutions with limited financial recourse to us. Potential recourse obligations are primarily related to one program that requires us to pay interest to SVB when the underlying customer has not paid by the receivable due date. This recourse is limited to a maximum period of 90 days after the due date. The amount of outstanding receivables that have this potential recourse obligation is \$32.2 million at June 30, 2010. This ninety-day recourse obligation is recognized as interest expense as incurred and totaled less than \$0.1 million, \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million for fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. Otherwise, recourse generally results from circumstances, if any, in which we failed to perform requirements related to contracts with the customer. Other than the specific items noted above, the financial institutions bear the credit risk of the customers associated with the receivables the institution purchased.

In the ordinary course of us acting as a servicing agent for receivables transferred to SVB, we regularly receive funds from customers that are processed and remitted onward to SVB. While in our possession, these cash receipts are contractually owned by SVB and are held by us on their behalf until remitted to the bank. Cash receipts held for the benefit of SVB recorded in our cash balances and current liabilities totaled \$0 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009. Such amounts are restricted from our use.

In June 2008, we paid the outstanding amount under the Bank of America program at its carrying value of \$2.7 million inclusive of a one percent prepayment penalty.

# Securitization of Accounts Receivable

During fiscal 2005 and 2007 we entered into securitization arrangements where we securitized and transferred receivables with a net carrying value of \$71.9 million and \$32.1 million, respectively, and received cash proceeds of \$43.8 million and \$20.0 million, respectively. These borrowings were secured by the transferred receivables, and the debt and borrowing costs were repaid as the receivables were collected. Neither arrangement met the criteria for a sale and as such had been accounted for as a secured borrowing. We received and retained collections on these securitized receivables after all borrowing and related costs were paid to the financial institution. The financial institutions' rights to repayment were limited to the payments received from the receivables. Both securitizations were paid off during fiscal 2008 at their respective carrying values of \$4.2 million and \$12.2 million. The payments resulted in a reclassification to accounts receivable of \$9.8 million and to current installments receivable of \$17.8 million from the current portion of collateralized receivables, and \$23.9 million from non-current collateralized receivables to non-current installment receivables.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (4) Secured Borrowings and Collateralized Receivables (Continued)

The secured borrowings consist of the following at June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

	June 30,			,
		2010		2009
Traditional Programs—weighted average interest rate of 8.3% and				
8.1% at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively	\$	76,135	\$	112,096
Less current portion		30,424		83,885
Total secured borrowings, less current portion	\$	45,711	\$	28,211
	_			

The cash payments on the collateralized receivables fund the secured borrowing payments, and we retain payments received on collateralized receivables that are in excess of the secured borrowings. We have no future cash obligations other than the limited recourse obligations noted above.

# (5) Line of Credit

In January 2003 and through subsequent amendments, we executed a loan arrangement with Silicon Valley Bank. This arrangement provides a line of credit of up to the lesser of (i) \$25.0 million or (ii) 50% to 80% of certain eligible receivables. The line of credit bears interest at the greater of (i) the bank's prime rate (4.0% at June 30, 2010) plus 0.5%, or (ii) 4.75%. If we maintain a \$10.0 million compensating cash balance with the bank the unused line of credit fee will be 0.1875% per annum, otherwise it will be 0.375% per annum. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of our assets and we are required to meet certain financial covenants, including minimum tangible net worth, minimum cash balances and an adjusted quick ratio. The terms of the loan arrangement restrict our ability to pay dividends, with the exception of common stock dividends or preferred stock dividends paid in cash.

We were in compliance with the terms of the credit facility as of June 30, 2010. As of June 30, 2009, we were not in compliance with certain financial reporting requirements under the terms of the credit facility. We obtained waivers for that non-compliance and on November 3, 2009, we executed an amendment to the loan arrangement that adjusted certain terms of covenants, including modifying the date we must provide quarterly unaudited and annual audited financial statements to the bank. In June 2010, we executed an amendment to the loan arrangement that extended the maturity date of the credit facility to November 15, 2010.

As of June 30, 2010, there were \$4.4 million in letters of credit outstanding under the line of credit and no outstanding debt under the line of credit and \$16.4 million was available for future borrowing. Our total borrowing through SVB is limited to \$95 million. In the event that we utilize the full \$85 million available through the Traditional Programs with Silicon Valley Bank, our total credit line could not exceed \$10 million.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (6) Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

	June 30,			
	2010			2009
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements—at cost				
Computer equipment	\$	9,358	\$	9,538
Purchased software		19,194		17,815
Furniture & fixtures		5,693		5,881
Leasehold improvements		3,581		3,808
Accumulated depreciation		(29,769)		(27,438)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements—net	\$	8,057	\$	9,604
	_			

We account for asset retirement obligations in accordance with ASC 410, "Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations." Our asset retirement obligations relate to leasehold improvements for leased properties. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the balance of our asset retirement obligations was \$0.7 million.

Accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

	Jui	1e 30,
	2010	2009
Royalties and outside commissions	\$ 4,856	\$ 8,627
Payroll and payroll-related	21,862	13,793
Restructuring accruals	4,266	4,974
Amounts due to receivable sale facilities for collections	4,216	2,724
Other	14,690	17,764
Total accrued expenses	\$ 49,890	\$ 47,882

Other non-current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

	June 30,			
		2010		2009
Restructuring accruals	\$	4,248	\$	7,244
Deferred rent		2,193		2,333
Royalties and outside commissions		3,667		5,852
Other		21,724		20,430
Total other non-current liabilities	\$	31,832	\$	35,859

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (7) Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further stockholder approval, to issue, from time to time, up to an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. Each such series of preferred stock shall have such number of shares, designations, preferences, voting powers, qualifications and special or relative rights or privileges, which may include, among others, dividend rights, voting rights, redemption and sinking fund provisions, liquidation preferences and conversion rights, as shall be determined by the Board of Directors in a resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of such series. Any such series of preferred stock, if so determined by the Board of Directors, may have full voting rights with the common stock or limited voting rights and may be convertible into common stock or another security of the Company.

# Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock

In August 2003, we issued and sold 300,300 shares of Series D-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock (Series D-1 Preferred), along with warrants to purchase up to 6,006,006 shares of common stock at a price of \$3.33 per share, in a private placement to several investment partnerships managed by Advent International Corporation for an aggregate purchase price of \$100.0 million. Concurrently, we paid cash of \$30.0 million and issued 63,064 shares of Series D-2 convertible preferred stock (Series D-2 Preferred), along with warrants to purchase up to 1,261,280 shares of common stock at a price of \$3.33 per share, to repurchase all of the outstanding Series B Preferred. In addition, we exchanged existing warrants to purchase 791,044 shares of common stock at an exercise price ranging from \$20.64 to \$23.99 held by the holders of the Series B Preferred, for new warrants to purchase 791,044 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.08. These transactions are referred to collectively as the Series D Preferred financing.

Each share of Series D Preferred was entitled to vote on all matters in which holders of common stock were entitled to vote, receiving a number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which it was then convertible. In addition, holders of Series D-1 Preferred, as a separate class, were entitled to elect a certain number of directors, based on a formula as defined in the Series D Preferred Certificate of Designations. The holders of the Series D-1 Preferred were entitled to elect a number of our directors calculated as a ratio of the Series D-1 Preferred voting power as compared to the total voting power of our common stock. The Series D-1 Preferred holders were elected as three of the six current directors of the Company.

On May 16, 2006, the Holders of the Series D Preferred converted 30,000 shares into 3,000,000 shares of common stock. In December 2006, the holders of the Series D-1 Preferred converted their remaining 270,300 shares into 27,030,000 shares of common stock. In December 2006, we announced that we would redeem any shares of our Series D-2 Preferred that were not converted by our holders into common shares by January 30, 2007. In January 2007, the remaining 63,064 shares of Series D-2 Preferred were converted by our holder into 6,306,400 shares of common stock.

# Registration Rights

In May 2006, we received a demand letter from the Series D-1 Preferred holders, in accordance with the terms of their investor rights agreement with us, requesting registration of all of the shares of common stock issued or issuable upon the conversion of Series D-1 Preferred and the exercise of their warrants in connection with an underwritten public offering per the terms defined in the investor rights agreement. We are required to register the underlying shares at our expense. As of June 30, 2010, the total number of outstanding shares of common stock that would be included by their registration demand letter is 29,512,336.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (8) Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Compensation Plans

In April 2010, the shareholders approved the establishment of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2010 Plan), which provides for the reservation of 7,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2010 Plan. The 2010 Plan provides for the grant of incentive and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-related awards, and performance awards that may be settled in cash, stock, or other property. As of June 30, 2010, there were 7,000,000 shares of common stock available for issuance subject to awards under the 2010 Plan.

In May 2005, the shareholders approved the establishment of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan), which provides for the reservation of up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2005 Plan. The 2005 Plan provides for the grant of incentive and nonqualified stock options and other stock-based awards, including the grant of shares based upon certain conditions, the grant of securities convertible into common stock and the grant of stock appreciation rights. Restricted stock and other stock-based awards granted under the 2005 Plan may not exceed, in the aggregate, 4,000,000 shares of common stock. As of June 30, 2010, there were 1,027,378 shares of common stock available for issuance subject to awards under the 2005 Plan.

In December 2000, the shareholders approved the establishment of the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the 2001 Plan), which provides for the issuance of incentive stock options and nonqualified options. Under the 2001 Plan, the Board of Directors could grant stock options to purchase up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of common stock. At July 1, 2002, July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004, the 2001 Plan was expanded to cover an additional 5% of the outstanding shares on the preceding June 30. In no event, however, may the number of shares subject to incentive options under the 2001 Option Plan exceed 8,000,000 unless the 2001 Plan is amended and such amendment is approved by the shareholders. As of June 30, 2010, there were 321,425 shares of common stock available for grant under the 2001 Plan.

In December 1996, our shareholders approved the establishment of the 1996 Special Stock Option Plan (the 1996 Plan). This plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options and nonqualified options to purchase up to 500,000 shares of common stock. Stock options become exercisable over varying periods and expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant. We discontinued our employee stock purchase plan as of June 30, 2007.

In October 1997, our Board of Directors approved the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, under which the Board of Directors may grant stock purchase rights for a maximum of 1,000,000 shares through September 30, 2007. In December 2000 and 2003, the shareholders voted to increase the number of shares eligible under the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan by 2,000,000 and 3,000,000 shares, respectively. Employees are granted options to purchase shares of common stock on the last business day of each semi-annual payment period for 85% of the market price of the common stock on the first or last business day of such payment period, whichever was less. The purchase price for such shares was paid through payroll deductions, and the June 30, 2008, maximum allowable payroll deduction was 10% of each eligible employee's compensation. Under the plan, we issued 315,751 shares in 2005, 188,119 shares in 2006, and 107,862 shares in 2007. On July 1, 2007, we issued 51,311 shares under the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. We discontinued the plan as of June 30, 2008.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (8) Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

# General Award Terms

We issue stock options and restricted stock units to our employees and outside directors, pursuant to stockholder approved stock option plans. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant; those options generally vest over four years and have 7 or 10-year contractual terms. Restricted stock units (RSUs) generally vest over four years. Historically, our practice has been to settle stock option exercises and restricted stock vesting through newly-issued shares.

# Stock Compensation Accounting

We recognize compensation costs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for time-vested awards. For awards that vest based on performance conditions, we use the accelerated model for graded vesting awards based on probability.

Our stock based compensation is principally accounted for as awards of equity instruments. Our policy is to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock awards. We adopted the simplified method related to accounting for the tax effects of share-based payment awards to employees ASC 718, "Compensation—Stock Compensation" (ASC 718). We use the "with-and-without" approach for determining if excess tax benefits are realized under ASC 718.

During the period from mid-September 2007 until November 9, 2009, and from November 16, 2009 to December 21, 2009, we did not maintain our status as a timely filer with the SEC and we were unable to issue stock-based compensation to our directors and employees. On October 29, 2009 the Board of Directors approved the grant as of November 9, 2009 of 2,727,033 RSUs and 264,640 stock options under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2001 Stock Option Plan, respectively. Since we were not able to grant awards during the period described above, a portion of the awards were vested immediately upon grant. The RSUs were valued at the stock price on the date of grant. We utilized the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of the stock-based compensation.

The stock-based compensation expense and its classification (in thousands) in the statement of operations for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,					
		2010	2009			2008
Recorded as expense:						
Cost of service and other	\$	1,314	\$	429	\$	1,254
Selling and marketing		5,742		928		3,345
Research and development		1,880		460		1,411
General and administrative		6,324		2,853		4,590
		15,260		4,670	_	10,600
Capitalized computer software development costs:		2		26		18
Total stock-based compensation	\$	15,262	\$	4,696	\$	10,618

We utilize the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of the stock compensation. We granted 264,640 stock options during fiscal 2010. There were no stock options

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (8) Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

granted in fiscal 2009. The weighted-average fair values of the options granted under the stock option plans for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2008 were calculated using the following assumptions:

		Year Ended June 30,				
	Stock	010 Option lans	Stock	2008 COption Plans		
Weighted average fair values of options granted	\$	3.96	\$	7.26		
Average risk-free interest rate		1.4%		4.4%		
Expected dividend yield		None		None		
Expected life		3.4		5.0		
Expected volatility range		57%		80%		
Weighted average expected volatility		57%		80%		

The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that we have never paid cash dividends on common stock and have no present intention to pay cash dividends. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our common stock over the period commensurate with the expected life of the options. The risk-free interest rate is the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bond with a maturity commensurate with the expected life of the option on the date of grant. In fiscal 2010, we calculated the estimated life based upon historical exercise behavior, as well as anticipated future events that may affect volatility.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (8) Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

A summary of stock option and RSU activity under all stock option plans in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

		Stock C	Restricted Stock Units				
	Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in 000's)	Shares	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	
Outstanding at June 30, 2007	8,311,565	\$ 7.64			663,200	\$ 10.42	
Granted	40,000	10.86					
Vested (RSUs)	_	_			(272,965)	10.42	
Exercised	(362,605)	7.71					
Cancelled / Forfeited	(249,025)	9.97			(68,730)	10.42	
Outstanding at June 30, 2008	7,739,935	7.62			321,505	10.42	
Granted	_	_			_	_	
Vested (RSUs)	_	_			(134,477)	10.42	
Exercised	_	_			_	—	
Cancelled / Forfeited	(170,720)	7.96			(36,415)	10.42	
Outstanding at June 30, 2009	7,569,215	7.61			150,613	10.42	
Granted	264,640	9.55			2,749,283	9.56	
Vested (RSUs)	_	_			(1,333,370)	9.63	
Exercised	(1,416,794)	5.07			_	_	
Cancelled / Forfeited	(1,021,191)	13.90			(54,263)	9.66	
Outstanding at June 30, 2010	5,395,870	\$ 7.19	4.7	\$ 23,075	1,512,263	\$ 9.58	
Exercisable at June 30, 2010	5,266,354	\$ 7.11	4.6	\$ 22,964	_	_	
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2010	5,362,165	\$ 7.17	4.7	\$ 23,046	1,415,057	\$ 9.58	

The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during fiscal 2010 was \$9.56; there were no RSU grants in fiscal 2009 or 2008. In fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, the total fair value of shares vested from RSU grants was \$13.1 million, \$1.2 million and \$3.8 million, respectively.

At June 30, 2010, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options and RSUs was \$0.8 million and \$14.3 million, respectively, and is expected to be recorded over the next four years as the awards vest.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2010 and 2008 was \$8.3 million and \$2.8 million, respectively. There were no options exercised in fiscal 2009. We received \$7.2 million and \$2.8 million in cash proceeds from option exercises during fiscal 2010 and 2008, respectively. We paid \$4.0 million, \$0.4 million and \$1.2 million for withholding taxes on vested RSUs during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

At June 30, 2010, common stock reserved for future issuance or settlement under equity compensation plans was 15.9 million shares.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (8) Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

In December 2006 and May 2007, we modified awards for an aggregate of 1,184,470 options for our employees to equal the fair market value on the grant date of our common stock for these awards to avoid certain adverse tax impacts on the individuals. There was no incremental compensation cost resulting from the modifications. A further modification was made in December 2007 to increase the exercise price of certain awards and to provide for cash payments to employees to compensate them for the increase in the exercise price of those awards.

# (9) Common Stock

#### Warrants

We have issued warrants in connection with various financing activities. These warrants provide for net equity settlement and are accounted for in equity.

In connection with the May 2002 sale of common stock to private investors, we issued warrants to purchase up to 3,208,333 shares of common stock at a price of \$13.20 per share. In August 2003, the warrants were canceled, and new warrants were issued to purchase 1,152,665 shares at an exercise price of \$9.76 per share, due to the impact of the Series D Preferred financing on the warrants' anti-dilution provisions. In January 2004, warrants to purchase 129,191 shares of common stock were exercised in a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 17,922 shares of common stock. During fiscal 2007, the remaining 1,023,474 warrants were exercised in a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 286,204 shares of our common stock.

In connection with the August 2003 Series D Preferred financing, we issued warrants with seven-year lives to purchase 7,267,286 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$3.33 per share. In July 2006, 6,006,006 warrants were exercised in a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 4,369,336 shares of our common stock. In November 2007, warrants to purchase 630,640 shares of common stock were exercised in a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 500,203 shares of common stock. As of June 30, 2010, warrants to purchase 630,640 shares of common stock were outstanding and exercisable at a price of \$3.33. On August 13, 2010, the remaining warrants were exercised in a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 424,753 shares of our common stock.

# (10) Income Taxes

(Loss) income before provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,					
	2010			2009		2008
Domestic	\$	(96,937)	\$	48,095	\$	10,822
Foreign		(3,971)		6,197		17,202
Total	\$	(100,908)	\$	54,292	\$	28,024

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (10) Income Taxes (Continued)

The provision for income taxes shown in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is composed of the following (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,					
	2010		2009			2008
Federal—						
Current	\$	2,586	\$	1,616	\$	_
Deferred		(2,490)		(1,616)		457
State—						
Current		170		1,064		1,419
Deferred		_		_		_
Foreign—						
Current		5,907		(71)		6,010
Deferred		364		375		(4,808)
	\$	6,537	\$	1,368	\$	3,078
	_		_		_	

The provision for income taxes differs from that based on the federal statutory rate due to the following (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,						
		2010	2010 2009			2008	
Federal tax at statutory rate	\$	(35,318)	\$	19,002	\$	9,808	
State income taxes		_		595		299	
Subpart F and dividend income		458		1,467		3,695	
Foreign taxes and rate differences		6,445		(682)		(1,952)	
Permanent differences		1,987		(501)		980	
Tax credits		_		(6,092)		(2,988)	
Tax contingencies		170		(2,615)		2,755	
Return to provision adjustments		_		1,000		_	
Valuation allowance		32,772		(12,911)		(10,235)	
Other		23		2,105		716	
Provision for income taxes	\$	6,537	\$	1,368	\$	3,078	

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (10) Income Taxes (Continued)

The approximate tax effect of each type of temporary difference and tax carryforward is as follows (in thousands):

	June 30,				
	_	2010		2009	
Deferred tax assets:					
Federal and state credits	\$	4,677	\$	2,780	
Foreign tax credits		21,411		_	
Federal and state loss carryforwards		15,029		_	
Foreign loss carryforwards		1,651		2,370	
Revenue		2,892		1,294	
Restructuring accruals		2,974		4,192	
Other reserves and accruals		8,888		12,013	
Intangible assets		2,910		4,172	
Property and leasehold improvements		5,003		4,648	
Other temporary differences		13,908		13,084	
		79,343		44,553	
Deferred tax liabilities:					
Deterred that indomined		(522)		(550)	
Revenue		(522)		(558)	
Other reserves and accruals		(141)		_	
Intangible assets		(1,328)		(1,675)	
Property and leasehold improvements		(905)		(645)	
Other temporary differences		(474)		(601)	
		(3,370)		(3,479)	
Valuation allowance		(64,098)		(31,325)	
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	\$	11,875	\$	9,749	

Upon customer payment of certain foreign receivables, withholding taxes are withheld by customers and remitted to local tax authorities as required by statute. Under current U.S. tax law, these withholding taxes may be creditable against U.S. taxes payable subject to certain limitations. The withholding taxes are included in the foreign tax provision as they are withheld and remitted. Utilization of such taxes as foreign tax credits is recorded as a reduction of the domestic tax expense in the period it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized. We have recorded a partial valuation allowance against these credits since their potential utilization cannot be determined to be more likely than not. We will recognize the benefit of these credits only when it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized. We do not provide deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries since we intend to indefinitely reinvest either currently or sometime in the foreseeable future. Unrecognized provisions for taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered indefinitely reinvested, are not material to our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

As of June 30, 2010, we have available U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of \$83.4 million after the carryback discussed in the following paragraph. Of that amount, \$41.5 million is additional paid-in capital NOLs related to stock-based compensation tax deductions in excess of book

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (10) Income Taxes (Continued)

compensation expense. We record these tax benefits in additional paid-in capital only when such deductions reduce taxes payable as determined on a "with-and-without" basis. Accordingly, these additional paid-in capital NOLs will reduce federal taxes payable if realized in future periods, but NOLs related to such benefits are not included in the table above.

During fiscal 2010, we generated \$111 million of U.S. federal net operating losses (NOLs). We elected to carryback these NOLs to fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009, which resulted in freeing up previously used foreign tax credits, research and development credits, and additional paid-in capital NOLs related to stock-based compensation. In carrying back these NOLs to fiscal 2008, we freed up \$5.2 million of foreign tax credits and \$2.9 million of additional paid-in capital NOLs. In carrying back these NOLs to fiscal 2009, we freed up \$12.4 million of foreign tax credits and \$6.6 million of additional paid-in capital NOLs. The foreign tax credits expire at various dates from 2014 through 2020.

We have foreign loss carryforwards of \$6.3 million which expire beginning in 2011 and others with no expiration date. We also have State research and development credits, and alternative minimum tax (AMT) credit carryforwards. These benefits are subject to a partial valuation allowance and will reduce tax expense in the period that they are realized or the valuation allowance is removed if realization is considered more likely than not. The tax credits and foreign NOL carryforwards expire at various dates from 2010 through 2030, while the AMT credit carryforwards have unlimited carryforward periods.

We have determined that we underwent an ownership change (as defined under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) during fiscal 2004. As such, the utilization of certain federal NOLs and tax credits are limited. Moreover, an ownership change also occurred under the laws of certain states and foreign countries in which we have generated NOLs and tax credits. Accordingly, these NOLs and tax credits will also be limited under rules similar to those of section 382. These limitations impact the amount of additional paid-in capital NOL, if any, that may be utilized in a given year. Currently, there is \$16.8 million of additional paid in capital NOL that is not subject to this limitation. The remaining \$24.7 million of additional paid-in capital NOL would be limited to approximately \$7.2 million per year. The federal NOLs as of June 30, 2010 begin to expire in 2021.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (10) Income Taxes (Continued)

A reconciliation of the reserve for uncertain tax positions is as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of June 30, 2007	\$ 23,684
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period	(5,961)
Gross increases—tax positions in current period	5,975
Currency translation adjustment	1,133
Balance as of June 30, 2008	24,831
Gross increases—tax positions in prior period	5,767
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period	(5,107)
Gross increases—tax positions in current period	698
Gross decreases—payments	(1,599)
Gross decreases—lapse of statutes	(3,764)
Currency translation adjustment	(1,588)
Balance as of June 30, 2009	19,238
Gross increases—tax positions in prior period	111
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period	(958)
Gross increases—tax positions in current period	2,114
Gross decreases—payments	(332)
Gross decreases—lapse of statutes	(2,354)
Currency translation adjustment	(89)
Balance as of June 30, 2010	\$ 17,730
Balance as of June 30, 2009 Gross increases—tax positions in prior period Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period Gross increases—tax positions in current period Gross decreases—payments Gross decreases—lapse of statutes Currency translation adjustment	19,238 111 (958) 2,114 (332) (2,354) (89)

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense and accordingly, we recorded approximately \$0.7 million for interest and penalties during fiscal 2010. At June 30, 2010, we had approximately \$4.7 million of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions. At June 30, 2010, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits is \$17.7 million, and of that amount, \$8.5 million, if recognized, would reduce the effective tax rate. We do not anticipate the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to change within the next twelve months.

Fiscal years 2007-2010 are open to audit in the United States and Canada.

Subsidiaries of Aspen Technology in a number of countries outside of the U.S. and Canada are also subject to tax audits. The Company estimates that the effects of such tax audits are not material to these consolidated financial statements.

# (11) Operating Leases

We lease our facilities and various office equipment under non-cancellable operating leases with terms in excess of one year. Rent expense, net of sublease income, charged to operations was approximately \$6.7 million, \$6.8 million and \$7.4 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (11) Operating Leases (Continued)

Future minimum lease payments under these leases and scheduled sublease payments as of June 30, 2010 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,	Gross Payments		Scheduled Sublease Payments		Net Payments	
2011	\$	10,832	\$	2,654	\$	8,178
2012		7,691		2,374		5,317
2013		4,749		714		4,035
2014		3,807		159		3,648
2015		2,930		159		2,771
Thereafter		1,803		172		1,631
Total	\$	31,812	\$	6,232	\$	25,580

Due to various restructuring activities (*See Note 3*) we have vacated certain of our leased space and are subleasing a portion of this space. The scheduled sublease payments are listed above.

We have issued approximately \$3.2 million of standby letters of credit in connection with certain facility leases that expire through 2016.

In May 2007, we entered into a lease agreement with respect to office space in Burlington, Massachusetts. Commencing September 1, 2007, we moved our principal corporate offices to this location and occupied 60,177 square feet of space. The initial term of the lease commenced with respect to (a) 31,174 square feet of leased premises on September 1, 2007, (b) an additional 29,003 square feet on October 1, 2007 and (c) an additional 1,309 square feet of leased space on October 26, 2007 (d) an additional 1,680 square feet on March 27, 2008 and (e) an additional 11,893 square feet on August 1, 2008. The initial term of the lease will expire seven years and four months following the term commencement date for the third phase of the leased premises. Subject to the terms and conditions of the lease, we may extend the term of the lease for two successive terms of five years each at 95% of the then market rate. Under the lease, we will pay additional rent for its proportionate share of operating expenses and taxes. Future minimum lease payments through January 2015 under this lease of \$9.4 million are included in the table above.

On September 5, 2007, we entered into an additional sublease agreement related to our former office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts, effective October 1, 2007 for approximately 50,000 square feet that expires on September 30, 2012. As of June 30, 2010, we had multiple agreements that expire through 2012 to sublease approximately 95,093 square feet of space in our former office space in Cambridge. These sublease agreements represent \$5.0 million of scheduled sublease payments and are included in the above table.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (12) Commitments and Contingencies

# (a) ATME arbitration

Prior to October 6, 2009, we had an exclusive reseller relationship covering certain countries in the Middle East with AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., a Kuwaiti corporation (now known as Advanced Technology Middle East W.L.L.) that we refer to below as ATME. Under the reseller agreement, we had the right to terminate for a material breach in the event of ATME's willful misconduct or fraud. Effective October 6, 2009, we terminated the reseller relationship for material breach by ATME based on certain actions of ATME. Under the reseller agreement, we had the right to terminate for a material breach in the event of ATME's willful misconduct or fraud.

On November 2, 2009, ATME commenced an action in the Queen's Bench Division (Commercial Court) of the High Court of Justice (England & Wales) captioned In The Matter Of An Intended Arbitration Between AspenTech Middle East W.L.L. and Aspen Technology, Inc., 2009 Folio 1436, seeking preliminary injunctive relief restraining us from taking any steps to impede ATME from serving as our exclusive reseller in the countries covered by the reseller agreement with ATME. We filed evidence in opposition to that request for relief on November 12, 2009. At a hearing on November 13, 2009, the court dismissed ATME's application for preliminary injunctive relief. The court sealed an Order to this effect on November 23, 2009, and further ordered that ATME pay our costs of claim.

Relatedly, on November 11, 2009, we filed a request for arbitration against ATME in the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce, captioned Aspen Technology, Inc. v. AspenTech Middle East W.L.L., Case No. 16732/VRO. Our request for arbitration asserted claims against ATME seeking a declaration that ATME committed a material breach of our agreement and that our termination of our agreement was lawful, and seeking damages for ATME's willful misconduct in connection with the reseller relationship. On November 18, 2009, ATME filed its answer to that request for arbitration and asserted counterclaims against us seeking a declaratory judgment that we unlawfully terminated our agreement with ATME and seeking damages for breach of contract by reason of our purported unlawful termination of our agreement. Our reply to those counterclaims was filed on or about December 18, 2009.

The reseller agreement with ATME contained a provision whereby we could be liable for a termination fee if the agreement were terminated other than for material breach. This fee is to be calculated based on a formula contained in the reseller agreement that we believe was originally developed based on certain assumptions about the future financial performance of ATME, as well as ATME's actual financial performance. Based on the formula and the financial information provided to us by ATME, which we have not had the opportunity to verify independently, a recent calculation based on the formula would result in a termination fee of between \$60 million and \$77 million. Under the terminated reseller agreement, no termination fee is owed on termination for material breach. If we are found to have breached the terms of our agreement with ATME, we could be liable for the full value of the termination fee, which may be greater or less than the number indicated above. We intend to pursue our claims against ATME, and to defend the counterclaims by ATME, vigorously.

On March 11, 2010, a Kuwaiti entity (known as ATME Group and affiliated with ATME) filed a lawsuit in a Kuwaiti court naming as defendants ATME, us and a reseller newly appointed by us in Kuwait. In this lawsuit, ATME Group claims that it was an exclusive reseller for ATME in Kuwait and, as such, is entitled to damages resulting from purported customer contracts in Kuwait. We intend to defend this action vigorously.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (12) Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

#### (b) Class action and opt-out claims

In March 2006, we settled class action litigation, including related derivative claims, arising out of our originally filed consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2000 through 2004, the accounting for which we restated in March 2005. Certain members of the class (representing 1,457,969 shares of common stock (or less than 1% of the shares putatively purchased during the class action period)) opted out of the settlement and had the right to bring their own state or federal law claims against us, referred to as "opt-out" claims. Opt-out claims were filed on behalf of the holders of approximately 1.1 million of such shares. One of these actions was settled and three were dismissed. The claims in the remaining actions (described below) include claims against us and one or more of our former officers alleging securities and common law fraud, breach of contract, deceptive practices and/or rescissory damages liability, based on the restated results of one or more fiscal periods included in our restated consolidated financial statements referenced in the class action.

- Herbert G. and Eunice E. Blecker, et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., et al., filed in June 2006 in the Business Litigation Session of the Massachusetts Superior Court for Suffolk County and docketed as Civ. A. No. 06-2357-BLS1, was an opt-out claim asserted by persons who received 248,411 shares of our common stock in an acquisition. Fact discovery in this action closed in July 2008, and a non-jury trial was conducted in November 2009. In January 2010, the court issued its order granting judgment in our favor and dismissing the case. In February 2010, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the judgment. We intend to continue to defend this action vigorously.
- 380544 Canada, Inc., et al. v. Aspen Technology, Inc., filed on February 15, 2007 in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York and docketed as Civ. A. No. 1:07-cv-01204-JFK in that court, is a claim asserted by persons who purchased 566,665 shares of our common stock in a private placement. Certain motions to dismiss filed by other defendants were resolved on May 5, 2009, and discovery is in process. The claims in the 380544 Canada action are for damages totaling at least \$4.0 million, not including claims for attorneys' fees. We plan to defend the 380544 Canada action vigorously.

# (c) Other

In the ordinary course of business, we are also from time to time involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations, proceedings, and threats of litigation consisting of intellectual property, commercial and other matters. We are currently defending an April 2004 claim by a customer for approximately \$5.0 million that certain of our software products and implementation services failed to meet its expectations, which we are defending vigorously.

# (13) Retirement and Profit Sharing Plans

We maintain a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the IRC covering all eligible employees, as defined. Under the plan, a participant may elect to defer receipt of a stated percentage of his or her compensation, subject to limitation under the IRC, which would otherwise be payable to the participant for any plan year. We may make discretionary contributions to this plan, including making matching contributions of 50%, up to a maximum of 6% of an employee's pretax contribution. In fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we made matching contributions of approximately \$1.8 million, \$1.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively. Additionally, we participate in certain

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### (13) Retirement and Profit Sharing Plans (Continued)

government mandated and defined contribution plans throughout the world for which we comply with all funding requirements.

#### (14) Other Investments

In November 2000, we invested \$0.6 million in a global chemical business-to-business e-commerce company supporting major chemical companies in Asia. This investment entitles us to a minority interest in this company and is accounted for using the cost method and, accordingly, is being valued at cost unless an other-than-temporary impairment in its value occurs. No impairments have been recognized through June 30, 2010. This investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

#### (15) Segment and Geographic Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer.

The measurement of the controllable margin for all segments was changed in 2010 to include a greater allocation of expenses related to bonuses from unallocated costs to controllable expenses. This change conformed to management's current approach of cost allocation for internal reporting purposes. All periods presented have been restated to conform to management's current measurement approach.

We have three operating segments: license, professional services, and maintenance and training. The chief operating decision maker assesses financial performance and allocates resources based upon the three lines of business.

The license line of business is engaged in the development and licensing of software. The professional services line of business offers implementation, advanced process control, real-time optimization and other professional services in order to provide its customers with complete solutions. The maintenance and training line of business provides customers with a wide range of support services that include on-site support, telephone support, software updates and various forms of training on how to use our products.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. We do not track assets or capital expenditures by operating segments. Consequently, it is not practical to show assets, capital expenditures, depreciation or amortization by operating segments.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### (15) Segment and Geographic Information (Continued)

The following table presents a summary of operating segments (in thousands):

	License	Professional Services		
Year Ended June 30, 2008—				
Segment revenues	\$ 168,404	\$ 59,708	\$ 83,501	\$ 311,613
Segment expenses	69,520	44,037	14,947	128,504
Segment operating profit(1)	\$ 98,884	\$ 15,671	\$ 68,554	\$ 183,109
Year Ended June 30, 2009—				
Segment revenues	\$ 179,591	\$ 48,352	\$ 83,637	\$ 311,580
Segment expenses	62,794	39,930	14,887	117,611
Segment operating profit(1)	\$ 116,797	\$ 8,422	\$ 68,750	\$ 193,969
Year Ended June 30, 2010—				
Segment revenues	\$ 53,991	\$ 37,491	\$ 74,862	\$ 166,344
Segment expenses	70,822	36,081	15,076	121,979
Segment operating profit(1)	\$ (16,831)	\$ 1,410	\$ 59,786	\$ 44,365

<sup>(1)</sup> The Segment operating profits reported reflect only the direct expenses of the operating segment and do not contain an allocation for selling and marketing, general and administrative, development, restructuring and other corporate expenses incurred in support of the segments.

#### Reconciliation to (Loss) Income Before Provision for Taxes

The following table presents a reconciliation of total segment operating profit to income before provision for income taxes (in thousands):

	Year Ended June 30,					
		2010		2009		2008
Total segment operating profit for reportable segments	\$	44,365	\$	193,969	\$	183,109
Cost of license and amortization for technology related costs		(6,437)		(12,409)		(15,916)
Marketing		(12,897)		(12,662)		(13,581)
Research and development		(39,124)		(37,625)		(39,850)
General and administrative and overhead		(78,889)		(79,600)		(75,902)
Stock-based compensation		(15,260)		(4,670)		(10,600)
Restructuring charges		(1,128)		(2,446)		(8,623)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets		_		(623)		_
Other income (expense)		(2,407)		(1,824)		3,386
Interest and other income, net		10,869		12,182		6,001
(Loss) income before provision for income taxes	\$	(100,908)	\$	54,292	\$	28,024

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### (15) Segment and Geographic Information (Continued)

#### **Geographic Information:**

Revenue to external customers is attributed to individual countries based on the location the product or services are sold. Domestic and international sales as a percentage of total revenue are as follows:

	Year Ended June 30,					
	2010	2009	2008			
United States	38.2%	31.3%	36.4%			
Europe	26.6	26.8	33.3			
Other(1)	35.2	41.9	30.3			
	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%			

<sup>(1)</sup> Other consists primarily of APAC, Canada, Latin America and the Middle East.

During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 there were no customers that individually represented greater than 10% of our total revenue.

We have long-lived assets of approximately \$6.8 million that are located domestically and \$1.3 million that reside in other geographic locations as of June 30, 2010.

#### (16) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present quarterly consolidated statement of operations data for fiscal 2010 and 2009. The below data is unaudited but, in our opinion, reflects all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of this data in accordance with GAAP (in thousands, except per share data).

	 Three Months Ended								
	June 30, 2010		March 31, 2010		,		ecember 31, 2009(1)	Se	eptember 30, 2009(1)
Net revenue	\$ 38,244	\$	45,618	\$	42,686	\$	39,796		
Gross profit	20,746		30,944		26,217		22,327		
(Loss) income from operations	(35,604)		(19,647)		(29,315)		(24,804)		
(Loss) income applicable to common stockholders	(33,972)		(21,754)		(30,657)		(21,062)		
<i>a</i>									
(Loss) earnings per common share:									
Basic	\$ (0.37)	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.34)	\$	(0.23)		
Diluted	\$ (0.37)	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.34)	\$	(0.23)		
Weighted average shares outstanding:									
Basic	92,222		91,835		91,002		90,107		
Diluted	92,222		91,835		91,002		90,107		

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# (16) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (Continued)

	Three Months Ended							
	J	une 30, 2009	March 31, 2009		D	December 31, 2008		eptember 30, 2008(1)
Net revenue	\$	71,255	\$	71,292	\$	82,627	\$	86,406
Gross profit		51,161		52,896		64,463		67,240
Income from operations		2,329		4,463		18,832		18,310
Income applicable to common stockholders		10,214		8,096		22,961		11,653
Earnings per common share:								
Basic	\$	0.11	\$	0.09	\$	0.26	\$	0.13
Diluted	\$	0.11	\$	0.09	\$	0.25	\$	0.12
Weighted average shares outstanding:								
Basic		90,087		90,065		90,043		90,019
Diluted		92,384		91,648		92,030		94,005

 $<sup>(1) \</sup>hspace{1cm} \hbox{See Note 2(v) regarding correction of immaterial errors.} \\$ 

15,000,000 Shares



# **Common Stock**

J.P. Morgan	<b>Deutsche Bank Securities</b>	
William Blair & Company	Canaccord Genuity	Wells Fargo Securities
Cowen and Company		Pacific Crest Securities
	, 2010	

# PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the various expenses to be incurred by us in connection with the sale and distribution of the shares of common stock being registered hereby. All amounts shown are estimates, except for the SEC registration and the FINRA filing fee.

SEC registration fee	\$ 13,443
FINRA filing fee	19,354
Legal fees and expenses	625,000
Accounting fees and expenses	130,000
Blue Sky fees and expenses (including legal fees)	10,000
Printing, EDGAR formatting and mailing expenses	50,000
Miscellaneous expenses	2,203
Total	\$ 850,000

#### Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 102 of the Delaware General Corporation Law allows a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of directors of a corporation to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except where the director breached his duty of loyalty, failed to act in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, authorized the payment of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of Delaware corporate law or obtained an improper personal benefit. We have included such a provision in our certificate of incorporation, as amended, or the charter.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that a corporation has the power to indemnify a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation and certain other persons serving at the request of the corporation in related capacities against amounts paid and expenses incurred in connection with an action or proceeding to which he is or is threatened to be made a party by reason of such position, if such person shall have acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, in any criminal proceeding, if such person had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful; provided that, in the case of actions brought by or in the right of the corporation, no indemnification shall be made with respect to any matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the adjudicating court determines that such indemnification is proper under the circumstances.

Article SEVENTH of our charter provides that no director shall be personally liable for any monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent that the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits the elimination or limitation of liability of directors for breach of fiduciary duty.

Article EIGHTH of our charter provides that a director or officer shall be indemnified by us against:

(a) all expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement incurred in connection with any litigation or other legal proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of us) brought against him or her by virtue of his or her position as one of our directors or officers if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not

opposed to, our best interests, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; and

(b) all expenses (including attorneys' fees) and amounts paid in the settlement incurred in connection with any action by us or in our right brought against him or her by virtue of his or her position as one of our directors or officers if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, except that no indemnification shall be made with respect to any matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to us, unless a court determines that, despite such adjudication but in view of all of the circumstances, he or she is entitled to indemnification of such expenses.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that a director or officer has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, including the dismissal of an action without prejudice, he or she is required to be indemnified by us against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred in connection therewith. Expenses shall be advanced to a director or officer at his or her request, provided that he or she undertakes to repay the amount advanced if it is ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to indemnification for such expenses.

Indemnification is required to be made unless we determine that the applicable standard of conduct required for indemnification has not been met. In the event of our determination that the director or officer did not meet the applicable standard of conduct required for indemnification, or if we fail to make an indemnification payment within sixty days after such payment is claimed by such person, such person is permitted to petition the court to make an independent determination as to whether such person is entitled to indemnification. As a condition precedent to the right of indemnification, the director or officer must give us notice of the action for which indemnity is sought and we have the right to participate in such action or assume the defense thereof.

Article EIGHTH of the charter further provides that the indemnification provided therein is not exclusive, and provides that in the event that the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to expand the indemnification permitted to directors or officers we must indemnify those persons to the fullest extent permitted by such law as so amended.

We have purchased directors' and officers' liability insurance, which may indemnify our directors and officers against damages arising out of certain kinds of claims that might be made against them based on their negligent acts or omissions while acting in their capacities as such.

#### Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

We have not made any sales of securities unregistered under the Securities Act within the past three years.

# Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

# (a) Exhibits

				Incorporated by Refer	ence
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement				
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of Aspen Technology, Inc., as amended		8-K	August 22, 2003	4
3.2	By-laws of Aspen Technology, Inc.		8-K	March 27, 1998	3.2
4.1	Specimen certificate for common stock, \$.10 par value, of Aspen Technology, Inc.		8-A/A	June 12, 1998	4
4.2	Rights Agreement dated March 12, 1998 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and American Stock Transfer and Trust		8-K	March 27, 1998	4.1
	Company, as Rights Agent, including form of Certificate of Designation of Series A Participating Cumulative				
	Preferred Stock and form of Rights Certificate				
4.2a	Amendment No. 1 dated October 26, 2001 to Rights Agreement dated march 12, 1998 between Aspen		8-A/A	November 8, 2001	4.4
	Technology, Inc. and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights Agent				
4.3	Form of WD Common Stock Purchase Warrants of Aspen Technology, Inc. dated August 14, 2003		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.3
5.1*	Opinion of Cooley LLP				
10.1	Lease Agreement dated January 30, 1992 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Teachers Insurance and Annuity		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.1
	Association of America regarding 10 Canal Park, Cambridge, Massachusetts				
10.1a	First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated May 5, 1997 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Beacon		10-K	September 28, 2000	10.2
	Properties, L.P., successor-in-interest to Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America				
10.1b	Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated August 14, 2000 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and EOP-Ten Canal		10-K	September 28, 2000	10.3
	Park, L.L.C., successor-in-interest to Beacon Properties, L.P.				
10.1c	Amendment dated September 5, 2007 to Lease Agreement dated January 30, 1992 between Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.1c
	and MA-Ten Canal Park, L.L.C.				
10.2	Sublease dated September 5, 2007 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and MA-Ten Canal Park L.L.C. regarding 10		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.2
	Canal Park, Cambridge, Massachusetts				
10.3	Lease dated May 7, 2007 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and One Wheeler Road Associates regarding 200 Wheeler		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.3
	Road, Burlington Massachusetts				
	II-3				
	11 0				

				rence	
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.4	System License Agreement dated March 30, 1982 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Massachusetts Institute of		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.4
40 =	Technology		40.77		40 =
10.5	Amendment dated March 30, 1982 to System License Agreement dated March 30, 1982 between Aspen		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.5
10 C±	Technology, Inc. and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology		10.0	M	10.1
10.6†	Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 6, 2004 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Hyprotech Company,		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.1
	AspenTech Canada Ltd. and Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell International Inc., Honeywell Control Systems Limited and Honeywell Limited-Honeywell Limitee				
10.6a†	Amendment No. 1 dated December 23, 2004 to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 6, 2004 among Aspen		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.2
10.001	Technology, Inc., Hyprotech Company, AspenTech Canada Ltd., and Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell		10-Q	Waiti 15, 2005	10.2
	International Inc., Honeywell Control Systems Limited and Honeywell Limited—Honeywell Limitee				
10.7†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Honeywell		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.3
	International, Inc.		(		
10.8†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between AspenTech Canada Ltd. and Honeywell Limited—		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.4
	Honeywell Limitee				
10.9†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Hyprotech Company and Honeywell Limited—		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.5
	Honeywell Limitee				
10.10†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between AspenTech Ltd. and Honeywell Control Systems		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.6
	Limited				
10.11†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell Control		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.7
10.10	Systems Limited		40.17	A '1 44 DOOD	10.10
10.12	Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13
10.12a	Rider No. 1 dated December 14, 1994, to Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13a
10.12d	Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation		10-K	April 11, 2006	10.13d
10.12b	Rider No. 2 dated September 4, 2001 to Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13b
10.120	Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation		10 10	11p111 11, 2000	10,100
10.12c	Waiver and Consent Agreement dated March 31, 2009		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.13c
				/	
	II-4				
	11-4				

			Incorporated by Referen		rence	
Exhibit		Filed with this	_	Filing Date	Exhibit	
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number	
10.13	Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 17, 2004	10.1	
10.13a	First Amendment dated June 30, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15a	
10.13b	Second Amendment dated September 30, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.1	
10.13c	Third Amendment dated December 31, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.8	
10.13d	Fourth Amendment dated March 8, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15d	
10.13e	Fifth Amendment dated March 31, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	May 10, 2005	10.1	
10.13f	Sixth Amendment dated December 29, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15f	
10.13g	Seventh Amendment dated July 17, 2006 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15g	
10.13h	Eighth Amendment dated September 15, 2006 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15h	
10.13i	Ninth Amendment dated January 12, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	May 10, 2007	10.3	
10.13j	Tenth Amendment dated April 13, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15j	
10.13k	Eleventh Amendment dated June 28, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15k	
10.13l	Twelfth Amendment dated October 16, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15l	
	II-5					

				ence	
Exhibit		Filed with this	_	Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.13m	Thirteenth Amendment dated December 12, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15m
10.10	December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.				40.0
10.13n	Fourteenth Amendment dated December 28, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.2
10.10	December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		40.0	T.1 40 0000	40.0
10.13o	Fifteenth Amendment dated January 24, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31,		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.2
10.10	2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		40.0	T.1 40 0000	40.0
10.13p	Sixteenth Amendment dated May 15, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31,		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.3
10.10	2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		40.0	T.1 40 2000	10.4
10.13q	Seventeenth Amendment dated November 14, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.4
10.10	December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		40.0	T.1 40 2000	40.5
10.13r	Eighteenth Amendment dated January 30, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.5
10.10	December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		40.77	1 20 2000	40.45
10.13s	Nineteenth Amendment dated May 15, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31,		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.15s
10.134	2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10.77	M	10.15
10.13t	Twentieth Amendment dated November 3, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.15t
10.14	December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		0.77	I 20 200E	10.1
10.14	Loan Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC,		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.1
10.15	Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC and the lenders named therein.		0.1/	I 20 200E	10.2
10.15	Security Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC and Guggenheim Corporate		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.2
10.16	Funding, LLC		8-K	7 2000	10.1
10.16	Release Letter dated December 28, 2007 relating to Loan Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.1
	Technology, Inc., Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC, Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC and the Lenders named therein				
10.17			8-K	I 20 200E	10.3
10.17	Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Aspen Technology Receivables I LLC		0-K	June 20, 2005	10.5
10.18			8-K	June 20, 2005	10.4
10.10	Purchase and Resale Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology Receivables I LLC and Aspen		0-K	Julie 20, 2005	10.4
	Technology Receivables II LLC				
	II-6				

			Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	<u>Description</u>	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.19	Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.1
10.20a	Letter Agreement dated February 14, 2003 amending Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22a
10.20b	First Loan Modification Agreement dated June 27, 2003 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 29, 2003	10.22
10.20c	Second Loan Modification Agreement dated September 10, 2004 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 13, 2004	10.70
10.20d	Third Loan Modification Agreement dated January 28, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22d
10.20e†	Fourth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 1, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	May 10, 2005	10.2
10.20f	Fifth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 6, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22f
10.20g	Sixth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 15, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.5
10.20h	Seventh Loan Modification Agreement dated September 13, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 13, 2005	10.79
10.20i	Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated December 30, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22i
	11.7				

			Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.20j	Ninth Loan Modification Agreement dated July 17, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22j
	among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
10.20k	Tenth Loan Modification Agreement dated September 15, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-K	September 28, 2006	10.84
	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
10.20l	Eleventh Loan Modification Agreement dated September 27, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.3
	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
10.20m	Twelfth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 12, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-Q	May 10, 2007	10.1
10.20	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10.17	A	10.22
10.20n	Thirteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 13, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22n
10.20o	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company Fourteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 28, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22o
10.200	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2006	10.220
10.20p	Fifteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated August 30, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22p
10.20р	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10 10	71pm 11, 2000	10.22p
10.20g	Sixteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated October 16, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22g
	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company			r ,	
10.20r	Seventeenth Loan Modification Agreement dated December 28, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.3
	January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company			· ·	
10.20s	Eighteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 24, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30,		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.7
	2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
	II-8				

			Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC(1)	Exhibit Number
10.20t	Nineteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 11, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.8
10.20u	Twentieth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 15, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.9
10.20v	Twenty-first Loan Modification Agreement dated June 12, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.10
10.20w	Twenty-second Loan Modification Agreement dated July 15, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.11
10.20x	Twenty-third Loan Modification Agreement dated September 30, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.12
10.20y	Twenty-fourth Loan Modification Agreement dated November 14, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.13
10.20z	Twenty-fifth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 15, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.14
10.20aa	Twenty-sixth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 15, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.22aa
10.20ab	Twenty-seventh Loan Modification Agreement dated November 3, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.22ab
10.20ac**	Twenty-eighth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 2010 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
10.21	Form of Negative Pledge Agreement dated January 30, 2003, in favor of Silicon Valley Bank, executed by Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.5
	II-9				

			Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit		Filed with this	<u> </u>	Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	Description	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.22	Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and AspenTech Securities Corporation		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.6
10.23	Unconditional Guaranty dated January 30, 2003, by AspenTech Securities Corporation in favor of Silicon Valley		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.7
	Bank				
10.24	Pledge Agreement, effective as of June 27, 2003, by Aspen Technology, Inc. in favor of Silicon Valley Bank		10-K	September 29, 2003	10.23
10.25	Partial Release and Acknowledgement Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen Technology, Inc.,		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.7
	Aspentech, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank				
10.26	Partial Release and Acknowledgement Agreement dated September 27, 2006 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.6
	Technology, Inc.				
10.27	Investor Rights Agreement dated August 14, 2003 among Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Stockholders named		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.1
	therein				
10.28	Management Rights Letter dated August 14, 2003 among Aspen Technology, Inc. and the entities named therein.		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.2
10.29	Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated March 19, 2002 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and		8-K	March 20, 2002	99.2
	the Purchasers named therein.				
10.30^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan		S-8	September 9, 1996	4.5
10.31^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.37
10.32^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 1996 Special Stock Option Plan		10-K	September 29, 1997	10.23
10.33^	PetrolSoft Corporation 1998 Stock Option Plan		S-8	July 28, 2000	4
10.34^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan		10-K	September 28, 2006	10.54
10.35^	Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Restated		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.7
	Stock Option Plan				
10.36^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended)		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.39
10.37^	Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.8
	Incentive Plan				
10.38^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.9
10.39^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement-G Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.10
	II-10				

			Incorporated by Reference		ence
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date	Exhibit
Number	<u>Description</u>	Form S-1	Form	with SEC(1)	Number
10.40^	Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.43
10.41^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan		8-K	April 21, 2010	10.1
10.42^	Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan		10-K	September 2, 2010	10.42
10.43^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan		10-K	September 2, 2010	10.43
10.44^	Form of Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement of Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.45
10.45^**	Aspen Technology, Inc. Director Compensation Policy				
10.46^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2009		8-K	June 30, 2008	99.1
10.47^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Operations Executives Plan Fiscal 2009		8-K	June 30, 2008	99.2
10.46^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2010		8-K	September 11, 2009	99.1
10.47^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2011		8-K	August 4, 2010	10.1
10.48^	Amended and Restated Employment Agreement effective October 3, 2007, between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Mark Fusco		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.50
10.49^	Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into by Aspen Technology, Inc. and each executive officer of Aspen Technology, Inc. (other than Mark E. Fusco)		10-Q	February 9, 2010	10.1
10.50^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P040380)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.1
10.51^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P040002)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.2
10.52^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to the Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P0405621)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.3
10.53^**	Offer letter dated June 24, 2009 by and between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Mark P. Sullivan				
21.1**	Subsidiaries of Aspen Technology, Inc.				
23.1	Consent of KPMG LLP	X			
23.2*	Consent of Cooley LLP				
24.1**	Power of Attorney of each of the directors and the principal executive, financial and accounting officers of Aspen Technology, Inc. (included on pages II-13 and II-14 of Form S-1 as initially filed)				

<sup>(1)</sup> The SEC File No. is 000-24786, other than (a) Exhibit 10.30 (SEC File No. 333-11651), Exhibit 10.33 (SEC File No. 333-42536) and Exhibit 10.41 (001-34630) and (b) exhibits filed with this Form S-1.

<sup>\*</sup> To be filed by Amendment.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Filed previously.

<sup>†</sup> Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.

<sup>^</sup> Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

#### (b) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

#### Item 17. Undertakings.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

- (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
- (2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Burlington, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as of September 15, 2010.

#### ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

/s/ MARK E. FUSCO By:

Mark E. Fusco

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 this Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated as of September 15, 2010.

<u>Signature</u>	<u>Title</u>
/s/ MARK E. FUSCO	President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mark E. Fusco	—(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ MARK P. SULLIVAN	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Mark. P. Sullivan	(Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)
*	
Donald P. Casey	Director
*	
Gary E. Haroian	Director
*	
Stephen M. Jennings	Director
*	
Joan C. McArdle	Director
*	
David M. McKenna	— Director
II-1	13

	Signature		<u>Title</u>	
	*			
	Michael Pehl	Director		
*By:	/s/ MARK P. SULLIVAN			
	Mark P. Sullivan Attorney-in-Fact			
		II-14		

### EXHIBIT INDEX

			Incorporated by Reference			
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement	rom 5-1	roim	SEC	Number	
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of Aspen Technology, Inc., as amended		8-K	August 22, 2003	4	
3.2	By-laws of Aspen Technology, Inc.		8-K	March 27, 1998	3.2	
4.1	Specimen certificate for common stock, \$.10 par value, of Aspen Technology, Inc.		8-A/A	June 12, 1998	4	
4.2	Rights Agreement dated March 12, 1998 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights Agent, including form of Certificate of Designation of Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock and form of Rights Certificate		8-K	March 27, 1998	4.1	
4.2a	Amendment No. 1 dated October 26, 2001 to Rights Agreement dated march 12, 1998 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights Agent		8-A/A	November 8, 2001	4.4	
4.3	Form of WD Common Stock Purchase Warrants of Aspen Technology, Inc. dated August 14, 2003		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.3	
5.1*	Opinion of Cooley LLP					
10.1	Lease Agreement dated January 30, 1992 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America regarding 10 Canal Park, Cambridge, Massachusetts		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.1	
10.1a	First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated May 5, 1997 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Beacon Properties, L.P., successor-in-interest to Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America		10-K	September 28, 2000	10.2	
10.1b	Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated August 14, 2000 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and EOP-Ten Canal Park, L.L.C., successor-in-interest to Beacon Properties, L.P.		10-K	September 28, 2000	10.3	
10.1c	Amendment dated September 5, 2007 to Lease Agreement dated January 30, 1992 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and MA-Ten Canal Park, L.L.C.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.1c	
10.2	Sublease dated September 5, 2007 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and MA-Ten Canal Park L.L.C. regarding 10 Canal Park, Cambridge, Massachusetts		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.2	
10.3	Lease dated May 7, 2007 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and One Wheeler Road Associates regarding 200 Wheeler Road, Burlington Massachusetts		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.3	

	Description		Incorporated by Reference			
Exhibit Number		Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
10.4	System License Agreement dated March 30, 1982 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.4	
10.5	Amendment dated March 30, 1982 to System License Agreement dated March 30, 1982 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.5	
10.6†	Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 6, 2004 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Hyprotech Company, AspenTech Canada Ltd. and Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell International Inc., Honeywell Control Systems Limited and Honeywell Limited—Honeywell Limitee		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.1	
10.6a†	Amendment No. 1 dated December 23, 2004 to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 6, 2004 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Hyprotech Company, AspenTech Canada Ltd., and Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell International Inc., Honeywell Control Systems Limited and Honeywell Limited—Honeywell Limitee		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.2	
10.7†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Honeywell International, Inc.		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.3	
10.8†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between AspenTech Canada Ltd. and Honeywell Limited —Honeywell Limitee		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.4	
10.9†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Hyprotech Company and Honeywell Limited—Honeywell Limitee		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.5	
10.10†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between AspenTech Ltd. and Honeywell Control Systems Limited		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.6	
10.11†	Hyprotech License Agreement dated December 23, 2004 between Hyprotech UK Ltd. and Honeywell Control Systems Limited		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.7	
10.12	Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13	
10.12a	Rider No. 1 dated December 14, 1994, to Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13a	

			Incorporated by Reference			
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
10.12b	Rider No. 2 dated September 4, 2001 to Vendor Program Agreement dated March 29, 1990 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation	10mo 1	10-K	April 11, 2008	10.13b	
10.12c	Waiver and Consent Agreement dated March 31, 2009		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.13c	
10.13	Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 17, 2004	10.1	
10.13a	First Amendment dated June 30, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15a	
10.13b	Second Amendment dated September 30, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.1	
10.13c	Third Amendment dated December 31, 2004 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	March 15, 2005	10.8	
10.13d	Fourth Amendment dated March 8, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15d	
10.13e	Fifth Amendment dated March 31, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	May 10, 2005	10.1	
10.13f	Sixth Amendment dated December 29, 2005 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15f	
10.13g	Seventh Amendment dated July 17, 2006 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15g	
10.13h	Eighth Amendment dated September 15, 2006 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15h	

			Incorporated by Reference			
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
10.13i	Ninth Amendment dated January 12, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.	FORM 5-1	10-Q	May 10, 2007	10.3	
10.13j	Tenth Amendment dated April 13, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15j	
10.13k	Eleventh Amendment dated June 28, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15k	
10.131	Twelfth Amendment dated October 16, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.151	
10.13m	Thirteenth Amendment dated December 12, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.15m	
10.13n	Fourteenth Amendment dated December 28, 2007 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.2	
10.13o	Fifteenth Amendment dated January 24, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.2	
10.13p	Sixteenth Amendment dated May 15, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.3	
10.13q	Seventeenth Amendment dated November 14, 2008 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.4	
10.13r	Eighteenth Amendment dated January 30, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.5	
10.13s	Nineteenth Amendment dated May 15, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.15s	

	Description		Incorporated by Reference			
Exhibit Number		Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
10.13t	Twentieth Amendment dated November 3, 2009 to Non-Recourse Receivables Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.15t	
10.14	Loan Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC, Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC and the lenders named therein.		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.1	
10.15	Security Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC and Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.2	
10.16	Release Letter dated December 28, 2007 relating to Loan Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC, Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC and the Lenders named therein		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.1	
10.17	Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Aspen Technology Receivables I LLC		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.3	
10.18	Purchase and Resale Agreement dated June 15, 2005 between Aspen Technology Receivables I LLC and Aspen Technology Receivables II LLC		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.4	
10.19	Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.1	
10.20a	Letter Agreement dated February 14, 2003 amending Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22a	
10.20b	First Loan Modification Agreement dated June 27, 2003 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 29, 2003	10.22	
10.20c	Second Loan Modification Agreement dated September 10, 2004 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 13, 2004	10.70	
10.20d	Third Loan Modification Agreement dated January 28, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22d	

				Incorporated by Referer	ıce
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number
10.20e†	Fourth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 1, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company	<u> </u>	10-Q	May 10, 2005	10.2
10.20f	Fifth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 6, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22f
10.20g	Sixth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 15, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		8-K	June 20, 2005	10.5
10.20h	Seventh Loan Modification Agreement dated September 13, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 13, 2005	10.79
10.20i	Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated December 30, 2005 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22i
10.20j	Ninth Loan Modification Agreement dated July 17, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22j
10.20k	Tenth Loan Modification Agreement dated September 15, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	September 28, 2006	10.84
10.20l	Eleventh Loan Modification Agreement dated September 27, 2006 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.3
10.20m	Twelfth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 12, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	May 10, 2007	10.1

				Incorporated by Referen	ice
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number
10.20n	Thirteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 13, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company	FORM 5-1	10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22n
10.20o	Fourteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 28, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.220
10.20p	Fifteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated August 30, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22p
10.20q	Sixteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated October 16, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.22q
10.20r	Seventeenth Loan Modification Agreement dated December 28, 2007 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		8-K	January 7, 2008	10.3
10.20s	Eighteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 24, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.7
10.20t	Nineteenth Loan Modification Agreement dated April 11, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.8
10.20u	Twentieth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 15, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.9
10.20v	Twenty-first Loan Modification Agreement dated June 12, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.10

			Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit
10.20w	Twenty-second Loan Modification Agreement dated July 15, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company	Form 5-1	10-Q	February 19, 2009	Number 10.11
10.20x	Twenty-third Loan Modification Agreement dated September 30, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.12
10.20y	Twenty-fourth Loan Modification Agreement dated November 14, 2008 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.13
10.20z	Twenty-fifth Loan Modification Agreement dated January 15, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 19, 2009	10.14
10.20aa	Twenty-sixth Loan Modification Agreement dated May 15, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	June 30, 2009	10.22aa
10.20ab	Twenty-seventh Loan Modification Agreement dated November 3, 2009 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.22ab
10.20ac**	Twenty-eighth Loan Modification Agreement dated June 2010 to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company				
10.21	Form of Negative Pledge Agreement dated January 30, 2003, in favor of Silicon Valley Bank, executed by Aspen Technology, Inc., AspenTech, Inc. and Hyprotech Company		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.5
10.22	Security Agreement dated January 30, 2003 between Silicon Valley Bank and AspenTech Securities Corporation		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.6
10.23	Unconditional Guaranty dated January 30, 2003, by AspenTech Securities Corporation in favor of Silicon Valley Bank		10-Q	February 14, 2003	10.7
10.24	Pledge Agreement, effective as of June 27, 2003, by Aspen Technology, Inc. in favor of Silicon Valley Bank		10-K	September 29, 2003	10.23

				Incorporated by Refere	ıce
Exhibit Number	Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number
10.25	Partial Release and Acknowledgement Agreement dated June 15, 2005 among Aspen Technology, Inc., Aspentech, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank	10111101	8-K	June 20, 2005	10.7
10.26	Partial Release and Acknowledgement Agreement dated September 27, 2006 among Silicon Valley Bank and Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.6
10.27	Investor Rights Agreement dated August 14, 2003 among Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Stockholders named therein		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.1
10.28	Management Rights Letter dated August 14, 2003 among Aspen Technology, Inc. and the entities named therein.		8-K	August 22, 2003	99.2
10.29	Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated March 19, 2002 between Aspen Technology, Inc. and the Purchasers named therein.		8-K	March 20, 2002	99.2
10.30^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan		S-8	September 9, 1996	4.5
10.31^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.37
10.32^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 1996 Special Stock Option Plan		10-K	September 29, 1997	10.23
10.33^	PetrolSoft Corporation 1998 Stock Option Plan		S-8	July 28, 2000	4
10.34^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan		10-K	September 28, 2006	10.54
10.35^	Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Restated Stock Option Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.7
10.36^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended)		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.39
10.37^	Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.8
10.38^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.9
10.39^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement-G Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-Q	November 14, 2006	10.10
10.40^	Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan		10-K	November 9, 2009	10.43
10.41^	Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan		8-K	April 21, 2010	10.1

				Incorporated by Referen	ice
Exhibit		Filed with this		Filing Date with	Exhibit
Number 10.42^	Pescription  Form of Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan	Form S-1	Form 10-K	SEC September 2, 2010	Number 10.42
10.43^	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Granted under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan		10-K	September 2, 2010	10.43
10.44^	Form of Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement of Aspen Technology, Inc.		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.45
10.45^**	Aspen Technology, Inc. Director Compensation Policy				
10.46^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2009		8-K	June 30, 2008	99.1
10.47^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Operations Executives Plan Fiscal 2009		8-K	June 30, 2008	99.2
10.48^	Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2010		8-K	September 11, 2009	99.1
10.47^	Form of Aspen Technology, Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Fiscal 2011		8-K	August 4, 2010	10.1
10.48^	Amended and Restated Employment Agreement effective October 3, 2007, between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Mark Fusco		10-K	April 11, 2008	10.50
10.49^	Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into by Aspen Technology, Inc. and each executive officer of Aspen Technology, Inc. (other than Mark E. Fusco)		10-Q	February 9, 2010	10.1
10.50^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P040380)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.1
10.51^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P040002)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.2
10.52^	Amendment Number 1 dated December 29, 2006 to the Stock Option Agreement granted to Manolis E. Kotzabasakis on or about August 18, 2003 under Aspen Technology, Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, as amended (Award Identification No. P0405621)		8-K	January 5, 2007	10.3
10.53^**	Offer letter dated June 24, 2009 by and between Aspen Technology, Inc. and Mark P. Sullivan				

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

				Ir	corporated by Referen	ce	
Exh Nun		Description	Filed with this Form S-1	Form	Filing Date with SEC	Exhibit Number	
21.1*		Subsidiaries of Aspen Technology, Inc.	10111101			THIMBEL	
23.1		Consent of KPMG LLP	X				
23.2*		Consent of Cooley LLP					
24.1** Power of Attorney of each of the directors and the principal executive, financial and accounting officers of Technology, Inc. (included on pages II-13 and II-14 of Form S-1 as initially filed)		Power of Attorney of each of the directors and the principal executive, financial and accounting officers of Aspen Technology, Inc. (included on pages II-13 and II-14 of Form S-1 as initially filed)					
(1)	(1) The SEC File No. is 000-24786, other than (a) Exhibit 10.30 (SEC File No. 333-11651), Exhibit 10.33 (SEC File No. 333-42536) and Exhibit 10.41 (001-34630) and (b) exhibits filed with this Form S-1.						
*	To be filed by Amendment.						
**	Filed previously.						
†	Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.						

Exhibit 23.1

#### CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Aspen Technology Inc.:

We consent to the use in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of our report dated September 1, 2010, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Aspen Technology Inc. as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit) and comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2010, appearing in this prospectus, which is part of this registration statement. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading "Experts" and "Selected Financial Data" in the prospectus.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Boston, Massachusetts September 15, 2010

# QuickLinks

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM